

Universidad deValladolid



Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration

Daphne López Marcos Ph.D. Thesis

Pinus pinaster Ait.

Pinus sylvestris L.



Universidad de Valladolid



PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO EN CONSERVACIÓN Y USO SOSTENIBLE DE SISTEMAS FORESTALES

TESIS DOCTORAL:

Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration

SERVICIOS ECOSISTÉMICOS DE MASAS MIXTAS DE PINO ALBAR Y PINO RESINERO: CONSERVACIÓN DE LA BIODIVERSIDAD Y SECUESTRO DE CARBONO

> Presentada por Daphne López Marcos para optar al grado de Doctora por la Universidad de Valladolid

> > Dirigida por: Dra. Carolina Martínez Ruiz Dra. Mª Belén Turrión Nieves

This research was funded by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of the Spanish Government project conceded to Felipe Bravo (FORMIXING. AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R) and a predoctoral grant to Daphne López-Marcos (BES-2015-072852).

Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration

Servicios ecosistémicos de masas mixtas de pino albar y pino resinero: conservación de la biodiversidad y secuestro de carbono

PhD Student:

Daphne López Marcos

Supervisors:

Dr. Carolina Martínez Ruiz Area of Ecology

Department of Agroforestry Sciences University of Valladolid Dr. M^a Belén Turrión Nieves Area of Edaphology and Agricultural Chemistry Department of Agroforestry Sciences University of Valladolid

Supervisor of the International Stay:

Prof. Quentin Ponette Earth Life Insitute Univesité Catholique de Louvain, Belgium.

External Reviewers:

Dr. Jaime Madrigal-González Institute for Environmental Sciences University of Geneva Geneva, Switzerland

Dr. Adele Muscolo Department of Agraria Università degli Studi Mediterranea Reggio Calabria, Italy

Doctorate program:

Doctorado en Conservación y Uso Sostenible de Sistemas Forestales Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute UVa-INIA (iuFOR) Escuela Técnica Superior de Ingenierías Agrarias (E.T.S.II.AA.) de Palencia University of Valladolid (UVa), Palencia, Spain

Place of Publication: Palencia, Spain.

Year of Publication: 2020

Online Publication: http://biblioteca.uva.es/export/sites/biblioteca/

Printed by: LLAR digital

Design: Carmen Calvo Mañero (cover picture), Elena López Laureiro (Cover desing) and Daphne López Marcos (main text and graphical material)

Un immense incendie ravage la jungle. Affolés, les animaux fuient en tous sens. Seul un colibri, sans relâche, fait l'aller-retour de la rivière au brasier, une minuscule goutte d'eau dans son bec, pour l'y déposer sur le feu. Un toucan à l'énorme bec l'interpelle "tu es fou, colibri, tu vois bien que cela ne sert à rien". "Oui, je sais" réponds le colibri, "mais je fais ma part"…

Agradecimientos

Sin duda este es uno de los apartados más complicados de escribir de la tesis, pues no hay estadística que ayude a expresar lo que un@ siente. Miro hacia atrás, y durante estos años han sido muchas las personas con las que he compartido buenos y malos momentos. Este ejercicio de retrospección no sólo se remonta al inicio del contrato que me ha permitido hacer esta tesis (2016), sino también a los años previos en los que conseguir financiación sólo traía una ilusión seguida de un gran disgusto (2012). Por ello, de antemano mis disculpas si a alguien he olvidado.

Quería expresar mi más sincero agradecimiento a todas aquellas personas que durante estos años han estado a mi lado:

Gracias al Ministerio de Ciencia Innovación y Universidades (antiguo MINECO) en colaboración con el Fondo Social Europeo (UE) por haberme otorgado esta gran oportunidad de formación mediante un contrato predoctoral (BES-2015-072852) a través de la convocatoria 2015 de contratos predoctorales en el marco del Plan Estatal de Investigación Científica y Técnica y de Innovación 2013-2016. Así como a la Escuela de Doctorado de la Universidad de Valladolid (EsDUVa) y el Instituto Universitario de Investigación en Gestión Forestal Sostenible (iuFOR) por facilitar actividades formativas.

Gracias a Felipe Bravo, por confiar en mi para desarrollar este trabajo y permitirme colaborar en el sub-proyecto 2 del Proyecto FORMIXING "Complejidad y sostenibilidad en bosques mixtos: dinámica, selvicultura y herramientas de gestión adaptativa" (AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R). Gracias por enseñarme a comprender un poquito mejor la ciencia forestal.

Gracias a mis directoras, Carolina Martínez Ruiz y María Belén Turrión, por guiarme y dirigir esta tesis. Gracias por vuestra dedicación y entrega a este trabajo y por darme la oportunidad de trabajar y aprender a vuestro lado. En especial quiero agradecer a Carolina (tu eres quien más me ha sufrido) por todo el esfuerzo y desvelos puestos en esta tesis. Trabajar contigo es un privilegio y una lección de vida. En estos años juntas he comprendido lo que es tener un MAESTRO (con mayúsculas). Eres capaz de conseguir lo máximo de las personas con quienes trabajas, pero siempre con mimo, cariño y respeto. Tu profesionalidad y tesón me han enseñado a ser más paciente (reto complicado), perder el miedo a la estadística y a amar la ecología. Por todo, en lo profesional y en lo personal, de verdad, GRACIAS.

Thanks to Quentin Ponette, Mathieu Jonard and Hugues Titeux for your advice and help with the statistical analysis of the first paper of this thesis and for welcoming me in the Earth and Life Institute of the Université catholique de Louvain la Neuve (Belgium) during my international stay.

Gracias a María Belén Turrión, Francisco Lafuente, Carmen Blanco y Juan Carlos Arranz por sus consejos en la fase de análisis de laboratorio. En especial a Carmen y Juan Carlos por su ayuda en la etapa de laboratorio y poner así de manifiesto la importante labor de los técnicos de laboratorio en el desarrollo de cualquier investigación, ya que sin su trabajo previo el nuestro sería imposible

Gracias Josu González-Aday por tu consejo en la estadística del cuarto artículo de esta tesis. Gracias a Cristóbal Ordoñez por su ayuda para localizar las parcelas.

Gracias a José Riofrío y Nico Cattaneo por las horas de debate sobre los tripletes y por vuestros valiosos comentarios.

Gracias a Juan Manuel Diez Clivillé (DEP) y a María de la Fuente, quienes, sin conocerme, pusieron su esfuerzo en la revisión del inglés.

Gracias a Pilar Zaldívar, por permitirme colaborar en la docencia de Biología de manera desinteresada, y por eneñarme que los biólogos estamos aquí para quedarnos.

Gracias a Elene Hidalgo por ayudarme a perder el miedo a hablar en público y enseñarme a amar la divulgación científica.

Gracias a Teresa Manso, Pilar Zaldívar, Carolina Martínez Ruiz y a todo el área de Botánica por buscarme una opción segura durante mi embarazo.

Gracias a Carmen Calvo-Mañero (Ilustración de la portada) y Elena López-Laureiro (Maquetación de la tesis) por su desinteresada aportación artística a esta tesis.

Gracia a Celia Redondo por su profesionalidad con toda la burocracia de la UVa. ¡No se que haríamos sin ti!

Gracias Bea por ser mi fan más incondicional durante todas las fases del 3MT.

Gracias a mis luFeras (ellas saben) por regalarme una sonrisa cada día y un abrazo cuando lo necesité.

Gracias a tod@s l@s compañer@s del IuFOR, presentes y pasados (espero no dejarme a nadie) por los buenos momentos. Me llevo un trocito de cada un@ de vosotr@s: Alberto, Anita Martín, Ana Ponce, Arca, Carmen, Celia, Cris, Cristobal, Diego, Eduardo, Fani, Guille, Hamleth, Helen, Ivan, Irene, Jordán, Jorge Aldea, Jorge Martín, Jose, Juan Carlos, Juanolas, Laura, María Gallo, María Casado, María Hernanadez, María Santos, Marina, Nico, Olaya, Pili, Ruth Martín, Ruth Rodríguez, Sara, Silvi, Tamara, Tere ... Siempre guardaré con cariño las risas del 7CFN y a Palomi y su pan pan.

Gracias a mis amig@s: Aldo, Anita, Carlo, Chechu, Elena, Humberto, Inma, Irene, Javi, Jesús, Luis, María, Marina, Pitxy, Strada, Violeta... Por ser y estar siempre. Por los buenos y los malos momentos.

Gracias a "el purgatorio" por ser mis más leales escuderas.

Gracias a las personas que sin saberlo me sirven de apoyo diario para continuar e intentar mejorar: mi familia, a la propia y a la pegada (Carmen y Pablo).

Gracias a mis padres, María José y Alberto, por ser el faro que me marca el camino y el puerto al que volver siempre. Por enseñarme a crecer a pasitos cortos. Porque ser humilde no se compra, se lleva con orgullo.

Gracias a mi hermano, Ahigor, por mantenerme siempre los pies en la tierra.

Gracias a mis abuel@s, Alberto, Julia (DEP) y Teo, por ser ejemplo de lucha diaria. Abuelo aguanta un poco más y me ves leer la tesis ¡campeón!

Gracias a Luis. Sabes que sin tí esta tesis no habría sido posible. No sólo por toda tu ayuda en campo con los muestreo (19 calicatas, 324 muestras de suelo y 246 muestras de hojarasca no se cogen solas), sino por tu apoyo diario y por no dejarme caer nunca. Por ser amigo, compañero, enfermero, cocinero, chofer, padre ... Gracias por esta familia tan bonita que nos hemos regalado.

Por último, gracias a ti, hijo, Assur. Esto es por y para ti. Si con esta tesis he contribuido un poco a dejarte un mundo mejor, para mi, ya tengo el "cum laude".

A todos mil gracias, esto también es vuestro.

Contents

Agradecimientos
Contents9
Abstract / Resumen 11
Outline of the thesis
List of Original Articles17
General introduction
Objectives and hypothesis
Material and methods
Chapter I
Chapter II75
Chapter III
Chapter IV
General discussion1655
Conclusions / Conclusiones
Management recomendations
References
Supplementary material
List of Acronyms

Note: Throughout this doctoral thesis will reference Chapter I as (I), to Chapter II as (II), to Chapter III as (III) and to Chapter IV as (IV).

Abstract / Resumen

Abstract

Many studies highlight the role of mixed vs monospecific forests to supply ecosystem services. Most reports of positive mixture effects focus on mixtures that combine tree species with contrasting traits, but little is known on the effect of mixing species that are expected to behave quite similarly as they belong to the same genus. This thesis assessed the effect of mixed vs monospecific stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton.) (I) on the carbon storage and exchangeable cations along the soil profile; (III) on the understory richness and life-forms composition and its relationship with the soil status; (III) on the main tree species regeneration and understory species composition; and (IV) on the overstory productivity at two spatial scales (small-scale and stand-level), its relationship with soil moisture and fertility, and its repercussion on the understory.

The research of the overstory-understory-soil relationships was based on six triplets located in the northern Iberian Peninsula (Spain). Each triplet consisted of two plots dominated either by *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster* and one mixed plot that contained both species. In each plot, the **soil** was studied by one soil pit of at least 50 cm depth dug at each plot for organic and mineral horizons characterization. The **understory** was analyzed by ten square meter quadrats randomly located per plot, where the cover of every understory species and the number of individuals of the main regeneration trees was estimated visually. The understory species data were codified according to Raunkiær's life-forms, and the understory richness was also calculated. The **overstory** study was developed at two scales (small-scale: plots of 4 m radius, and stand-level: plots of 15 m radius).

First of all, when the carbon storage and exchangeable cations along the soil profile were studied **(I)**, two trends were found: in the topsoil, higher values of carbon stock and total organic carbon were found in *P. sylvestris* stands, lower in *P. pinaster* stands and intermediate in mixed stands; this pattern was related to the C:N ratio of the forest floor. In the intermediate soil layers, carbon stock and total organic carbon tended to be higher in mixed stands and it was related to the higher percentage of fine roots and greater thickness of the first mineral horizon. Differences in soil exchangeable cations among stands were related to the total organic carbon content.

Last, when the understory richness and composition and its relationship with the soil status were assessed (II), a water-stress gradient associated with the overstory composition indicated

that *P. pinaster* tolerates lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris*. Mixed stands were under greater water stress conditions than *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands but maintained the same level of understory richness. In addition, a soil fertility gradient defined by organic carbon and exchangeable-magnesium stocks was identified. Hemicryptophytes, whose abundance was greater in mixed stands, were the only understory life-form positively correlated to soil fertility.

Also, when the main tree species regeneration and understory species composition were analyzed (III), the percentage of the basal area of both *Pinus* species was found to be the only characteristic of the stand that significantly influenced the understory composition and tree regeneration. Species characteristics of humid and temperate zones, including *P. sylvestris* regeneration, dominated in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, and typical species of well-drained Mediterranean areas, including *P. pinaster* regeneration, dominated in *P. pinaster* monospecific stands. In mixed stands, the highest regeneration of the native Pyrenean oak (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.) was accompanied by typical species that share the same regeneration niche.

Finally, when the effect of mixed vs monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* on productivity was assessed at two spatial scales, as well as the relationship between productivity and understory richness, and soil moisture and fertility (IV), only a small-scale overyielding was found in mixed stands related to the more efficiency in the use of space by both *Pinus* species, thanks to soil water and fertility niche complementarity, which has no negative effect on the understory richness that was mantained in mixed stands thanks to hemicryptophytes. The fundamental role of scale in determining the relationship between species richness and ecosystem functioning in forests was emphasized.

The understanding of the mechanisms underlying the overstory-understory-soil relationships in the mixed forest is improved by these results. Thus, we postulated a competitive advantage of the mixed forests of Scots pine and Maritime pine over the respective monospecific stands in biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration, fertility, and productivity. Additionally, bearing in mind that the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine is widely distributed in Spain, such a mixture should continue to be favored over pure stands in the study area because it helps to improve carbon accumulation in the subsoil, to achieve an overstory overyielding at small scale, to conserve the endemic Pyrenean oak forest regeneration and to maintain understory richness under greater water-stress conditions.

Keywords: *Pinus sylvestris, Pinus pinaster, Quercus pyrenaica,* mixed forest, ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration, fertility, productivity, subsoil carbon, soil exchangeable cations, Raunkiær's life-forms, water-stres gradient, richness maintenance, endemic pyrenean oak forest, niche complementarity, overyielding, overstory-understory-soil relationships.

Resumen

Muchos estudios destacan el papel de los bosques mixtos frente a los monoespecíficos en el suministro de servicios ecosistémicos. La mayoría de los estudios se centran en los efectos positivos de la mezcla de especies arbóreas con rasgos contrastables, pero poco se sabe sobre el efecto de la mezcla de especies de las que se espera un comportamiento similar por pertenecer al mismo género. En esta tesis se evalúa el efecto de rodales mixtos frente a los monoespecíficos de pino albar (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) y resinero (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton.) (I) sobre el almacenamiento de carbono y cationes intercambiables a lo largo del perfil edáfico; (II) sobre la riqueza y composición del sotobosque (formas de vida de Raunkiær) y su relación con el estado del suelo; (III) sobre la regeneración de las principales especies arbóreas y la composición de especies del sotobosque; y (IV) sobre la productividad del arbolado a dos escalas espaciales (pequeña escala y nivel de rodal), su relación con el suelo y su repercusión sobre la riqueza del sotobosque.

Se realizó una investigación de la relación arbolado-sotobosque-suelo en seis tripletes ubicados en el norte de la Península Ibérica (España). Cada triplete consta de dos parcelas dominadas por *P. sylvestris* o *P. pinaster* y una parcela mezcla de ambas especies. En cada parcela, se estudió el **suelo** de una calicata de al menos 50 cm de profundidad, caracterizando los horizontes tanto orgánicos como minerales. El **sotobosque** se inventarió mediante diez cuadrados de un metro de lado distribuidos aleatoriamente dentro de cada parcela, en los que se estimó visualmente la cobertura de cada especie de sotobosque y el número individuos regenerados de las principales especies arboreas. Las especies del sotobosque se clasificaron por formas de vida de Raunkiær (riqueza y cobertura), y también se calculó la riqueza total del sotobosque. El estudio del **arbolado** se desarrolló a dos escalas espaciales (pequeña escala: parcelas de radio 4 m, y a nivel de rodal: parcelas de radio 15 m).

En primer lugar, cuando se estimaron el almacenamiento de carbono y los cationes intercambiables en el perfil del suelo (I), se encontraron dos tendencias: en la capa superior del suelo, los valores más altos del carbono almacenado y carbono orgánico total se dieron en los rodales de *P. sylvestris*, los más bajos en los de *P. pinaster* e intermedios en los mixtos; este patrón se relacionó con la proporción C/N de la hojarasca. En capas inferiores, ambos parámetros fueron más altos en los rodales mixtos y se relacionó con el mayor porcentaje de raíces finas y espesor del primer horizonte mineral. Las diferencias en los cationes intercambiables del suelo entre rodales se relacionaron con el contenido total de carbono orgánico.

Después, cuando se evaluó la riqueza y composición del sotobosque y su relación con el estado del suelo (II), un gradiente de estrés hídrico asociado a la composición del arbolado indicó que *P. pinaster* toleraba menor contenido de agua en el suelo que *P. sylvestris*. Los rodales mixtos se encoentraban bajo mayor estrés hídrico que los monoespecíficos de *P. sylvestris* pero

mantenían el mismo nivel de riqueza en el sotobosque. Además, se identificó un gradiente de fertilidad edáfico definido por el carbono orgánico y reservas de magnesio intercambiable. Los hemicroptófitos, cuya abundancia fue mayor en los rodales mixtos, fue la única forma de vida del sotobosque que se correlacionó positivamente con la fertilidad del suelo.

Además, cuando se analizó la regeneración de las principales especies arbóreas y la composición de las especies del sotobosque (III), el porcentaje de área basal de ambas especies de *Pinus* fue la única característica del rodal que influyó significativamente en la composición del sotobosque y en la regeneración de los árboles. Especies características de zonas húmedas y templadas, incluido el regenerado de *P. sylvestris*, dominaban en los rodales monoespecíficos de *P. sylvestris*, y especies típicas de áreas mediterráneas bien drenadas, incluido el regenerado de *P. pinaster*, dominaban en los rodales monoespecíficos de *P. pinaster*. En los rodales mixtos, la regeneración del roble melojo nativo fue mayor y estuvo acompañada por especies típicas del sotobosque que comparten su mismo nicho de regeneración.

Finalmente, cuando se estudió la productividad del arbolado a dos escalas espaciales, se relacionó con el suelo y se analizó su repercusión en el sotobosque (IV), se encontró en los rodales mixtos un sobre-rendimiento del arbolado a pequeña escala espacial, que se relacionó con la mayor eficiencia en el uso del espacio por ambas especies de pinos, gracias a la complementariedad de nicho edáfico (uso del agua y fertilidad). Además, no se encontró un efecto negativo del sobre-rendimiento del arbolado sobre la riqueza del sotobosque que se mantiene en los rodales mixtos gracias a la contribución de los hemicriptófitos. Se destaca la importancia de la escala para determinar la relación diversidad-productividad en bosques.

Estos resultados contribuyen a comprender mejor algunos de los mecanismos subyacentes a la relación arbolado-sotobosque-suelo en bosques mixtos. Parece que la mezcla de *P. sylvestris* y *P. pinaster* supone una ventaja competitiva sobre las masas monoespecíficas en cuanto a la conservación de la biodiversidad, secuestro de carbono, fertilidad y productividad. Teniendo en cuenta, además, que estas mezclas están ampliamente distribuidas en España, parece adecuado proponer que se sigan potenciando en el área de estudio porque contribuyen a incrementar la acumulación de carbono en el subsuelo, proporcionar un sobre-rendimiento del arbolado, conservar el regenerado de especies endémicas como el roble melojo y mantener la riqueza del sotobosque en suelos con menor contenido hídrico.

Palabras clave: *Pinus sylvestris, Pinus pinaster, Quercus pyrenaica,* bosque mixto, servicios ecosistémicos, conservación de la biodiversidad, secuestro de carbono, fertilidad, productividad, carbono del subsuelo, cationes intercambiables del suelo, formas de vida de Raunkiær, gradiente hídrico, mantenimiento de la riqueza, melojar endémico, complementariedad de nicho, sobre-rendimiento, relación arbolado-sotobosque-suelo.

Outline of the thesis

This thesis comprises four studies focused on increasing the knowledge of the dynamics and the functioning of mixed vs. monospecific stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) in relation to the provision of ecosystem services such as biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration. For that, the relationships between different components of forest ecosystem (i.e. overstory, understory and soil) are addressed in the different chapters (see Figure 1).

Chapter (I), the first article of the compendium, addresses the study of soil profile by depths, including organic and mineral horizons, and its relationship with the overstory composition at the stand level (see Figure 19). The aim of this study is to quantify the differences among stand types in carbon storage along the soil profile and its relationship with exchangeable cations in mixed vs. monospecific stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine.

Chapter (II), the second article of the compendium, addresses the characterization of the understory (Raunkiær's life-forms richness and composition) and its relationship with the overstory composition and soil properties (of the whole soil profile) at the stand level (see Figure 25). The aim of this study is to assess the effect of the overstory on the understory richness and life-forms composition and its relation to soil status.

Chapter (III), the third article of the compendium, also addresses the characterization of the understory, but now at the species level (species richness and composition) and including main tree species regeneration, and its relationship with overstory composition and stand characteristics (see Figure 30). The aim of this study is to relate the understory richness and tree regeneration to significant stand characteristics, responsible for the niche segregation of the main understory species.

Chapter **(IV)**, the fourth article of the compendium, addresses the fundamental role of scale in determining the relationship between species richness and ecosystem functioning in forests (Figure 37). The aim of this study is to assess the effect of the mixture of *Pinus sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* on productivity at two spatial scales, the relation of overyielding found in mixed stands with soil moisture and fertility, and its effect on the understory richness.



Figure 1. Thesis synthesis. Ilustration of a triplet with the three stand types (monospecifics stands of *Pinus sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*, and mixed stand) and their ecosystem components, overstory, understory, and soil. Also, the relationships between different ecosystem components assessed in each original article are indicated.

List of Original Articles

This thesis has generated four original articles published or under consideration for publication in SCI journals. The firt two have already been published, and the third one has been accepted for publication. The fourth paper is under revision. Each article gives rise to a chapter of this thesis.

Chapter I

López-Marcos D, Martínez-Ruiz C, Turrión MB, Jonard M, Titeux H, Ponette Q, Bravo F (2018). **Soil** carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests. European Journal of Forest Research 137: 31–84. doi:10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y **Q1** Journal of "Forestry" category with an impact factor of **2.629** in the last 5 years.

Chapter II

López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2019). **Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed vs. monospecific Mediterranean pine forests**. European Journal of Forest Research 138: 939–955. doi:10.1007/s10342-019-01215-0

Q1 Journal of "Forestry" category with an impact factor of 2.629 in the last 5 years.

Chapter III

López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo, F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020a). Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests? Annals of Forest Science doi: 10.1007/s13595-020-0919-7

Q1 Journal of "Forestry" category with an impact factor of 2.555 in the last 5 years.

Chapter IV

López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020b). **Overyielding at a small spatial scale in mixed pine forests as result of belowground resources complementarity: implications for understory richness conservation**. Ambio (under revision)

Q1 Journal of "Enviromental Sciences" category with an impact factor of 4.674 in the last 5 years.

Note: Citation styles in each original article are standardised through the Thesis. Numeration of tables and figures is correlative throughout the thesis.

General introduction

Ecosystem services

Westman (1977) wondered for the first time how much nature's services cost and coined the term "nature's services", and years after Ehrlich and Mooney (1983) mention for the first time the term "ecosystem services". However, related ideas had been brewing in the academic literature for decades (Costanza et al. 2017). What changed in the second half of the 20th century was that the loss of these ecosystem services became much more apparent, as natural capital was quickly being depleted (Beddoe et al. 2009).

A key event in the history of ecosystem services was a meeting in October 1995 of Pew Scholars in Conservation and the Environment in New Hampshire (Costanza et al. 2017). During the meeting, the idea to synthesize all the information being assembled into a quantitative global assessment of the value of ecosystem services was proposed and it was concluded that quantity was significantly larger than the global gross domestic product at the time (Costanza et al. 2017). Thus was demonstrated that ecosystem services were much more important to human wellbeing than conventional economic thinking had given them credit for (Costanza et al. 2017).

An important milestone of ecosystem services research was the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA; La Notte et al. 2017), a monumental work involving over 1300 scientists (Fisher et al. 2009). MEA classified the ecosystem services in four categories: supporting, regulating, provisioning and cultural services (Table 1; MEA 2005), and defined the "ecosystem services" as the ecological characteristics, functions, or processes that directly or indirectly contribute to human wellbeing: that is, the benefits that people derive from functioning ecosystems (MEA 2005).

MEA (2005), in their reports, evaluates the ecosystem services of different systems as Marine Fisheries Systems, Coastal Systems, Inland Water Systems, Forest and Woodland Systems, Dryland Systems, Island Systems, Mountain Systems, Polar Systems, Cultivated Systems, and Urban Systems.

Ecosystem services	Definition	Examples		
Provisioning services	The products obtained from ecosystems	Food, fiber, genetic resources, bio- chemicals, natural medicines, ornamental resources, and freshwater		
Regulating services	The benefits obtained from the regulation of ecosystem processes	Air quality regulation, climate regulation, water regulation, erosion regulation, disease regulation, pest regulation and pollination		
Cultural services	The non-material benefits people obtain from ecosystems through spiritual enrichment, cognitive development, reflection, recreation, and aesthetic experience	Cultural diversity, spiritual and religious values, recreation and ecotourism, aesthetic values, knowledge systems, and educational values		
Supporting services	The ecosystem services that are necessary for the production of all other ecosystem services	Soil formation, photosynthesis, primary production, nutrient cycling, and water cycling		

Table 1. Ecosystem services categories (MEA 2005; Wallace 2007).

Since the world's forests cover thirty percent of the earth's surface and provide critical and diverse services and values to human society the formally measuring and accounting for forest ecosystem services is a necessary first step toward properly valuing them (Jenkins and Schaap 2018). MEA (2005) examined the state of forest ecosystem services worldwide and concluded that the combined economic value of 'nonmarket' (social and ecological) forest services may exceed the recorded market value of timber, although these values are rarely taken into account in forest management decisions.



Figure 2. Forest ecosystem services (Illustration by Daphne López-Marcos based on Lambini et al. 2018)

MEA (2005) mentions as Major Classes of Forest Services the biodiversity conservation and the carbon sequestration (Figure 2). On the one hand, the forest functions as a primary habitat for a wide range of species supporting biodiversity maintenance and conservation (Jenkins and Schaap 2018). But also, the forest growth sequesters and stores carbon from the atmosphere, contributing to the regulation of the global carbon cycle and climate change mitigation (Jenkins and Schaap 2018). Thus, the analysis of biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration in a forest type (i.e. mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine) will be the target of this thesis.

Biodiversity conservation

The biodiversity concept is in constant evolution because it continues to be a topic of great interest since the end of the 19th century when Ecology emerges as a science (Martínez-Ruiz 2009). Magurran (1988, 2004) dedicates several chapters to its importance and measurement.

At the Rio Earth Summit in 1992, one of the most widely accepted definitions of biodiversity emerged: "the variability among living organisms, including terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems, and the ecological complexes of which they are part: this includes diversity within species, between species, and of ecosystems" (UNEP 1992).

Unfortunately, such important processes as interspecific interactions, natural disturbances, and nutrient cycles are left to mention. Biodiversity is not simply the number of genes, species, ecosystems in a defined area (Noos 1990). To complete this definition is necessary to recognize the three primaries attributes of ecosystems that constitute the biodiversity of an area, i.e. composition, structure, and function. The composition is the total number of species (Noos 1990; MEA 2005); the structure is a measure of their heterogeneity and complexity through the study of their patterns (Noos 1990; MEA 2005); and the function tries to understand the impact of processes in the ecosystem (Noos 1990; MEA 2005).

The importance of forest biodiversity for both its existence value as a major component of global biodiversity and its utilitarian value as the source of innumerable biological resources used by people has been recognized by the Convention on Biological Diversity and numerous other agreements and studies. Understory vegetation represents the largest component of plant biodiversity in most forest ecosystems (Mestre et al. 2017) and is a key element in the forest ecosystem because of its high compositional, structural and functional diversity, its numerous interactions with different trophic levels, and its important role in ecosystem functioning (Aubin et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2017). Thus, the understory biodiversity should be also considered to know the potential of mixed vs. monospecific stand of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the provision of ecosystem services.

Accordingly, this thesis addresses the analysis of first, diversity composition through the study of the richness (II) (III) (IV), composition and niche amplitude (III) of the plant species of the understory; second, biodiversity structure through the study of the understory Raunkiær's life-forms composition (II) and the tree species mixture proportion (II) (III) and third, diversity function through the study of the overstory and understory relationships with soil carbon sequestration (I) (II) and soil water and fertility (II) (IV).

Carbon sequestration

Warming in the climate system is unequivocal and the human influence on the climate system is clear (IPCC 2014). Global warming has its origin in increasing the atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases (Herrero de Aza 2010), such as carbon dioxide (CO_2), methane (CH_4) and nitrous oxide (N_2O).

The term "carbon sequestration" is defined as the transfer and secure storage of atmospheric CO₂ into other long-lived pools that would otherwise be emitted or remain in the atmosphere (Lal 2008). These pools are located in the ocean, biosphere, pedosphere, and geosphere (Lorenz and Lal 2010).

Forest ecosystems can sequestrate the atmospheric CO₂ during photosynthesis and stored the fixed carbon in the vegetation biomass (Ruiz-Peinado 2013). Also, forest ecosystems can sequester carbon in the soil for secure carbon storage (Lorenz and Lal 2010). Thus, forests play an important role in the global carbon cycle as an Earth's terrestrial carbon sink (Andivia et al. 2016). Carbon sequestration is necessary to reduce CO₂ concentrations and promote the mitigation of the effects of warming on the planet (Herrero de Aza 2010) and is considered one of the most cost-effective climate change mitigation strategies in the sustainable forest management (Figure 3; IPCC 2014), being also a forest ecosystem service.



Figure 3. Carbon and oxigen fluxes associated with the photosynthesis in mixed forests of Scots pine and Maritime pine. CO_2 = carbon dioxide, O_2 = oxigen; C = carbon. Illustration by Carmen Calvo-Mañero.

Although the carbon input inthe vegetation (overstory and understory) is considerable, the more important carbon inputs are below ground. About two-thirds of the carbon stored by forest ecosystems are contained in the forest soil (Table 2; Pan et al. 2011).

Bioma	Distribution	Stored carbon (Gt)		
Diotitia		Vegetation	Soil	Total
Temperate forests	USA, Europe, China, Australia	59	100	159
Boreal forests	Rusia, Canada, Alaska	88	471	559
Tropical forests	Asia, Africa, South America	66	264	330

Table 2. Stored carbon in vegetation and soil in diferent biomes (Pardos 2010).

The mechanisms of carbon storage vary depending on climate, vegetation, soil texture and mineralogical composition (Almendros 2004). Therefore, the species composition (Augusto et al. 2015) and the identity of the dominant species (Ruiz-Peinado et al. 2017) besides the climate, type of soil, and geomorphology affect both the accumulation and the distribution of the carbon along the soil profile (Chapin 2003) including the forest floor (Ruiz-Peinado et al. 2017). Consequently, the carbon stock of the upper mineral horizon is not a useful estimator of the total carbon set of the soil, since a substantial fraction of this carbon can be stored in the subsoil (Jandl et al. 2014). Although the carbon stock in the subsoil is less dynamic, it can contribute to changes in the total soil carbon set (Jandl et al. 2014). Thus, the study of the soil profile (I) (II) and the forest floor (I) is of great relevance.

On the other hand, the soil nutrient status could be an indirect consequence of the organic matter contribution to the soil (Cremer and Prietzel 2017), since the decomposition of plant tissues in terrestrial ecosystems regulates the transfer of carbon and nutrients to the soil (Wang et al. 2014a,b). But also the soil nutrient status could be an indirect consequence of the forest management through the tree species selection (Jandl et al. 2014; Cremer and Prietzel 2017). Thus, it is necessary to clarify the relationships of soil nutrients, as soil exchangeable cations, with soil organic matter (I) and vegetation (II) (IV).

The indirect benefits of soil carbon sequestration are reflected in the improvement of other soil features, such as water retention capacity or nutrient availability (Almendros 2004). All these characteristics are associated with the potential of organic matter to regulate soil composition (Almendros 2004). Thus, it is relevant to study not only the soil organic matter but also other soil features, as water or fertility, to better understand this process.

Mixed forests

The definition of the mixed forest has been widely debated (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014), and there is not yet a common definition valid across Europe (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2013). The large climatic variability and types of admixtures in the continent has lead to local definitions (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2013). Thus, in the Cost European Cooperation in science and technology framework, the European Network on Mixed Forests (EuMIXFOR) has been created to establish a long-lasting network of mixed forests (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2013).

The proposed definition by EuMIXFOR sais that "A mixed forest is a forest unit of at least 0.5 ha, excluding linear formations, where at least two tree species coexist at any developmental stage sharing common resources (light, water, and/or soil nutrients). The presence of each of the component species is normally assessed as a proportion of the number of stems or basal area, although volume, biomass and canopy cover may be used for specific objectives. A variety of structures and patterns of mixtures can be perceived to occur, while the interactions between the component species and their relative proportions may change over time" (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2013).

Toumey and Korstian (1947) clarified what species proportion must have a mixed forest. They defined the pure stands as those where 80 percent or more of the overstorey is of a single species. Thus, a mixed forest must have less of the 80 percent of the overstorey of each species.

The overlapping of ecological niches is the first requirement that allows the coexistence of the species in the mixture (Pretzsch 2009). Mixing can occur only in areas where there is overlap, in terms of resource availability and environmental conditions (Pretzsch 2009).

The European Commission and EuroStat (2013) calculated that 180.2 million ha of the pan-European region is cover by forests and 23% of this land is covered by mixed forests (Forest Europe et al. 2011). Also, the gradual decrease in the area of single-species forests in Europe and a steady evolution towards mixtures of species have been verified (Forest Europe et al. 2011)

On the other hand, the management of mixed-species forests has taken on greater relevance over the last decades as a result of the growing evidence that mixtures can supply numerous ecosystem services more efficiently than monospecific forests (Gamfeldt et al. 2013). Thus the need for monitoring this portfolio of mixed forest ecosystem services is acknowledged within the Pan-European region with the adoption of a framework of criteria and indicators of sustainable forest management (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014).

Until recently, pure stands were believed to ameliorate the timber yield both in quantitative and qualitative terms, and that had an impact on the quality of the forest ecosystem

and its biodiversity. Nowadays, the way of managing natural resources is changing towards multifunctional management because the provision of goods is not anymore the only objective that forest managers should achieve (Grilli et al. 2016). After the introduction of the concept of ecosystem services, multifunctional management gained even more consensus (Grilli et al. 2016).

Recent studies have highlighted the benefits provided by mixed forests. They have higher growth rates (Piotto 2008) and, under certain conditions, mixed forests can produce a higher yield than monocultures (Saetre et al. 1997; Pretzsch et al. 2010). The improvement in soil conditions (Davidson et al. 1998; Brandtberg et al. 2000) and the carbon sequestration increment (European Commission 2010; Andivia et al. 2016; López-Marcos et al. 2018) have also been recorded. They can create a better habitat for wildlife (Carnus et al. 2006) as well as participate in biodiversity conservation (Felton et al. 2010; López-Marcos et al. 2019, 2020a). Mixed forests are also more resilient, being less affected by damages from hunting and pathogens and less sensitive to the wind and fire outbreak (González et al., 2006). The mixture of tree species also performs as a measurement of adaptive management to climate change, increasing the resilience of forest ecosystems and improving their adaptability (Temperli et al. 2012). Finally, in some cases, socio-economic studies highlighted that mixed forests have a higher recreational value for tourists (Norman et al. 2010; Grilli et al. 2014).

In Spain, 19% of the total forest surface is mixed forests (MAGRAMA 2012) and they are mainly formed by combinations of broadleaf-broadleaf or broadleaf-conifer species (Riofrío 2018). However, forests with coexisting pine species are also common in Spain, covering almost 0.5 million ha (Montero and Serrada 2013). Some of the mixed pine forests in Spain are composed by *P. sylvestris–P. nigra* J.F.Arnold (Trasobares et al. 2004), or *P. halepensis* Mill.–*P. nigra–P. sylvestris* (Granda et al. 2018) in the northeast; *P. halepensis–P. pinea* L. (Cattaneo et al. 2018), or *P. pinaster–P. pinea* (Ledo et al. 2014) in the northern plateau; *P. sylvestris–P. nigra* in the Southern Iberian Range (Jucker et al. 2014), or *P. pinaster–P. sylvestris* in the "Sierra de la Demanda" (Riofrío et al. 2017a, b, 2019; Cattaneo 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019, 2020a, b). The admixtures of *Pinus pinaster-Pinus sylvestris* being the object of this thesis.

Mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine

Scots pine and Maritime pine are two of the main forest species in Spain. They grow in pure and mixed stands (see Figures 4, 5 and 6) either naturally or as a result of species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al. 2008). Both species coexist on moderate slopes mainly in the Iberian and Central Mountain Range in approximately 120,000 ha when their natural ecological distributions overlap: in the colder and higher areas of Maritime pine distribution and close to the southern latitudinal limit of Eurasian distribution for Scots pine (Riofrío 2018).



Figure 4. Distribution map of admixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) elaborated by crossing the data of the EUFORGEN (2009) programme of both natural and naturalized occurrences of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris*.

These mixed stands are particularly interesting because of their location at the edges of the Scots pine range distribution, where ecological conditions (high temperatures, frequent droughts) approach the species tolerance limit and the most drastic effects of climate change are expected (Matías and Jump 2012). Meanwhile, Maritime pine in a dynamic and continuous process expands into the natural distribution areas of Scots pine, especially in more xeric site conditions (García-Güemes and Calama 2015).

Both *Pinus* species show similar crown architecture and slight differences in shade tolerance (Riofrío et al. 2017a), but differ in leaf traits (more recalcitrant leaf litter (Herrero et al.

2016) and longer needles (Amaral Franco 1986) for Maritime pine), and water-stress tolerance (*P. pinaster* tolerates lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris*; López-Marcos et al. 2019).

The mixed pine forests of Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) in the "Sierra de la Demanda" will be the object of this thesis due to the high ecological and economic value of both species in that area. The "Sierra de la Demanda" is a place with a high ecological value and one of the areas with most tradition in forest management in Spain. The population is strongly linked to forests, which have been the basis of the economy for centuries. In this frame, monitoring the biodiversity and carbon sequestration of mixed vs monospecific stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the "Sierra de la Demanda" will be an opportunity to value these forests in the field of ecosystem services.

In the "Sierra de la Demanda" the Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute (iuFOR) has a network of 36 permanent plots established in 2014. Productivity (Riofrío et al. 2017b), grow efficiency (Riofrío et al. 2017a), changes in the crowns (Cattaneo 2018) and the allometric changes (Riofrío et al. 2019) in mixed vs monospecific stands of Maritime pine and Scots pine have been studied there. Nevertheless, the provision of ecosystem services of this admixture such as carbon sequestration and biodiversity conservation have not been studied yet.

Scots pine

Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) is the most widely distributed *Pinus* species in the world. This species presents great ecological amplitude (Bueis et al. 2016) cross the whole Eurasian continent (Mátyás et al. 2004; see Figure 5). At the boreal forest limit, it survives with 300 mm annual rainfall, and towards the steppe plains of Central Asia, its occurrence is limited by the length of the drought period (Mátyás et al. 2004). In southern Europe and Asia Minor, isolated occurrences are confined to the montane zone (Mátyás et al. 2004). Spanish stands constitute the southern limit of its distribution, where it occupies 1.28 million hectares (Serrada et al. 2008). The genetic variety is immense and several different subspecies exist across its distribution (Mátyás et al. 2004).



Figure 5. Distribution map of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) elaborated by crossing the data of the EUFORGEN (2009) programme of both natural and naturalized occurrences of *Pinus sylvestris*

Scots pine is a pioneer species that readily regenerate after major natural or human disturbances if weed competition and grazing pressure are low (Mátyás et al. 2004). That *Pinus* species demands a lot of light but tolerates partially shaded sites, tolerates frost and drought relatively well (Cattaneo 2018), has a xeric-mesophilic character and develops in soils with a frank texture. It has a powerful radical system, with a generally long main root and an oblique and long secondary radical system (Bravo-Oviedo and Montero 2008).

Scots pine is a commercially important tree species in Europe (Mátyás et al. 2004). Its moderate ecological demands render Scots pine an ideal species for artificial regeneration, thus its seeds have been traded and used across Europe for centuries (Mátyás et al. 2004).

Maritime pine

Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) is a broadly distributed conifer in the western Mediterranean Basin, Southern Europe and Africa, and the Atlantic coast of Portugal, Spain, and France (Alía and Martín 2003; Figure 6) but not continuously due to geographic isolation and human activity since ancient times (Serrada et al. 2008). The Spanish stands occupy 0.68 million ha (Serrada et al. 2008). Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration



Figure 6. Distribution map of Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) elaborated by crossing the data of the EUFORGEN (2009) programme of both natural and naturalized occurrences of *Pinus pinaster*

Maritime pine is a light-demanding, shade-intolerant, fast-growing species that occupy very diverse sites, showing high genetic diversity within populations (Riofrío 2018). It is also frost-resistant and tolerant to summer drought, which favors adaptation to local ecological conditions (Riofrío 2018). That pine has a xerophytic character with a potent radical system: a very deep main root and horizontal secondary radical system (Bravo-Oviedo and Montero 2008). The ability of the species to grow in very poor soils and under prolonged drought is one of the reasons for its use in afforestation programs for wood production or soil protection (Alía and Martín 2003b).

The Maritime pine's wood is used for construction, furniture, and poles, while its resin is tapped to make rosin and turpentine. Other uses include stabilization of dunes and slopes, as shelterbelts near coastal areas and for the production of plant nursery substrates (Alía and Martín 2003b).

Objectives and hypothesis

General objective

The purpose of this thesis is to increase the knowledge on the dynamics and the functioning of mixed vs. monospecific stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine concerning the provision of ecosystem services such as the conservation of biodiversity and carbon sequestration. For that, we relate the different components of the forest ecosystem such as overstory, understory, and soil (see Figure 1).

Our general hypothesis is that mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine can supply ecosystem services more efficiently than the respective monospecific forests.

Specific objectives

The specific objectives and the hypotheses are structured by chapters:

 To quantify the differences among stand types in carbon storage along the soil profile (every 10 cm depth) and its relationship with the exchangeable cations, and to investigate the possible causes of these observed differences.

We hypothesize that the stand type influences the C storage and, indirectly, the exchangeable base cations of the mineral soil by the organic matter decomposition effect. Thus, differences in the topsoil among stand types are expected to be found, as well as a positive interactive effect of the admixture of both pine species on the accumulation of carbon in the soil profile in comparison with monospecific stands.

II. To assess the effect of the overstory on the understory richness and Raunkiær's life-forms composition and its relationship with soil properties.

We hypothesize that the admixture of both pine species has a positive interactive effect on the understory richness in comparison with monospecific stands and that the understory composition and richness are positively correlated with (and can be derived from) the availability of nutrients and water. **III.** To relate the understory richness and tree regeneration to significant stand characteristics, responsible for the niche segregation of the main understory species.

We hypothesize that the proportion of both *Pinus* species in the overstory is the most influential characteristic of the stands on the understory composition and tree regeneration and that the mixture of both pine species favors the native tree regeneration and associated understory species that contribute to conserving a high understory species richness in mixed stands.

IV. To assess the effect of the spatial scale on overstory yield in mixed forests, to understand the mechanisms involved, and to analyze the overstory yield effect on the understory richness. We hypothesize that there is an overstory overyielding in the mixed stand, only detected at a small spatial scale, caused by soil niche complementarity.

Material and methods

Study area

The experimental device is located in the "Sierra de la Demanda" between the Burgos and Soria regions, in North-Central Spain (41° 47' 35" N and 41° 53' 41" N latitude, and 2° 56' 12" W and 3° 20' 46" W longitude). It consists of eighteen forest plots distributed in six triplets located on an east-west axis of about 33 km and on a north-south axis of about 11 km (Figure 7). For further details about the location of the triplets, see Figure 45, 47, 48, 49, 50 and 51 in Suplementary material 'Location').



Figure 7. (a) Location the study area in Europe. (b) Location of the triplets in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' in the North-Central Spain and location of the plots in each triplet. *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific stands: red circles; *Pinus pinaster* monospecific stand: yellow circles; Mixed stand of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*: blue circles.

The climate of the study area is Temperate (mainly temperate with dry summer, Csb, and in a minor extent temperate without a dry season and warm summer, Cfb) according to the Köppen classification (1936) for the Iberian Peninsula. The mean annual temperature ranges from 8.7 to 9.8 °C and the annual rainfall ranges from 684 to 833 mm. The altitude varies from 1093 to 1277 m a.s.l and the slope from 0.9 to 20%. The geological parent materials are sandstones and marls from the Mesozoic era (IGME 2015). The soils are Inceptisols with a xeric soil moisture regime and a mesic temperature regime and they are classified as Dystroxerept Typic or Typic Humixerept (sensu Soil-Survey-Staff 2014). The sandy soil texture was dominant and the pH varies from extremely acidic to very acidic (López-Marcos et al. 2018). The natural vegetation surrounding the study area, highly degraded by anthropogenic action, is characterized by Pyrenean oak (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.) forests or communities dominated by junipers. In 'Supplementary material', a description of the climate (Figure 52), including the mean annual temperature (Figure 53) and the annual rainfall (Figure 54) is shown, as well as information on the geological materials (Figure 55), the soils (Figure 56), and the potential (Figure 57) and current (Table 34) vegetation of the study area. A detail description of the pit soil profile of each plot is also provided (Tables 35-88).

Experimental design

The experimental device has 18 plots distributed in six triplets (Figure 8). Each triplet consists of three circular plots of 15 m radius, including two plots dominated either by *P. sylvestris* (PS) or *P. pinaster* (PP) and one mixed plot that contained both species (MM). Plots within triplet are located less than 1 km from each other (Figure 9) so that the environmental conditions are homogeneous within the triplet, although they can differ among distinct triplets (see in Suplementary material 'Climate', 'Soils' and 'Vegetation').



Figure 8. Ilustration of a triplet. Modified of Cattaneo (2018).

The sampling design in triplets is well balanced for stand composition (six repetitions per stand type) but not necessarily balanced for other stand characteristics (i.e. density, total basal area, dominant height, mean quadratic diameter, age). Stand characteristics are intended to be similar within the triplet (avoiding biases in the sampling design) but differed between triplets (see Table 34 in 'Suplementary material') facilitating a pair-wise plausible comparison of mixed versus monospecific stands (Riofrío 2018).


15 m radius

Figure 9. Map of triplet 5 as an example.

Traditionally, forest management has consisted of strip clear-cutting with soil movement and planting or sowing when necessary, and moderate thinning from below (Riofrío et al. 2019) benefiting *P. sylvestris* (López-Marcos et al. 2019c). The stands have had no silvicultural intervention or damage in the last ten years in an attempt to minimize the effect of the thinning or another type of intervention in what is intended to study, either growth, floristic richness or soil nutrients. Triplets belong to the network of permanent plots of the Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute UVa-INIA (iuFOR) and they have been previously used in a series of recent studies (Riofrío et al. 2017a, b, 2019; Cattaneo 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019, 2020a).

The plots were selected to rely on species composition. In monospecific plots of Scots pine and Maritime pine, the target species constitutes at least 80% of the total basal area. Plots are defined as mixed when the combined basal area of both species represents at least the 90%, and the basal area of each target species is higher than 15%. Thus, the proportion of other species remained lower than 10% (Riofrío 2018). The plots have approximately a full-cover, with densities above 60% (Cattaneo 2018). Therefore, the percentage of the basal area of the dominant species in the monospecific plots of *P. sylvestris* was greater than 83%, the percentage of the basal area of the dominant species in the monospecific plots of *P. pinaster* was greater than 95%, and the basal area percentage of both species in the mixed plots ranged from 33 to 67%.

The age of the selected plots ranged between 44 and 151 years, the stand density between 509 and 1429 trees ha^{-1} , the basal area between 33.3 and 70.30 and $m^2 ha^{-1}$ and the dominant height between 15.60 and 25.04 m (see Table 34 in 'Supplementary material').

Soil sampling and laboratory analyses

One soil pit of at least 50 cm depth was dug at each plot (eighteen in total) for organic (Forest floor, FF) and mineral soil horizons characterization.

Forest floor

A 25x25 cm quadrant (Figure 10) placed at the top of the pit was used to collect the forest floor or organic horizon. Coarse woody materials, such as large branches, were carefully removed from the forest floor before sampling (Andivia et al. 2016). The forest floor was separated into three fractions according to van Delft et al. (2006): almost undecomposed litter or fresh fraction (FsL), partially decomposed litter or fragmented fraction (FgL) and mostly decomposed organic matter or humified fraction (HmL).



1x

25 x 25 cm



Figure 10. Forest floor sampling and handling procedure.

The three fractions of leaf litter were dried separately at 60 °C during 48 h and weighed (± 0.01 g) to determine the amount of biomass of each litter fraction per hectare (B_{FsL}, B_{FgL}, B_{HmL}). A representative portion of each sample was ground up and analyzed with a LECO-CHN 2000 elemental analyzer to determine total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) concentrations.

The total forest floor biomass (B_{FF}) was calculated as the sum of B_{FSL} , B_{FgL} and B_{HmL} . The total organic carbon stock (Cstocks) of FsL, FgL and HmL litter fractions were calculated by multiplying TOC concentration by the biomass of each fraction (Andivia et al. 2016) to obtain C stock_{FsL}, C stock_{FgL}, Cstock_{HmL}, respectively. Cstock of the FF (Cstock_{FF}) was the sum of Cstock_{FsL}, Cstock_{FgL} and Cstock_{HmL}. The C/N ratio was calculated for the fresh (CN_{FgL}), fragmented (CN_{FgL}), and humified litter (CN_{HmL}). C/N of the FF was calculated as the weighted average of C/N of three decomposition fractions (Equation 1).

$$CN_{FF} = \left[\left(\frac{B_{FsL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{FsL} \right] + \left[\left(\frac{B_{FgL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{FgL} \right] + \left[\left(\frac{B_{HmL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{HmL} \right]$$

Mineral soil

Two undisturbed soil samples were collected from each mineral horizon of each pit with steel cylinders (98.18 cm³) keeping their original structure in order to determine the bulk density of each horizon. One disturbed sample was also taken from each mineral horizon of each pit (ca. 2.5 kg; see Figure 11).





The percentages of fine (%FR) and coarse (%CR) roots were estimated visually in each horizon at the time of digging the soil pit, i.e. many, normal, few, very few or no roots cover in the cross-section of the soil profile classified as 80%, 50%, 30%, 10% and 0% respectively. The roots with a diameter below 5 mm were considered fine roots and those with a diameter above 5 mm as coarse roots.

Both undisturbed and disturbed mineral soil samples were dried at 105 °C during 24 h before analyses. Undisturbed mineral soil samples were weighed (± 0.001 g) and used to calculate the soil bulk density (bD). Disturbed mineral soil samples were sieved (2 mm) before physical and chemical analyses.

Physical analyses included percentage by weight of coarse fraction (> 2 mm; stones) and earth fraction (< 2 mm; EF), particle distribution determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994) and subsequent determination of clay (%clay), sand (%sand) and silt (%silt) contents, and classification according to USDA criteria. Available water (AW) was determined by the MAPA (1994) method as the difference between water content at field capacity (water remaining in a soil after it has been thoroughly saturated for 2 days and allowed to drain freely) and the permanent wilting point (soil water content retained at 1500 kPa using Eijkelkamp pF Equipment).

Chemical parameters analyzed for each mineral horizon included: exchangeable cations (Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺, Na⁺) extracted with 1 M ammonium acetate at pH = 7 (Schollenberger and Simon 1945) and determined using an atomic absorption/emission spectrometer; total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) quantified by dry combustion using a Leco CHN 2000 elemental analyzer; easily oxidizable carbon (oxC) analyzed using the K-dichromate oxidation method (Walkley 1947); and available phosphorus using the Olsen method (Olsen and Sommers 1982).

Then the information from chemical and physical analyses of soil from mineral horizons was converted by depths (every 10 cm) and estimated for the whole profile as follows (Figure 12):

<u>By depths</u>. The mineral soil horizon data were converted into five different depths (every 10 cm) calculating weighted averages between the horizons (Figure 12b; see also Appendix Ic).



Figure 12. Mineral soil profile by horizons (a), by depths (b) and as a whole (c) in the Maritime pine monospecific stand of triplet 5, as an example.

 For the whole profile. The mineral soil horizon data were used to calculate the stocks of different soil properties and the soil water content in the whole profile (Figure 12c). First, in each horizon, the water holding capacity (WHC) and the stock of different soil properties were calculated as indicated in Appendix IIb. After, the water holding capacity and the stocks of different soil properties in the soil profile (0–50 cm) were calculated as the sum of the values of each horizon (see Appendix IIb). In addition, the sum of bases (SB) was the sum of the Ca⁺², Mg^{+2} , K⁺ and Na⁺ concentrations (cmol⁺ kg⁻¹).

Overstory sampling and data analyses

In order to assess the role of scale in determining the relationship between species richness and productivity, the overstory composition and structure were characterized at two different spatial scales: 1) at the stand level (Figure13), i.e. within each circular plot of 15 m radius; and 2) at a smaller scale (Figure 14), i.e. within each circular 4 m radius subplot centered in each quadrat of understory sampling according to Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. (2011).



Figure 13. Ilustration of overstory study at stand level of triplet 5 as an example. Red circles: Scots pine stems; Yellow circles: Maritime pine stems. The diameter of each circle represents the basal area.





The number and diameter of all stems > 7.5 cm DBH (diameter at the breist height) for every *Pinus* species in each plot were computed at both spatial scales. Tree density (N), total basal area (GT), and the basal area of each *Pinus* species (GPS: *P. sylvestris* basal area; GPP: *P. pinaster* basal area) were calculated at both spatial scales; GT, GPS and GPP as indicated in Appendix IVa.

At the smaller scale, the average of the ten circular 4 m radius subplots was made within each plot. The percentages of *P. pinaster* basal area (%PP) or *P. sylvestris* basal area (%PS) were calculated as the ratio between the basal area of *P. pinasteror* or *P. sylvestris* and the total basal area of each plot.

In addition, in order to assess the 'randomness' of the spatial distribution pattern of trees (Byth and Ripley 1980), both without differentiating species (*P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*) and for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*), two different distances were measured within each plot following Hopkins (1954): 1) the distance from a random point (the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree (piD), and 2) the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor (iiD); see Figure 15.



Figure 15. Ilustration of the distances mesurement within each plot of 15 m radius following the Hopkins's (1954) methodology. The distance from a random point (the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree (piD), and the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor (iiD). Black square: understory inventories; Red circles: Scots pine stems; Yellow circles: Maritime pine stems. The diameter of each circle represents the basal area. This methodolody was applied for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*), and without differentiating species (*P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*).

Understory sampling and data analyses

In each plot of 15 m radius, 10 quadrats of 1m×1m were randomly located to record the understory vegetation and tree regeneration (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Distribution of square inventories for the understory sampling in triplet 5.

In each quadrat the percentage cover of bare soil, stoniness, leaf litter, vascular plant species (including tree regeneration), and bryophytes were recorded (Figure 17a). The number of individuals (stems) of the tree regeneration was also counted within each quadrat (Figure 17b). The sampling was carried out in June 2016 by the same observer to encompass and better identify the maximum number of vascular plant species (Martínez-Ruiz and Fernández Santos 2005; Alday et al. 2010).



Figure 17. Ilustration of the understory sampling (a) and the regeneration sampling (b) in each inventory.

The cover percentage of every vascular plant species and bryophytes in each quadrat was estimated visually "in situ" whenever possible. Specimens of the unknown or doubtful species were collected for later identification in the laboratory with the help of botanical keys such as Aizpiru et al. (2007) and Castroviejo et al. (1986-2012). Vascular plant species nomenclature follows Tutin et al. (1964-1980) and bryophytes nomenclature follows Crosby et al. (1992).

Tree regeneration included the main tree species found in seedlings/saplings stages (i.e. *P. sylvestris, P. pinaster, Q. pyrenaica* and *Q. faginea*) because no old regeneration was found (it had probably cleared by management). In these stands, there are no subordinate tree species. Only two layers of vegetation can be distinguished (overstory and understory): the overstory measuring c.a. 20 m in height, and the understory being only c.a. 20 cm in height, and never higher than 1 m.

In addition, the legal protection status at local, regional and national level in Spain according to the Anthos (2017) project (http://www.anthos.es/), as well as the conservation status according to the International Union for Conservation Nature (UICN 2012) criteria were recorded for vascular plants (see Appendix IIa).

Vascular plant species were classified according to the Raunkiær's life-forms classification (1934) following Aizpiru et al. (2007); see Appendix IIa. The cover (%) of each Raunkiær's life-form in each plot was calculated as the average of the 10 vegetation sampling quadrats per plot (see López-Marcos et al. 2019). The Raunkiær's life-forms are defined by Rivas-Martínez (2005) as follows (see Figure 18):

- Therophytes: annual plants whose shoot and root systems die after seed production and which complete their whole life cycle within one year.
- o Geophytes: plants with subterranean resting buds (i.e. bulbs, rhizomes...).
- Hemicryptophytes: perennial herbaceous plants with periodic shoot reduction to a remnant shoot system that lies relatively flat on the ground surface.
- Chamaephytes: woody plants whose natural branch or shoot system remains perennially between 25 and 50 cm above ground surface (dwarf shrubs).
- Phanerophytes: woody plants that grow taller than 25-50 cm (tree regeneration and shrubs).



Figure 18. Life-forms of vascular plants according to Raunkiær (1934). Buds in red colour. (Illustration of Daphne López-Marcos)

Finally, richness was calculated as total cumulative number of plant species in the 10 quadrats per plot (Colwell 2009), including understory vegetation and tree regeneration (see López-Marcos et al. 2019). Although several indices of diversity were tested, only the number of species showed any difference among stand types and thus is shown in results.

Chapter |

Reservas de carbono y cationes intercambiables del suelo en pinares mixtos y monoespecíficos



Figure 19. Graphical abstract of the article that gives rise to chapter I of the thesis (López-Marcos et al. 2018).

This chapter has been published as:

López-Marcos D^{3,1*}, Martínez-Ruiz C^{1,3}, Turrión M.B^{1,3}, Jonard M⁴, Titeux H⁴, Ponette Q⁴, Bravo F^{2,3} (2018). **Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests**. European Journal of Forest Research 137(6): 31–84. <u>doi:10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y</u>

¹ Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.
² Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.
³ Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

⁴ ELIE, Université catholique de Louvain, Croix du Sud 2, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium[.]

Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests

Daphne López-Marcos^{1,3*}, Carolina Martínez-Ruiz^{1,3}, María-Belén Turrión^{1,3}, Mathieu Jonard⁴, Hugues

Titeux⁴, Quentin Ponette⁴, Felipe Bravo^{2,3}

¹Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071, Palencia (Spain)

²Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071, Palencia (Spain)

³Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071, Palencia (Spain)

⁴ELIE, Université catholique de Louvain, Croix du Sud 2, Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)

Abstract

Many studies highlight the role of mixed versus monospecific forests to supply numerous ecosystem services. Most reports of positive mixture effects on carbon storage focus on mixtures that combine tree species with contrasting traits, but little is known on the effect of mixing species that are expected to behave quite similarly as they belong to the same genus. In this study, we assessed the effect of mixed versus monospecific stands of Pinus sylvestris and P. pinaster on carbon storage and exchangeable cations along the soil profile, based on research with six triplets in the northern Iberian Peninsula (Spain). One soil pit of at least 40 cm depth was dug at each plot for organic and mineral horizons characterization. Two trends were found: in the topsoil, higher values of carbon stock and total organic carbon were found in *P. sylvestris* stands, lower in *P. pinaster* stands and intermediate in mixed stands; this pattern was related to the C:N ratio of the forest floor; In the intermediate soil layers, its tends to be higher in mixed stands and is related to percentage of fine roots and to the greater thickness of the first mineral horizon. Differences in soil exchangeable cations among stands were related to the total organic carbon content. These results improve our understanding of the mechanisms underlying soil carbon accumulation in mixed stands and emphasize the use of mixtures as a strategy to combat climate change, due to the advantage in the accumulation of carbon in the subsoil layers.

Keywords: Pinus sylvestris L., Pinus pinaster Ait., soil profile, C stock, exchangeable cations.

Introduction

Over the last decades, the management of mixed-species forests has taken on greater relevance as a result of the growing evidence that they can supply numerous ecological, economic and socio-cultural goods and services more efficiently than monospecific forests (Gamfeldt et al. 2013a). Taking into account that 23% of the land is covered by mixed forests in the pan-European region (FAO 2011), mixed forests management is becoming a new paradigm (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014) in order to increase the provision of many high-value goods and ecosystem services (Stenger et al. 2009), including biodiversity conservation or carbon sequestration (European Commission 2010).

Forests play an important role in the global carbon cycle and in the Earth's terrestrial carbon sink (Andivia et al. 2016). Forest ecosystems contain approximately 1725 Pg of carbon and about two-thirds are contained in the forest soil (Pan et al. 2011). However, there is still great uncertainty regarding best management strategies to promote soil organic carbon sequestration (Andivia et al. 2016), including the mixture of different species of trees (Jandl et al. 2007).

Carbon accumulation mechanisms may vary depending on the dominant species (Augusto et al. 2015) and the different layers of the soil (Vesterdal et al. 2013) since the aboveground litter and the root litter are the responsible for soil C input (Rasse et al. 2005). Therefore, the mixture of tree species can affect both the accumulation and the distribution of the carbon along the soil profile (Chapin 2003). Although a general understanding of the effect of tree species across site types have not yet been reached (Jandl et al. 2007), many authors suggest that the impact on the forest floor or mineral soil depends on the identity of the species, species richness, and kind of mixture (Ruiz-Peinado et al. 2017). In fact, Dawud et al. (2016) revealed that forests with greater diversity had higher soil carbon stocks in deeper layers. However, most reports of positive mixture effects on C storage focus on mixtures that combine species with contrasting traits, such as the mixing of European beech and Norway spruce (Andivia et al. 2016), the mixing of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce (Cremer et al. 2016), or even in plantations of mixed stand vs monocultures in a chronosequence of *Pinus massoniana-Cinnamomum camphora* (Liu et al. 2017).

The effect of mixing for species that are expected to behave quite similarly as they belong to the same genus is still unknown, despite being frequent in many environments, such as the admixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) in Spain. Both *Pinus* species show similar crown architecture and slight differences in shade tolerance (Riofrío et al. 2017a), but clearly differ in leaf traits (e.g. more recalcitrant leaf litter for *P. pinaster*; Herrero et al. 2016; longer *P. pinaster* needles; Amaral Franco 1986), whereas the information on

root distribution is not clear, since rooting depth may vary depending on the moisture conditions (Bakker et al. 2006). Maritime pine is an important species of Mediterranean forests and Scots pine is the most widely distributed species of pine in the world (Bogino and Bravo 2014). They are two of the main forest species in Spain (Scots pine: 1.20 million ha; Maritime pine: 0.68 million ha) and grow in monospecific and mixed stands, either naturally or as a result of species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al. 2008). In addition to their wide distribution and forest area, they hold great ecological and socio-economic value (Riofrío et al. 2017b). Mixed stands where these two species coexist are particularly interesting because of their location at the rear-edges for *P. sylvestris* forests, where ecological conditions (high temperatures, frequent droughts) approach the species tolerance limit and the most drastic effects of climate change are predicted (Matías and Jump 2012).

Forest management in general and tree species selection, in particular, have various impacts on soil biological, physical and chemical processes and characteristics (Jandl et al. 2007; Cremer and Prietzel 2017). With regard to the soil chemical properties, soil exchangeable cation concentrations may be affected by tree species composition (Cremer and Prietzel 2017). Different tree species growing under similar conditions, such as climate, soil type, and land use history differ substantially from each other with respect to foliage nutrient content, root and litter chemistry, all of them having a large impact on soil nutrient input, output, and cycling (Augusto et al. 2015; Cremer and Prietzel 2017). Also, the soil nutrient input could be an indirect consequence of the organic matter contributions to soil (Cremer and Prietzel 2017), since the decomposition of plant tissues in terrestrial ecosystems regulates the transfer of carbon and nutrients to the soil (Wang et al. 2014).

Differences in the concentration of cations in the soil may depend on differences between tree species in biomass accumulation rates and/or biomass cation concentrations (Brandtberg et al. 2000). The amount and composition of litter produced also vary between species, and these two factors can, in turn, influence the rate of accumulation of organic matter and properties of the forest floor (Brandtberg et al. 2000). Whether species differ in the depth at which nutrient uptake is concentrated and/or in the rate of biocycling, the result may appear in subsoil mineral horizons (Brandtberg et al. 2000).

The forest management practices must be used as a mitigation tool as regards the carbon sequestration because the type of tree species affects forest growth, carbon and nutrient cycling (Augusto et al. 2015). That is why we investigated the impact of the mixture of tree species of the same genus with a wide distribution in Spain (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*) on C storage along the soil profile in comparison with monospecific stands. We hypothesize that: (1) the stand type influences the C storage and, indirectly, the exchangeable base cations of the mineral soil by the

organic matter decomposition effect; (2) differences in the topsoil among stand types are expected to be found; and (3) the admixture of both pine species might have a positive interactive effect on the accumulation of carbon in the soil profile in comparison with monospecific stands. Therefore, the aims of this study were: (i) to quantify the differences among stand types in C storage, including both total accumulation in soil and distribution in the soil profile; (ii) to investigate the possible causes of the observed differences; and (iii) to explore how the difference in C accumulation might affect the exchangeable cation concentrations.

Material and methods

Study sites

The research was carried out in eighteen forest plots (6 triplets) located in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' between the Burgos and Soria regions, in North-Central Spain (41°47'35" N and 41°53'41"N latitude and 2°56'12"W and 3°20'46"W longitude; Figure 20). The climate is Temperate Type Cfb and Csb, i.e. temperate with dry or temperate summer and atlantic respectively, according to the Köppen classification (1936) for the Iberian Peninsula. The mean annual temperature ranges between 8.7 and 9.8 °C and the annual precipitation ranges between 684 and 833 mm (Nafría-García et al. 2013). Altitude varies from 1093 to 1277 m a.s.l., and the slope from 0.9 to 20%. The geological parent materials are sandstones and marl of Mesozoic age (IGME 2015). The soils are Inceptisols with a xeric soil moisture regime and mesic soil temperature regime and they are classified as Typic Dystroxerept or Typic Humixerept (sensu Soil-Survey-Staff 2014). The sandy soil texture was dominant and the pH varies from extremely acid to strongly acid (Appendix Ia). The natural dominant vegetation in the study area, highly degraded by anthropogenic action, is characterised by Pyrenean oak forests or communities dominated by junipers.

Each triplet consisted of two plots dominated either by *Pinus sylvestris* (PS) or *Pinus pinaster* (PP) and one plot with a mixture of both species (MM) located less than 1 km from each other. Plots were circular of radius 15 m and the tree species composition was the main varying factor. The percentage of the basal area of the dominant species in the monospecific plots was greater than 83% or 95% for *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster* respectively, whereas the basal area percentage of both species in the mixed plots ranged from 33 to 67%. Historically, the area has been occupied by forests and it has been traditionally managed for decades through selective thinning, being *P. sylvestris* benefited. The stands had no silvicultural intervention or damage in the last ten years. The age of the selected plots ranged between 44 and 151 years, the stand

density between 509 and 1429 trees ha⁻¹, the basal area between 33.3 and 70.30 and m² ha⁻¹ and the dominant height between 15.60 and 25.04 m (Appendix Ib). These plots belong to the network of permanent plots of iuFOR-UVa.



Figure 20. Location of the triplets in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' in the North-Central Spain and location of the plots in each triplet. *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific stands (PS): red circles; *Pinus pinaster* monospecific stand (PP): yellow circles; Mixed stand of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* (MM): blue circles.

Soil sampling

One soil pit of at least 40 cm depth was dug at each plot (eighteen in total) for organic and mineral soil horizons characterization and sampling (Appendix Ic). A 25x25 cm quadrant placed at the top of the pit was used to collect the forest floor or organic horizon. Coarse woody materials, such as large branches, were carefully removed from the forest floor before sampling (Andivia et al. 2016). The forest floor (FF) was separated into three fractions according to Van Delft et al. (2006): almost undecomposed litter or fresh fraction (FsL), partially decomposed litter or fragmented fraction (FgL) and mostly decomposed organic matter or humified fraction (HmL).

Two undisturbed soil samples were collected from each mineral horizon of each pit with steel cylinders (98.18 cm³) to keep their original structure (Appendix Ic). One disturbed sample was also taken from each mineral horizon of each pit (ca. 2.5 kg). The percentages of fine (%FR) and coarse (%CR) roots were estimated visually in each horizon at the time of digging the soil pit,

i.e. many, normal, few, very few or no roots coverage in the cross-section of the soil profile classified as 80%, 50%, 30%, 10% and 0% respectively. The roots with a diameter below 5 mm were considered fine roots and those with a diameter above 5 mm as coarse roots.

Laboratory analyses

The three fractions of leaf litter were dried separately at 60°C during 48 h and weighed (\pm 0.01 g) to determine the amount of biomass of each litter fraction per hectare (B_{FsL}, B_{FgL}, B_{HmL}). A representative portion of each sample was ground up and analyzed with a LECO-CHN 2000 elemental analyzer to determine total organic carbon and total nitrogen concentrations (TOC and N, respectively).

Both undisturbed and disturbed mineral soil samples were dried at 105°C during 24 h before analyses. Undisturbed mineral soil samples were weighed (±0.001 g) and used to calculate the soil bulk density (bD). Disturbed mineral soil samples were sieved (2 mm) before physical and chemical analyses. Physical analyses included percentage by weight of coarse fraction (>2 mm; stones) and earth fraction (<2 mm; EF), particle distribution determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994) and subsequent determination of clay (%clay), sand (%sand) and silt (%silt) contents, and classification according to USDA criteria.

Chemical parameters analyzed for each mineral horizon included: exchangeable cations (Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺, Na⁺) were extracted with 1N ammonium acetate at pH=7 (Schollenberger and Simon 1945) and determined using an atomic absorption/emission spectrometer; TOC was quantified by dry combustion using a Leco CHN 2000 elemental analyzer.

Data analyses

The percentage of *Pinus pinaster* basal area (% PP) was calculated as the ratio between the basal area of *P. pinaster* and the total basal area of each plot. Total FF biomass (B_{FF}) was calculated as the sum of B_{FsL} , B_{FgL} and B_{HmL} . C stocks of FsL, FgL and HmL litter fractions were calculated by multiplying TOC concentration by the biomass of each fraction (Andivia et al. 2016) to obtain C stock_{FsL}, C stock_{FgL}, C stock_{HmL} respectively. C stock of the FF (C stock_{FF}) was the sum of C stock_{FsL}, C stock_{HmL}. The C:N ratio was calculated for the fresh (CN_{FgL}), fragmented (CN_{FgL}), and humified litter (CN_{HmL}). C:N of the FF was calculated as the weighted average of C:N of three decomposition fractions.

$$CN_{FF} = \left[\left(\frac{B_{FsL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{FsL} \right] + \left[\left(\frac{B_{FgL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{FgL} \right] + \left[\left(\frac{B_{HmL}}{B_{FF}} \right) CN_{HmL} \right]$$

C stock in the mineral soil (C stock_{SOIL}) was calculated as: C stock_{SOIL} = TOCi · bDi · %EFi Ti, being TOCi the total organic carbon concentration, bDi the measured bulk density, %EFi the percentage of earth fraction and Ti the thickness of the soil horizon. The C stock in the whole mineral soil profile (C stock_{0-40cm}) was calculated as the sum of the C stock of all soil horizons. The sum of bases (SB) was the sum of the Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺ and Na⁺ concentrations (cmol⁺ kg⁻¹).

The mineral soil horizon data were converted into four different depths (every 10 cm) calculating weighted averages between the horizons. Some variables were transformed (lnx or 1/x) before statistical analysis to achieve residual normality and homoscedasticity.

While soil texture is not expected to be affected by stand species composition, it may have a large impact on C sequestration in the mineral soil (Jandl et al. 2007). In order to remove the effect of the soil texture variability within a triplet, texture variables (sand, silt, clay) were therefore tested as additional fixed effects in the alternative models; based on AIC values, only the sand content was included in the final model.

The possible effects of the type of stand on the C stock_{FF} (C stock_{FFL}, C stock_{FgL}, C stock_{FgL} and C stock_{HmL}) as well as on TOC, C stock_{SOLL}, exchangeable cations (Na⁺, K⁺, Ca⁺², Mg⁺²), and SB in different mineral soil layers were analyzed using Linear Mixed Models (LMM) with the Restricted Maximum Likelihood method (REML; Richards 2005). The type of stand was considered as a categorical variable with three levels: PS, PP and MM. In all cases, a null model considering the random effect of triplet was tested with the alternative model that included the fixed effects of the type of stand plus the soil sand content (%sand). The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; Akaike 1973) was used to verify whether the alternative model was more parsimonious, i.e. smaller values of AIC, and the ANOVA was applied to test the significant differences between the null and the alternative models (see Appendix Id). One monodominant plot of *P. sylvestris* was considered aquic conditions (Soil-Survey-Staff 2014; see Appendix Ia).

Finally, linear correlations between some variables of interest were investigated, using the Pearson's coefficient (p<0.05). In order to test the influence of the type of stand on the nature of the leaf litter and to verify whether the TOC comes from the leaf litter and/or the roots decomposition at different mineral soil layers. Also the relationships between TOC and either the exchangeable cations or SB were tested. All statistical analyses were implemented in the R environment (version 3.3.3, R-Core-Team 2015) using LME4 package for LMM (Bates et al. 2015).

Results

Forest floor quantity and quality

The biomass of the fresh (B_{FsL}) and fragmented (B_{FgL}) leaf litter showed the same trend (p<0.05 for B_{FgL} ; p<0.10 for B_{FsL}) when comparing among stand types (Figure 21A), being higher in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM; no significant trend was found for B_{HmL} . An opposite significant trend (p<0.05) was found for the C:N ratio of the fresh litter (CN_{FsL}), being higher in PP, lower in PS and intermediate in MM; no clear trend was observed for CN_{FgL} and CN_{HmL} (Figure 21B). In addition, %PP was positively correlated with CN_{FsL} (r = 0.64, p<0.005) and negatively with B_{FsL} (r = -0.45; p<0.05), B_{FgL} (r = -0.54; p<0.025) and B_{FF} (r = -0.46; p<0.05).



Figure 21. (A) Biomass (B, mean value, Mg ha-1) and (B) C:N ratio (CN, mean±SE) of the different fractions of leaf litter (FsL, FgL, HmL: fresh, fragmented and humidified, respectively) according to the type of stand. PS (n=5): *Pinus sylvestris* monodominant stands; PP (n=6): *P. pinaster* monodominant stand. MM (n=6): mixed stands of both species. Signification level: * p<0.05; (•) p<0.1.

TOC in the mineral soil

The total organic carbon concentration (TOC) decreased according to the depth in the three types of stand, as expected (Figure 22). It differed significantly (p<0.05) among stands in the topsoil (0-10 cm), and almost significantly at the third depth (20-30 cm, p<0.10). In the same way as for the C stockSOIL, two different trends were found for TOC: TOC_{0-10cm} was higher in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM, while $TOC_{20-30cm}$ was higher in MM. This latter tendency, yet not significant, was also found at the second depth (10-20 cm). In addition, TOC_{0-10cm} was negatively correlated with CN_{FF} (r = -0.46; p<0.05), and TOC at intermediate depths (10-20 cm and 20-30 cm) was positively correlated with %FR ($TOC_{10-20cm}$: r = 0.66, p<0.005; $TOC_{20-30cm}$: 20-30 cm: r = 0.76, p<0.005).



Figure 22. Mean±SE of total organic carbon (TOC mg g⁻¹) at four different depths of the mineral soil profile according to the type of stand. Other abbreviations as in Figure 21. Signification level: * p<0.05; (•) p<0.1.

C stock in the soil profile

The carbon stock in the forest floor (C stock_{FF}) differed almost significantly among stands (p<0.1), being higher in PS (8.41±1.43 Mg TOC ha⁻¹), lower in PP (4.87±0.89 Mg TOC ha⁻¹) and intermediate in MM (6.67±1.09 Mg TOC ha⁻¹). The same pattern was observed for the three fractions of the litter (Figure 23), being statistically significant only for the fragmented litter (C stock_{FgL}, p<0.05) and almost significant for the fresh one (C stock_{FsL}, p<0.10).

The carbon stock in the mineral soil (C stock_{SOIL}) decreased with depth in the three types of stand, as expected (Figure 23), but the differences among stands were only almost significant (p<0.10) at 0-10 cm, 20-30 cm, and 30-40 cm. Two different trends were found: C stock_{0-10cm} and C stock_{30-40cm} were higher in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM; by contrast, C stock_{10-30cm} was the highest in MM. Cstock_{0-40cm} was also higher in MM (93.70±13.63 Mg TOC ha⁻¹), lower in PP (70.94±10.20 Mg TOC ha⁻¹) and intermediate in PS (81.62±11.37 Mg TOC ha⁻¹), but these differences were not statistically significant (p=0.18).





Sum of bases and exchangeable cations in the mineral soil

The same two trends found for TOC and C stock in the mineral soil were observed for the exchangeable cations and the sum of bases (Table 3). In the topsoil (0-10 cm), exchangeable cations (K⁺, Ca⁺², Mg⁺²) and the sum of bases (SB) differ significantly (p<0.05) among stands, being higher in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM (Table 3). In addition, K⁺ (r = 0.61, p<0.005), Ca⁺² (r = 0.74, p<0.005), Mg⁺² (r = 0.57, p<0.01) and SB (r = 0.71, p<0.005) correlated positively with TOC at this depth. However, in the 10-20 cm soil layer, K⁺ and Mg⁺² reached significantly higher values in MM (p<0.05), and a similar trend but not significant (p>0.10) was found for Ca⁺² and SB. Again, K⁺ (r = 0.53, p<0.025), Ca⁺² (r = 0.73, p<0.005), Mg⁺² (r = 0.56, p<0.01) and SB (r = 0.70, p<0.005) correlated positively with TOC at this depth. The same pattern was observed at the third soil depth (20-30 cm), where MM showed significantly higher values for Mg⁺² (p<0.05) and almost significantly (p<0.1) for Ca⁺² and SB. At this depth, only Ca⁺² (r = 0.91, p<0.005), Mg⁺² (r = 0.81, p<0.005) and SB (r = 0.90, p<0.005) correlated positively with TOC.

Table 3.	Mean±SE o	of excha	ngeable	e cations	conc	entr	ation	and	d sum	of base	es (cmol₁	⊦ kg ⁻¹)	at i	four	differ	ent
depths	of the mine	eral soil	profile	accordin	ig to	the	type	of	stand.	Other	abbrevi	ations	as	in F	igure	21.
Significa	ition level: *	[*] p<0.05	;(•)p<0	D.1.												

	Depth (cm)		PS			Ν	им			PP			р
	0-10	0.86	±	0.04	C).87	±	0.03	0.80	±	0.03		*
Nat	10-20	0.84	±	0.03	C).87	±	0.02	0.80	±	0.02		*
ING	20-30	0.82	±	0.04	C).85	±	0.03	0.81	±	0.04		
	30-40	0.80	±	0.05	C).87	±	0.04	0.85	±	0.06		*
	0-10	0.24	±	0.05	C).21	±	0.02	0.16	±	0.03		*
V+	10-20	0.18	±	0.06	C).20	±	0.02	0.14	±	0.02		*
N.	20-30	0.19	±	0.07	C).15	±	0.04	0.13	±	0.04	(•)
	30-40	0.19	±	0.07	C).12	±	0.03	0.14	±	0.04		*
	0-10	4.03	±	0.63	(1)	3.35	±	0.48	3.06	±	0.49		*
Ca+2	10-20	2.29	±	0.12	2	2.95	±	0.51	2.62	±	0.53		
Care	20-30	1.70	±	0.28	2	2.25	±	0.65	1.45	±	0.46	(•)
	30-40	1.47	±	0.22	1	.50	±	0.38	1.65	±	0.68		*
	0-10	0.83	±	0.16	C).80	±	0.12	0.79	±	0.13		*
NA-+2	10-20	0.56	±	0.04	C).74	±	0.13	0.70	±	0.13		*
NIG"2	20-30	0.49	±	0.07	C).62	±	0.15	0.47	±	0.12		*
	30-40	0.53	±	0.10	C).52	±	0.13	0.55	±	0.21		*
	0-10	6.00	±	0.84	5	5.22	±	0.62	4.81	±	0.66		*
SB	10-20	3.87	±	0.17	4	.76	±	0.66	4.29	±	0.69		
	20-30	3.20	±	0.34	6	8.87	±	0.84	2.86	±	0.59	(•)
	30-40	2.99	±	0.30	3	6.00	±	0.56	3.18	±	0.96		*

In the deepest soil layer (30-40 cm), a different pattern was observed: Ca^{+2} , Mg^{+2} and SB were significantly (p<0.05) higher in PP, whereas K⁺ was significantly higher (p<0.10) in PS. Only K⁺ correlated positively with TOC at this depth (r = 0.53; p<0.025). Na⁺ showed significantly higher values in MM (p<0.05) at 0-10 cm, 10-20 cm and 30-40 cm, and did not correlate with TOC at any depth.

Discussion

Our results show, that when comparing monospecific and mixed pine forests in central Spain, the carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in the first 30 cm of the mineral soil profile respond in a similar way to the influence of the type of stand within the same soil layer, although patterns differ considerably when comparing between layers. At the topsoil (0-10cm), C stock and cations reach higher values in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM, whereas at the subsoil layers (10-30 cm) it reaches higher values in MM than in monospecific stands.

These different trends could be a consequence of the different mechanisms of soil carbon accumulation caused by the type of litter deposited in each soil layer. In our study, the % PP was positively correlated with CN_{FL} while CN_{FF} and the topsoil TOC were negatively correlated, while subsoil layers TOC are positively correlated to %FR. In the same way, TOC and exchangeable cations were positively correlated in all soil layer, so it seems the organic matter could be the responsible of the exchangeable cations values. The higher exchangeable cations at the MM subsoil layers could be related to the higher productivity described by other authors in the same study area. In addition, the higher C stock soil confers to the mixed stands a competitive advantage if the forestry goal encourages the climate change mitigation potential of the forests.

Carbon accumulation as a function of stand type

Our results showed that the response of TOC and C stock to tree species composition in the 0-30 cm layer depends on the soil layer, with higher C stocks under PS in the 0-10 cm and greater C accumulation under MM in the 10-30 cm. Below 30 cm, there was only limited evidence of any tree species effect.

We postulate that the different trends between the 0-10 and 10-30 cm layers are mainly related to the type of litter input since the decomposition of plant tissues in terrestrial ecosystems regulates the transfer of carbon and nutrients to the soil (Wang et al. 2014). C inputs to forest soils are related to leaf litter type (Berg 2000; Andivia et al. 2016) and roots (Rasse et al. 2005; Andivia et al. 2016). Possibly, the decomposition of the organic matter of the leaf litter brings the greater content of carbon to the topsoil (0-10 cm), whereas in deeper layers the greatest contribution comes from the roots (Andivia et al. 2016).

Regarding the upper mineral soil layer, we found a significant negative correlation between CN_{FF} and TOC_{0-10cm}. Our results indicate that the monospecific stands of *Pinus pinaster* accumulate less leaf litter (%PP and B_{FF} correlate negatively) than those of *P. sylvestris*. In addition, the *Pinus pinaster* leaf litter appears to be more recalcitrant than that of *Pinus sylvestris* since it has a significantly higher C:N ratio in the fresh fraction as also found by Herrero et al. (2016). In fact, CN_{FsL} and %PP correlate positively. Augusto et al. (2015) found that the species with more sclerophyllous foliage have higher lignin content and higher C:N ratio. The presence of more chemically recalcitrant compounds such as lignin could explain the lower decomposition rate of litter (Wang et al. 2016), and in turn the lower C input into the soil as humic substances. As a result, at the topsoil (0-10 cm) the TOC and C stock were higher in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM. Gallardo et al. (1991) also found lower carbon content in the first soil horizon in *P. pinaster* stands in relation to *P. sylvestris* stands.

At intermediate depths (10-30 cm), we found a significant positive correlation between TOC and %FR, suggesting that at deeper soil layers the greatest C input to the soil mainly comes from the decomposition of the organic matter from the fine roots, as found by other authors (Andivia et al. 2016). According to this, the higher TOC and Cstocksoll values in MM at intermediate depths (10-30 cm) could be related to a higher %FR that, in turn, correlates positively with the richness of the understory vegetation (unpublished data). The higher richness of the understory vegetation due to plant community composition in mixtures may also influence storage of soil carbon through species-specific differences in plant detritus chemical composition and input rates (Ahmed et al. 2016). In plant communities where root litter is composed of inputs of many species, more complex organic forms are formed compared to the root litter of monospecific forests (Ahmed et al. 2016). It has been demonstrated that the highly complex and heterogeneous organic residues found in the soil organic matter of mixed communities alter the residence times of these compounds in the soil due to differences in biodegradability (Ahmed et al. 2016), even it was reported that high diversity of leaf litter promoted the rate of decomposition (King et al. 2002). On the other hand, a positive correlation between the tree species diversity, fine root biomass and C stock in deeper layers of the soil (30-40 cm) has been previously described by Dawud et al. (2016). They comment that the greater inputs of root litter cause higher accumulation of soil carbon stocks and relate the belowground niche complementarity with the mixed forests higher carbon accumulation in deeper layers, i.e. the stratification of roots of different tree species to top and subsoil in different stands (Dawud et al. 2016). In mixed forests also species interactions may increase productivity through the resource use complementarity (Ahmed et al. 2016). Tree species may behave differently in a mixture compared with their behaviour in monospecific stands (Brandtberg et al. 2000). In some cases, it has been shown to change towards a deeper rooting in admixtures (Brandtberg et al. 2000). In addition, different rooting depths and root turnover rates among species impact soil organic carbon distribution (Cremer and Prietzel 2017).

Next to a higher contribution of C inputs from roots in the 10-30 cm layer, higher values of TOC and C stock at intermediate depths could also be related to a greater thickness of the first mineral horizon in mixed stands in relation to monospecific stands (MM=22.8±3.5 cm, PS=14.7±3.5 cm, PP=15.3±1.9 cm; see Appendix Ia). Schleuß et al. (2014) have already reported the higher thickness of the A horizon in mixed stands in relation to monospecific stands, studying a tree diversity gradient with European beech being increasingly diluted by other species (dominance of 1, 3 or 5 species). Under 30 cm depth, the trends are confusing because TOC was less than 1% and the observed effects of stand type are limited. In the same way, Ahmed et al. (2016) confirmed the lack of differences between treatments for 40-100 cm depth when

comparing admixtures vs. monospecific stands of *Betula pendula*, *Alnus glutinosa* and *Fagus* sylvatica.

Some authors have reported that the mixture of tree species significantly affect soil organic carbon stocks (Andivia et al. 2016; Cremer et al. 2016). This effect was reported not only for the topsoil (Andivia et al. 2016) but also for deeper layers of the mineral soil (Jandl et al. 2007), even in plantations (Liu et al. 2017). These authors highlight the positive effect of mixed stands in carbon accumulation (Jandl et al. 2007; Andivia et al. 2016; Cremer et al. 2016), more pronounced along time (Liu et al. 2017), but always when the mixtures combined species with contrasting traits, such as broadleaf–conifer. Despite the effect of admixture on soil C stock and TOC was limited in our study, probably because both tree species belongs to the same genus, a relatively strong tree species identity effect was observed in the FF and 0-10 cm layer.

Exchangeable cations

An indirect effect of exchangeable cations and sum of bases was also reported due to the different carbon amounts. It is likely that the effect of tree species composition on exchangeable cations and SB is mediated by their effect on the carbon (Cremer and Prietzel 2017). Soil organic matter improves the soil capacity to retain nutrients including exchangeable cations (Beldin et al. 2007), but also litter decomposition returns nutrients bound in organic material to mineral form in the soil (Gartner and Cardon 2004). In fact, we found a positive correlation between TOC and exchangeable cations from 0 to 30 cm depth, because soil organic matter plays an essential role in retaining soil base cations especially in sandy soils (Wang et al. 2017). As a result, exchangeable cations and SB describe the same two tendencies found for the carbon storage: higher values in PS, lower in PP and intermediate in MM, at the topsoil, but higher values in MM at intermediate soil layers.

Also it should be mentioned that in mixed forests composed by species with different rooting depth, deep system species absorbed nutrients from deeper soil horizons and redistributed the basic cations to the upper layers of the soil (Brandtberg et al. 2000). This fact could not be contrasted since there is no agreement in the literature on the rooting depth of the two species under study. According to Bravo-Oviedo and Montero (2008), *Pinus sylvestris* has a xeric-mesophilic character with a powerful root system: long main root and oblique secondary radical system, and *Pinus pinaster* has a xerophytic character with a potent radical system: very deep main root and horizontal secondary radical system. Other authors describe the highest density of roots for *P. sylvestris* (Finér et al. 2007), and for *P. pinaster* (Sudmeyer et al. 2004) at the first 50 cm, and Montero et al. (2005) mention that the 21.4% of the total biomass in *P. sylvestris* is root biomass and the 22.1% for *P. pinaster*.

Implications for forest management

We would like to point out that our results have important implications for forest management in the context of adaptation and mitigation to climate change through carbon sequestration or at least soil carbon preservation (Schleuß et al. 2014).

Even though the differences in TOC and C stock between stands at the intermediate layers of mineral soil were not statistically significant, the significant higher values of some exchangeable cations at intermediate soil layers in MM should make us reflect on the management strategies of Scots and Maritime pine stands in Spain. First, because Scots and Maritime pine forests occupy an important area in Spain, growing in monospecific and mixed stands (Serrada et al. 2008). Second, because the subsoil carbon is known to be more effectively stabilized as compared to topsoil or litter layer carbon (Rumpel and Kögel-Knabner 2011); therefore, potential losses of soil carbon from subsoil induced by warming will lag in time and provide a temporal buffer (Schleuß et al. 2014). Third, because exchangeable cations serve as good indicators of soil fertility and are critical nutrients for both plant and microbial metabolism; in fact, the lack of exchangeable cations availability constraints net primary productivity (Wang et al. 2017). And, fourth, because in mixed species communities, species interactions may either increase productivity through resource use complementarity (Ahmed et al. 2016). Some authors have reported a positive effect of species mixing by light use efficiency, in mixtures of P. sylvestris and P. nigra (Jucker et al. 2014), by water use efficiency, in Mediterranean areas (Vilà et al. 2007), or by growth efficiency, in admixtures of Pinus sylvestris and P. pinaster at the same study area (Riofrío et al. 2017b; Ruiz-Peinado et al. 2017), although the effect of mixing on productivity varies with stand development stage, stand density and site conditions (Ruiz-Peinado et al. 2017). In the same study area, (Riofrío et al. 2017a) have found a canopy vertical stratification by the complementarity of the crown in the mixed stand of Scots and Maritime pines in relation to monocultures that could affect productivity.

Conclusions

Despite the effect of the studied admixture on soil C stock and TOC is limited, probably because both tree species belong to the same genus, a relatively strong tree species identity effect is observed in the FF and 0-10 cm layer. Moreover, the influence of stand type on the first 30 cm of the mineral soil shows different patterns when comparing between layers: in the topsoil (0-10 cm) C stock is higher in monospecific Scots pine stands whereas in the subsoil C stock is higher in the mixed pine stand. These different patterns could be related to the amount and type of litter deposited in each soil layer (leaf and/or root litter) and to the different thickness of the first mineral soil horizon. Finally, these influences of the stand type on carbon of the mineral soil profile are reflected in differences in the exchangeable cations.

The positive effects on goods and services, such as carbon sequestration, in mixed stands in relation to monospecific stands of the same genus species should make us to reflect on: (1) the use of mixtures as a strategy to combat climate change, due to the advantage in the accumulation of carbon in the subsoil layers where it is protected from external disturbance; and (2) the implementation of the adaptive forest management that includes a non-monetary good and services (carbon sequestration or biodiversity conservation) as is demanded in a new climate change scenery.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Alfonso Ramos Calvo for his invaluable help with soil sampling, Carmen Blanco and Juan Carlos Arranz for their advice in the laboratory analyses and José Riofrío and Cristóbal Ordoñez for their assistance in the characterization and location of plots in the field. This research was funded by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of the Spanish Government conceded to FB (FORMIXING. AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R) and a predoctoral grant to DLM (BES-2015-072852).

References

- Ahmed IU, Smith AR, Jones DL, Godbold DL (2016) Tree species identity influences the vertical distribution of labile and recalcitrant carbon in a temperate deciduous forest soil. For Ecol Manage 359:352–360. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.07.018
- Akaike H (1973) Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Brillinger D, Gani J, Hartigan J (eds) Second International Symposium on Information Theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest (Hungary), pp 267–281
- Amaral Franco J (1986) Género *Pinu*s L. In: Castroviejo S, Aedo C, Laínz M, et al. (eds) Flora Iberica. Real Jardín Botánico, CSIC, Madrid, pp 168–174
- Andivia E, Rolo V, Jonard M, et al (2016) Tree species identity mediates mechanisms of top soil carbon sequestration in a Norway spruce and European beech mixed forest. Ann For Sci 73:437–447. doi: 10.1007/s13595-015-0536-z
- Augusto L, De Schrijver A, Vesterdal L, et al (2015) Influences of evergreen gymnosperm and deciduous angiosperm tree species on the functioning of temperate and boreal forests. Biol Rev 90:444–466. doi: 10.1111/brv.12119

Bakker M., Augusto L, Achat DL (2006) Fine root distribution of trees and understory in mature

stands of Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*) on dry and humid sites. Plant Soil 286:37–51. doi: 10.1007/s11104-006-9024-4

- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw 67. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beldin SI, Caldwell BA, Sollins P, et al (2007) Cation exchange capacity of density fractions from paired conifer/grassland soils. Biol Fertil Soils 43:837–841. doi: 10.1007/s00374-006-0161y
- Berg B (2000) Litter decomposition and organic matter turnover in northern forest soils. For Ecol Manage 133:13–22. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00294-7
- Bogino SM, Bravo F (2014) Carbon stable isotope-climate association in tree rings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* in Mediterranean environments. Bosque 35:175–184. doi: 10.4067/S0717-92002014000200005
- Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (2000) Changes in forest-floor chemistry caused by a birch admixture in Norway spruce stands. For Ecol Manage 130:253–264. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00183-8
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Montero G (2008) Descripción de los caracteres culturales de las principales especies forestales. In: Serrada. R, Montero G, Reque JA (eds) Compendio de Selvidultura Aplicada en España. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain), p 1036–1114
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Ammer C, et al (2014) European mixed forests: Definition and research perspectives. For Syst 23:518–533. doi: 10.5424/fs/2014233-06256
- Chapin FS (2003) Effects of plant traits on ecosystem and regional processes: A conceptual framework for predicting the consequences of global change. Ann Bot 91:455–463. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcg041
- Cremer M, Kern NV, Prietzel J (2016) Soil organic carbon and nitrogen stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. For Ecol Manage 367:30– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.02.020
- Cremer M, Prietzel J (2017) Soil acidity and exchangeable base cation stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. Plant Soil 415:393–405. doi: 10.1007/s11104-017-3177-1
- Dawud SM, Raulund-Rasmussen K, Domisch T, et al (2016) Is tree species diversity or species identity the more important driver of soil carbon stocks, C/N ratio, and pH? Ecosystems 19:645–660. doi: 10.1007/s10021-016-9958-1
- European Commission (2010) Green paper on forest protection and information in the EU: Preparing forests for climate change. Brussels (Belgium)

FAO (2011) State of the World's Forests. FAO, Rome, Italy

Finér L, Helmisaari HS, Lõhmus K, et al (2007) Variation in fine root biomass of three European tree species: Beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.), Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.), and Scots

pine (Pinus sylvestris L.). Plant Biosyst 141:394–405. doi: 10.1080/11263500701625897

- Gallardo JF, Santa Regina I, Hernández I (1991) Ciclos biogeoquímicos en ecosistemas forestales: producción versus descomposición. In: Pineda FD, Casado MA (eds) Diversidad Biológica. Fundación Ramón Areces, pp 269–271
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, et al (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2328
- Gartner TB, Cardon ZG (2004) Decomposition dynamics in mixed-species leaf litter. Oikos 104:230–246. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12738.x
- Herrero C, Turrión MB, Pando V, Bravo F (2016) Carbon content of forest floor and mineral soil in Mediterranean *Pinus* spp. and Oak stands in acid soils in Northern Spain. For Syst 25. doi: 10.5424/fs/2016252-09149
- IGME (2015) Mapa Geológico de la Península Ibérica, Baleares y Canarias a escala 1M.
- Jandl R, Lindner M, Vesterdal L, et al (2007) How strongly can forest management influence soil carbon sequestration ? Geoderma 137:253–268. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2006.09.003
- Jucker T, Bouriaud O, Avacaritei D, et al (2014) Competition for light and water play contrasting roles in driving diversity-productivity relationships in Iberian forests. J Ecol 102. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12276
- King RF, Dromph KM, Bardgett RD (2002) Changes in species evenness of litter have no effect on decomposition processes. Soil Biol Biochem 34:1959–1963. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00204-3
- Köppen W (1936) Das geographische System der Klimate. In: Köppen W, Geiger R (eds): Handbuch der Klimatologie. Velag von Gebruder Borntraeger. Berlin. pp 7–30
- Liu Y, Lei P, Xiang W, et al (2017) Accumulation of soil organic C and N in planted forests fostered by tree species mixture. Biogeosciences 14:3937–3945. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-3937-2017
- MAPA (1994) Tomo III. In: Métodos oficiales de Análisis. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid (Spain)
- Matías L, Jump AS (2012) Interactions between growth, demography and biotic interactions in determining species range limits in a warming world: The case of *Pinus sylvestris*. For Ecol Manage 282:10–22. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.06.053
- Montero G, Ruiz-Peinado R, Muñoz M (2005) Producción de biomasa y fijación de CO₂ por los bosques españoles. INIA, Madrid (Spain)
- Nafría-García DA, Garrido-del-Pozo N, Álvarez-Arias MV, et al (2013) Atlas agroclimático de Castilla y León, 1st edn. Instituto Tecnológico Agrario, Junta de Castilla y León-Agencia Estatal de Meteorología. http://atlas.itacy l.es
- Pan YD, Birdsey RA, Fang JY, et al (2011) A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333:988–994.

- R-Core-Team (2015) R Studio: Integrated development environment for R. https://www.r-proje ct.org/
- Rasse DP, Rumpel C, Dignac MF (2005) Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation. Plant Soil 269:341–356. doi: 10.1007/s11104-004-0907-y
- Richards A (2005) Testing ecological theory using the information-theoretic approach: examples and cautionary results. Ecology 86:2805–2814. doi: 10.1890/05-0074
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Bravo F (2017a) Mixing effects on growth efficiency in mixed pine forests. Forestry 90:381–392. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpw056
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Pretzsch H, Bravo F (2017b) Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For Ecol Manage 405:219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036
- Ruiz-Peinado R, Bravo-Oviedo A, López-Senespleda E, et al (2017) Forest management and carbon sequestration in the Mediterranean region: A review. For Syst 26:1–25. doi: 10.5424/fs/2017262-11205
- Rumpel C, Kögel-Knabner I (2011) Deep soil organic matter-a key but poorly understood component of terrestrial C cycle. Plant Soil 338:143–158. doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0391-5
- Schleuß P-M, Heitkamp F, Leuschner C, et al (2014) Higher subsoil carbon storage in species-rich than species-poor temperate forests. Environ Res Lett 9:014007. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/1/014007
- Schollenberger CJ, Simon RH (1945) Determination of exchange capacity and exchangeable bases in soil - ammonium acetate method. Soil Sci 9:13–24
- Serrada R, Montero G, Reque JA (2008) Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA, Madrid (Spain)
- Soil-Survey-Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12 th. USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, DC (USA)
- Stenger A, Harou P, Navrud S (2009) Valuing environmental goods and services derived from the forests. J For Econ 15:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jfe.2008.03.001
- Sudmeyer R a, Speijers J, Nicholas BD (2004) Root distribution of *Pinus pinaster, P. radiata, Eucalyptus globulus* and *E. kochii* and associated soil chemistry in agricultural land adjacent to tree lines. Tree Physiol 24:1333–1346. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.12.1333
- Van Delft B, de Waal RW, Kemmers RH, et al (2006) Field guide for the description and classification of humus forms. Wageningen University, Alterra
- Vesterdal L, Clarke N, Sigurdsson BD, Gundersen P (2013) Do tree species influence soil carbon stocks in temperate and boreal forests? For Ecol Manage 309:4–18. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.01.017

- Vilà M, Vayreda J, Comas L, et al (2007) Species richness and wood production: A positive association in Mediterranean forests. Ecol Lett 10:241–250. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01016.x
- Wang F, Zou B, Li H, Li Z (2014) The effect of understory removal on microclimate and soil properties in two subtropical lumber plantations. J For Res 19:238–243. doi: 10.1007/s10310-013-0395-0
- Wang J, You Y, Tang Z, et al (2016) A comparison of decomposition dynamics among green tree leaves, partially decomposed tree leaf litter and their mixture in a warm temperate forest ecosystem. J For Res 27:1037–1045. doi: 10.1007/s11676-016-0248-8
- Wang R, Dungait JAJ, Buss HL, et al (2017) Base cations and micronutrients in soil aggregates as affected by enhanced nitrogen and water inputs in a semi-arid steppe grassland. Sci Total Environ 575:564–572. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.018

Appendix la

Table4. General soil properties of the soil profiles excavated under the monospecific stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). Soil: soil classification according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Colour: dry and wet matrix colour (Hue Value/Chroma); Thickness: thickness of each horizon; Soil texture: textural class according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Sand/Silt/Clay: % of sand, silt and clay determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994); Stones: coarse soil material (>2mm); pH (H₂O): pH according to MAPA (1994).

Stand	type		Pinus	sylvestris-monos	pecific stands		
Tripl	let	01	02	03	04	05	06
Soil ty	ype	Typic Dystroxerept	Typic Dystroxerept	Aquic Humixerept	Typic Dystroxerept	Typic Humixerept	Typic Dystroxerept
Horiz	zon	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah
Colour	Dry	10YR 4/2	10YR 4/2	10YR 4/1	10YR 5/2	10YR 4/2	10YR 7/2
Coloui	Wet	10YR 2/2	10YR 3/2	10YR 2/1	10YR 3/1	10YR 2/1	10YR 6/3
Thickr crr	ness 1)	0-10	0-15	0-12	0-8	0-15	0-28
Soil te	kture	Sandy Loam	Loamy Fine Sand	Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	51/36/10	75/15/6	44/30/18	56/21/14	55/21/13	81/9/8
Stones	s (%)	2.25	7.90	6.11	9.04	2.68	13.03
pH (H	I₂O)	4.22	3.95	4.35	4.63	4.05	4.45
Horiz	zon	AB	AC	AC	AB	AB	С
Colour	Dry	10YR 6/4	10YR 7/3	10YR 6/1	10YR 6/6	10YR 6/3	10YR 4/1
Colour	Wet	7.5YR 4/6	10 YR 5/4	10YR 4/1	10YR 3/2	10YR 5/3	10YR 5/6
Thickr cm	ness 1)	10-40	15-35	12-30	08-30	15-40	28-65+
Soil te	kture	Loam	Loamy Fine Sand	Sandy Loam	Loam	Sandy Loam	Loamy Fine Sand
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	35/39/17	79/10/8	58/26//12	48/41/12	53/23/12	74/12/11
Stone	s(%)	24.61	11.83	20.24	25.68	11.68	5.53
pH (H	l₂O)	4.79	4.22	4.77	5.37	4.75	4.60
Horiz	zon	Bw	С	Cg	С	С	-
Colour	Dry	7.5 YR 5/6	10 YR 6/6	10YR 8/1	10 YR 7/4	10 YR 7/4	-
Colour	Wet	5 YR 4/6	10 YR 4/6	10YR 6/1	10YR 5/8	10YR 5/8	-
Thickr (crr	ness 1)	40-60+	35-65+	30-60+	30-60+	40-60+	-
Soil te	kture	Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Loam	Sandy Loam	-
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	34/31/23	77/10/10	60/21/11	35/35/22	49/26/16	
Stones	s (%)	33.20	8.39	22.27	25.56	16.09	-
pH (H	l₂O)	4.82	4.76	4.69	4.98	5.31	-

Table 5. General soil properties of the soil profiles excavated under the monospecific stands of Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*). Soil: soil classification according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Colour: dry and wet matrix colour (Value/Chroma); Thickness: thickness of each horizon; Soil texture: textural class according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Sand/Silt/Clay: % of sand, silt and clay determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994); stones: coarse soil material (>2mm); pH (H₂O): pH according to MAPA (1994).

Stand	type		Pinu	<i>s pinaster</i> monos	pecific stands		
Tripl	et	01	02	03	04	05	06
Soil t	Ine	Туріс	Туріс	Туріс	Туріс	Туріс	Туріс
	/pe	Dystroxerept	Humixerept	Humixerept	Dystroxerept	Humixerept	Dystroxerept
Horiz	on	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah
Colour	Dry	10YR 5/3	10YR 4/1	10YR 5/2	10YR 6/2	10YR 5/1	10YR 6/2
coloui	Wet	10YR 3/2	10YR 2/1	10YR 3/1	10YR 3/1	10YR 2/1	10YR 4/1
Thickr (cm	ness I)	0-15	0-20	0-17	0-8	0-20	0-12
Soil tex	ture	Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Loamy Fine Sand
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	52/34/13	64/16/11	66/18/8	80/12/5	65/16/11	85/9/5
Stones	s (%)	3.14	31.84	59.50	5.62	12.01	6.44
pH (H	20)	4.67	3.98	5.04	4.75	4.45	4.90
Horiz	on	AB	С	С	AC	AC	С
Colour	Dry	10YR 6/4	10YR 7/4	10YR 6/6	10YR 6/6	10YR 6/2	10YR 7/3
Colour	Wet	10YR 4/4	10YR 5/6	10YR 4/6	10YR 3/2	10YR 4/2	10YR 6/4
Thickr (cm	ness I)	15-30	20-60+	17-57+	08-34	20-30	12-50+
Soil tex	ture	Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam	Loamy Fine Sand
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	48/37/14	72/10/13/	68/15/10	74/13/8	59/24/11	84/8/6
Stones	s (%)	34.12	21.66	58.56	9.29	52.86	9.07
pH (H	20)	5.23	4.72	4.80	5.15	4.91	5.16
Horiz	on	Bw	-	-	С	С	-
Calaur	Dry	5YR 5/6	-	-	10YR 7/4	10YR 6/4	-
Colour	Wet	5YR 4/6	-	-	10YR 5/8	10YR 4/4	-
Thickr (cm	ness 1)	30-60+	-	-	34-60+	30-52+	-
Soil tex	ture	Clay	-	-	Loam	Sandy Loam	-
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	15/31/52			64/16/14	61/23/8	
Stones	s (%)	38.09	-	-	12.75	65.63	-
pH (H	20)	4.78	-	-	5.01	4.41	-

Table 6. General soil properties of the soil profiles excavated under the mixed stands of Scots (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Maritime (*Pinus pinaster*) pines. Soil: soil classification according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Colour: wet matrix colour (Value/Chroma); Thickness: thickness of each horizon; Soil texture: textural class according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Sand/Silt/Clay: % of sand, silt and clay determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994); Stones: coarse soil material (>2mm); pH (H₂O): pH according to MAPA (1994).

Stand	type			Mixe	ed Stands		
Tripl	let	01	02	03	04	05	06
Soil ty	ype	Typic Humixerept	Typic Humixerept	Typic Humixerept	Typic Dystroxerept	Typic Dystroxerept	Typic Dystroxerept
Horiz	on	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah	Ah
Colour	Dry	10YR 5/3	10 YR 5/2	10 YR 4/1	10 YR 6/2	10 YR 4/1	10 YR 6/1
Colour	Wet	10 YR 3/2	10 YR 3/1	10 YR 2/2	10 YR 4/1	10 YR 2/1	10 YR 3/1
Thickr (cm	ness 1)	0-35	0-23	0-17	0-20	0-12	0-30
Soil tex	cture	Loam	Sandy loam	Sandy loam	Loamy Fine Sand	Sandy loam	Sandy loam
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	43/46/11	66/11/13	53/23/15	77/14/5	51/24/18	72/14/9
Stones	s (%)	15.79	5.21	15.02	15.12	11.70	47.93
pH (H	l₂O)	5.30	3.97	4.42	5.16	4.38	4.56
Horiz	on	Bw	С	С	С	AC	С
Colour	Dry	7.5 YR 6/6	10 YR 7/4	10 YR 6/3	10 YR 6/6	10 YR 6/3	10 YR 8/3
Coloui	Wet	5 YR 5/8	10 YR 6/6	10 YR 5/3	10YR 5/8	10 YR 4/4	10 YR 5/6
Thickr (cm	ness 1)	35-75+	32-60+	17-54+	20-50	12-24	30-70+
Soil tex	cture	Clay loam	Sandy loam	Sandy loam	Sandy loam	Sandy loam	Loamy Fine Sand
Sand/Sil	t/Clay	24/33/31	69/14/15	72/12/11	71/14/11	47/22/17	78/14/5
Stones	s (%)	34.80	8.33	60.57	35.15	15.27	11.88
pH (H	l₂O)	4.77	5.16	4.72	5.20	4.47	5.02
Horiz	on	-	-	-	-	С	-
Colour	Dry	-	-	-	-	10 YR 6/6	-
Colour	Wet	-	-	-	-	10 YR 4/6	-
Thickr (cm	ness 1)	-	-	-	-	24-50+	-
Soil tex	cture	-	-	-	-	Sandy loam	-
Sand/Sil	t/Clay					45/22/18	
Stones	s (%)	-	-	-	-	17.88	-
pH (H	l₂O)	-	-	-	-	4.55	-

Appendix Ib

Table 7. General stand variables for monospecific stands of *Pinus sylvestris*. N: stems per hectare; G: basal area per hectare; Ho: dominant height; dq: quadratic mean diameter. Age: normal age.

Stand	type			Pinus syi	<i>lvestris</i> monospecific	: stands			
Trip	llet	1	2	ю	4	5	9	Mean	± SE
	Total	821.0	509.3	665.0	636.6	651.0	821.0	684.0 ±	t 48.9
N (trees ha ⁻¹)	Scots	806.0	495.1	651.0	580.0	651.0	778.0	660.2 ±	t 48.0
	Maritime	14.0	14.1	14.0	56.6	0.0	42.0	23.5 ±	t 8.7
	Total	54.2	49.2	47.7	48.9	54.9	33.3	48.0	t 3.2
G (m² ha ⁻¹)	Scots	50.7	47.0	45.5	40.7	54.9	30.8	44.9	t 3.4
	Maritime	3.6	2.2	2.3	8.2	0.0	2.6	3.2	± 1.1
	Total	28.0 ± 1.2	34.4 ± 1.1	27.5 ± 1.8	30.4 ± 1.2	32.4 ± 1.2	22.5 ± 0.5	29.2	± 1.7
8 (a	Scots	27.8 ± 1.1	32.3 ± 1.0	27.2 ± 1.8	29.3 ± 1.0	32.4 ± 1.2	22.2 ± 0.4	28.5	t 1.6
(1112)	Maritime	56.7 ± 0.0	44.7 ± 0.0	45.3 ± 0.0	45.4 ± 5.8	0.0 ± 0.0	27.7 ± 0.3	36.6	t 8.2
	Total	17.0 ± 0.3	19.3 ± 0.3	18.5 ± 0.8	22.1 ± 0.2	21.8 ± 0.3	16.8 ± 0.2	19.3	± 0.9
e (a	Scots	17.1 ± 0.3	19.3 ± 0.3	18.4 ± 0.8	22.1 ± 0.2	21.8 ± 0.3	16.6 ± 0.1	19.2	± 0.9
	Maritime	16.2 ± 0.0	19.9 ± 0.0	24.5 ± 0.0	22.2 ± 1.3	0.0 ± 0.0	19.5 ± 1.0	17.1	± 3.6
Age	Scots	100	151	105	78	121	44	5.66	t 14.9
(years)	Maritime	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	t 0.0

	SE	137.1	45.7	96.6	5.2	0.5	5.1	2.5	2.8	2.2	1.2	1.9	1.0	0.0	10.9
	비	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Me	775.9	59.0	716.9	62.2	0.8	61.4	32.3	5.8	33.3	16.9	4.2	17.3	0.0	90.8
	9	594.2	0.0	594.2	37.5	0.0	37.5	28.2 ± 0.7	0.0 ± 0.0	28.2 ± 0.7	15.6 ± 0.2	0.0 ± 0.0	15.6 ± 0.2	0	49
fic stands	5	722.0	0.0	722.0	70.3	0.0	70.3	34.9 ± 0.9	0.0 ± 0.0	34.9 ± 0.9	19.5 ± 0.3	0.0 ± 0.0	19.5 ± 0.3	0	115
aster monospecif	4	1429.0	283.0	1146.0	69.4	3.3	66.0	22.6 ± 1.1	9.5 ± 1.8	26.0 ± 0.9	12.4 ± 0.4	7.3 ± 0.9	13.6 ± 0.3	0	80
Pinus pii	3	538.0	0.0	538.0	68.6	0.0	68.6	39.6 ± 1.3	0.0 ± 0.0	39.6 ± 1.3	20.5 ± 0.2	0.0 ± 0.0	20.5 ± 0.2	0	105
	2	806.4	14.1	792.2	67.9	0.1	67.8	32.0 ± 1.2	9.7 ± 0.0	32.4 ± 1.1	16.3 ± 0.3	7.0 ± 0.0	16.5 ± 0.2	0	78
	1	566.0	57.0	509.0	59.4	1.2	58.2	36.2 ± 1.7	15.8 ± 2.2	38.6 ± 1.3	17.3 ± 0.5	10.8 ± 1.8	18.0 ± 0.3	0	118
type	let	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Scots	Maritime
Stand	Trip		N (trees hart)			G (m² ha ⁻¹)			da (m	· · · · ·		운 (E		Age	(years)

Table 8. General stand variables for monospecific stands of *Pinus pinaster*. N: stems per hectare; G: basalarea per hectare; Ho: dominant height; dq: quadratic mean diameter. Age: normal age.

Table 9. General stand variables for mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine. N: stems per hectare;G: basal area per hectare; Ho: dominant height; dq: quadratic mean diameter. Age: normal age.

Stand	type				Mixed stands					
Trip	llet	1	2	ŝ	4	5	9	Mea	n ± Sl	
	Total	523.0	693.2	693.0	1330.0	552.0	679.0	745.0	+1	120.9
N (trees ha ⁻¹)	Scots	241.0	325.4	495.0	764.0	354.0	396.0	429.2	+1	75.1
	Maritime	283.0	367.8	198.0	566.0	198.0	283.0	316.0	+1	56.3
	Total	53.0	58.2	63.5	55.3	68.2	33.3	55.3	+1	4.9
G (m² ha ⁻¹)	Scots	19.9	19.2	33.0	23.2	45.9	13.0	25.7	+1	4.8
	Maritime	33.1	38.9	30.5	32.1	22.3	20.2	29.5	+1	2.9
	Total	32.3 ± 1.6	31.6 ± 1.2	32.0 ± 1.8	20.2 ± 1.2	39.4 ± 0.8	24.2 ± 0.9	30.0	+1	2.8
da C da	Scots	32.3 ± 2.0	26.4 ± 1.6	27.3 ± 1.8	16.6 ± 1.5	40.3 ± 1.1	20.2 ± 0.6	27.2	+1	3.5
5 mm	Maritime	40.3 ± 2.2	36.4 ± 1.3	43.5 ± 2.4	25.0 ± 1.6	37.6 ± 1.1	29.8 ± 1.1	35.4	+1	2.8
	Total	18.0 ± 0.4	16.4 ± 0.4	20.9 ± 0.7	13.1 ± 0.5	24.6 ± 0.3	14.8 ± 0.2	18.0	+1	1.7
е (e	Scots	17.5 ± 0.6	14.5 ± 0.6	19.8 ± 0.8	12.3 ± 0.7	24.3 ± 0.2	14.0 ± 0.3	17.1	+1	1.8
(Maritime	18.5 ± 0.3	18.1 ± 0.3	23.7 ± 0.5	14.2 ± 0.6	25.0 ± 0.6	15.9 ± 0.2	19.2	+1	1.7
Age	Scots	118	117	100	78	109	44	94.3	+1	11.7
(years)	Maritime	113	93	55	79	118	49	91.2	+1	10.2
Appendix Ic



Figure 24. Soil sampling design.

Appendix Id

Table 10. Likelihood ratio test results. The p-values of the likelihood ratio tests are provided as well as the Akaike Information Criterion (Akaike 1973) of the null model (triplet as a random effect) and of the alternative model (triplet as a random effect + stand type as a fixed effect + %Sand as a fixed effect for the mineral soil). Other abbreviations as in Figure 21, 22 and 23.

	AIC		
—	Null	Alternative	p-value
C stock _{FF}	89.39	88.38	0.08
C stock _{FsL}	32.26	31.59	0.10
C stock _{FgL}	28.49	25.52	0.03
C stock _{HmL}	28.67	31.77	0.64
C stock 0-40 cm	166.69	167.84	0.18
C stock 0-10 cm	-18.17	-18.42	0.10
C stock 10-20 cm	139.24	141.40	0.28
C stock _{20-30 cm}	13.64	12.94	0.08
C stock _{30-40 cm}	-34.18	-35.44	0.06
B _{FF}	120.31	119.21	0.08
B _{FsL}	32.59	30.94	0.06
B _{FgL}	78.76	75.18	0.02
B _{HmL}	86.36	89.37	0.61
CN _{FF}	141.63	147.70	0.14
CN _{FsL}	160.46	154.86	0.01
	2.78	4.24	0.28
CN _{HmL}	-105.94	-102.33	0.82
TOC _{0-10 cm}	74.39	69.36	0.01
TOC _{10-20 cm}	70.47	73.42	0.38
TOC _{20-30 cm}	41.13	40.27	0.08
TOC _{30-40 cm}	34.09	36.43	0.30

Table 11. Likelihood ratio test results. The p-values of the likelihood ratio tests are provided as well as the Akaike Information Criterion (Akaike 1973) of the null model (triplet as a random effect) and of the alternative model (triplet as a random effect + stand type as a fixed effect + %Sand as a fixed effect). Other abbreviations as in Figure 21 and Table 3.

	AIC	2	
	Null	Alternative	p-value
Na ⁺ 0-10 cm	-35.80	-38.67	0.03
Na ⁺ 10-20 cm	-43.74	-52.42	0.00
Na ⁺ 20-30 cm	-40.36	-40.01	0.13
Na ⁺ 30-40 cm	-33.44	-39.13	0.01
K ⁺ 0-10 cm	-32.98	-52.19	0.00
K ⁺ 10-20 cm	26.61	23.96	0.03
K ⁺ 20-30 cm	34.36	32.79	0.06
K ⁺ 30-40 cm	30.01	22.70	0.00
Ca ⁺² 0-10 cm	58.54	41.12	0.00
Ca ⁺² 10-20 cm	54.49	56.08	0.23
Ca ⁺² 20-30 cm	56.11	55.57	0.09
Ca ⁺² 30-40 cm	6.12	-7.99	0.00
Mg ⁺² 0-10 cm	5.83	-14.65	0.00
Mg ⁺² 10-20 cm	6.60	4.11	0.04
Mg ⁺² 20-30 cm	5.22	3.04	0.04
Mg ⁺² 30-40 cm	45.80	24.22	0.00
SB _{0-10 cm}	66.92	48.79	0.00
SB _{10-20 cm}	63.16	63.90	0.15
SB _{20-30 cm}	64.21	63.10	0.07
SB _{30-40 cm}	11.98	-5.69	0.00

Chapter II

Respuesta del sotobosque al estrato arbóreo y a los gradientes edáficos en pinares mediterráneos mixtos y monoespecíficos





This chapter has been published as:

López-Marcos D^{1,2*}, Turrión MB^{1,2}, Bravo F^{1,3}, Martínez-Ruiz C^{1,2} (2019). **Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed vs. monospecific Mediterranean pine forests.** European Journal of Forest Research 138(6):939-955 <u>doi: 10.1007 / s10342-019-01215-0</u>

¹ Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

² Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³ Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed vs.

monospecific Mediterranean pine forests

Daphne López-Marcos^{1,2*}, María-Belén Turrión^{1,2}, Felipe Bravo^{1,3}, Carolina Martínez-Ruiz^{1,2}

¹Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Abstract

Many studies highlight the role of mixed versus monospecific forests to provide numerous ecosystem services. Most reports of the positive effects of tree mixture on biodiversity focus on coniferous-deciduous combinations, but little is known about the effects of mixtures combining two coniferous tree species. We assessed the effects of mixed versus monospecific stands of Pinus sylvestris and P. pinaster on the understory richness and composition and its relationship with the soil status, based on research with six triplets in northern Spain. In ten square meter guadrats randomly located per plot, the cover of every understory vascular plant species was estimated visually and data were codified according to Raunkiær's life-forms. One soil pit of 50 cm depth was dug in each plot to determine the soil water (water holding capacity) and fertility (carbon and exchangeable-cations stocks) status. A water-stress gradient associated with the overstory composition indicated that P. pinaster tolerates lower soil water content than P. sylvestris. Mixed stands are under greater water stress than monospecific P. sylvestris stands but maintain the same level of understory richness. Also, a soil fertility gradient defined by organic carbon and exchangeable-magnesium stocks was identified. Hemicryptophytes, whose abundance is greater in mixed stands, were the only understory life-form positively correlated to soil fertility. We conclude that the mixture of both Pinus species should continue to be favored in the study area because it helps to maintain understory richness under greater waterstress conditions and improves soil fertility.

Keywords: Mixed pine forests, *Pinus sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, understory composition, water stress gradient, fertility status.

²Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Introduction

Mixed forests' potential to provide multiple goods and services to a wide variety of end users more efficiently than monospecific forests (Gamfeldt et al. 2013) has led to an increasing interest in mixed forests management (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). Some potential benefits of the admixture of tree species include biodiversity conservation (Felton et al. 2010), soil conditions amelioration (Brandtberg et al. 2000) or carbon sequestration increase (European Commission 2010); additionally, under certain conditions mixed forests can produce higher yield than monocultures (Saetre et al. 1997). The mixture of tree species also performs as a measurement of adaptive management to climate change, increasing the resilience of forest ecosystems and improving their adaptability (Temperli et al. 2012). Taking into consideration that mixed forests account for around 40% of forests in Europe (MCPFE 2003) and 19% in Spain (MAGRAMA 2012), the development of appropriate management to achieve forest management sustainability in the framework of global change and biodiversity conservation.

To assess the potential advantages of mixed vs monospecific stands, field plots should have similar characteristics, i.e. ceteris paribus conditions, as in studies based on triplets (Del Río et al. 2015). One triplet consists of three plots (one mixed plot and their corresponding monospecific plots) located less than 1 km from each other in order to share climatic and soil conditions. Plots within triplets have similar site conditions, age, and density and they belong to the same management compartments where the same silviculture regime has been applied, thus, facilitating a pair-wise plausible comparison of mixed vs monospecific stands(Riofrío et al. 2017b). In the last decade in Europe, several studies based on triplets have been carried out and most of them analyze the tree component of ecosystems focusing on productivity (Thurm and Pretzsch 2016; Riofrío et al. 2017b; Condés et al. 2018), structural heterogeneity (Pretzsch et al. 2016; Riofrío et al. 2017b), growth efficiency (Pretzsch et al. 2015; Riofrío et al. 2017a) or modified tree morphology (Thurm and Pretzsch 2016; Dirnberger et al. 2017; Zeller et al. 2017; Cattaneo et al. 2018; Forrester et al. 2018). Others associate the tree and soil ecosystem components analyzing carbon stocks (Cremer et al. 2016; López-Marcos et al. 2018) and nutrients in the soil profile (Cremer and Prietzel 2017; López-Marcos et al. 2018) and in the forest floor (Cremer et al. 2016; López-Marcos et al. 2018; Sramek and Fadrhonsova 2018). Nevertheless, the relationship between three ecosystem components such as overstory, understory, and soil in *ceteris paribus* conditions has not yet been addressed.

Since the overstory tree species differ in their effects on microclimatic and edaphic conditions, it has been suggested that environmental gradients (i.e. changes in soil fertility and

water availability) may be broader in mixed than in monospecific stands (Barkman 1992a; Saetre et al. 1997). Thus, mixed stands have the potential to host a more heterogeneous and species-rich flora than monospecific stands (Hill 1992; Saetre et al. 1997). However, the effects of the overstory composition of mixed vs monospecific forests on the understory composition (Brown 1982; Enoksson et al. 1995; Saetre et al. 1997) and dynamics (Cavard et al. 2011) need to be studied more in depth: especially the effects of the overstory on the understory functional groups and their relationship with soil status.

The understory is known to be strongly influenced by the composition and structure of the overstory through its influence on temperature, light, water, soil nutrients, and litter accumulation (Saetre et al. 1999; Felton et al. 2010; Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2011). However, managers and ecologists have traditionally paid less attention to the understory component of forests (Nilsson and Wardle 2005; Antos 2009), despite the fact that the understory participates in a great variety of aboveground processes (e.g. tree seedling regeneration, forest succession, species diversity and stand productivity) and also in belowground processes, such as litter decomposition, soil nutrient cycling and soil water conservation (Liu et al. 2017).

Understory plants represent the largest component of plant biodiversity in most forest ecosystems (Mestre et al. 2017). Although understory vegetation accounts for only a small portion of forest biomass (Pan et al. 2018), it is an important component of forest ecosystems driving ecosystem processes such as carbon cycling (Chen et al. 2017), nutrient recycling (Yarie 1978) and, thus, influencing the soil nutrient status (Cavard et al. 2011). The lower contribution of the understory to the forest biomass carbon pool is offset by its higher turnover rate, which allows a high annual carbon input into the understory relative to its total biomass (Cavard et al. 2011). In addition, it has been found that the understory removal has an important impact on biological and/or environmental parameters such as soil water content, soil temperature, and thus, on evapotranspiration, tree growth and soil properties (Wang et al. 2011). Therefore, the understory deserves more direct attention, especially in mixtures that combine coniferous tree species.

Most reports of the overstory-understory relationship in mixed forests focus on mixtures that combine deciduous and coniferous tree species (Saetre et al. 1997, 1999; Barbier et al. 2008; Cavard et al. 2011; Inoue et al. 2017), not only in natural forests but also in plantations (Ou et al. 2015). They test the overstory effect on the understory biomass (Cavard et al. 2011), cover and structural heterogeneity (Saetre et al. 1997), biodiversity and the mechanisms involved (Barbier et al. 2008), the spatial relationship between the overstory and understory species distribution and soil nitrogen availability (Inoue et al. 2017), or soil microbial biomass and activity (Saetre et al. 1999). However, the effect of the overstory on the understory in

mixtures that combine coniferous tree species or even tree species of the same genus remains virtually unknown, at least in Europe (but see Mestre et al. 2017). This is so despite these mixtures are frequent in many environments, such as the admixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton) in Spain. Both *Pinus* species show similar crown architecture and slight differences in shade tolerance (Riofrío et al. 2017b). Maritime pine is an important species of Mediterranean forests and Scots pine is the most widely distributed species of pine in the world (Bogino and Bravo 2014). They are two of the main forest species in Spain (Scots pine: 1.20 million ha; Maritime pine: 0.68 million ha) and they grow in monospecific and mixed stands, either naturally or as a result of species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al. 2008).

Plant species characteristics, such as life-form, provide information on how plants have adapted to the environment, particularly to climate (Smith and Smith 2003). The classification of species within a community into life-forms provides a way of describing the structure of a community for comparison purposes. Raunkiær's classification of life-forms (1934), which establishes a relationship between the embryonic or meristematic tissues that remain inactive over the winter or prolonged dry periods and their height above ground, allows us to compare communities according to their adaptability to the critical season (Smith 1913), that is to say, the summer drought under Mediterranean conditions but also frost in winter.

On the other hand, soil properties can also play an important role in changes in the understory richness and composition (Cavard et al. 2011). Likewise, the understory can directly influence soil properties, such as temperature and moisture (Rodríguez et al. 2007a). Understanding the ecology of the understory vegetation has important implications for both biodiversity conservation and production-oriented forest management (Nilsson and Wardle 2005).

Here, we investigated the influence of the mixture of two widely distributed pine species (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*) on the understory plant community compared to monospecific stands, as well as the role played by relevant soil properties. Raunkiær's life-forms classification of the understory vegetation was used. The aims of this study were: (i) to assess the effect of the overstory on the understory life-forms composition; (ii) to link differences in the life-forms composition of the understory to soil properties; and (iii) to model the response of the understory richness and cover of different life-forms along the main gradients identified. We hypothesize that: (1) the admixture of both pine species has a positive interactive effect on the understory richness compared to monospecific stands; and (2) the understory composition and

richness are positively correlated with (and can be derived from) the availability of nutrients and water.

Material and methods

Study sites

The research was carried out in eighteen forest plots (6 triplets) located in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' between the Burgos and Soria regions, in North-Central Spain (41°47'35"N and 41°53'41"N latitude and 2°56'12"W and 3°20'46"W longitude; Figure 26). The climate is Temperate with dry or temperate summer (Cfb, Csb), according to the Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula. The mean annual temperature ranges from 8.7 to 9.8 °C and the annual precipitation ranges from 684 to 833 mm (Nafría-García et al. 2013). Altitude varies from 1093 to 1277 m a.s.l., and the slope from 0.9 to 20%. The geological parent materials are sandstones and marl from the Mesozoic era (IGME 2015). The soils are Inceptisols with a xeric soil moisture regime and mesic soil temperature regime and they are classified as Typic Dystroxerept or Typic Humixerept (sensu Soil-Survey-Staff 2014). The sandy soil texture was dominant and the pH varies from extremely acid to strongly acid (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). The natural dominant vegetation in the study area, highly degraded by anthropogenic action, is characterised by Pyrenean oak (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.) forests or communities dominated by junipers (López-Marcos et al. 2018).

Each triplet consisted of two plots dominated either by *Pinus sylvestris* (PS) or *Pinus pinaster* (PP) and one plot with a mixture of both species (MM) located less than 1 km from each other so that the environmental conditions were homogeneous within the triplet (Figure 26). Plots were circular of radius 15 m and the tree species composition was the main varying factor (López-Marcos et al. 2018). The percentage of the basal area of the dominant species in the monospecific plots was greater than 83% or 95% for *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster* respectively, whereas the basal area percentage of both species in the mixed plots ranged from 33 to 67%. Historically, this area has been occupied by forests and, for decades, it has been traditionally managed through selective thinning, benefiting *P. sylvestris*. The stands have had no silvicultural intervention or damage in the last ten years in an attempt to minimize the effect of the thinning or another type of intervention in what is intended to study, either growth, floristic richness or soil nutrients. The age of trees in the plots ranged from 44 to 151 years, the stand density from 509 to 1429 trees ha⁻¹, the basal area from 33.3 to 70.3 m² ha⁻¹ and the dominant height between from 15.6 to 25.0 m (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). These plots belong to the network

of permanent plots of iuFOR-UVa and they have been previously used in a series of studies recently (Riofrío et al. 2017a; Cattaneo 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2018).



Figure 26. Location of the triplets in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' in North-Central Spain and location of the plots in each triplet. *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific plots (PS): red circles; *Pinus pinaster* monospecific plots (PP): yellow circles; Mixed plots of both *Pinus* species (MM): blue circles.

Understory and soil sampling

Within each plot, 10 quadrats (1m×1m) were randomly located and the cover (%) of every understory vascular plant species present in each quadrat, including tree regeneration, was estimated visually by the same observer in June 2016 to encompass and better identify the maximum number of vascular plant species (Martínez-Ruiz and Fernández-Santos 2005). Vascular plant species were classified according to the Raunkiær's classification of life-forms (1934) following (Aizpiru et al. 2007); see Appendix IIb. Therophytes are annuals plants whose shoot and root systems die after seed production and which complete their whole life cycle within one year; hemicryptophytes are perennial herbaceous plants with periodic shoot reduction to a remnant shoot system that lies relatively flat on the ground surface; geophytes have subterranean resting buds (i.e. bulbs, rhizomes...); chamaephytes (dwarf shrubs) are woody plants whose natural branch or shoot system remains perennially between 25 and 50 cm above ground surface; and phanerophytes (tree regeneration and shrubs) are woody plants that grow taller than 25-50 cm.

Tree regeneration included the main tree species found as seedlings/saplings (i.e. *Pinus sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, *Quercus pyrenaica*, and *Q. faginea* Lam.). In these stands, there are not subordinate tree species. Only two layers of vegetation can be distinguished (overstory and understory): the overstory measuring c.a. 20 m in height, and the understory with only 20 cm in height c.a., and never higher than 1 m.

At the same time as the vegetation sampling, one soil pit of at least 50 cm depth was dug in each plot for soil profile characterization (López-Marcos et al. 2018). Two undisturbed soil samples were collected from each pit's soil horizon with steel cylinders (98.2 cm³) to keep their original structure. Likewise, one disturbed sample was also taken from each pit's soil horizon (ca. 2.5 kg).

Laboratory analyses

Both undisturbed and disturbed soil samples were dried at 105°C for 24 h before analyses. Undisturbed soil samples were weighed (±0.001 g) and used to calculate the soil bulk density. Disturbed soil samples were sieved (2 mm) before physical and chemical analyses. Physical analyses included percentage by weight of coarse fraction (>2 mm; %stones) and earth fraction (<2 mm; %EF). Available water was determined by the MAPA (1994) method as the difference between water content at field capacity (water remaining in a soil after it has been thoroughly saturated for two days and allowed to drain freely) and the permanent wilting point (soil water content retained at 1500 kPa using Eijkelkamp pF Equipment).

Chemical parameters analyzed for each soil horizon included: easily oxidizable carbon using the K-dichromate oxidation method (Walkley 1947); total organic carbon and total nitrogen by dry combustion using a LECO CHN-2000 elemental analyzer; available phosphorus using the Olsen method (Olsen and Sommers 1982) and exchangeable cations (Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺, Na⁺) were extracted with 1M ammonium acetate at pH=7 (Schollenberger and Simon 1945) and determined using an atomic absorption/emission spectrometer.

Data analyses

In each horizon, the water holding capacity (WHC) and the stock of different soil properties were calculated as indicated in Appendix IIb). The water holding capacity and the stocks of different soil properties in the soil profile (0-50 cm) were then calculated as the sum of the values of each horizon (see Appendix IIb).

Richness was calculated as the total number of vascular plant species present in each plot (Colwell 2009), including understory vegetation and tree regeneration. Although several indices of diversity were tested, only the number of species showed to differ among stand types and thus is shown in results. The cover (%) of each Raunkiær's life-form in each plot was calculated as the average of the 10 vegetation sampling quadrats per plot. χ^2 tests of independence were carried out to compare the relative contribution of Raunkiær's life-forms to the total cover and richness within each stand type.

A redundancy analysis (RDA), as a linear-constrained ordination method with data scale standardization for units homogenization, was performed to describe the plant community using as vegetation variables the absolute cover data of Raunkiær's life-forms, and the basal area (G) of all stems > 7.5 cm in diameter for every *Pinus* species in each plot. The vegan 'envfit' function fitted onto the RDA ordination plot with 9999 permutations (Oksanen 2016) was used to show that the type of stand but not the triplet determined differences in floristic composition between plots. Additionally, sample ordination scores were tested for a significant correlation with the vegetation variables by means of the Pearson's coefficient.

To assist in the interpretation of the ordination axes according to the soil properties (Appendix IIc), these were fitted as vectors onto the RDA ordination plot using the vegan 'envfit' function. The advantage of the method is that it allows to test the significance of each vector adjusted by 9999 permutations, being able to calculate the R² of each variable. The explanatory variables considered in the analysis were the water holding capacity and the stocks of different soil properties in the whole soil profile (0-50 cm). Moreover, sample ordination scores along RDA1 and RDA2 were tested for a significant correlation with the significant soil properties by means of Pearson's coefficient.

The responses of each functional group (Raunkiær's life-forms) and understory richness along RDA1 and the values of the significant soil properties (WHC, total organic carbon stock (Cstock), and exchangeable magnesium stock (Mg⁺²stock) were modeled by Huisman-Olff-Fresco (HOF) models (Huisman et al. 1993). These are a hierarchical set of five response models, ranked according to their increasing complexity (Model I, no species trend; Model II, increasing or decreasing trend where the maximum is equal to the upper bound; Model III, increasing or decreasing trend where the maximum is below the upper bound; Model IV, symmetrical response curve; Model V, skewed response curve. The AIC statistic (Akaike Information Criterion; Akaike 1973) was used to select the most appropriate response model for each life form (Johnson and Omland 2004); smaller values of AIC indicate better models.

All statistical analyses were implemented in the R software environment (version 3.3.3; R Development Core Team 2016), using the vegan package for multivariate analyses (version 2.3-5; Oksanen 2016), and the eHOF package for HOF modeling (version 3.2.2; Jansen and Oksanen 2013). One monospecific plot of *P. sylvestris* was considered an outlier and excluded from all analyses because it was the only one that presented aquic conditions (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). Soils which have an aquic moisture regime are saturated long enough to cause anaerobic conditions (Soil-Survey-Staff 2014).

Results

Raunkiær's life-forms in the understory

The relative contribution of Raunkiær's life-forms to the total cover and richness of the understory within each stand type differed significantly (cover: χ^2 =43.7, df = 8, *p*<0.001, Figure 27a; richness: χ^2 =16.4, df=8, *p*<0.04, Figure 27b). In both monospecific stands, phanerophytes (mostly in PS) and chamaephytes (mostly in PP) reached the highest relative cover and also contributed to high relative percentages of species richness; hemicryptophytes presented lower relative cover but higher or similar relative species richness than phanerophytes and chamaephytes; and geophytes and therophytes showed the lowest relative cover and scarce relative contribution to the total species richness, especially in PP.



Figure 27. Relative cover (a) and species richness (b) of different Raunkiær's life-forms in the understory of the three stand types. Abbreviations as in Figure 26.

Nevertheless, in mixed stands (MM), chamaephytes and hemicryptophytes were the lifeforms with the highest relative cover (45.6±14.7 and 22.8±6.8%, respectively) and contributed also to high relative percentages of species richness (21.1±6.7 and 33.0±6.2%, respectively); phanerophytes reached lower relative cover (14.5±5.8%) but higher or lower relative species richness (25.7±8.2%) than chamaephytes and hemicryptophytes, respectively; and geophytes and therophytes continue to be the life-forms that less contribute to the total cover and richness.

Relationship between the overstory and the understory vegetation

The RDA ordination of the plots produced eigenvalues (λ) of 2.52 and 1.14 for the first two axes, and accounted for 36 and 23 % of the overall species variance, respectively (Figure 28). The plots dominated by P. sylvestris cluster together on the right of the diagram, those dominated by P. pinaster cluster on the left, whereas the mixed plots occupy an intermediate position (Figure 28). Thus, RDA1 showed an overstory composition gradient to which the understory responds. In fact, highly significant correlation between plot scores along RDA1 and basal area (G) of *P. sylvestris* (r = 0.89, p<0.005) and of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.93, p<0.005) were found, showing both an opposite tendency; the basal area of P. pinaster increases towards the negative end of the RDA1 while the basal area of *P. sylvestris* increases towards the positive end. Also the cover of therophytes (r = 0.59, p < 0.01) and chamaephytes (r = -0.46, p < 0.05) were correlated to RDA1 with an opposite trend, suggesting greater cover of therophytes in PS and greater cover of chamaephytes in PP, in accordance with what is shown in Figure 27a. On the other hand, hemicryptophytes (r = 0.68, p<0.005), phanerophytes (r = -0.64, p<0.005) and geophytes (r = 0.71, p<0.005) were significantly correlated to RDA2, suggesting greater cover of hemicryptophytes and geophytes in some P. sylvestris monospecific plots and mixed plots, and greater cover of phanerophytes in some *P. sylvestris* monospecific plots.



Figure 28. RDA biplot of plots (dots) and vegetation variables (green lines), i.e. the Raunkiær's life-forms cover, and the basal area (G) of *Pinus sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*; and the significant explanatory soil properties fitted onto the RDA as vectors using the envfit function (brown solid line: p<0.05; brown dashed lines: p<0.10; explained variation > 50%). WHC (water holding capacity), Cstock (total organic carbon stock), Mg⁺²stock (exchangeable magnesium stock). Other abbreviations as in Figure 26.

Understory compositional change along the main gradients identified

Understory richness showed an increasing trend bounded below the maximum attainable response along RDA1 (HOF model III; Figure 29a), i.e. as the basal area (G) of *P. sylvestris* increases. Understory richness also showed an increasing trend but where the maximum is equal to the upper bound (HOF model II) as WHC (Figure 29c) and Mg⁺²stock (Figure 29d) increase, whereas richness showed no response (HOF model I) to Cstock and, thus, it was not shown in Figure 29.



Figure 29. HOF-derived response curves for the Raunkiær's life-forms cover and total species richness of the understory, relative to RDA1 (a), and to significant soil properties, i.e. Cstock (b), WHC (c) and Mg⁺²stock (d). Abbreviations as in Figure 28.

Relationship between vegetation composition and soil properties

Among the Raunkiær's life-forms, only geophytes showed indeterminate response curve (i.e. HOF model I), with low and constant cover (<0.5%) along RDA1, and for all significant soil properties (WHC, Cstock, and Mg⁺²stock), and, thus, it was not shown in Figure 29. Therophytes showed HOF model II with increasing trend along RDA1 (Figure 29a) as WHC increases (Figure 29c), whereas therophytes showed skewed response curve (HOF model V) for Cstock with a maximum around 75 Mg ha⁻¹ (Figure 29b) and for Mg⁺²stock with a maximum around 30 kgha⁻¹ (Figure 29d). Hemicryptophytes showed unimodal response curves along RDA1 (HOF model V;

Figure 29a) and along the WHC gradient (HOF model IV; Figure 29c) with optima in the middle part of the gradients, where mixed plots are located. However, hemicryptophytes showed HOF model II with increasing trend as Cstock increases (Figure 29b), and HOF model III with increasing trend bounded below the maximum attainable response as Mg⁺²stock increases (Figure 29d). Chamaephytes showed a decreasing trend bounded below the maximum attainable cover on the left end of RDA1 (HOF model III), and a decreasing trend (HOF model II) as WHC (Figure 29c), Cstock (Figure 29b) and Mg⁺²stock (Figure 29d) increase. Finally, phanerophytes showed a cover increasing trend (HOF model II) as G of *P. sylvestris* increases (RDA1 right-end; Figure 29a), and as WHC increases (Figure 29c), whereas they showed skewed response curve (HOF model V) for Cstock with a maximum around 50 Mg ha⁻¹ (Figure 29b) and a decreasing trend (HOF model II) as Mg⁺²stock increases (Figure 29d).

Discussion

Our results show how the composition of the overstory influences the understory. Primarily, the understory responds to differences in the basal area of both *Pinus* species associated with differences in the water holding capacity (RDA1). Secondarily, the understory responds to differences in the stocks of the total organic carbon and exchangeable Mg⁺² (RDA2). Both carbon content (i.e. soil organic matter) and nutrient content are known to be highly correlated (Beldin et al. 2007). As a matter of fact, this has been shown e.g. for Mg⁺², which serves as a good indicator of soil fertility and is a critical nutrient for plant and microbial metabolism (Wang et al. 2017).

Overstory composition responds to soil water content

In the study area, monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* are located where WHC is higher, while *P. pinaster* monospecific stands occupy areas with lower soil water content (i.e. the lowest WHC). However, in the mixed stand, with intermediate values of WHC, both *Pinus* species cohabit, probably because they occupy different microsites according to WHC. Therefore, the overstory composition is related to WHC of the soil profile (0-50 cm), and the behavior of both tree species is consistent with the xeric-mesophilic character of *P. sylvestris* and the xerophytic character of *P. pinaster* described by Bravo-Oviedo and Montero (2008).

Understory richness responds to overstory composition and soil fertility

Understory richness attained the maximum level for intermediate values of basal area of *P. sylvestris* (Figure 29a) so that mixed stands will preserve similar understory richness to that of

monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris*. Therefore, the lower soil water content (WHC) in mixed stands compared to *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands (Figure 29c) does not seem to have a negative impact, in terms of understory richness or productivity. This is probably due to the greater availability of microsites with different WHC in mixed stands.

In addition, the understory richness was positively correlated with Mg⁺²stock, according to the relationship between nutrient retention increase and biodiversity described by Tilman et al. (1997). This is really interesting since magnesium is known to be a critical component in the carbon fixation and transformation processes in the vegetation, and its deficiency can affect forest decline (Huettl 1992; Zas and Serrada 2003). In the study area, both the greater productivity and overyielding found in mixed stands, compared to monocultures (Riofrío et al. 2017b), could be partially explained by greater soil fertility (Mg⁺²stock). Even though the impact of soil on overyielding still remains ambiguous and debated (Lu et al. 2018), further scientific evidence suggests that a positive relationship between biodiversity and productivity can be found (Ahmed et al. 2016; Liang et al. 2016; Schmid and Niklaus 2017; Lu et al. 2018).

Furthermore, it is known that variations in the relative proportion of certain tree species within mixed forests affect the composition and richness of species in the understory through distinct species responses to soil leaf litter accumulation (Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2011). Litter generally reduces species richness in Mediterranean forests (Casado et al. 2004). We found the higher leaf litter biomass in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands (see López-Marcos et al. 2018), but these stands also presented similar understory richness to that of mixed forests. In all probability, the higher leaf litter accumulation below *P. sylvestris* in the study area has no negative effect on understory richness due to its specific characteristics. Scots pine needles appear to be less recalcitrant than that of Maritime pine, since they have a significantly lower C/N ratio in the fresh fraction (see Herrero et al. 2016; López-Marcos et al. 2018), suggesting a faster decomposability of *P. sylvestris* leaf litter relative to *P. pinaster* (Santa-Regina 2001).

Understory life-forms respond to the overstory composition and soil fertility

The cover of therophytes increases as the basal area of *P. sylvestris* increases, i.e. as WHC increases, contrary to what is expected for grasslands (Madon and Médail 1997), but reaches its maximum at very low levels of fertility, i.e. 75 Mg ha⁻¹ of Cstock and 30 kg ha⁻¹ of Mg⁺²stock. Since the seed is the organ of therophytes that survives the unfavorable season, its germination might be limited by water stress, but not by soil fertility as the seed provides the necessary nutrients to germinate (Rivas-Martínez et al. 2002). However, in the study area, the soil moisture gradient is not large enough to significantly affect the germination of therophytes, and

many other factors may be playing a role. In fact, annuals are known to be ruderal and not stress-tolerant in productive habitats (Madon and Médail 1997).

Phanerophytes are also positively correlated with WHC but negatively linked to Cstock and Mg⁺²stock in the soil profile. Phanerophytes are woody perennial plants with resting buds more than 25 cm above the soil level, they retain reserve compounds and, thus, they are not so dependent on soil fertility, although their buds' growth is limited by soil water (Rivas-Martínez et al. 2002). Moreover, in this study, the phanerophytes include the tree regeneration (saplings) that might be adversely affected at the seedling stage by scarcity of water resources (Mcintyre 1995).

Contrary to phanerophytes, chamaephytes decrease in cover as WHC increases, from maximum attainable cover for a higher basal area of *P. pinaster*. The negative correlation between chamaephytes cover and WHC suggests the stress-tolerant character of chamaephytes in the study area, probably because of higher water-use efficiency (Scartazza et al. 2014). On the other hand, as phanerophytes, chamaephytes decrease in cover as Cstock and Mg⁺²stock increase. The soils under shrubs (phanerophytes or chamaephytes) indicate a higher rate of recalcitrant organic-matter (Chabrerie et al. 2003) due to the higher lignin content of woody species (mainly pine saplings and *Ericaceae* species in the study area), which reduces the decomposition rate of the soil organic matter by microorganisms (Clark and Paul 1970) and the speed of nutrient release into the soil (Condron and Newman 1998). Consequently, lower values of Cstock and Mg⁺²stock were found with the increase of shrub cover in the stands.

The cover of hemicryptophytes is maximum in MM (intermediate WHC). It seems that the mixture of both *Pinus* species in the study area, under moderate water-stress conditions, favors this Raunkiær's life-form. Nevertheless, the higher cover of hemicryptophytes in MM might also be partly the result of abiotic facilitation of chamaephytes under moderate soil water shortage, according to the refinement of the stress-gradient hypothesis (SGH) proposed by Maestre et al. (2009). The SGH predicts that the frequency of facilitative and competitive interactions will vary inversely across abiotic stress gradients, with facilitation being more common in conditions of high abiotic stress relative to more benign abiotic conditions (Bertness and Callaway 1994). However, Maestre et al. (2009) predict that other combinations are likely to yield different results. For example, that the effect of neighbors can be negative at both ends of the stress gradient when both interacting species have similar 'competitive' or 'stresstolerant' life histories and the abiotic stress gradient is driven by a resource (e.g. water). In the study area, under moderate water stress conditions, as found in MM with intermediate values of WHC, the facilitation can be expected to be the dominant net outcome whereas competition would prevail at both ends of the water-stress gradient (i.e. under monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*). In mixed stands, chamaephytes might assume the benefactor/facilitator role whereas hemicryptophytes act as the beneficiary/facilitated, and both life-forms can be considered to be water-stress tolerant (sensu Grime 1977) since both are more abundant at lower WHC (Figure 29c). In fact, the cover of chamaephytes is similar in PS and MM (Figure 29a), yet the cover of hemicryptophytes reaches its maximum in MM in moderate water-stress conditions. It is worth noting that further research would be needed to support this possibility.

Furthermore, hemicryptophytes are the only life-form whose cover was significantly related to the fertility gradient, showing an increase in cover as Cstock and Mg⁺²stock increase (Figure 29d). Previous studies also showed that many hemicryptophytes were indicative of sites with relatively good soil fertility (Mark et al. 2000; Sigcha et al. 2018).

Implications for forest management

These results have important implications for forest management in the context of the supply of ecosystem services, such as biodiversity conservation. Firstly, the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine, widely distributed in Spain (Serrada et al. 2008), should be maintained and favored over pure stands since this mixture maintains higher understory richness under water-stress conditions. This could, therefore, be regarded as a biodiversity conservation strategy in the current climate change scenario. It should also be noted that some understory species, such as *Quercus pyrenaica*, which has been granted critically-endangered protection status all across Spain (see Appendix IIa), enjoys higher regeneration when both *Pinus* species cohabit (López-Marcos et al. 2020a). Secondly, the positive relationships of hemicryptophytes with Cstock and Mg⁺²stock, and of the understory richness with WHC and Mg⁺²stock emphasize the importance of considering the understory in forest management plans. This will enhance, among other things, biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration, and productivity by improving soil fertility.

Conclusions

The mixture of both *Pinus* species maintains similar understory richness to that of monospecific stands of *Pinus sylvestris* but for lower soil water content. The understory responds to the gradient of the basal area of both *Pinus* species associated with a water-stress gradient. Hemicryptophytes are linked to better soil fertility status (defined by the total organic carbon and exchangeable Mg⁺² stocks). We conclude that the mixture of both *Pinus* species should

continue to be favored in the study area because it helps to maintain the understory richness under greater water-stress conditions (i.e. under expected climate change) and improves soil fertility.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Alfonso Ramos Calvo for his invaluable help with soil sampling, Carmen Blanco and Juan Carlos Arranz for their advice in the laboratory analyses, José Riofrío and Cristóbal Ordoñez for their assistance in location of plots in the field, and Juan Manuel Díez Clivillé (deceased), and María de la Fuente for their assistance with English. We also thank Pilar Zaldívar, Hans Pretzsch (Editor-in-Chief) and two anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments to improve the manuscript. This research was funded by a predoctoral grant to DLM (BES-2015-072852) and the Project FORMIXING (AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R) from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of the Spanish Government.

Author contributions

DLM carried out the field and laboratory work, ran the data analysis and discussed the results. DLM and CMR discussed data analysis and commented on the results and discussion. CMR supported DLM with the statistical analysis. MBT supported DLM with the laboratory analysis. DLM, CMR, MBT and FB edited the manuscript. FB coordinated the research project.

References

- Ahmed IU, Smith AR, Jones DL, Godbold DL (2016) Tree species identity influences the vertical distribution of labile and recalcitrant carbon in a temperate deciduous forest soil. For Ecol Manage 359:352–360. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.07.018
- Aizpiru I, Aseginolaza C, Uribe-Echebarría PM, et al. (2007) Claves ilustradas de la flora del País Vasco y territorios limítrofes. Gobierno Vasco. Departamento de Medio Ambiente y de Oedenación del Territorio, Vitoria (Spain)
- Akaike H (1973) Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Brillinger D, Gani J, Hartigan J (eds) Second International Symposium on Information Theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest (Hungary), pp 267–281
- Antos JA (2009) Understory plants in temperate forests. In: Owens JN, Lunday HG (eds) Forests and forests plants. Centre for Forest Biology, University of Victoria, Victoria (Canada)
- Barbier S, Gosselin F, Balandier P (2008) Influence of tree species on understory vegetation diversity and mechanisms involved-A critical review for temperate and boreal forests. For Ecol Manage 254:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.038

- Barkman JJ (1992) Canopies and microclimate of tree species mixtures. In: Cannell MGR, Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell (UK), pp 181–187
- Beldin SI, Caldwell BA, Sollins P, et al (2007) Cation exchange capacity of density fractions from paired conifer/grassland soils. Biol Fertil Soils 43:837–841. doi: 10.1007/s00374-006-0161-y
- Bertness MD, Callaway RM (1994) Positive interactions in communities. Tree 9:191–193. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(94)90088-4
- Bogino SM, Bravo F (2014) Carbon stable isotope-climate association in tree rings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* in Mediterranean environments. Bosque 35:175–184. doi: 10.4067/S0717-92002014000200005
- Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (2000) Changes in forest-floor chemistry caused by a birch admixture in Norway spruce stands. For Ecol Manage 130:253–264. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00183-8
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Montero G (2008) Descripción de los caracteres culturales de las principales especies forestales. In: Serrada. R, Montero G, Reque JA (eds) Compendio de Selvidultura Aplicada en España. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain), pp 1036– 1114.
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Ammer C, et al (2014) European mixed forests: Definition and research perspectives. For Syst 23:518–533. doi: 10.5424/fs/2014233-06256
- Brown AFH (1982) The effects of tree species, planted pure and in mixtures, on vegetation and soils at Gisburn. In: Annual Report 1981. Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, UK, pp 74–75
- Casado MA, Castro I, Ramírez-Sanz L, et al (2004) Herbaceous plant richness and vegetation cover in Mediterranean grasslands and shrublands. Plant Ecol 170:83–91. doi: 10.1023/B:VEGE.0000019021.62054.62
- Cattaneo N (2018) Competencia, productividad y cambios a nivel de copa en bosque mixtos de pinos mediterráneos. Señales a nivel de árbol individual. PhD Dissertation, University of Valladolid (Spain)
- Cavard X, Bergeron Y, Chen HYH, Paré D (2011) Effect of forest canopy composition on soil nutrients and dynamics of the understorey: Mixed canopies serve neither vascular nor bryophyte strata. J Veg Sci 22:1105–1119. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01311.x
- Chabrerie O, Laval K, Puget P, et al (2003) Relationship between plant and soil microbial communities along a successional gradient in a chalk grassland in north-western France. Appl Soil Ecol 24:43–56. doi: 10.1016/S0929-1393(03)00062-3
- Chen Y, Cai X, Zhang Y, et al (2017) Dynamics of understory shrub biomass in six young plantations of southern subtropical China. Forests 8:1–12. doi: 10.3390/f8110419

Clark FE, Paul EA (1970) The microflora of grassland. Adv Agron 22:375-435

- Colwell RK (2009) Biodiversity: concepts, patterns and measurement. In: Simon AL (ed) The Princeton guide to ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton (USA), pp 257–263
- Condés S, Sterba H, Aguirre A, et al (2018) Estimation and uncertainty of the mixing effects on Scots Pine-European beech productivity from national forest inventories data. Forests 9:518. doi: 10.3390/f9090518
- Condron LM, Newman RH (1998) Chemical nature of soil organic matter under grassland and recently established forest. Eur J Soil Sci 49:597–603
- Cremer M, Kern NV, Prietzel J (2016) Soil organic carbon and nitrogen stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. For Ecol Manage 367:30–40. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.02.020
- Cremer M, Prietzel J (2017) Soil acidity and exchangeable base cation stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. Plant Soil 415:393–405. doi: 10.1007/s11104-017-3177-1
- Del Río M, Pretzsch H, Alberdi I, et al (2015) Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. Eur J For Res 135:23–49. doi: 10.1007/s10342-015-0927-6
- Dirnberger G, Sterba H, Condés S, et al (2017) Species proportions by area in mixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). Eur J For Res 136:171–183. doi: 10.1007/s10342-016-1017-0
- Enoksson B, Angelstam P, Larsson K (1995) Deciduous forest and resident birds: the problem of fragmentation within a coniferous forest landscape. Landsc Ecol 10:267–275
- European Commission (2010) Green paper on forest protection and information in the EU: Preparing forests for climate change. Brussels (Belgium)
- Felton A, Lindbladh M, Brunet J, Fritz Ö (2010) Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixedspecies production stands: An assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. For Ecol Manage 260:939–947. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011
- Forrester DI, Ammer C, Annighöfer PJ, et al (2018) Effects of crown architecture and stand structure on light absorption in mixed and monospecific *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests along a productivity and climate gradient through Europe. J Ecol 106:746–760. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12803
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, et al (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2328
- Grime JP (1977) Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. Am Nat 111:1169–1194.

- Herrero C, Turrión MB, Pando V, Bravo F (2016) Carbon content of forest floor and mineral soil in Mediterranean Pinus spp. and Oak stands in acid soils in Northern Spain. For Syst 25. doi: 10.5424/fs/2016252-09149
- Hill MO (1992) Mixtures as habitats for plants (discussion). In: Cannell MGR, Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell (UK), pp 301–302
- Huettl RF (1992) Mg deficiency a "new" phenomenon in declining forests—symptoms and effects, causes, recuperation. In: Huettl RF, Mueller-Dombois D (eds) Forest decline in the Atlantic and Pacific region. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 97–114
- Huisman J, Olff H, Fresco LFM (1993) A hierarchical set of models for species response analysis. J Veg Sci 4:37–46
- IGME (2015) Mapa Geológico de la Península Ibérica, Baleares y Canarias a escala 1M.
- Inoue T, Fukuzawa K, Watanabe T, et al (2017) Spatial pattern of soil nitrogen availability and its relationship to stand structure in a coniferous-broadleaved mixed forest with a dense dwarf bamboo understory in northern Japan. Ecol Res 32:227–241. doi: 10.1007/s11284-017-1434-7
- Jansen F, Oksanen J (2013) How to model species responses along ecological gradients -Huisman-Olff-Fresco models revisited. J Veg Sci 24:1108–1117. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12050
- Johnson JB, Omland KS (2004) Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 19:101–108. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2003.10.013
- Köppen W (1936) Das geographische System der Klimate. In: Köppen W, Geiger R (eds): Handbuch der Klimatologie. Velag von Gebruder Borntraeger. Berlin. pp 7–30
- Liang J, Crowther TW, Picard N, et al (2016) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354:aaf8957. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf8957
- Liu Y, Lei P, Xiang W, et al (2017) Accumulation of soil organic C and N in planted forests fostered by tree species mixture. Biogeosciences 14:3937–3945. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-3937-2017
- López-Marcos D, Martínez-Ruiz C, Turrión M-B, et al (2018) Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests. Eur J For Res 137:831–847. doi: 10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y
- López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020a) Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests? Ann For Sci (in press)
- Lu H, Condés S, Goudiaby V, et al (2018) Forest Ecology and Management Species and soil effects on overyielding of tree species mixtures in the Netherlands. For Ecol Manage 409:105–118. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.11.010
- Madon O, Médail F (1997) The ecological significance of annuals on a Mediterranean grassland (Mt Ventoux, France). Plant Ecol 129:189–199. doi: 10.1023/A:1009759730000

Maestre FT, Callaway RM, Valladares F, Lortie CJ (2009) Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. J Ecol 97:199–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01476.x

MAGRAMA (2012) Infraestructura de datos espaciales. https://sig.mapama.gob.es/geoportal/

- MAPA (1994) Tomo III. In: Métodos oficiales de Análisis. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid (Spain)
- Mark AF, Dickinson KJM, Hofstede RGM (2000) Alpine vegetation, plant distribution, life forms, and environments in a perhumid New Zealand region: oceanic and yropical high mountain affinities. Arctic, Antarct Alp Res 32:240–254. doi: 10.2307/1552522
- Martínez-Ruiz C, Fernández-Santos B (2005) Natural revegetation on topsoiled mining-spoils according to the exposure. Acta Oecol 28:231–238. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2005.05.001
- Mcintyre S, Lavorel S, Tremont RM (1995) Plant life-history attributes: their relationship to disturbance response in herbaceous vegetation. J Ecol 83:31–44. doi: 10.2307/22611 48
- MCPFE (2003) Improved pan-European indicators for sustainable forest management as adopted by the MCPFE expert level meeting. In: Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe. Vienna (Austria)
- Mestre L, Toro-Manríquez M, Soler R, et al (2017) The influence of canopy-layer composition on understory plant diversity in southern temperate forests. For Ecosyst 4:6. doi: 10.1186/s40663-017-0093-z
- Nafría-García DA, Garrido-del-Pozo N, Álvarez-Arias MV, et al (2013) Atlas agroclimático de Castilla y León, 1st edn. Instituto Tecnológico Agrario, Junta de Castilla y León-Agencia Estatal de Meteorología, Valladolid. http://atlas.itacy l.es
- Nilsson MC, Wardle DA (2005) Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: Evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Front Ecol Environ 3:421–428. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0421:UVAAFE]2.0.CO;2
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos P, Stevens MHH, Wagner H (2016) Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.3-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Olsen SR, Sommers LE (1982) Phosphorus. In: Page AL, Miller RH, Keeney DR (eds) Methods of soil analysis. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI (USA), pp 403–427
- Ou G, Ma H, Xu H, Tang J (2015) Understory plant diversity in mixed and pure plantations of *Jatropha curcas* vs. native vegetation in the lower-middle reaches of the Lancang-Meikong river watershed, China. Pakistan J Bot 47:1391–1398
- Pan P, Zhao F, Ning J, et al (2018) Impact of understory vegetation on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamic in aerially seeded *Pinus massoniana* plantations. PLoS One 13:1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191952

- Pretzsch H, Forrester DI, Rötzer T (2015) Representation of species mixing in forest growth models. A review and perspective. Ecol Modell 313:276–292. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2015.06.044
- Pretzsch H, Río M, Schütze G, et al (2016) Mixing of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, and the effect increases with water availability. For Ecol Manag 373:149–166. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.043
- R Development Core Team (2016) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-proje ct.org/. Accessed 15 Nov 2016
- Raunkiær C (1934) The life forms of plants and their bearing on geography. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Bravo F (2017a) Mixing effects on growth efficiency in mixed pine forests. Forestry 90:381–392. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpw056
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Pretzsch H, Bravo F (2017b) Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For Ecol Manage 405:219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036
- Rivas-Martínez S, Díaz TE, Fernández-González F, et al (2002) Vascular plant communities of Spain and Portugal. Addenda to the Syntaxonomical checklist of 2001. Itinera Geobot 15:5–922
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Nanos N, del Rey MC, et al (2011) Small-scale variation of vegetation in a mixed forest understorey is partly controlled by the effect of overstory composition on litter accumulation. J For Res 16:473–483. doi: 10.1007/s10310-010-0237-2
- Rodríguez E, Juez L, Guerra B, Bravo F (2007) Análisis de la regeneración natural de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en los arenales de Almazán-Bayubas (Soria, España). For Syst 16:25–38
- Saetre P, Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (1999) Soil organisms and carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralisation in Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce - Birch stands. Biol Fertil Soils 28:382–388. doi: 10.1007/s003740050508
- Saetre P, Saetre LS, Brandtberg P-O, et al (1997) Ground vegetation composition and heterogeneity in pure Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce - birch stands. Can J For Res 27:2034–2042. doi: 10.1139/x97-177
- Santa-Regina I (2001) Litter fall, decomposition and nutrient release in three semi-arid forests of the Duero basin, Spain. Forestry 74:347–358. doi: 10.1093/forestry/74.4.347
- Scartazza A, Vaccari FP, Bertolini T, et al (2014) Comparing integrated stable isotope and eddy covariance estimates of water-use efficiency on a Mediterranean successional sequence. Oecologia 176:581–594. doi: 10.1007/s00442-014-3027-2
- Schmid B, Niklaus P (2017) Biodiversity: complementary canopies. Nat Ecol Evol 1:1–2. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0104

Schollenberger CJ, Simon RH (1945) Determination of exchange capacity and exchangeable

bases in soil - ammonium acetate method. Soil Sci 9:13-24

- Serrada R, Montero G, Reque JA (2008) Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA, Madrid (Spain)
- Sigcha F, Pallavicini Y, Camino MJ, Martínez-Ruiz C (2018) Effects of short-term grazing exclusion on vegetation and soil in early succession of a Subhumid Mediterranean reclaimed coal mine. Plant Soil 426:197–209. doi: 10.1007/s11104-018-3629-2
- Smith RL, Smith TM (2003) Elements of Ecology, 5th Ed. Benjamin Cummings, San Francisco (USA)
- Smith WG (1913) Raunkiær's "life-forms" and statistical methods. J Ecol 1:16-26
- Soil-Survey-Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12 th. USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, DC (USA)
- Sramek V, Fadrhonsova V (2018) Comparison of nutrient stock in upper organic layer of pure European Beech, Norway Spruce and mixed forest stands of these species. Reports For Res Lesn Vyzk 63:61–72
- Temperli C, Bugmann H., Elkin C (2012) Adaptive management for competing forest. Ecol Appl 2012 22:2065–2077. doi: 10.1890/12-0210.1
- Thurm EA, Pretzsch H (2016) Improved productivity and modified tree morphology of mixed versus pure stands of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) with increasing precipitation and age. Ann For Sci 73:1047–1061. doi: 10.1007/s13595-016-0588-8
- Tilman D, Tilman D, Lehman CL, et al (1997) Plant diversity and ecosystem productivity: theoretical considerations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:1857–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.5.1857
- Walkley A (1947) A critical examination of rapid method for determining organic carbon in soils. Soil Sci 63:251–254. doi: 10.1097/00010694-194704000-00001
- Wang R, Dungait JAJ, Buss HL, et al (2017) Base cations and micronutrients in soil aggregates as affected by enhanced nitrogen and water inputs in a semi-arid steppe grassland. Sci Total Environ 575:564–572. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.018
- Wang X, Zhao J, Wu J, et al (2011) Impacts of understory species removal and/or addition on soil respiration in a mixed forest plantation with native species in southern China. For Ecol Manage 261:1053–1060. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.12.027
- Yarie J (1978) The role of understory vegetation in the nutrient cycle of forested ecosystems in the mountain. University of British Columbia, Vancouver
- Zas R, Serrada R (2003) Foliar nutrient status and nutritional relationships of young *Pinus radiata* D. Don plantations in northwest Spain. For Ecol Manage 174:167–176. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00027-0

Zeller L, Ammer C, Annighöfer P, et al (2017) Forest ecology and management tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. For Ecol Manage 400:363–374. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.018

Appendix IIa

Table 12. Species classification according to the Raunkiær's life-forms (Raunkiær 1934), following Aizpiru et al. (2007), their protection status in Spain according to Anthos (2017) project [(<u>http://www.anthos.es/</u>): CR: critically endangered; EN: endangered; VU: vulnerable (UICN 2012) and SpI: speciel interest], and Raunkiær's life-forms cover (%) of each stand type.

Life		Protection status				Raunkiær's life-forms cover (%)				
forms	Species	Status	Law	Red book	Region	PS	MM (mean±SE)	PP		
ytes	Aira caryophyllea L.									
,hqo	Geranium robertianum L.					1.37±1.02	1.37±0.81	0.17±0.11		
Ther	Melampyrum pratense L.									
es	<i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (L.) Kuhn	VU	7	b	Murcia					
phyt	Asphodelus albus Mill.					5.75±2.37	2.08±1.04	0.08±0.08		
Geol	<i>Simethis mattiazzii</i> (Vand.) Sacc.	EN	14	е	Cataluña					
	<i>Viola montcaunica</i> Pau	SI	5		Castilla la Mancha					
	Polygala vulgaris L.	VU		а	Baleares					
	Potentilla montana Brot.									
phytes	<i>Agrostis castellana</i> Boiss. & Reut.					8.87±2.66 7.32±2.69 4.92±3.24				
yptc	Galium saxatile L.					8.87±2.66	7.32±2.69	4.92±3.24		
micr	Juncus conglomeratus L.									
Не	Hypochaeris radicata L.									
	Lotus corniculatus L.	Spl	6		Extremadura					
	Sanguisorba minor Scop. Deschampsia flexuosa (L.)									
	Irin.									
	Erica australis L.			Ŀ	N. de constitu					
ytes	Erica arborea L.	EIN		U	Murcia		26.08+9.21	29.00±7.3		
eph	Arenaria montana L.					21.13+8.21				
ama	Calluna vulgaris (L.) Hull							2		
చ	Spreng.	SI 7		b	Murcia					
	Vaccinium myrtillus L.									
	Quercus pyrenaica Willd.	CR	5,8,10, 11	d	Spain					
10	llex aquifolium L.	VU	1,2,3,5, 6,9,11, 13	d	Spain					
iytes	Pinus sylvestris L.									
Phaneroph	Pinus pinaster Aiton	Spl	5,10	a,b	Baleares, Castilla la Mancha, Murcia	11.53±3.10	5.83±2.5	7.50±2.22		
	Quercus faginea Lam.	EN	4,7,13	b,c,d	Spain					
	Cistus laurifolius L.									
	Juniperus oxycedrus L.	EN	7	а	Murcia					
i										

¹Orden de 5 de noviembre de 1984 sobre protección de plantas de la flora autóctona amenazada de Cataluña. D.O.G.C. núm. 493, 12 de diciembre de 1984, págs. 3505-3506

²Orden de 10 de diciembre de 1984, sobre protección del acebo (*llex aquifolium* L.) en el territorio de la Comunidad Autónoma de Galicia. D.O.G. núm. 240, 15 de diciembre de 1984, págs. 4240-4241

³Decreto 18/1992, de 26 de marzo por el que se aprueba el Catálogo Regional de Especies Amenazadas de Fauna y Flora Silvestres y se crea la categoría de árboles singulares. B.O.C.M. núm. 85, 9 de abril de 1992, págs. 5-11

⁴Decreto 65/1995, de 27 de abril por el que se crea el Catálogo Regional de Especies Amenazadas de la Flora del Principado de Asturias y se dictan normas para su protección. B.O.P.A. núm. 128, 28 de junio de 1995, págs. 6118-6120

⁵Decreto 33/1998, de 5 de mayo de 1998 por el que se crea el Catálogo Regional de Especies Amenazadas de Castilla-La Mancha. D.O.C.M. núm. 22, 15 de mayo de 1998, págs. 3391-3398

⁶Decreto 37/2001, de 6 de marzo por el que se regula el Catálogo Regional de Especies Amenazadas de Extremadura. D.O.E. núm. 30, 13 de marzo de 2001, págs. 2349-2364

- ⁷Decreto 50/2003, de 30 de mayo por el que se crea el Catálogo Regional de Flora Silvestre Protegida de la Región de Murcia y se dictan normas para el aprovechamiento de diversas especies forestales. B.O.R.M. núm. 131, 10 de junio de 2003, págs. 11615-11624
- ⁸Ley 8/2003, de 28 de octubre de la flora y la fauna silvestres. B.O.J.A. núm. 218, 12 de noviembre de 2003, págs. 23790-23810
- ⁹Decreto 181/2005, de 6 de septiembre del Gobierno de Aragón, por el que se modifica parcialmente el Decreto 49/1995, de 28 de marzo, de la Diputación General de Aragón, por el que se regula el Catálogo de Especies Amenazadas de Aragón. B.O.A. núm. 114, 23 de septiembre de 2005, págs. 11527-11532
- ¹⁰Decreto 63/2007, de 14 de junio por el que se crean el Catálogo de Flora Protegida de Castilla y León y la figura de protección denominada Microrreserva de Flora. B.O.C.yL. núm. 119, 20 de junio de 2007, págs. 13197-13204
- ¹¹Decreto 70/2009, de 22 de mayo del Consell, por el que se crea y regula el Catálogo Valenciano de Especies de Flora Amenazadas y se regulan medidas adicionales de conservación. D.O.C.V. núm. 6021, 26 de mayo de 2009, págs. 20143-20162
- ¹¹Decreto 70/2009, de 22 de mayo del Consell, por el que se crea y regula el Catálogo Valenciano de Especies de Flora Amenazadas y se regulan medidas adicionales de conservación. D.O.C.V. núm. 6021, 26 de mayo de 2009, págs. 20143-20162
- ¹²Orden de 10 de enero de 2011, de la Consejera de Medio Ambiente, Planificación Territorial, Agricultura y Pesca, por la que se modifica el Catálogo Vasco de Especies Amenazadas de la Fauna y Flora Silvestre y Marina, y se aprueba el texto único. B.O.P.V. núm. 37, 23 de febrero de 2011, págs. 1-12
- ¹³Decreto 23/2012, de 14 de febrero por el que se regula la conservación y el uso sostenible de la flora y la fauna silvestres y sus hábitats. B.O.J.A. núm. 60, 27 de marzo de 2012, págs. 114-163
- ¹⁴Resolución AAM/732/2015, de 9 de abril, por la que se aprueba la catalogación, descatalogación y cambio de categoría de especies y subespecies del Catálogo de flora amenazada de Cataluña. D.O.G.C. núm. 6854, 20 de abril de 2015, págs. 1-21
- ^aSáez, Ll. & Rosselló, J.A. 2001. Llibre vermell de la flora vascular de les Isles Balears. Consejería de Medio Ambiente, Gobierno de las Islas Baleares, Palma de Mallorca, 232 p
- ^bSánchez Gómez, P., Carrión Vilches, M.A., Hernández González, A. & Guerra Montes, J. 2002. Libro rojo de la flora silvestre protegida de la Región de Murcia. Consejería de Agricultura, Agua y Medio Ambiente, D.G. del Medio Natural, Murcia, 685 p.
- ^cCabezudo, B., Talavera, S., Blanca, G., Salazar, C. Cueto, M.J., Valdés, B., Hernández Bermejo, J.E., Herrera, C., Rodríguez Hiraldo, C. & Navas, D. 2005. Lista roja de la flora vascular de Andalucía. Consejería de Medio Ambiente, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla, 126 p
- ^dBañares, A., Blanca, G., Güemes, J., Moreno, J.C. & Ortiz, S., eds. 2008. Lista roja 2008 de la flora vascular española. Dir. Gen. de Medio Natural y Política Forestal (Min. de Medio Ambiente, y Medio Rural y Marino) - SEBICOP, Madrid
- •Sáez, Ll., Aymerich, P. & Blanché, C. 2010. Llibre vermell de les plantes vasculars endèmiques i amenaçades de Catalunya. Argania Ed., Barcelona, 811 p.

Appendix IIb

Table 13. Data analyses of soil properties: Water holding capacity.

Water holding capacity of each horizon (WHC_{Hi})

WHC_{Hi} = UW_{Hi} · bD_{Hi} · %EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}

 $\begin{array}{ll} UW_{Hi}\colon & Useful \mbox{ water of each horizon} \\ bD_{Hi}\colon & bulk \mbox{ density of each horizon} \\ \% EF_{Hi}\colon \% \mbox{ of earth fraction of each horizon} \\ T_{Hi}\colon thickness \mbox{ of each horizon} \end{array}$

Water holding capacity in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; WHC):

<u> </u>	
$WHC = \sum WHC_{Hi}$	

 Table 14. Data analyses of soil properties: Easily oxidizable carbon stock.

Easily oxidizable carbon stock of each horizon (oxCstock_{Hi})

oxCstockні = oxCні · bDні · %EFні Tні

 oxC_{Hi} : Easily oxidizable carbon of each horizon bD_{Hi}: bulk density of each horizon %EF_{Hi}: % of earth fraction of each horizon T_{Hi}: thickness of each horizon

Easily oxidizable carbon stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; oxCstock)

oxCstock = ∑ oxCstock _{Hi}

 Table 15. Data analyses of soil properties: Total organic carbon stock.

Total organic carbon stock of each horizon (Cstock_{Hi})

Cstockні = TOCні · bDні · %EFні Tні

 TOC_{Hi} : Total organic carbon of each horizon bD_{Hi}: bulk density of each horizon %EF_{Hi}: % of earth fraction of each horizon T_Hi: thickness of each horizon

Total organic carbon stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Cstock)

Cstock = ∑ Cstock_{Hi}

 Table 16. Data analyses of soil properties: Total nitrogen stock.

Total nitrogen stock of each horizon (Nstock_{Hi})

Nstock_{Hi} = TN_{Hi} · bD_{Hi} · %EF_{Hi} T_H

 $\begin{array}{l} TN_{Hi}\colon \mbox{ total nitrogen of each horizon} \\ bD_{Hi}\colon \mbox{ bulk density of each horizon} \\ \% EF_{Hi}\colon \% \mbox{ of earth fraction of each horizon} \\ T_{Hi}\colon \mbox{ thickness of each horizon} \end{array}$

Total nitrogen stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Nstock)

 $Nstock = \sum Nstock_{Hi}$

Fable 17. Data analyses of soi	l properties: Available	phosphorus stock.
--------------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------

Available phosphorus stock of each horizon (Pavstock_{Hi})

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mathsf{Pav}_{\mathsf{Hi}}\colon \text{ total nitrogen of each horizon} \\ \mathsf{bD}_{\mathsf{Hi}}\colon \text{ bulk density of each horizon} \\ \%\mathsf{EF}_{\mathsf{Hi}}\colon\% \text{ of earth fraction of each horizon} \\ \mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{Hi}}\colon \text{thickness of each horizon} \end{array}$

Available phosphorus stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Pavstock)

 $Pavstock = \sum Pavstock_{Hi}$

 Table 18. Data analyses of soil properties: Exchangeable sodium stock.

Exchangeable sodium stock of each horizon (Na⁺stock_{Hi})

 $Na^{+}stock_{Hi} = TN_{Hi} \cdot bD_{Hi} \cdot \% EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}$

Na⁺HI: Exchangeable sodium of each horizon bDHI: bulk density of each horizon %EFHI: % of earth fraction of each horizon THI: thickness of each horizon

Exchangeable sodium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Na⁺stock)

 $Na^{+}stock = \sum Na^{+}stock_{Hi}$

 Table 19. Data analyses of soil properties: Exchangeable potassium stock.

Exchangeable potassium stock of each horizon (K⁺stock_{Hi})

	K ⁺ _{Hi} : Exchangeable potassium of each horizon
K ⁺ stockні = TNні · bDні · %EFні Tні	bD _{Hi} : bulk density of each horizon
	%EF _{HI} : % of earth fraction of each horizon
	T _{Hi} : thickness of each horizon

Exchangeable potassium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; K⁺stock)

 $K^{+}stock = \sum K^{+}stock_{Hi}$

Table 20. Data analyses of soil properties: Exchangeable calcium stock.

Exchangeable calcium stock of each horizon (Ca⁺²stock_{Hi})

 $Ca^{+2}stock_{Hi} = TN_{Hi} \cdot bD_{Hi} \cdot \%EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}$ $Ca^{+2}stock_{Hi} = TN_{Hi} \cdot bD_{Hi} \cdot \%EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}$ $\%EF_{Hi}: \% of earth fraction of each hor$

 $\begin{array}{ll} Ca^{+2}{}_{Hi}\colon & \text{Exchangeable calcium of each horizon} \\ bD_{Hi}\colon & \text{bulk density of each horizon} \\ & \& F_{Hi}\colon & \& \text{ of earth fraction of each horizon} \\ & T_{Hi}\colon & \text{thickness of each horizon} \end{array}$

Exchangeable calcium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Ca⁺²stock)

$Ca^{+2}stock = \sum Ca^{+2}stock_{Hi}$

 Table 21. Data analyses of soil properties: Exchangeable magnesium stock.

Exchangeable magnesium stock of each horizon (Mg⁺²stock_{Hi})

		Mg ⁺² Hi: Exchangeable magnesium of each horizon
	Mg ⁺² stockні = TNні · bDні · %EFні Tн	bD _{Hi} : bulk density of each horizon
i		%EF _{Hi} : % of earth fraction of each horizon
		T _{Hi} : thickness of each horizon

Exchangeable magnesium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; Mg⁺²stock)

 $Mg^{+2}stock = \sum Mg^{+2}stock_{Hi}$

Appendix IIc

Table 22. Soil properties (mean±SE), in each stand type, fitted as vectors onto the RDA ordination (Figure 28). PS: *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific plots; PP: *Pinus pinaster* nmonospecific plots; MM: Mixed plots of both *Pinus* species.

		PS			ΜN	1	PP				D2		_
	me	ean±	:SE	me	mean±SE		mean±SE				K-	p-value	r
WHC (g water cm ⁻²)	8.65	±	0.93	6.61	±	1.54	5.36	±	1.57		0.39	0.03	0.62
oxCstock (Mg ha-1)	85.42	±	12.48	94.40	±	21.18	71.83	±	13.40		0.08	0.53	0.29
Cstock (Mg ha-1)	88.07	±	11.42	97.84	±	13.53	75.35	±	10.33		0.32	0.07	0.56
Nstock (Mg ha-1)	3.83	±	0.56	3.59	±	0.48	3.97	±	1.60		0.03	0.81	0.18
Pavstock (Mg ha-1)	18.98	±	1.66	17.07	±	2.52	15.03	±	2.14		0.24	0.14	0.49
Na ⁺ stock (Mg ha ⁻¹)	0.91	±	0.07	0.93	±	0.08	0.82	±	0.11		0.16	0.29	0.40
K+stock (Mg ha-1)	0.33	±	0.08	0.28	±	0.05	0.21	±	0.03		0.30	0.10	0.55
Ca+2stock (Mg ha-1)	1.98	±	0.13	2.00	±	0.38	1.67	±	0.33		0.27	0.12	0.52
Mg+²stock (Mg ha-1)	0.33	±	0.04	0.35	±	0.08	0.30	±	0.06		0.31	0.08	0.55
Chapter III

¿Pueden los pinares mixtos conservar la riqueza del sotobosque al mejorar el establecimiento de especies de sotobosque típicas de los robledales nativos?



Figure 30. Graphical abstract of the article that gives rise to chapter III of the thesis (López-Marcos et al. 2020a).

This chapter has been published as:

López-Marcos D^{1,2*}, Turrión MB^{1,2}, Bravo F^{1,3}, Martínez-Ruiz C^{1,2} (2020a). Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests? Annals of Forest Science doi: 10.1007/s13595-020-0919-7

¹ Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

² Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³ Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the

establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests?

Daphne López-Marcos^{1,2*}, María-Belén Turrión^{1,2}, Felipe Bravo^{1,3}, Carolina Martínez-Ruiz^{1,2}

¹Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Key message: A positive effect of mixed pine forests (*Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait.) on the understory richness and tree regeneration was observed with respect to monospecific stands. Understory species typical of the native Pyrenean oak forests in the Iberian Peninsula contribute to maintaining high understory richness in such mixed pine forests.

Abstract

Context: The influence of stand characteristics on the understory in mixtures that combine coniferous tree species of the same genus deserves more study since they are frequent in Spain. Aims: To assess the effect of mixed versus monospecific stands of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. on the main tree species regeneration and understory species composition.

Methods: Tree regeneration and understory species composition were inventoried in eighteen forest plots (6 triplets) in North-Central Spain. Each triplet consisted of two plots dominated either by Scots pine or Maritime pine and one mixed plot that contained both species.

Results: The basal area (%) of both *Pinus* species was the only characteristic of the stand that significantly influenced the understory composition and tree regeneration. Characteristic species of humid and temperate zones, including *P. sylvestris* regeneration, dominated in Scots pine stands, and typical species of well-drained Mediterranean areas, including *P. pinaster* regeneration, dominated in Maritime pine stands. In mixed stands, the highest regeneration of the native Pyrenean oak with respect to monospecific stands was accompanied by understory species typical of native oak forests that share the same regeneration niche.

Conclusion: Mixed pine forests allow the development of understory species better than monospecific forests.

Keywords: Mixed pine forests, *Pinus sylvestris, Pinus pinaster*, Pyrenean oak regeneration, Niche amplitude, Understory richness

²Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Introduction

The management of mixed forests is becoming a new paradigm (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014) in order to improve natural tree regeneration (Carnevale and Montagnini 2002; Löf et al. 2018), soil conditions (Brandtberg et al. 2000), and the provision of many high-value ecosystem services, including carbon sequestration (Gamfeldt et al. 2013; López-Marcos et al. 2018) or biodiversity conservation (Barbier et al. 2008; Gomez-Aparicio et al. 2009; Felton et al. 2010; Cavard et al. 2011; Korboulewsky et al. 2016); additionally, under certain conditions mixed forests can produce higher yields than monocultures (Saetre et al. 1997; Pretzsch et al. 2010; Gamfeldt et al. 2013; Toïgo et al. 2015; Jactel et al. 2018).

Since the overstory tree species differ in their effects on microclimatic and edaphic conditions, it has been suggested that the environment in mixed stands is more heterogeneous compared with monocultures (Barkman 1992; Saetre et al. 1997). Thus, mixed stands have the potential to host a more heterogeneous and species-rich flora (Hill 1992; Saetre et al. 1997). Additionally, the greater variability of habitat conditions in mixed stands than in monospecific stands may be a favorable condition for seed dispersers, and germination and growth of native tree species (Carnevale and Montagnini 2002). The structure of the stands can also influence the establishment of native species through biotic interactions such as competition (Grace and Tilman 2003) and facilitation (Bruno et al. 2003; Callaway 2007; Brooker et al. 2008). Therefore, regeneration of mixed forests has become an important topic of practical concern throughout the world (Löf et al. 2018).

The mass ratio hypothesis predicts that the ecosystem function is driven by the (traits of the) most abundant species in plant communities (Grime 1998; Ali and Yan 2017), such as specific leaf area or leaf nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations (Ali and Yan 2017). This hypothesis uses the relative abundance of each plant species to predict the effect of the most abundant species of plant communities on the ecosystem functions and services, like biodiversity (Grime 1998; Ali and Yan 2017). The application of this hypothesis is restricted to the role of autotrophs in ecosystem processes, and it postulates that the relationships between plant diversity and ecosystem properties can be explored by classifying species into categories, as dominants and subordinates (Grime 1998). Dominants are relatively large and make a substantial contribution to the plant community biomass, whereas subordinates show high fidelity of association with particular vegetation types but they are smaller and tend to occupy microhabitats delimited by the architecture and phenology of their associated dominants (Grime 1998).

Most reports of the overstory-understory relationship in mixed forests focus on mixtures that combine deciduous-coniferous tree species (Saetre et al. 1997, 1999; Barbier et al. 2008; Cavard

et al. 2011; Inoue et al. 2017). They test the overstory effect on the understory biomass, songbirds, soil fauna, and ectomycorrhizae (Cavard et al. 2011), cover and structural heterogeneity (Saetre et al. 1997), plant biodiversity and the associated mechanisms (Barbier et al. 2008; Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2011), the spatial relationship between the overstory and understory species distribution and soil nitrogen availability (Inoue et al. 2017), soil fauna diversity (Korboulewsky et al. 2016), or soil microbial biomass and activity (Saetre et al. 1999). However, the effect of the stand characteristics on the understory in mixtures that combine coniferous tree species or even tree species of the same genus remains virtually unknown (but see Mestre et al. 2017; López-Marcos et al. 2019). This is so despite these mixtures being frequent in many environments, such as the admixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) in Spain. Both *Pinus* species show similar crown architecture and slight differences in shade tolerance (Riofrío et al. 2017a), but differ in water-stress tolerance (López-Marcos et al. 2017a). They are two of the main forest species in Spain and grow in pure and mixed stands either naturally or as a result of species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al. 2008).

On the other hand, the facilitating effect of *Pinus* species in succession processes has already been well explored among restoration strategies such as the reintroduction of endangered tree species through the use of assisted regeneration; thus, the ecological and functional role of certain pioneer species may be of vital importance for the reestablishment of native ecosystems (Aguirre et al. 2006; Arrieta and Suárez 2006; Avendaño-Yáñez et al. 2016). Nevertheless, the use of evergreen conifers as nurse plants to establish *Quercus* spp. could reduced the cover of the understory and its species content (Pigott 1990). Additionally, the identification of realized niches of understory plant species and knowledge of their composition and dynamics can be important information to consider in the prediction models of potential responses to climate change (Olthoff et al. 2016).

Based on the same experiment, we found that the composition of the overstory (i.e., the proportion of *Pinus* species) influenced the Raunkiær's life-forms composition of the understory, with the abundance of hemicryptophytes being greater in mixed stands (López-Marcos et al. 2019). The effects of mixed versus monospecific stands on the understory were also related to soil water and fertility status (see also López-Marcos et al. 2019). In particular, mixed stands occupied areas with intermediate soil moisture whereas *P. pinaster* tolerated lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris*. The organic carbon and exchangeable magnesium stocks were also higher in mixed stands (see also López-Marcos et al. 2018). In the present paper, we addressed the influence of a mixture of these two widely distributed pine species (*P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*) on the understory plant community composition (at the species level) and the regeneration of main tree species, including native *Quercus* species, compared with monospecific

stands. For that, we used the same sampling design in triplets (monospecific *P. sylvestris*, monospecific *P. pinaster* and mixed *P. sylvestris-P. pinaster* plots), well balanced for stand composition but not necessarily for other stand characteristics. The aims of this study were: (i) to test the effect of stand characteristics on species composition in the understory and tree regeneration; (ii) to model the response of distinct understory species and tree species regeneration to stand characteristics; and (iii) to estimate the niche amplitude of the main understory species, including tree regeneration, with respect to the stand characteristics. We hypothesized that (1) the proportion of Pinus species in the overstory is the most influential stand characteristic on the understory composition and tree regeneration according to previous studies; (2) the mixture of pine species favors the regeneration of native tree species like Pyrenean oak; and (3) the regeneration of native Pyrenean oak is accompanied by a group of associated understory species that contribute to maintain a high understory species richness in mixed stands as in monospecific *P. sylvestris* stands.

Material and methods

Study sites

The research was carried out in eighteen forest plots (6 triplets) located in the Northern Iberian Range, in North-Central Spain (41º47'35"N and 41º53'41"N latitude, and 2º56'12"W and 3º20'46"W longitude; Figure 31). The climate is temperate with dry or temperate summer (Cfb, Csb) according to the Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula. The mean annual temperature is 9.0°C and the annual precipitation around 800mm. Plots are located at an elevation ranging from 1093m to 1277m a.s.l. Soils are acidic with mostly sandy texture and medium to low water-retention capacity (see López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019). Nearby climax vegetation (Rivas-Martínez 1987), highly degraded by anthropogenic action, is characterized by Pyrenean oak forests (*Luzulo forsteri-Quercetum pyrenaicae* S. and *Festuco heterophyllae-Quercetum pyrenaicae* S.) or juniper forests (*Juniperetum hemisphaerico-thuriferae* S.).

Each triplet consisted of three circular plots of 15m radius, including two plots dominated either by Scots pine or Maritime pine and one mixed plot that contained both species, located less than 1km from each other so that the environmental conditions were homogeneous within triplets although they could differ among distinct triplets (see López-Marcos et al. 2018 for differences in soil properties). The sampling design in triplets was well balanced for stand composition (six repetitions per stand type) but not necessarily balanced for other stand characteristics (i.e., density, total basal area, dominant height, mean quadratic diameter, age) that were intended to be similar within the triplet (avoiding biases in the sampling design) but differed between triplets to be able to be contrasted (see Table 25 in Appendix IIIb). The percentage of the basal area (%G) of the dominant species in the monospecific plots was greater than 83% or 95% for *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster* respectively, whereas the basal area percentage of both species in the mixed plots ranged from 33 to 67%. The age of the selected plots ranged between 44 and 151years, the stand density between 509 and 1429 trees ha⁻¹, the basal area between 33.3 and 70.30m²ha⁻¹, and the dominant height between 15.60 and 25.04m. Traditionally, forest management consists of strip clear-cutting with soil movement and planting or sowing when necessary, and moderate thinning from below (Riofrío et al. 2019). The stands have had no silvicultural intervention or damage in the last 10 years (López-Marcos et al. 2018). There were no statistical differences in the distance between the plots of the three stand types and forests of other tree species (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd., *Q. faginea* Lam., or *Juniperus* spp.; see Figure 36 in Appendix IIIa). Triplets belong to the network of permanent plots of the Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute UVa-INIA (iuFOR) and they have been previously used in a series of recent studies (Riofrío et al. 2017a, b, 2019; Cattaneo 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2019).



Figure 31. Location of the triplets in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' in North-Central Spain, the plots within each triplet, and the native forests (Pyrenean oak forest, Gall oak forest and Juniper forest). *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific plots (PS): red circles; *Pinus pinaster* monospecific plots (PP): yellow circles; Mixed plots of both Pinus species (MM): blue circles. Location of understory inventories: black squares.

Sampling of understory vegetation and tree regeneration

Within each plot, 10 quadrats (1m×1m) were randomly selected and the vertical projection cover (%) of every understory vascular plant species, including tree regeneration, and bryophytes was estimated visually by the same observer in June 2016 (López-Marcos et al. 2019) to encompass and identify the maximum number of vascular plant species (Alday et al. 2010). Vascular plant species nomenclature follows Tutin et al. (1964-1980) and bryophytes nomenclature follows Crosby et al. (1992-1989). The number of individuals (stems) of the tree regeneration was also counted within each quadrat. Tree regeneration included the main tree species found at seedlings/saplings stages (i.e., *P. sylvestris, P. pinaster, Q. pyrenaica* and *Q. faginea*) because no old regeneration was found (it had probably been cleared by management for fire prevention); only seven old individuals of Juniperus oxycedrus L. were found that were considered to be part of the understory (height <1m) but not as regeneration, thus, estimating their cover but not counting them as individuals. In these stands, there were no subordinate tree species. Only two layers of vegetation could be distinguished (overstory and understory): the overstory measuring c.a. 20 m, and the understory never higher than 1 m.

Data analyses

The cover (%) of each species and density of main tree species regeneration (i.e. *P. sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, *Q. pyrenaica*, and *Q. faginea*) in each plot were calculated as the average of the 10 quadrats. Richness was calculated as the total cumulative number of plant species in the 10 quadrats per plot (Colwell 2009), including understory vegetation and tree regeneration. Although several indices of diversity were tested, only the number of species showed any difference among stand types and thus is shown in results.

To identify the characteristics of the stands that determine the understory plant species composition, a Detrended Correspondence Analysis (DCA) was applied on the matrix of cover of the understory plant species (30 species x 17 plots). To assist in the interpretation of the ordination axes, the stand characteristics and tree regeneration were fitted as vectors onto the DCA ordination plot using the vegan 'envfit' function (Oksanen 2016). The advantage of this method is that it allows for testing the significance of each vector adjusted by 9999 permutations, with the R² of each variable able to be calculated. The explanatory variables considered in the analysis were (1) the stand characteristics: normal age (Age: years), density (N: trees ha⁻¹), total basal area (G: m²ha⁻¹), dominant height (Ho: m), quadratic mean diameter (dq: cm), and the percentage of basal area (%G) of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*; and (2) the tree regeneration

(individuals m⁻²) of *P. sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, *Q. pyrenaica* and *Q. faginea*. Additionally, in order to relate overstory composition to tree regeneration, and tree regeneration to main understory species, Pearson's correlation coefficients (p<0.05) between the regeneration density of the main tree species (*P. sylvestris*, *P. pinaster* and *Q. pyrenaica*) and the percentages of basal area of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*, as well as between the regeneration cover (%) of main tree species and the cover (%) of main species of the understory, were calculated.

The response of understory plant species (total species richness and individual species cover) and tree regeneration (density: individuals m⁻²) with respect to the significant stand characteristics (i.e., the overstory composition by means of the percentage of basal area of P. pinaster) were modeled by Huisman-Olff-Fresco (HOF) models (Huisman et al. 1993). These are a hierarchical set of five response models, ranked by their increasing complexity (Model I, monotone trend, i.e. with constant abundance; Model II, increasing or decreasing trend where the maximum is equal to the upper bound; Model III, increasing or decreasing trend where the maximum is below the upper bound; Model IV, symmetrical response curve; Model V, skewed response curve). The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; Akaike 1973) was used to select the most appropriate response model (Johnson and Omland 2004); smaller values of AIC indicate better models. HOF models were validated using "bootstrapping" because the frequency of appearance of 33% of species in the plots was low (< 10%; mostly for species following HOF model I). Finally, the location of species optima (μ) and niche widths (2t) for those species with unimodal responses were derived from the HOF models (Lawesson and Oksanen 2002). The 2t values were found by solving for the gradient points of the fitted HOF model relative to a strict Gaussian model at 2t (Lawesson and Oksanen 2002). In the case of a symmetric unimodal response, the lower and upper t values are identical, while with a skewed model, the 2t intervals are not necessarily equal.

All statistical analyses were implemented in the R software environment (version 3.3.3; R Development Core Team 2016) using the vegan package for multivariate analyses (version 2.3-5; Oksanen 2016), and the eHOF package for HOF models (version 3.2.2; Jansen and Oksanen 2013). One monospecific plot of *P. sylvestris* was considered an outlier and excluded from all analyses because it was the only one that presented aquic conditions (see López-Marcos et al. 2019). Soils that have an aquic moisture regime are saturated long enough to cause anaerobic conditions (Soil-Survey-Staff 2014).

Results

Effects of stand characteristics on the understory vegetation

The DCA ordination produced eigenvalues (λ) of 0.50 and 0.35 for the first two axes, with gradient lengths of 2.62 and 2.52 SD units, respectively (Figure 32). The adjustment of explanatory variables on the biplot ordination showed how the percentages of the basal area (%G) of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* were the stand characteristics that explained most variability (0.7 in both cases), with both showing an opposite tendency (Figure 32). This suggests a gradual change in the composition of the understory related to the overstory composition. The other characteristics of the stands were not significantly correlated with the DCA ordination, and thus they are not displayed in results (but see Table 23).



Figure 32. DCA biplot of plots and species and projection of the significant two significant explanatory variables (p<0.05 and explained variation >50%). Stand characteristics other than %G of *Pinus sylvestris* and % G of *Pinus pinaster* were not significantly correlated with the DCA axes. PS *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific plots, PP *Pinus pinaster* mpnospecific plots, and MM mixed plots pf two *Pinus species*. Species codes: Agca (Agrostis castellana Boiss. & Reut), Aica (*Aira caryophyllea* L.), Armo (*Arenaria montana* L.;; Aruv (*Arctostaphylos uva-ursi* (L.) Spreng), Asal (*Asphodelus albus* Mill.), Cavu (*Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull), Cila (*Cistus laurifolius* L.), Defl (*Deschampsia flexuosa* (L.) Trin.), Erar (*Erica arborea* L.), Erau (*Erica australis* L.), Gasa (*Galium saxatile* L.), Gero (*Geranium robertianum* L.), Hysp (*Hypnum* spp.), Hyra (*Hypochaeris radicata* L.), Ilaq (*Ilex aquifolium* L.), Juco (*Juncus conglomeratus* L.), Juox (*Juniperus oxycedrus* L.), Loco (*Lotus corniculatus* L.), Mepa (*Melampyrum pratense* L.), Pipi (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton), Pisy (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), Povu (*Polygala vulgaris* L.), Pomo (*Potentilla montana* Brot.), Ptaq (*Pteridium aquilinum* (L.) Kuhn), Qufa (*Quercus faginea* Lam.), Qupy (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.), Sami (*Sanguisorba minor* Scop.), Sima (*Simethis mattiazzii* (Vand.) Sacc.) and Vimo (*Viola montcaunica* Pau).

Thirty understory species from twenty-one families were recorded, with *Ericaceae* being the most frequent (88%) and abundant (24%) taxonomical group, with greater cover in monospecific stands of *P. pinaster* (29%) and mixed stands (26%), followed by bryophytes (*Hypnaceae*; 94% frequency and 5% cover), most abundant in monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* (15%). *Rosaceae* was more abundant in monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* (2.4%) and mixed stands (1.8%), and *Poaceae* in mixed stands (6.3%). A wide group of families displayed residual cover (<1%; *Aquifoliaceae*, *Asteraceae*, *Caryophyllaceae*, *Fabaceae*, *Geraniaceae*, *Juncaceae*, *Liliaceae*, *Poligalaceae*, *Rubiaceae*, *Scrophulariaceae*, *Violaceae*, and *Xanthorrhoeaceae*).

Table 23. Explanatory variables fitted as vectors onto the DCA ordination plot using the vegan 'envfit' function. Significance of each vector adjusted by 9999 permutations, and R² of each variable. N: density (trees ha⁻¹), G: total basal area (m² ha⁻¹), Ho: dominant height (m), dq: quadratic mean diameter (cm), Age: normal age (years); % G PS: the percentage of basal area of *Pinus sylvestris*, % G PP: the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster*; and the tree regeneration density (individuals m⁻²) of *P. sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, *Q. pyrenaica* and *Q. faginea*.

	DCA1	DCA2	R ²	p					
Stand characteristics									
% G PS	-0.544	0.839	0.484	0.019	*				
% G PP	0.544 -0.839 0.484 0.019								
N (trees ha ⁻¹)	-0.114	-0.993	0.309	0.087					
G (m² ha-1)	-0.751	-0.665	0.237	0.160					
Ho (m)	-0.829	0.559	0.305	0.081					
dq (cm)	-0.524	0.851	0.162	0.298					
Age (years)	-0.744	0.668	0.360	0.090					
Tree regeneration density (ind/m ²)									
P. sylvestris	0.284	0.959	0.365	0.015	*				
P ninaster 0.977 -0.212 0.583 0.001 **									

P. sylvestris	0.284	0.959	0.365	0.015	*
P. pinaster	0.977	-0.212	0.583	0.001	***
Q. pyrenaica	-0.556	-0.831	0.413	0.011	*
Q. faginea	0.985	0.171	0.602	0.004	**

Tree regeneration patterns along the overstory composition gradient

The adjustment of tree regeneration, i.e. density (individuals m⁻²) of *P. sylvestris*, *P. pinaster*, *Q. pyrenaica*, and *Q. faginea* on the DCA ordination (Figure 33a) showed how tree regeneration was significantly correlated with the understory composition (r = 0.61, p = 0.015; r = 0.76, p = 0.001; r = 0.64, p = 0.011; and r = 0.78, p = 0.004, respectively), and is also related to the tree overstory composition. Indeed, *P. sylvestris* regeneration was positively correlated with the percentage of basal area of *P. sylvestris* (r = 0.48, p < 0.05) and negatively correlated with the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.48, p = 0.03). The *P. pinaster* regeneration was positively correlated with the percentage of the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.48, p < 0.03). The *P. pinaster* regeneration was positively correlated with the percentage of the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.48, p < 0.03). The *P. pinaster* regeneration was positively correlated with the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.48, p < 0.03). The *P. pinaster* regeneration was positively correlated with the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* (r = -0.46, p < 0.05) and negatively correlated with the percentage of basal area of *P. sylvestris* (r = -0.46, p < 0.05).

On the other hand, the regeneration of distinct tree species with respect to overstory composition (Figure 33b) showed four different types of responses. *Q. faginea* (HOF model I)

showed monotone response and is not shown in Figure 33b; its presence was sporadic; only 12 individuals were found covering less than 1%. *P. sylvestris* showed a decreasing trend (HOF model II) as the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* increased. *P. pinaster* showed an increasing trend (HOF model II) as the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* increased. Lastly, the regeneration of *Q. pyrenaica* exhibited a symmetrical unimodal response curve (HOF Model IV), with higher density for intermediate percentages of *P. pinaster* basal area, i.e., in mixed stands. As a whole, 291 individuals of *P. sylvestris*, 215 individuals of *P. pinaster* and 129 individuals of *Q. pyrenaica* were recorded.



Figure 33. (a) DCA of plots and projection of the significant explanatory variables (p<0.05 and explained variation >50%),. i.e. % G of *Pinus sylvestris* and % G of *Pinus pinaster* in brow, and the tree regeneration i.e. individuals m⁻² of *Pinus sylvestris*, *Pinus pinaster*, *Quercus pyrenaica* and *Quercus faginea* in green. (b) HOF-derived response curves of the regeneration of tree species relative to the main gradient (% of G of *Pinus pinaster*). Abreviations as in figure 31.

Relating the regeneration of main tree species to the species of the understory

The regeneration cover of *P. sylvestris* was positively correlated with the cover of some hemicryptophytes (*Hypochaeris radicata, Sanguisorba minor*) and some therophytes (*Geranium robertianum, Melampyrum pratense*), and negatively correlated with the cover of the chamaephyte *Erica australis* (see Table 24). The regeneration cover of *P. pinaster* was positively correlated with the cover of *Calluna vulgaris* (chamaephyte) and negatively correlated with the cover of *Some vulgaris* (chamaephyte) and negatively correlated with the cover of *Some vulgaris* (chamaephyte) and negatively correlated with the cover of *Some vulgaris* (chamaephyte) and negatively correlated with the cover of some hemicryptophytes (*Viola montcaunica, Polygala vulgaris, Agrostis castellana*), and some shrub species: *Erica arborea* (chamaephyte) and *Ilex aquifolium* (phanerophyte).

	Pisy	Qupy	Pipi
Agca		+0.54	
Cavu			+0.80
Erar		+0.84	
Erau	-0.46		
Gero	+0.69		
Hyra	+0.46		
Hysp			-0.48
llaq		+0.57	
Мера	+0.68		
Povu		+0.55	
Sami	+0.69		
Vimo		+0.42	

Table 24. Pearson's correlation coefficients between the regeneration cover (%) of main tree species, i.e. *Pinus sylvestris* (Pisy), *Pinus pinaster* (Pipi) and *Quercus pyrenaica* (Qupy), and the cover (%) of main understory species. Only significant correlations are shown (p<0.05). Species codes in Figure 32.

Understory species patterns along the overstory composition gradient

The understory richness showed a decreasing trend bounded below the maximum attainable response where the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* was lower (HOF model III; Figure 34a). Responses of individual species with respect to the overstory composition separated the understory species into four groups. Group 1 (HOF model I) included 14 species that showed a monotone response and which are not shown in Figure 34; they mostly had cover $\leq 1\%$: Arenaria montana (0.09%), Asphodelus albus (0.24%), Galium saxatile (0.32%), Geranium robertianum (0.01%), Hypochaeris radicata (0.10%), Ilex aquifolium (0.06), Juncus conglomeratus (0.09%), Lotus corniculatus (0.03%), Melampyrum pratense (0.28%), Polygala vulgaris (0.18%), Quercus faginea (0.16%), Sanguisorba minor (0.01%), Simethis mattiazzii (0.12%) and Viola montcaunica (0.28%). Group 2 (Figure 34a) contained two species, P. sylvestris (Pisy; HOF model II) with a decreasing trend as the *P. pinaster* basal area increased and *Hypnum* spp. (Hysp; HOF model V) with asymmetrical response curve and with the maximum skewed at the minimum P. pinaster basal area. Group 3 (Figure 34b) included four woody species showing HOF model II with an increasing trend as the Pinus pinaster basal area increased, which were Arctostaphylos uva-ursi (Aruv), Pinus pinaster (Pipi), Calluna vulgaris (Cavu), and Cistus laurifolius (Cila), and two species with skewed response curve (HOF model V) with the maximum at the maximum values of Pinus pinaster basal area, which were Erica australis (Erau) and Deschampsia flexuosa (Defl). Lastly, seven species in Group 4 (Figure 34c) exhibited symmetrical unimodal response curves (HOF Model IV): Pteridium aquilinum (Ptaq), Erica arborea (Erar), Q. pyrenaica (Qupy), Juniperus oxycedrus (Juox), Aira caryophyllea (Aica), Agrostis castellana (Agca) and Potentilla montana

(Pomo), with optima at different values of *P. pinaster* basal area, suggesting a gradual turnover of these species in response to the overstory composition.



Figure 34. HOF-derived response curves of understory species (including tree regeneration) and understory richness relative to the main gradient (% of G of Pinus pinaster); the best HOF model according to the AIC criterion is showed. Graphs separated for clarity accordingly to different species-response groups. Pinus sylvestris monospecific plots (PS); Pinus pinaster monospecific plots (PP); Mixed plots of both Pinus species (MM), and species codes: Agca (Agrostis castellana Boiss. & Reut), Aica (Aira caryophyllea L.), Aruv (Arctostaphylos uva-ursi (L.) Spreng), Cavu (Calluna vulgaris (L.) Hull), Cila (Cistus laurifolius L.), Defl (Deschampsia flexuosa (L.) Trin.), Erar (Erica arborea L.), Erau (Erica australis L.), Hysp (Hypnum spp.), Juox (Juniperus oxycedrus L.), Pipi (Pinus pinaster Aiton), Pisy (Pinus sylvestris L.), Pomo (Potentilla montana Brot.), Ptaq (Pteridium aquilinum (L.) Kuhn), Qupy (Quercus pyrenaica Willd.)

Species optima and niche widths along the overstory composition gradient

The location of the optimum of the understory species with unimodal response with respect to the overstory composition (percentage of *P. pinaster* basal area; Figure 35, and Table 26 in Appendix IIIc) showed how the two species with the greatest probability of occurrence (h>15)

had their optima in monospecific stands: the bryophyte *Hypnum* spp. with optimum in monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris* ($\mu < 33\%$ of *P. pinaster* basal area), and the chamaephyte *Erica australis* with optimum in monospecific stands of *P. pinaster* ($\mu > 67\%$ of *P. pinaster* basal area). Both species had large niche widths (2t of 42.55 and 43.50, respectively) and also appear in mixed stands. *Juniperus oxycedrus* and *Pteridium aquilinum* with intermediate probability of occurrence (7<h<15) had narrow niche widths (2t of 3.21 and 13.95, respectively) and optima ($\mu < 33\%$ of *P. pinaster* basal area) in monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris*. Lastly, six species (*Erica arborea, Quercus pyrenaica, Aira caryophyllea, Agrostis castellana, Potentilla montana* and *Deschampsia flexuosa*) with low probability of occurrence (h<7) have their optimum mostly in mixed stands (μ = 30-70% of *P. pinaster* basal area) and showed, in general, large niche widths and appear in two or three types of stands.



Figure 35. Location of species optima and 2t (tolerance) intervals relative to the percentage of basal area of *Pinus pinaster*, according to fitting of HOF models. Abreviations as in figure 31. Species codes: as in figure 32.

Discussion

Stand characteristics that influence the understory

Our results showed how the percentage of basal area (%G) of the two *Pinus species* (*P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*) is the only characteristic of the stand, among the variables tested in this study, which significantly influenced the understory composition and tree regeneration, in agreement with hypothesis 1. The other stand characteristics tested (i.e., density, total basal area, dominant height, mean quadratic diameter, age) had no detectable influence on the understory because the tree species composition was the main varying factor (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). Mestre et al. (2017) also reported that the overstory composition greatly influences the understory in southern temperate forests. The question that arises would therefore be how the tree species of the canopy exert their effect on the understory.

According to the mass ratio hypothesis (Grime 1998; Ali and Yan 2017), the dominant overstory species, P. pinaster and P. sylvestris, could exert their effect on the properties of the ecosystem, such as biodiversity, and on subordinate species, i.e., species of the understory, through traits of the dominant species, such as leaf nitrogen concentration or microhabitats provided by such traits. Indeed, in the same experimental device, we found a significant positive correlation between the percentage of basal area of *P. pinaster* and the C/N ratio of the fresh leaf litter (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). This finding suggests that the C/N ratio of the fresh leaf litter of dominant tree species, as a proxy of the leaf litter decomposition rate (Wang et al. 2016), could be one of the drivers of understory composition; the higher the C/N ratio is, the more recalcitrant the leaf litter, i.e. in monospecific stands of *P. pinaster* (Herrero et al. 2016), and in turn the lower C input into the soil as humic substances. Additionally, the tree species of the canopy can exert their effect on the understory by their influence on other soil properties such as water content. In the same experimental device, the overstory composition was related to soil water content (López-Marcos et al. 2019), indicating that P. pinaster tolerated lower soil water content than P. sylvestris, whereas mixed stands occupied areas with intermediate soil moisture. On the other hand, light availability, described as a control agent on forest regeneration (Rodríguez et al. 2007b; Ruano et al. 2015) and indirectly measured by the total basal area, seemed to have no effect on the understory species composition and tree regeneration in the studied experimental device (see Figure 32 and Table 23). In fact, the mixed stands, with higher total basal area than monospecific stands of P. sylvestris (see Table 25 in Appendix IIIb), maintain a similar understory richness and greater oak regeneration. Nor did leaf litter accumulation seem to have an effect on the understory composition and tree regeneration in our study (see López-Marcos et al. 2019) but leaf litter composition, as mentioned before.

Tree regeneration

According to the recruitment network approach described by Alcántara et al. (2019), a positive relationship is expected between the abundance (basal area) of canopy species and the frequency of recruit saplings, bearing in mind that the light availability (indirectly measured by the total basal area) does not seem to differ significantly between stand types in our experimental device so as to limit this assertion. Thus, higher *P. sylvestris* regeneration occurs in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, and higher *P. pinaster* regeneration occurs in *P. pinaster* monospecific stands, although both *Pinus* species also regenerated in mixed stands. Nevertheless, the highest *Q. pyrenaica* regeneration is found in mixed stands despite the distance to the acorn source is the same in the three stand types (Figure 36 in Apendix IIIa). Taking into account that the distance to the seed source is one of the most important processes limiting the recruitment of tree species (Caughlin et al. 2014), the larger distance from the tree source could explain the scarce and irregular regeneration of *Q. faginea* and Juniperus spp. in the study area (Figure 36 in Apendix IIIa).

The next question could be why the regeneration of *Q. pyrenaica* is greater in mixed stands than in the pure stands, in agreement with Carnevale and Montagnini (2002) who reported that mixed stands facilitate native tree regeneration. In Mediterranean ecosystems, recruitment relies to a greater extent on the capacity of seedlings to endure a combination of multiple stresses and disturbances, such as nutrient or water shortages, wildfires, or herbivore damage (Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2008). Acorns depend entirely on animals for long-distance dispersion (Yu et al. 2014). Many rodent species, as well as jays, play important roles in the secondary dispersal of oak species via their hoarding behaviors (Gómez 2003; Yu et al. 2014), and it is generally believed that Quercus species can colonize the understory of pine forests via the jay- or rodent-mediated dispersion of acorns (Gómez 2003; Yu et al. 2014). Moreover, long-distance dispersal events can determine the spatial pattern of seed distribution at the landscape scale (Gómez 2003). Therefore, one of the issues that deserves more study is why dispersing animals seem to prefer mixed stands instead of pure stands to hoar acorns, if that was the case in the study area. In fact, the greater variability of habitat conditions in mixed stands than in monospecific stands has been described as a favorable condition for seed dispersers and germination and growth of native tree species (Carnevale and Montagnini 2002). It could also be that predation in monospecific stands is higher or emergence lower (Carnevale and Montagnini 2002), or simply that the higher soil fertility in mixed stands than in monospecific stands (López-Marcos et al. 2019) favors oak regeneration.

Tree regeneration and understory composition

The importance of the understory vegetation on tree regeneration has already been described, since the understory directly influences soil properties such as temperature and moisture (Rodríguez et al. 2007). Our results showed a relationship between tree regeneration and understory species composition (Figure 33a). In particular, the regeneration cover of *P. sylvestris* was positively correlated with the cover of some ruderal species, mainly hemicryptophytes (*Hypochaeris radicata, Sanguisorba minor*) and therophytes (*Geranium robertianum, Melampyrum pratense*), and negatively linked to the cover of the chamaephyte *Erica australis*, typical of poor soils (Gil-López et al. 2017) where *P. sylvestris* regenerates worst.

The regeneration cover of *P. pinaster* was positively correlated with the cover of the chamaephyte, *Calluna vulgaris*, which has been described as an accompanying species in Maritime pine forests (Herranz-Sanz et al. 2008), but was negatively linked to *Hypnum* spp., mosses with higher moisture requirements than vascular plant species present in *P. pinaster* stands.

The *Q. pyrenaica* regeneration cover was positively correlated with the cover of *Erica arborea*, *Viola montcaunica*, *Polygala vulgaris*, *Agrostis castellana* and *Ilex aquifolium*. All these species have already been described as typical of the Pyrenean oak native forests of the Iberian Peninsula (Velasco-Aguirre 2014), thus, they share with *Q. pyrenaica* the same regeneration niche (see Figure 35). Mixed stands may favor the presence of this group of species by providing greater soil fertility for intermediate water-stress conditions. This group of accompanying species for native oak could be responsible for the maintenance of the understory richness in mixed stands at the same level as in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, but under higher water-stress conditions (see López-Marcos et al. 2019).

Understory composition change along the overstory composition gradient

Our results showed a change in the composition of the understory in relation to the overstory composition. The absence of exclusive species in mixed stands could mean that they represent the transition area where *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* coexist (meet and integrate), as previously mentioned for mixed forest of evergreen and deciduous species (Mestre et al. 2017).

As commented above, the overstory composition in the study area was related to soil water content (López-Marcos et al. 2019) and the C/N ratio of the leaf litter (López-Marcos et al. 2018). Consequently, species such as *Pteridium aquilinum*, *Pinus sylvestris*, or *Juniperus* spp., characteristic of humid and temperate zones (Rivas-Martínez et al. 2002), showed most of their niche amplitude in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, where soil water retention capacity is higher and the C/N ratio of the leaf litter is lower (López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019). On the opposite end

of the gradient, species such as *Erica australis*, *Arctostaphylos uva-ursi*, *Pinus pinaster*, *Calluna vulgaris*, and *Cistus laurifolius*, characteristic of sandy well-drained Mediterranean areas (Herranz-Sanz et al. 2008), reached their maximum cover in *P. pinaster* monospecific stands, where soil water retention capacity is lower and the C/N ratio of the leaf litter is higher (López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019). In the middle part of this gradient, that is in the mixed stands, where the tree-regeneration cover of native species such as *Q. pyrenaica* achieved their maximum values, the optima of other species such as *Erica arborea*, *Aira caryophyllea*, *Potentilla montana* or *Agrostis castellana* were found for intermediate values of soil water retention capacity and leaf-litter C/N ratio (López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019). The niche amplitude of these species matches the niche amplitude of the *Quercus pyrenaica* regeneration, encouraging the idea that mixed pine stands allow the presence of a group of species typical of Pyrenean oak native forests in the lberian Peninsula (Velasco-Aguirre 2014), which are responsible for maintaining understory richness in mixed stands at the same level as in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands but under higher water-stress conditions (López-Marcos et al. 2019).

Implications for forest management

It is worth noting here that our results have important implications for forest management in the context of the supply of multiple ecosystem services (Gamfeldt et al. 2013), like biodiversity conservation. Firstly, the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine, widely distributed in Spain (Serrada et al. 2008), should continue to be favored over pure stands in the study area because it favors the regeneration of a larger variety of tree species, including the endemic of western Europe Q. pyrenaica (Velasco-Aguirre 2014). This could, therefore, be regarded as an adaptive management strategy for climate change (Temperli et al. 2012) and to promote forest conservation. In fact, Pinus species are suggested as being pioneer species during succession that are usually replaced by late-successional Quercus species (Yu et al. 2014). Nevertheless, the maintenance of monospecific pine stands at the landscape scale should also be recommended since species such as Juniperus oxycedrus and Pteridium aquilinum (restricted to Scots pine monospecific stands) or Calluna vulgaris and Arctostaphylos uva-ursi (far more abundant in Maritime pine monospecific stands) deserve to be preserved (see species protection status in (López-Marcos et al. 2019). Secondly, the maintenance of high understory richness in mixed stands under higher water-stress conditions could be possible by means of the regeneration of Q. pyrenaica. A greater variety of understory species associated with the Quercus pyrenaica regeneration and sharing niche amplitude was found. This could be considered as a biodiversity conservation strategy in the current climate change scenario (Felton et al. 2010). Finally, since productivity is often higher in mixtures than in monocultures and can increase by increasing treespecies richness (Brockerhoff et al. 2017), the encouraging of native tree regeneration in forest management plans is needed, not only in forest management plans whose objective is to include forest biodiversity as an ecosystem service but also when production is the main objective. Understanding the ecology of the understory vegetation has important implications for both biodiversity conservation and production-oriented forest management (Nilsson and Wardle 2005).

Conclusion

The composition of the understory and tree regeneration are influenced by the overstory composition but, according to previous studies, also by the soil conditions (soil water and fertility) that vary with the overstory composition. Species characteristic of humid and temperate zones, including *P. sylvestris* regeneration, dominate in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, and typical species of well-drained Mediterranean areas, including *P. pinaster* regeneration, dominates in *P. pinaster* monospecific stands. In mixed stands, where fertility is higher, the regeneration of the western European endemic species, *Q. pyrenaica*, is added to the regeneration of *Pinus* species. Also a positive effect of the studied mixture is observed on understory richness, similar to that of *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands but under lower soil water content. Understory species typical of the native Pyrenean oak forests in the Iberian Peninsula, which share with *Q. pyrenaica* the same regeneration niche, contribute to maintain high understory richness in such mixed pine forests. These results should make us reflect on the use of mixed stands (even when tree species are of the same genus) as a strategy for biodiversity conservation, through native tree regeneration and their accompanying understory species conservation.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Alfonso Ramos Calvo for his invaluable help with soil sampling, Carmen Blanco and Juan Carlos Arranz from the University of Valladolid (UVa) for their advice in the laboratory analyses, José Riofrío and Cristóbal Ordoñez for their assistance in the characterization and location of plots in the field, the Regional Forest Service of Castilla and León for facilitatingthe triplet installation and monitoring, and Juan Manuel Díez Clivillé for language improvement. We also thank, Erwin Dreyer (Editor-in-Chief), Laurent Begès (Handling Editor), and two anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments to improve the manuscript.

Contributions of the co-authors

Conceptualization: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Methodology, Software: DLM, CMR; Validation: DLM, CMR. Formal analysis: DLM, CMR. Investigation: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Resources: CMR, MBT, FB. Data curation: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Writing: original draft: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Writing: review and editing: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Visualization: DLM, CMR, MBT, FB. Supervision: CMR, MBT, FB. Project administration: FB, funding acquisition: CMR, MBT, FB.

Funding information

This research was funded by a predoctoral grant to DLM (BES-2015-072852) and the Project FORMIXING (AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R) from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of the Spanish Government.

Data availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from Daphne LópezMarcos but restrictions apply to the availability of these data, which were used under license for the current study, and so are not publicly available. Data are however available from the authors upon reasonable request and with permission of Felipe Bravo.

Compliance with ethical standards

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest

References

- Aguirre N, Sven G, Michael W, Bernd S (2006) Enrichment of Pinus patula plantations with native species in southern Ecuador. Lyonia 10 (1):17-29
- Akaike H (1973) Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Brillinger D, Gani J, Hartigan J (eds) Second international symposium on information theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest (Hungary), pp 267–281
- Alcántara JM, Garrido JL, Rey PJ (2019) Plant species abundance and phylogeny explain the structure of recruitment networks. New Phytol 223:366–376. doi: 10.1111/nph.15774
- Alday JG, Martínez-Ruiz C, Marrs RH, Bravo F (2010) Influence of harvesting intensity on the floristic composition of natural Mediterranean Maritime pine forest. Acta Oecologica 36:349–356. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2010.03.001

- Ali A, Yan ER (2017) Functional identity of overstorey tree height and understorey conservative traits drive aboveground biomass in a subtropical forest. Ecol Indic 83:158–168. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.07.054
- Arrieta S, Suárez F (2006) Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) plantations contribute to the regeneration of holly (*Ilex aquifolium* L.) in mediterranean central Spain. Eur J For Res 125:271–279. doi: 10.1007/s10342-006-0121-y
- Avendaño-Yáñez ML, Sánchez-Velásquez LR, Meave JA, Pineda-López MR (2016) Can *Pinus* plantations facilitate reintroduction of endangered cloud forest species? Landsc Ecol Eng. doi: 10.1007/s11355-015-0277-z
- Barbier S, Gosselin F, Balandier P (2008) Influence of tree species on understory vegetation diversity and mechanisms involved-a critical review for temperate and boreal forests. For Ecol Manage 254:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.038
- Barkman JJ (1992) Canopies and microclimate of tree species mixtures. In: Cannell MG., Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell, pp 181–187
- Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (2000) Changes in forest-floor chemistry caused by a birch admixture in Norway spruce stands. For Ecol Manage 130:253–264. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00183-8
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Ammer C, et al (2014) European mixed forests: definition and research perspectives. For Syst 23:518–533. doi: 10.5424/fs/2014233-06256
- Brockerhoff EG, Barbaro L, Castagneyrol B, et al (2017) Forest biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services. Biodivers Conserv 26:3005–3035. doi: 10.1007/s10531-017-1453-2
- Brooker RW, Maestre FT, Callaway RM, et al (2008) Facilitation in plant communities: The past, the present, and the future. J Ecol 96:18–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007.01295.x
- Bruno JF, Stachowicz JJ, Bertness MD (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol Evol 18:119–125. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02)00045-9
- Callaway RM (2007) Positive interactions and interdependence in plant communities. Springer, New York (New York, USA)
- Carnevale NJ, Montagnini F (2002) Facilitating regeneration of secondary forests with the use of mixed and pure plantations of indigenous tree species. For Ecol Manage 163:217–227
- Cattaneo N (2018) Competencia, prductividad y cambios a nivel de copas en bosques mixtos de pinos mediterráneos. Señales a nivel de árbol individual. PhD Dissertation, University of Valladolid (Spain).
- Caughlin TT, Ferguson JM, Lichstein JW, et al (2014) The importance of long-distance seed dispersal for the demography and distribution of a canopy tree species. Ecology 95:952–962. doi: 10.1890/13-0580.1

- Cavard X, Bergeron Y, Chen HYH, Paré D (2011) Effect of forest canopy composition on soil nutrients and dynamics of the understorey: mixed canopies serve neither vascular nor bryophyte strata. J Veg Sci 22:1105–1119. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01311.x
- Colwell RK (2009) Biodiversity: concepts, patterns and measurement. In: Simon AL (ed) The Princeton guide to ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton (USA), pp 257–263
- Crosby M, MAGILL R, BAUER C (1992) Index of mosses, 1963-1989.Monographs in systemmatic botany from Missouri Botanical Garden. 42:1–646 (see pages 1-11)
- Felton A, Lindbladh M, Brunet J, Fritz Ö (2010) Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixedspecies production stands: an assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. For Ecol Manage 260:939–947. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, et al (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2328
- Gil-López J., Segarra-Moragues JG, Désamoré A, et al (2017) Different historical backgrounds determine contrasting phylogeographical patterns in two co-distributed Erica species (Ericaceae) across the Strait of Gibraltar. Bot J Linn Soc 185:359–375 doi:10.1093/botlinnean/box066
- Gomez-Aparicio L, Zavala MA, Bonet FJ., Zmora R (2009) Are pine plantations valid tools for restoring Mediterranean forests? An assessment along abiotic and biotic gradients. Ecol Appl 19:2124–2141
- Gómez JM (2003) Spatial patterns in long-distance dispersal of *Quercus ilex* acorns by jays in a heterogeneous landscape. Ecography 26:573–584. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0587.2003.03586.x
- Grace JB, Tilman D (2003) Perspectives in plant competition. The Blackburn Press, Caldwell (New Jersey, USA).
- Grime JP (1998) Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. J Ecol 86:902–910 doi:10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00306.x
- Herranz-Sanz JM, Martín-Herrero J, Copete-Carreño MA (2008) Caracterización floristica de lo pinares naturales de *Pinus pinaster* Aitonen Castilla-La Mancha. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain)
- Herrero C, Turrión MB, Pando V, Bravo F (2016) Carbon content of forest floor and mineral soil in Mediterranean *Pinus* spp. and Oak stands in acid soils in Northern Spain. For Syst 25:. doi: 10.5424/fs/2016252-09149
- Hill MO (1992) Mixtures as habitats for plants (discussion). In: Cannell MGR, Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell (U.K.), pp 301–302
- Huisman J, Olff H, Fresco LFM (1993) A hierarchical set of models for species response analysis. J Veg Sci CN - 3619 4:37–46

- Inoue T, Fukuzawa K, Watanabe T, et al (2017) Spatial pattern of soil nitrogen availability and its relationship to stand structure in a coniferous-broadleaved mixed forest with a dense dwarf bamboo understory in northern Japan. Ecol Res 32:227–241. doi: 10.1007/s11284-017-1434-7
- Jactel H, Gritti ES, Drössler L, et al (2018) Positive biodiversity–productivity relationships in forests: climate matters. Biol Lett 14:12–15. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2017.0747
- Jansen F, Oksanen J (2013) How to model species responses along ecological gradients Huisman-Olff-Fresco models revisited. J Veg Sci 24:1108–1117. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12050
- Johnson JB, Omland KS (2004) Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 19:101– 108. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2003.10.013
- Köppen W (1936) Das geographische System der Klimate. In: Köppen W, Geiger R (eds): Handbuch der Klimatologie. Velag von Gebruder Borntraeger. Berlin. pp 7–30
- Korboulewsky N, Perez G, Chauvat M (2016) How tree diversity affects soil fauna diversity: a review. Soil Biol Biochem 94:94–106. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.11.024
- Lawesson JE, Oksanen J (2002) Niche characteristics of Danish woody species as derived from coenoclines. J Veg Sci 13:279–290
- Löf M, Ammer C, Coll L, et al (2018) Regeneration Patterns in Mixed-Species Stands. In: Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, del Río M (eds) Dynamics, silviculture and management of mixed forests. Springer, Cham, pp 103–130. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-91953-9
- López-Marcos D, Martínez-Ruiz C, Turrión M-B, et al (2018) Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests. Eur J For Res 137:831–847. doi: 10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y
- López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2019) Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed vs . monospecific Mediterranean pine forests. Eur J For Res 138(6)939-955 doi:10.1007/s10342-019-01215-0
- Mestre L, Toro-Manríquez M, Soler R, et al (2017) The influence of canopy-layer composition on understory plant diversity in southern temperate forests. For Ecosyst 4:6. doi: 10.1186/s40663-017-0093-z
- Nilsson MC, Wardle DA (2005) Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Front Ecol Environ 3:421–428. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0421:UVAAFE]2.0.CO;2
- Oksanen J (2016) Vegan : an introduction to ordination. http://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/vegan/vignettes/introvegan.pdf
- Olthoff A, Martínez-Ruiz C, Alday JG (2016) Distribution patterns of forest species along an Atlantic-Mediterranean environmental gradient: an approach from forest inventory data. Forestry 89:46–54. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpv031

- Pigott CD (1990) The Influence of Evergreen Coniferous Nurse-Crops on the Field Layer in Two Woodland Communities. J Appl Ecol 27:448–459 doi.:10.2307/2404293
- Pretzsch H, Block J, Dieler J, et al (2010) Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Ann For Sci 67:712–712. doi: 10.1051/forest/2010037
- R Development Core Team (2016) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing https ://www.r-proje ct.org/
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Bravo F (2017a) Mixing effects on growth ef fi ciency in mixed pine forests. Forestry 90:381–392. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpw056
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Maguire D, Bravo F (2019) Species Mixing Effects on Height–Diameter and Basal Area Increment Models for Scots Pine and Maritime Pine. Forests 10:249. doi: 10.3390/f10030249
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Pretzsch H, Bravo F (2017b) Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For Ecol Manage 405:219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036
- Rivas-Martínez S (1987) Memoria del mapa de series de vegetación de España. Serie Técnica, Madrid (Spain)
- Rivas-Martínez S, Díaz TE, Fernández-González F, et al (2002) Vascular plant communities of Spain and Portugal. Addenda to the Syntaxonomical checklist of 2001. Itinera Geobot 15:5–922
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Nanos N, del Rey MC, et al (2011) Small-scale variation of vegetation in a mixed forest understorey is partly controlled by the effect of overstory composition on litter accumulation. J For Res 16:473–483. doi: 10.1007/s10310-010-0237-2
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Pardos JA, Gil L, et al (2008) Light response in seedlings of a temperate (Quercus petraea) and a sub-Mediterranean species (*Quercus pyrenaica*): contrasting ecological strategies as potential keys to regeneration performance in mixed marginal populations. Plant Ecol 195:273–285. doi: 10.1007/s11258-007-9329-2
- Rodríguez E, Juez L, Guerra B, Bravo F (2007) Análisis de la regeneración natural de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en los arenales de Almazán-Bayubas (Soria, España). For Syst 16:25–38
- Ruano I, Manso R, Fortin M, Bravo F (2015) Extreme climate conditions limit seed availability to successfully attain natural regeneration of *Pinus pinaster* in sandy areas of central Spain. 1802:1795–1802
- Saetre P, Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (1999) Soil organisms and carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralisation in Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce Birch stands. Biol Fertil Soils 28:382–388. doi: 10.1007/s003740050508
- Saetre P, Saetre LS, Brandtberg P-O, et al (1997) Ground vegetation composition and heterogeneity in pure Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce - birch stands. Can J For Res 27:2034–2042. doi: 10.1139/x97-177

- Serrada R, Montero G, Reque JA (2008) Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA., Mdrid (Spain)
- Soil-Survey-Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12 th. USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, DC (USA)
- Temperli C, Bugmann H., Elkin C (2012) Adaptive management for competing forest. Ecol Appl 2012 22:2065–2077. doi: 10.1890/12-0210.1
- Toïgo M, Vallet P, Perot T, et al (2015) Overyielding in mixed forests decreases with site productivity. 502–512. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12353
- Tutin TG, Heywood VH, Burges NA, et al (1964-1980) Flora Europaea. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK)
- Velasco-Aguirre P (2014) Comprehensive study of *Quercus pyrenaica* willd. forests at Iberian Peninsula: indicator species, bioclimatic, and syntaxonomical characteristic. PhD Dissertation, Universidad Complutense de Madrid (Spain)
- Wang J, You Y, Tang Z, et al (2016) A comparison of decomposition dynamics among green tree leaves, partially decomposed tree leaf litter and their mixture in a warm temperate forest ecosystem. J For Res 27:1037–1045. doi: 10.1007/s11676-016-0248-8
- Yu F, Wang D, Yi X, et al (2014) Does animal-mediated seed dispersal facilitate the formation of pinus armandii-quercus aliena var. Acuteserrata forests? PLoS One 9:. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089886



Appendix IIIa

Figure 36. Distance from the center of the plots of different overstory composition (PS, MM, PP) to the nearest native forest of Pyrenean oak (*Quercus pyrenaica* Will.), Gall oak (*Quercus faginea* Lam.), or Juniper (*Juniperus* spp.), according to the cartographic server (WMS) of the Ministry for the Ecological Transition of the Government of Spain (http://wms.mapama.es/sig/Biodiversidad/).

Appendix IIIb

Table 25. Descriptive statistics (Minimum (Min) ,Maximum (Max), and mean ± standard error (Mean±SE)) of stand characteristics (N: density (trees ha⁻¹), G: basal area (m²ha⁻¹), Ho: dominant height (m), dq: quadratic mean diameter (cm), and Age: normal age (years)) of three types of stands.

	3	ots pine n	nonospecific	stan	ds		Mixed	stands			Mariti	me pine mo	nospeci	fic st	spue
Mir		Max	Mean	+1	SE	Min	Max	Mean	+1	SE	Min	Max	Mean	+1	SE
50	σ,	3 821.0	684.0	+1	48.9	523.0	1330.0	745.0	+1	120.9	538.0	1429.0	775.9	+1	137.1
4	Ъ.	1 806.0	660.2	+1	48.0	241.0	764.0	429.2	+1	75.1	0.0	283.0	59.0	+1	45.7
) Je	0.0	56.6	23.5	+1	8.7	198.0	566.0	316.0	+1	56.3	509.0	1146.0	716.9	+1	96.6
	100	3 54.9	480.	+1	3.2	33.3	68.2	55.3	+1	4.9	37.5	70.3	62.2	+1	5.2
	30.8	3 54.9	44.9	+1	3.4	13.0	45.9	25.7	+1	4.8	0.0	3.3	0.8	+1	0.5
ы	0.0	8.2	3.2	+1	1.1	20.2	38.9	29.5	+1	2.9	37.5	70.3	61.4	+1	5.1
_	22.5	5 34.4	29.2	+1	1.7	20.2	39.4	30.0	+1	2.8	22.6	39.6	32.3	+1	2.5
	22.2	2 32.4	28.5	+1	1.6	16.6	40.3	27.2	+1	3.5	0.0	15.8	5.8	+1	2.8
Ъ	0.0	56.7	36.6	+1	8.2	25.0	43.5	35.4	+1	2.8	26.0	39.6	33.3	+1	2.2
_	16.8	3 22.1	19.3	+1	6.0	13.1	24.6	18.0	+1	1.7	12.4	20.5	16.9	+1	1.2
	16.6	5 22.1	19.2	+1	0.9	12.3	24.3	17.1	+1	1.8	0.0	10.8	4.2	+1	1.9
a	0.0	24.5	17.1	+1	3.6	14.2	25.0	19.2	+1	1.7	13.6	20.5	17.3	+1	1.0
	44	151	8.66	+1	14.9	4	118	94.3	+1	11.7	0	0	0	+1	0
Ъ	0	0	0	+1	0	49	118	91.2	+1	10.2	49	118	90.8	+1	10.9

Appendix IIIc

Table 26. Location of optimum (μ), predicted maximum probability of occurrence (h) and niche amplitude based on 2t tolerances, for species with unimodal response along the main coecocline (%G of *Pinus pinaster*), as well as the frequency of species appearance in the plots (%).

Specie	Model	h	μ	2t	%
Agrostis castellana Boiss. and Reut	IV	2.83	36.68	66.94	70.59
Aira caryophyllea L.	IV	4.61	31.97	9.03	41.18
Deschampsia flexuosa (L.) Trin.	V	3.76	72.89	58.75	41.18
Erica arborea L.	IV	6.48	34.46	43.25	23.53
Erica australis L.	V	24.10	78.97	43.50	82.35
Hypnum spp.	V	18.58	19.47	42.55	94.12
Juniperus oxycedrus L.	IV	10.74	6.37	3.21	11.76
Potentilla montana Brot.	IV	4.79	29.86	36.93	52.94
<i>Pteridium aquilinum</i> (L.) Kuhn	IV	9.28	18.02	13.95	29.41
Quercus pyrenaica Willd.	IV	4.08	40.93	60.88	29.41

Chapter IV

Sobrerendimiento a pequeña escala espacial en pinares mixtos como resultado de la complementariedad del nicho edáfico: implicaciones para la conservación de la riqueza del sotobosque



Figure 37. Graphical abstract of the article that gives rise to chapter IV of the thesis.

This chapter will be publishing as:

López-Marcos D^{1,2*}, Turrión MB^{1,2}, Bravo F^{1,3}, Martínez-Ruiz C^{1,2} (2020b). Overyielding at a small scale in mixed pine forest as result of the belowground resources complementarity: implications for understory richness conservation. Ambio (under revision)

¹ Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

² Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³ Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Overyielding at a small scale in mixed pine forest as result of belowground resources complementarity: implications for understory richness

conservation

Daphne López-Marcos^{1,2*}, María-Belén Turrión^{1,2}, Felipe Bravo^{1,3}, Carolina Martínez-Ruiz^{1,2}

¹Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, Universidad de Valladolid & INIA, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

²Dpto. de Ciencias Agroforestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

³Dpto. de Producción Vegetal y Recursos Forestales, E.T.S. de Ingenierías Agrarias, Universidad de Valladolid, Campus La Yutera, Avda. Madrid 50, 34071 Palencia, Spain.

Abstract

Many studies highlight the biodiversity-productivity relationships in mixed forests in the context of ecosystem services supply. Most reports of the positive effects of tree mixture on productivity focus on mixtures combining species with contrasting traits, but little is known about the mixture effect on productivity at different spatial scales when two *Pinus* species are mixed, and less of its impact on the understory. Thus, based on research with six triplets in North-Central Spain, we assessed the effect of mixed vs monospecific stands of *Pinus sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* on productivity at two spatial scales and its relation with the understory richness and soil moisture and fertility. A small-scale overyielding was found in mixed stands, related to soil water and fertility niche complementarity, which has no negative effect on the understory richness. The fundamental role of scale in determining the relationship between species richness and ecosystem functioning in forests is emphasized.

Keywords: overstory overyielding, understory richness, soil niche complementarity, small spatial scale, mixed forest, Scots pine, Maritime pine.

Introduction

The impact of biodiversity loss on the functioning of ecosystems has become a central issue in ecology (Loreau and Hector 2001). Accordingly, mixed forests are receiving more and more attention since they can provide multiple ecosystem services more efficiently than monospecific forests (Knoke et al. 2008; Jactel et al. 2009; Del Río et al. 2015). Many studies that examined the significance of biodiversity for ecosystem functioning in mixed forests focus on biomass productivity (Balvanera et al. 2006; Cardinale et al. 2007; Pretzsch et al. 2012; Liang et al. 2016), analyzing the biodiversity–productivity relationship (BPR) in tree communities (Liang et al. 2016; Fichtner et al. 2018).

Biodiversity is thought to promote productivity via complex mechanisms that involve organism—organism and organism—environment interactions (Van de Peer et al. 2018). The niche complementarity theory (Tilman et al. 1997b; Luo et al. 2019) is thus the most cited to explain how species richness contributes to the increase in forest productivity (Madrigal-González et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019). It is pointed to niche complementarity as the best potential explanation for species packing, and a chief mechanism by which the productivity of species mixtures is enhanced compared to the respective monocultures (Hooper and Dukes 2004), i.e. overyielding (Madrigal-González et al. 2016). By means of niche complementarity, the competing species change their pattern of resources use (Hector and Hooper 2002) what reduces competition and promotes co-existence between species (Chesson 2000). Species must be in the same trophic level and their resource requirements must overlap (Chesson 2000). Although this mechanism has been more widely described in short-lived communities (i.e. grasslands, arthropod communities and microbial microcosms; Madrigal-González et al. 2016), it has been also described recently in forests, both in the exploitation of above- (Forrester and Albrecht 2014) and below-ground resources (Brassard et al. 2013).

Forest management is commonly applied in small units called 'stands' (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014), defined by homogeneity in age, structure, composition and site conditions, and with sufficient area to permit independent treatments (Assmann 1970; Smith et al. 1997; Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). Nevertheless, this definition is not clear in the case of mixed forests since the spatial variability and pattern of tree mixture change with the spatial scale (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). In fact, multiple studies in forests have analyzed the BPR at the scale of tree communities (Grossman et al. 2017; Van de Peer et al. 2018), although positive BPR was only demonstrated at smaller scale (Fichtner et al. 2018; Van de Peer et al. 2018). Since there is increasing recognition of the fundamental role of space in population, community and ecosystem processes (Ettema and Wardle 2002), the yield comparison between scales in mixed forests is welcome.

Mixed forests are the sum of co-occurring individuals of different species (Fichtner et al. 2018). As such, they can be considered as a network of locally interacting individuals (Michalet et al. 2015; Fichtner et al. 2018). Consequently, the mixture response should be the result of aggregated small-scale variations in neighborhood interactions (Fichtner et al. 2018; Van de Peer et al. 2018). Such small-scale interactions can be positive (e.g. niche complementarity) or negative (e.g. competition for resources) (Fichtner et al. 2018). Therefore, the niche complementarity-yield relationship at small-scale in mixed forests could help to better understand this process.

On the other hand, the understory is known to be strongly influenced by the composition and structure of the overstory through its influence on temperature, light, water, soil nutrients and litter accumulation (Saetre et al. 1999; Felton et al. 2010; Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2011). Hence, the change in the overstory yield is expected to influence the understory. However, managers and ecologists have traditionally paid less attention to the understory component of forests (Nilsson and Wardle 2005; Antos 2009) less when the overstory yield is explored. Given that the understory participates in a great variety of aboveground processes (e.g., tree seedling regeneration, forest succession, species diversity and stand productivity) and also in belowground processes, such as litter decomposition, soil nutrient cycling and soil water conservation (Liu et al. 2017), the assessment of the repercussion of the mixed forest over-yielding on the understory is necessary.

In recent years, numerous experiments have explored the BPR in forests, from a global scale (Liang et al. 2016; Jactel et al. 2018) to a small-scale (Nguyen et al. 2012; Fichtner et al. 2018), and in mixed forest (Forrester et al. 2004, 2005, 2006) but also comparing monospecific vs mixed forests (Pretzsch et al. 2012; Thurm and Pretzsch 2016a; Riofrío et al. 2017b). Nevertheless, the BPR in monospecific vs mixed forests that combine coniferous tree species of the same genus remain virtually unknown (but see Riofrío et al. 2017a). This is so despite these mixtures being frequent in many environments, such as the admixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton) in Spain, growing in pure and mixed stands either naturally or as a result of species selection for afforestation (Serrada et al. 2008). Both *Pinus* species show similar crown architecture and slight differences in shade tolerance (Riofrío et al. 2017b), but differ in water-stress tolerance (López-Marcos et al. 2019).

In this study, we assess differences in total basal area and density of the overstory at different spatial scales (at the stand level and at a smaller scale), and the distances between trees in mixed vs. monospecific stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine. We also analysed the role of some major mechanisms involved, such as soil water and fertility niche complementarity, and the overstory yield influence on the understory richness. The aims of this study were: (1) to test the spatial scale effect on the overstory yield; (2) to understand the mechanisms involved in

determining the overstory yield differences by scale; and (3) to analyse the overstory yield effect on the understory richness in mixed vs. monospecific pine forests. We hypothesize that there is an overstory overyielding in mixed stand, only detected at small spatial scale, caused by soil niche complementarity.

Material and methods

Study sites

The research was carried out in eighteen forest plots (6 triplets) located in the Northern Iberian Range, in North-Central Spain (41°47'35''N and 41°53'41''N latitude, and 2°56'12''W and 3°20'46''W longitude; Figure 38). The climate is Temperate with dry or temperate summer (Cfb, Csb) according to the Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula. The mean annual temperature ranges from 8.7 to 9.8 °C and the annual precipitation ranges from 684 to 833 mm (Nafría-García et al. 2013). Altitude varies from 1093 m to 1277 m a.s.l., and the slope from 0.9 to 20% (López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019). The geological parent materials are sandstones and marl from the Mesozoic era (IGME 2015). The soils are Inceptisols with a xeric soil moisture regime and mesic soil temperature regime and they are classified as Typic Dystroxerept or Typic Humixerept (sensu Soil-Survey-Staff 2014). The sandy soil texture was dominant and the pH varies from extremely acid to strongly acid (see López-Marcos et al. 2018). Nearby climax vegetation, highly degraded by anthropogenic action, is characterized by Pyrenean oak (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.) forests or communities dominated by junipers (López-Marcos et al. 2018).

Each triplet consisted of three circular plots of 15 m radius, including two plots dominated either by *P. sylvestris* (PS) or *P. pinaster* (PP) and one mixed plot that contained both species (MM), located less than 1 km from each other so that the environmental conditions were homogeneous within the triplet (Figure 38), although they could differ among distinct triplets (e.g. soil properties; see López-Marcos et al. 2018). In particular, a water-stress gradient associated with the overstory composition indicated that *P. pinaster* tolerated lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris* whereas mixed stands occupied areas with intermediate soil moisture. In addition, a soil fertility gradient defined by organic carbon and exchangeable magnesium stocks was identified, both being higher in mixed stands (López-Marcos et al. 2019).

The percentage of the basal area of the dominant species in the monospecific plots was greater than 83% or 95% for *P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster* respectively, whereas the basal area percentage of both species in the mixed plots ranged from 33 to 67%. The sampling design in triplets was well balanced for stand composition (six repetitions per stand type) but not
necessarily balanced for other stand characteristics (i.e. density, total basal area, dominant height, mean quadratic diameter, age) that were intended to be similar within the triplet (avoiding biases in the sampling design) but differed between triplets. However, a previous study showed how the percentage of the basal area of both *Pinus* species was the only characteristic of the stand that significantly influenced the understory composition and tree regeneration (López-Marcos et al. 2020a). Other characteristics of the stand structure such as density, total basal area, dominant height, mean quadratic diameter or age did not have a significant influence on the understory because the tree species composition was the main varying factor (López-Marcos et al. 2020a).



Figure 38. Location of the triplets in the 'Sierra de la Demanda' in North-Central Spain, the plots within each triplet (red circles: *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific plots, PS; yellow circles: *Pinus pinaster* monospecific plots, PP; blue circles: mixed plots of both *Pinus* species, MM), the understory inventories (small black squares), the overstory inventories at a smaller scale (black circumferences) and trees (*P. sylvestris*: small red triangles; *P. pinaster*: small yellow triangles) within each plot.

Traditionally, forest management consists of strip clear-cutting with soil movement and planting or sowing when necessary, and moderate thinning from below (Riofrío et al. 2019) benefiting *P. sylvestris* (López-Marcos et al. 2019c). The stands have had no silvicultural intervention or damage in the last ten years in an attempt to minimize the effect of the thinning or another type of intervention in what is intended to study, either growth, floristic richness or soil nutrients. Triplets belong to the network of permanent plots of the Sustainable Forest

Management Research Institute UVa-INIA (iuFOR) and they have been previously used in a series of recent studies (Riofrío et al. 2017a, b, 2019; Cattaneo 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2018, 2019, 2020a).

Understory sampling

Within each plot, 10 inventories (1m×1m) were randomly located and the cover (%) of every understory vascular plant species, including tree regeneration, was estimated visually by the same observer in June 2016 (López-Marcos et al. 2019) to encompass and better identify the maximum number of vascular plant species (Alday et al. 2010).

Vascular plant species were classified according to the Raunkiær's life-forms (1934) following Aizpiru et al. (2007); see López-Marcos et al. (2019). Therophytes are annuals plants whose shoot and root systems die after seed production and which complete their whole life cycle within one year; hemicryptophytes are perennial herbaceous plants with periodic shoot reduction to a remnant shoot system that lies relatively flat on the ground surface; geophytes have subterranean resting buds (i.e. bulbs, rhizomes...); chamaephytes (dwarf shrubs) are woody plants whose natural branch or shoot system remains perennially between 25-50 cm above ground surface; and phanerophytes (tree regeneration and shrubs) are woody plants that grow taller than 25-50 cm.

Tree regeneration included the main tree species found in seedling/sapling stages (i.e. *P. sylvestris, P. pinaster, Q. pyrenaica*, and *Q. faginea* Lam.). In these stands, there are no subordinate tree species. Only two layers of vegetation can be distinguished (overstory and understory): the overstory measuring c.a. 20 m in height, and the understory being only c.a. 20 cm in height, and never higher than 1 m (López-Marcos et al. 2019c).

Soil sampling and laboratory analyses

At the same time as the vegetation sampling, one soil pit of at least 50 cm depth was dug in each plot for soil profile characterization (López-Marcos et al. 2018). Two undisturbed soil samples were collected from each pit's soil horizon with steel cylinders (98.2 cm³) to keep their original structure. Likewise, one disturbed sample was also taken from each pit's soil horizon (ca. 2.5 kg).

Both undisturbed and disturbed soil samples were dried at 105°C for 24 h before analyses. Undisturbed soil samples were weighed (±0.001 g) and used to calculate the soil bulk density. Disturbed soil samples were sieved (2 mm) before physical and chemical analyses. Physical analyses included percentage by weight of coarse fraction (>2 mm; %stones) and earth fraction (<2 mm; %EF). Available water was determined by the MAPA (1994) method as the difference between water content at field capacity (water remaining in a soil after it has been thoroughly saturated for two days and allowed to drain freely) and the permanent wilting point (soil water content retained at 1500 kPa using Eijkelkamp pF Equipment). Chemical analyses included exchangeable cations (Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺, Na⁺) that were extracted with 1N ammonium acetate at pH=7 (Schollenberger and Simon 1945) and determined using an atomic absorption/emission spectrometer.

Overstory sampling

The number and diameter of all stems > 7.5 cm in diameter for every *Pinus* species in each plot were computed at two spatial scales: 1) at the stand level, i.e. within each circular plot of 15 m radius; and 2) at a smaller scale, i.e. within each circular 4 m radius subplot centered in each quadrat of understory sampling according to Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. (2011).

In order to assess the 'randomness' of the spatial distribution pattern of trees (Byth and Ripley 1980), both without differentiating species (*P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*) and for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*), two different distances were measured within each plot following Hopkins (1954): 1) the distance from a random point (the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree (piD), and 2) the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor (iiD).

Data analyses

In each horizon, the water holding capacity (WHC) and the stock of the sum of bases (SBstock) were calculated as indicated in Appendix IV; the sum of bases (SB) was the sum of the Ca⁺², Mg⁺², K⁺ and Na⁺ concentrations (cmol⁺ kg⁻¹). WHC and SBstock in the soil profile (0-50 cm) were then calculated as the sum of the values of each horizon (see Appendix IV).

Richness was calculated as total cumulative number of plant species in the 10 quadrats per plot (Colwell 2009), including understory vegetation and tree regeneration (see López-Marcos et al. 2019). The cover (%) of each Raunkiær's life-form in each plot was calculated as the average of the 10 vegetation sampling quadrats per plot (see López-Marcos et al. 2019).

Tree density (N), total basal area (GT), and the basal area of each *Pinus* species (GPS: *P. sylvestris* basal area; GPP: *P. pinaster* basal area) were calculated at both spatial scales; GT, GPS and GPP as indicated in Appendix IV. At the smaller scale, the average of the ten circular 4 m radius subplots was made within each plot. The percentage of *P. pinaster* basal area was calculated as the ratio between the basal area of *P. pinaster* and the total basal area of each plot.

Differences among stands in GT and N, at two spatial scales, were analysed using linear mixed models (LMM; Pinheiro and Bates 2000) with the restricted maximum likelihood method (REML; Richards 2005). The Hopkins' coefficient of aggregation (1954) was calculated for

determining the spatial distribution pattern of trees in each stand type. This test is based on the assumption that a population is randomly distributed whether the distance from a random point (the center of the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree (piD) is identical to the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor (iiD). A t-Student test was used to check this assumption (p<0.05). Also differences among stands in piD and iiD were analysed using LMM with REML, both without differentiating species (*P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*) and for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*).

Structural Equation Models (SEMs) were used to explore to what extent the water (WHC) and fertility (SBstock) in the soil were related to the overyilding in GT (through its components i.e., GPS and GPP) and the understory richness mediated by hemicryptophytes. The SEM approach is based on a general linear model and enables the simultaneous assessment of multiple relationships (direct and indirect) between variables (Grace 2006). These relationships between variables can be represented in a "path" diagram where the variables are connected by arrows representing the theoretical structural model for the system under consideration (Rosseel 2012). SEMs model simplification method was based on Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) deleting all the non-significant model's path coefficients (Alday et al. 2016). The goodness of fit of each model was evaluated with the chi-square statistic, the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the goodness-of-fit index (GFI). Chi-square values higher than 0.05, RMSEA below 0.08, and a GFI above 0.90 indicate an acceptable fit for the model (Grace 2006; Alday et al. 2016). For clarity, only the standardized path coefficients are reported in the figure.

Finally, the response pattern of both *Pinus* species along the significant soil properties (i.e. WHC and SBstock), as well as of the understory richness (S) along the percentage of *P. pinaster* basal area were modeled by Huisman-Olff-Fresco (HOF) models (Huisman et al. 1993). These are a hierarchical set of five response models, ranked by their increasing complexity (Model I, monotone trend, i.e. with constant abundance; Model II, increasing or decreasing trend where the maximum is equal to the upper bound; Model IV, symmetrical response curve; Model V, skewed response curve. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; Akaike 1973) was used to select the most appropriate response model (Johnson and Omland 2004); smaller values of AIC indicate better models. Finally, the location of species optima (μ) and niche widths (2t) for those species with unimodal responses were derived from the HOF models (Lawesson and Oksanen 2002). The 2t values were found by solving for the gradient points of the fitted HOF model relative to a strict Gaussian model at 2t (Lawesson and Oksanen 2002). In the case of a symmetric unimodal

response, the lower and upper t values are identical, while with a skewed model, the 2t intervals are not necessarily equal.

All statistical analyses were implemented in the R software environment (version 3.3.3; R Development Core Team 2016) using the nlme package for Linear Mixed Models (LMM, version 3.1-137; Pinheiro et al. 2018), the eHOF package for HOF modeling (version 3.2.2; Jansen and Oksanen 2013) and the lavaan package for Structural Equation Models (SEMs, Rosseel 2012).

Results

Overstory density and basal area at two spatial scales

No differences in total density among stands (PS, MM and PP) were found at neither of both spatial scales (Figure 39a,b). Nevertheless, at the stand level (Figure 39a) density seamed to increase from PS (683.99±48.91 ind. ha⁻¹) to PP (775.93±137.12 ind. ha⁻¹), whereas at the smaller scale (Figure 39b) density seamed to be higher in MM (868.72±128.49 ind. ha⁻¹) with respect to the monospecific stands (PS: 566.99±96.48 ind. ha⁻¹; PP: 727.46±107.41 ind. ha⁻¹).

In contrast, significant differences in the total basal area were found among stands at both spatial scales (Figure 39c,d). At the stand level (Figure 39c), the total basal area increased from PS ($48.04\pm3.19 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) to PP ($62.19\pm5.19 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$), being intermediate in MM ($55.24\pm4.94 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$). At a smaller spatial scale (Figure 39d), the total basal area increased from PS ($39.15\pm4.93 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) to MM ($66.21\pm8.00 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) and no differences between MM and PP ($63.31\pm6.79 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) were found.

Tree spatial distribution pattern

The spatial distribution of trees regardless of species was random in the three stand types (Table 27). However, the spatial distribution of *P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster* considered separately changed from random in monospecific stands to regular in mixed stands (Table 27).

Without differentiating *Pinus* species, the distance from a random point to the nearest tree (piD) and the distance from that tree to the nearest neighbor (iiD) were lower in mixed stands than in monospecific stands, although, only the first was significantly different (Figure 40a,c). However, for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*), piD was lower in mixed stands than in monospecific stands but iiD was higher in MM than in monospecific stands (Figure 40b,d).



Figure 39. (a) Density (ind. ha-¹; mean+SE), and (c) basal area (m² ha⁻¹; mean+SE) at stand level (i.e. within the circular plots of 15 m radius); and (b) density, and (d) basal area at a smaller scale (i.e. within the circular subplots of 4 m radius). PS: P. sylvestris monospecific stands (n=6), MM: mixed stands (n=6), and PP: P. pinaster monospecific stands (n=6). Diferent letters indicate differences among stand types (p<0.05) in total density and basal area.

Table 27. Spatial distribution of trees regardeless of species (all tress: *P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*), and for each *Pinus* species separately, in each type of stand, calculed by Hopkins' coefficient of aggregation (1954) with p < 0.05; piD: distance from a random point (the center of the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree, and iiD: distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor.

	P. sylvestris monospecific stand	Mixed stand	P. pinaster monospecific stand	
All trees	Random (piD = iiD)	Random (piD = iiD)	Random (piD= iiD)	
Pinus sylvestris	Random (piD = iiD)	Regular (piD < iiD)	-	
Pinus pinaster	-	Regular (piD < iiD)	Random (piD = iiD)	



Figure 40. Comparing stands for each distance (piD: the distance from a random point to the nearest tree; iiD: the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor), both without differentiating species (*P. sylvestris* + *P. pinaster*) and for each species separately (*P. sylvestris* or *P. pinaster*).

Understory richness

Thirty understory species from twenty-one families were recorded, with chamaephytes (mostly *Ericaceae*) being the most abundant (25% of absolute cover), following by phanerophytes (8%) and hemicryptophytes (7%). The understory richness showed an increasing trend bounded below the maximum attainable response as the percentage of basal area of *P. sylvestris* increased (HOF model III; Figure 41).





<u>Understory richness maintenance and overyielding at small scale as a result of overstory-soil-</u> <u>understory interactions</u>

The structural equation model (SEM) showed a reasonably good fit as GFI value was greater than 0.90 and RMSEA was near to 0.08 (Figure 42). The SEM clearly showed that soil fertility (SBstock) affected positively the basal area of *P. sylvestris* (GPS) and the cover of hemicryptophytes, whereas soil moisture (WHC) affected negatively the basal area of *P. pinaster* (GPP) and the cover of hemicryptophytes. There is also a negative relation between the basal area of both *Pinus* species. Finally, the standardized path coefficients indicated that soil moisture (WHC) and hemicryptophytes affected positively the understory richness (S). The overall goodness of the model fit increased when including hemicryptophytes.



Figure 42. Conceptual model of the effects of soil moisture (WHC: water holding capacity) and fertility (SBstock: stock of sum of bases) on the basal area of the overstory species (GPS: basal area of P. sylvestris, GPP: basal area of *P. pinaster*) and the understory species richness (S) through the hemicryptophytes cover Continuous (Hemi). and dashed lines represent the signification level (p<0.1 or p>0.1, respectively). Red and green arrows represent negative and positive associations between variables, respectively.

Niche complementarity of Pinus species: soil water and fertility

Both Pinus species responded to soil moisture (WHC) and fertility (SBstock) with opposite trends (Figure 43a,b). *P. sylvestris* showed both asymmetrical response curves (HOF-model V) with the maximum skewed at the highest WHC and SBstock values. Conversely, *P. pinaster* showed both asymmetrical response curves (HOF-models V) with the maximum skewed at the lowest WHC and SBstock values.



Figure 43. HOF-derived response curves of overstory species (Pisy: *Pinus sylvestris* and Pipi: *Pinus pinaster*) relative to (a) soil moisture (WHC: water holding capacity) and (b) fertility (SBstock: stock of sum of bases) gradients; and location of the optimum (μ) and niche withd (2t) for both *Pinus* species relative to (c) soil moisture (WHC) and (d) fertility (SBstock) gradients.

In fact, the location of the optimum of overstory species along WHC and SBstock gradients (Figure 43c,d and Table 28) showed how *P. pinaster* had the greatest probability of occurrence (h > 50 and h>90 for WHC and SBstock respectively) in soils with low WHC (μ < 2 gwater cm⁻²) and

SBstock (μ < 3 Mg ha⁻¹), whereas *P. sylvestris* had the greatest probability of occurrence (h > 30 and h>40 for WHC and SBstock respectively) in soils with higher WHC (μ > 5 gwater cm⁻²) and SBstock (μ > 3 Mg ha⁻¹). Both Pinus species showed broader niches widths for WHC than for SBstock (Figure 43c,d and Table 28), and low degree of overlap between them (Figure 44).

Table 28. Location of optimum (μ), predicted maximum probability of occurrence (h) and niche amplitude based on 2t tolerances for both *Pinus* species along two soil gradients: moisture (WHC: water holding capacity) and fertility (SBstock: stock of sum of bases).

Soil gradients	Species	Model	h	μ	2t
W (1)C	P. sylvestris	V	30.56	9.12	5.35
VVIIC	P. pinaster	V	54.21	1.75	5.45
SBstock	P. sylvestris	V	45.06	3.61	0.57
	P. pinaster	V	92.63	2.42	0.90



Figure 44. Bidimensional niche for both overstory species (*P. sylvestris* and *P. pinaster*) including simustaneosly the 2t tolerance intervals to soil moisture (WHC) and fertility (SBstock) shown in Figures 43c and d.

Discussion

The spatial scale affects the overstory structure

Overstory density and total basal area differ among stands in a different way depending on the spatial scale analysed. At the stand level, both density and total basal area increased from PS to PP, being intermediate at MM (differences were only significant for total basal area), whereas at a smaller scale a significant overyielding in the total basal area but non-significant in density were

found. This change of pattern can be due to the change in the spatial pattern of tree mixture conditioned by the spatial scale (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). In mixed stands, the 'patch mixture' is observed at the stand level, i.e. Scots pines surrounded by Maritime pines or vice versa, whereas at the smaller spatial scale an 'intensive tree-wise mixture' where both species are closely interlocked was observed. The intimate mixture at a small scale has a larger contact zone between species than the patch mixture at the stand level, so mixing effects are more likely to be significant (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). Pretzsch et al. (2012) have already mentioned that productivity and resource-use efficiencies can change as a result of the different spatial mixing patterns (patch mixture vs. intimate mixture) since plant interactions at the neighbourhood scale play a fundamental role in regulating biodiversity–productivity relationships (Fichtner et al. 2018). Greater productivity in an intimate mixture than in a patch mixture has been already described in mixed forests (Ngo Bieng et al. 2013).

Tree species mixture promotes the overstory overyielding at a small spatial scale

Overyieldings in the total basal area and density in mixed stands were found when the overstory was studied at a small scale. That mixed forests can be more productive than single-species stands has been observed for many species combinations and ecosystems (Kelty 2006; Vilà et al. 2013; Forrester 2014; Riofrío et al. 2017a), suggesting that tree species richness fosters forest productivity (Fichtner et al. 2018). The biodiversity loss have also been linked to the productivity loss at global forests (Liang et al. 2016).

Here, we propose the greatest efficiency in the use of space where Scots pine and Maritime pine cohabit as the cause of this overyielding. Riofrío et al. (2017b) have already described the positive effects of this tree mixture on the efficiency in the use of the available space for growth. Thus, the distance from a random point (in our study, the center of the quadrat for understory sampling) to the nearest tree, and the distance from that tree to its nearest neighbor both decrease in mixtures at the stand level. Additionally, the spatial distribution pattern of both *Pinus* species considered separately changes from random in monospecific stands to regular in mixed stands; the productivity being greater for the regular spatial distribution pattern as Pukkala (1989) found. Competition leads to a more or less regular spacing of trees, and given that in the mixed forest the intra-specific competition is more intense than inter-specific competition, tree species should display a kind of mutual 'attraction', i.e. individuals of different species should grow more apart from each other (see Fig. 3d). Also Pretzsch and Schütze (2009) have pointed out that the increase in productivity in mixed stands can be caused by a more efficient exploitation of growth space compared to monospecific stands. As a result, in the same space, more trees fit in mixtures, and

density could act as an index to quantify the space occupied by forest species (Reineke 1933; Cattaneo 2018a). A biodiversity-productivity relationship caused by a density increase has already been described in grasslands (Marquard et al. 2009).

More efficiency in the use of spaces thanks to the niche complementarity

Niche complementarity has been described as a driver of diversity-productivity relationships (Loreau and Hector 2001). In our study, the complementarity in the use of resources, such as fertility and water in the soil, could explain the greatest efficiency in the used of the space of both *Pinus* species when they coexist, resulting in the highest productivity in mixed stands. On the other hand, the spatial scale-dependence of our results is consistent with the niche complementarity theoretical models that predict greater niche complementarity at smaller spatial scales (Chisholm et al. 2013).

A previous study at the same experimental devise showed how *P. pinaster* tolerates lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris*, but mixtures occupied areas with intermediate soil moisture and higher fertility (López-Marcos et al. 2019). The mesophilic character of *P. sylvestris* and the xerophytic character of *P. pinaster* are well known (Bravo-Oviedo and Montero 2008), as well as the ability of *P. pinaster* to grow in very poor soils, and under prolonged summer droughts (Alía and Martín 2003a). Here, we found that the basal area of *P. sylvestris* (GPS) is positively related to soil moisture (WHC) and fertility (SBstock), whereas the basal area of *P. pinaster* (GPP) is negatively related to both soil variables, suggesting resource use complementarity when mixed. Additionally, a crown complementarity in mixed vs monospecific stand of Scots pine and Maritime pine, using Spanish forest inventory data, was described as a driver of the overyielding in the mixtures (Riofrío et al. 2017a). However, it was already suspected that belowground resources complementarity could be the cause of that major higher productivity in the mixtures.

The complementarity in the use of soil resources is one of the key mechanisms by which mixed stands may achieve greater productivity than monospecific stands (Seidel et al. 2013). In stands with a supply of resources spatially more heterogeneous (Pretzsch et al. 2016a) as in mixtures, the efficiency in the use of resources increase (Binkley et al. 2004) since no species are competitively superior (Tilman et al. 1997b). Each species has an optimal competitive ability where it consumes the resources, thus it would leave sufficient unconsumed resources in regions away from its optimum, and so other species could use them and persist there (Tilman et al. 1997b). This effect, however, was only observed at small-scale because the neighborhood interactions play a fundamental role in regulating biodiversity–productivity relationships (Fichtner et al. 2018).

Overstory overyielding and understory richness relationship

Light is commonly considered to be the major limiting factor of understory cover and richness (Barbier et al. 2008), thus it is expected the lower understory richness the higher the basal area due to the lower light availability (Reich et al. 2012). However, we found the highest understory richness for percentages of basal area of *P. sylvestris* above a certain value, i.e. in mixed stands and in monospecific *P. sylvestris* stands (Figure 41). The high understory richness found in monospecific P. sylvestris stands seams reasonable since they have the lowest total basal area at both spatial scales. However, in mixed stands where total basal area is the highest, at least at the smaller spatial scale, we found higher understory richness than expected according to Reich et al. (2012), and similar to that found in monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris*. In the study area, there is probably no direct effect of the basal area on the understory richness, but through the complementarity in the use of soil resources by both Pinus species. Thus, a larger basal area allows to host greater species richness in the understory. Since hemicryptophytes was the only Raunkiær's life-form whose cover increased in mixed stands with respect to monospecific stands (López-Marcos et al. 2019), we propose to the hemicryptophytes as responsible of the higher understory richness in mixed stands. In fact, the hemicryptophytes was the only Raunkiær's lifeform whose inclusion in the structural equation model improved the goodness of model fit.

Implications for forest management

It is worth noting here that our results have important implications for forest management in the context of the supply of ecosystem services (Gamfeldt et al. 2013), such as biodiversity conservation and productivity. The mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine allows achieving an overstory overyielding while maintaining high understory richness despite the increase in basal area in the mixtures with respect to the monospecific stands of *P. sylvestris*. Thus we think that the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine, widely distributed in Spain (Serrada et al. 2008), should continue to be favored over pure stands in the study area. Nevertheless, in order to promote productivity, we recommend encouraging a more intimate mixture of both *Pinus* species to get a larger contact zone between them. In this way, both pines could explore the soil resources more efficiently given the water and fertility soil niche complementarity previously described. Additionally, we recommended respecting the understory when performing silvicultural treatments to maintain high the understory richness, particularly in the admixtures, thanks to a great extent to the contribution of hemicryptophytes.

Conclusions

Our results highlight the fundamental role of scale in determining the observed relationship between species richness and ecosystem functioning in forests. In particular, a small-scale overyielding was found in mixed stands related to the more efficient use of the space by the species of the overstory, as distances between trees were reduced in admixtures in relation to monospecific stands. This greater efficiency in space use is related to soil water and fertility niche complementarity of both *Pinus* species, and it was only detected at small scale thanks to the more intimate *Pinus* species mixture at this level. The small scale overyielding found in mixed stands has no negative effect on the understory richness.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Alfonso Ramos Calvo for his invaluable help with soil sampling, Carmen Blanco and Juan Carlos Arranz for their advice in the laboratory analyses, José Riofrío and Cristóbal Ordoñez for their assistance in the characterization and location of plots in the field, and the Regional Forest Service of Castilla and León to facilitate the triplet installation and monitoring. We also thank Josu G. Alday for his assistance with the structural equations modeling, and Juan Manuel Díez Clivillé (deceased) for his assistance with English. This research was funded by a predoctoral grant to DLM (BES-2015-072852) and the Project FORMIXING (AGL2014-51964-C2-1-R) from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of the Spanish Government.

Author contributions

DLM carried out the field and laboratory work, ran the data analysis and discussed the results. DLM and CMR discussed data analysis and commented on the results and discussion. CMR supported DLM with the statistical analysis. MBT supported DLM with the laboratory analyses. DLM, CMR, MBT and FB edited the manuscript. FB coordinated the research project.

References

- Aizpiru I, Aseginolaza C, Uribe-Echebarría PM, et al. (2007) Claves ilustradas de la flora del País Vasco y territorios limítrofes. Gobierno Vasco. Departamento de Medio Ambiente y de Oedenación del Territorio, Vitoria (Spain)
- Akaike H (1973) Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Brillinger D, Gani J, Hartigan J (eds) Second International Symposium on Information

Theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest (Hungary), pp 267–281

- Alday JG, Martínez-Ruiz C, Marrs RH, Bravo F (2010). Influence of harvesting intensity on the floristic composition of natural Mediterranean Maritime pine forest. Acta Oecol 36:349-356. doi:10.1016/j.actao.2010.03.001
- Alday JG, Zaldívar P, Torroba-Balmori P, Fernánez-Santos B, Martínez-Ruiz C (2016) Natural forest expansion on reclaimed coal mines in Northern Spain: the role of native shrubs as suitable microsites. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:13606–13616. doi: 10.1007/s11356-015-5681-2
- Alía R, Martín S (2003) EUFORGEN Technical Guidelines for genetic conservation and use for Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*). In: International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome (Italy), p 6
- Antos JA (2009) Understory Plants in Temperate Forests. In: Owens JN, Lunday HG (eds) Forests and Forests Plants. Centre for Forest Biology, University of Victoria, Victoria (Canada)
- Assmann E (1970) The principles of forest yield study. Studies in the organic production, structure, increment and yield of forest stands. Oxford, UK
- Balvanera P, Pfisterer AB, Buchmann N, et al. (2006) Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. Ecol Lett 9:1146–1156. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00963.x
- Barbier S, Gosselin F, Balandier P (2008) Influence of tree species on understory vegetation diversity and mechanisms involved-A critical review for temperate and boreal forests. For Ecol Manage 254:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.038
- Binkley D, Stape JL, Ryan MG (2004) Thinking about efficiency of resource use in forests. For Ecol Manage 193:5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2004.01.019
- Brassard BW, Chen HYH, Cavard X, et al. (2013) Tree species diversity increases fine root productivity through increased soil volume filling. J Ecol 101:210–219. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12023
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Montero G (2008) Descripción de los catacteres culturales de las principales especies forestales. In: Serrada. R, Montero G, Reque JA (eds) Compendio de Selvidultura Aplicada en España. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain), p 1036–1114.
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Ammer C, et al (2014) European mixed forests: Definition and research perspectives. For Syst 23:518–533. doi: 10.5424/fs/2014233-06256
- Byth K, Ripley BD (1980) On sampling spatial patterns by distance methods. Biometrics 36:279– 284
- Cardinale BJ, Wright JP, Cadotte MW, et al. (2007) Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:18123–18128. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709069104
- Cattaneo N (2018) Competencia, productividad y cambios a nivel de copaen bosque mixtos de pinos mediterráneos. Señales a nivel de árbol individual. PhD Dissertation, Universidad de

Valladolid (Spain)

- Chesson P (2000) Mechanisms of Maintenance of Species Diversity. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 31:343– 366
- Chisholm RA, Muller-Landau HC, Abdul Rahman K, et al. (2013) Scale-dependent relationships between tree species richness and ecosystem function in forests. J Ecol 101:1214–1224. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12132
- Colwell RK (2009) Biodiversity: Concepts, Patterns and Measurement. In: Simon AL (ed) The Princeton Guide to Ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton (USA), pp 257–263
- Del Río M, Pretzsch H, Alberdi I, et al. (2015) Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. Eur J For Res 1–27. doi: 10.1007/s10342-015-0927-6
- Ettema CH, Wardle DA (2002) Spatial soil ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 17:177–183. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02496-5
- Felton A, Lindbladh M, Brunet J, Fritz Ö (2010) Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixedspecies production stands: An assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. For Ecol Manage 260:939–947. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011
- Fichtner A, Härdtle W, Bruelheide H, et al. (2018) Neighbourhood interactions drive overyielding in mixed-species tree communities. Nat Commun 9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03529-w
- Forrester DI (2014) The spatial and temporal dynamics of species interactions in mixed-species forests: From pattern to process. For Ecol Manage 312:282–292. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.10.003
- Forrester DI, Albrecht AT (2014) Light absorption and light-use efficiency in mixtures of *Abies alba* and *Picea abies* along a productivity gradient. For Ecol Manage 328:94–102. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.026
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Cowie AL (2005) On the success and failure of mixed-species tree plantations: Lessons learned from a model system of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 209:147–155. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.01.012
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Cowie AL (2006) Carbon allocation in a mixed-species plantation of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 233:275–284. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.018
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Khanna PK (2004) Growth dynamics in a mixed-species plantation of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 193:81–95. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2004.01.024
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, et al (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2328
- Grace JB (2006) Structural equation modeling and natural systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK)

Grossman JJ, Cavender-Bares J, Hobbie SE, et al. (2017) Species richness and traits predict overyielding in stem growth in an early-successional tree diversity experiment. Ecology 98:2601–2614. doi: 10.1002/ecy.1958

Hector A, Hooper R (2002) Darwin and the first ecological experiment. Science 295:639–640

- Hooper DU, Dukes JS (2004) Overyielding among plant functional groups in a long-term experiment. Ecol Lett 7:95–105. doi: 10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00555.x
- Hopkins B (1954) A new method of determining the type of distribution of plant individuals. Ann Bot 18:213–227
- Huisman J, Olff H, Fresco LFM (1993) A hierarchical set of models for species response analysis. J Veg Sci 4:37–46
- IGME (2015) Mapa Geológico de la Península Ibérica, Baleares y Canarias a escala 1M.
- Jactel H, Gritti ES, Drössler L, et al. (2018) Positive biodiversity–productivity relationships in forests: Climate matters. Biol Lett 14:12–15. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2017.0747
- Jactel H, Nicoll BC, Branco M, et al. (2009) The influences of forest stand management on biotic and abiotic risks of damage. Ann For Sci 66:1–18. doi: 10.1051/forest/2009054
- Jansen F, Oksanen J (2013) How to model species responses along ecological gradients Huisman-Olff-Fresco models revisited. J Veg Sci 24:1108–1117. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12050
- Johnson JB, Omland KS (2004) Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 19:101– 108. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2003.10.013
- Kelty MJ (2006) The role of species mixtures in plantation forestry. For Ecol Manage 233:195–204. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.011
- Knoke T, Ammer C, Stimm B, Mosandl R (2008) Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: A review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur J For Res 127:89–101. doi: 10.1007/s10342-007-0186-2
- Köppen W (1936) Das geographische System der Klimate. In: Köppen W, Geiger R (eds): Handbuch der Klimatologie. Velag von Gebruder Borntraeger. Berlin. pp 7–30
- Lawesson JE, Oksanen J (2002) Niche characteristics of Danish woody species as derived from coenoclines. J Veg Sci 13:279–290
- Liang J, Crowther TW, Picard N, et al (2016) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354:aaf8957. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf8957
- Liu Y, Lei P, Xiang W, et al. (2017) Accumulation of soil organic C and N in planted forests fostered by tree species mixture. Biogeosciences 14:3937–3945. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-3937-2017
- López-Marcos D, Martínez-Ruiz C, Turrión MB, et al. (2018) Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests. Eur J For Res 137:831–847. doi: 10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y

- López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2019) Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed versus monospecific Mediterranean pine forests. Eur J For Res 138:939–955. doi: 10.1007/s10342-019-01215-0
- López-Marcos D, Turrión MB, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020a) Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests?. Ann For Sci (in press)
- Loreau M, Hector A (2001) Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature 412:72–76. doi: 10.1038/35083573
- Luo W, Liang J, Cazzolla Gatti R, et al. (2019) Parameterization of biodiversity–productivity relationship and its scale dependency using georeferenced tree-level data. J Ecol 107:1106–1119. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.13129
- Madrigal-González J, Ruiz-Benito P, Ratcliffe S, et al. (2016) Complementarity effects on tree growth are contingent on tree size and climatic conditions across Europe. Sci Rep 6:1–11. doi: 10.1038/srep32233
- MAPA (1994) Tomo III. In: Métodos oficiales de Análisis. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid (Spain)
- Marquard E, Weigelt A, Roscher C, et al. (2009) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship due to increased plant density. J Ecol 97:696–704. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01521.x
- Michalet R, Chen SY, An LZ, et al. (2015) Communities: Are they groups of hidden interactions? J Veg Sci 26:207–218. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12226
- Nafría-García DA, Garrido-del-Pozo N, Álvarez-Arias MV, et al (2013) Atlas agroclimático de Castilla y León, 1st edn. Instituto Tecnológico Agrario, Junta de Castilla y León-Agencia Estatal de Meteorología. http://atlas.itacy l.es
- Ngo Bieng MA, Perot T, de Coligny F, Goreaud F (2013) Spatial pattern of trees influences species productivity in a mature oak-pine mixed forest. Eur J For Res 132:841–850. doi: 10.1007/s10342-013-0716-z
- Nguyen H, Herbohn J, Firn J, Lamb D (2012) Biodiversity-productivity relationships in small-scale mixed-species plantations using native species in Leyte province, Philippines. For Ecol Manage 274:81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.02.022
- Nilsson MC, Wardle DA (2005) Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: Evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Front Ecol Environ 3:421–428. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0421:UVAAFE]2.0.CO;2

Pinheiro J, Bates D (2000) Mixed-effects models in S and S-Plus. Springer-Verlag, New York (USA)

Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, et al. (2018) Package ""nlme." nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R Package Version 3.1-137.

- Pretzsch H, del Río M, Schütze G, et al. (2016) Mixing of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, And the effect increases with water availability. For Ecol Manage 373:149–166. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.043
- Pretzsch H, Dieler J, Seifert T, Rötzer T (2012) Climate effects on productivity and resource-use efficiency of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* [L.] Karst.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* [L.]) in stands with different spatial mixing patterns. Trees Struct Funct 26:1343–1360. doi: 10.1007/s00468-012-0710-y
- Pretzsch H, Schütze G (2009) Transgressive overyielding in mixed compared with pure stands of Norway spruce and European beech in Central Europe: Evidence on stand level and explanation on individual tree level. Eur J For Res 128:183–204. doi: 10.1007/s10342-008-0215-9
- Pukkala T (1989) Methods to describe the competition process in a tree stand. Scand J For Res 4:187–202
- R Development Core Team (2016) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-proje ct.org/. Accessed 15 Nov 2016
- Raunkiær C (1934) The life forms of plants and their bearing on geography. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK
- Reich PB, Frelich LE, Voldseth RA, et al. (2012) Understorey diversity in southern boreal forests is regulated by productivity and its indirect impacts on resource availability and heterogeneity. J Ecol 100:539–545. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01922.x

Reineke LH (1933) Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J Agric Res 46:627-638.

- Richards A (2005) Testing ecological theory using the information-theoretic approach: examples and cautionary results. Ecology 86:2805–2814. doi: 10.1890/05-0074
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Bravo F (2017a) Mixing effects on growth efficiency in mixed pine forests. Forestry 90:381–392. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpw056
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Maguire D, Bravo F (2019) Species mixing effects on height–diameter and basal area increment models for Scots pine and Maritime pine. Forests 10:249. doi: 10.3390/f10030249
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Pretzsch H, Bravo F (2017b) Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For Ecol Manage 405:219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Nanos N, del Rey MC, et al. (2011) Small-scale variation of vegetation in a mixed forest understorey is partly controlled by the effect of overstory composition on litter accumulation. J For Res 16:473–483. doi: 10.1007/s10310-010-0237-2

Rosseel Y (2012) lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. J Stat Softw 48:1–364

- Saetre P, Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (1999) Soil organisms and carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralisation in Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce Birch stands. Biol Fertil Soils 28:382–388. doi: 10.1007/s003740050508
- Seidel D, Leuschner C, Scherber C, et al. (2013) The relationship between tree species richness, canopy space exploration and productivity in a temperate broad-leaf mixed forest. For Ecol Manage 310:366–374. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.08.058
- Serrada R, Montero G, Reque JA (2008) Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA, Madrid (Spain)
- Smith DM, Larson BC, Kelty MJ, Ashton PNS (1997) The practice of silviculture. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (USA)
- Soil-Survey-Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12 th. USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, DC (USA)
- Szwagrzyk J (1992) Small-scale spatial patterns of trees in a mixed *Pinus sylvestris-Fagus sylvatica* forest. For Ecol Manage 51:301–315
- Thurm EA, Pretzsch H (2016) Improved productivity and modified tree morphology of mixed versus pure stands of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) with increasing precipitation and age. Ann For Sci 73:1047–1061. doi: 10.1007/s13595-016-0588-8
- Tilman D, Tilman D, Lehman CL, et al. (1997) Plant diversity and ecosystem productivity: theoretical considerations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:1857–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.5.1857
- Van de Peer T, Verheyen K, Ponette Q, et al. (2018) Overyielding in young tree plantations is driven by local complementarity and selection effects related to shade tolerance. J Ecol 106:1096–1105. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12839
- Vilà M, Carrillo-Gavilán A, Vayreda J, et al. (2013) Disentangling biodiversity and climatic determinants of wood production. PLoS One 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053530

Appendix IV

 Table 29. Data analyses of soil properties: Water holding capacity.

Water holding capacity of each horizon (WHC_{Hi})

 $WHC_{Hi} = UW_{Hi} \cdot bD_{Hi} \cdot \%EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}$

UW_{Hi}: Useful water of each horizon bD_{Hi}: bulk density of each horizon %EF_{Hi}: % of earth fraction of each horizon T_{Hi}: thickness of each horizon

Water holding capacity in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; WHC) $WHC = \sum WHC_{Hi}$

Table 30. Data analyses of soil properties: Sum of bases stock.

Sum of bases of each horizon (SBstock_{Hi})

 $SBstock_{Hi} = SB_{Hi} \cdot bD_{Hi} \cdot \% EF_{Hi} T_{Hi}$

Sum of bases stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm; SBstock) SBstock = Σ SBstock_{Hi}

 Table 31. Data analyses of overstory properties: Basal area of Pinus sylvestris.

Basal area of Pinus sylvestris (GPS)

GPS = ∑ g_{PSi}/Si

g_{PSi}: Secction of *Pinus sylvestris* stem (m²) Si: surface (ha)

Secction of Pinus sylvestris stem (g_{PSi}) $g_{PSi} = \pi/4 \text{ dn}_{PSi}^2$

 dn_{PSi} : normal diameter of every Pinus sylvestris stem >7.5 cm at the breast height (m)

Table 32. Data analyses of overstory properties: Basal area of Pinus pinaster.

Basal area of Pinus pinaster (GPP)

GPP = ∑ g_{PPi}/Si

g_{PPi}: Secction of *Pinus pinaster* stem (m²) Si: surface (ha)

Secction of *Pinus pinaster* stem (g_{PPi}) $g_{PPi} = \pi/4 \text{ dn}_{PPi}^2$ Si: surface (na)

 dn_{PPi} : normal diameter of every Pinus pinaster stem >7.5 cm at the breast height (m)

 Table 33. Data analyses of overstory properties: Total basal area.

Total basal area (GT)

GT = GPS+GPP

GPS: basal area of *Pinus sylvestris* GPP: basal area of *Pinus pinaster*

General discussion

The results derived from this thesis are relevant in the context of the forest ecosystem services supply of the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine widely distributed in Spain (Serrada et al. 2008). A competitive advantage of the mixed forests of Scots pine and Maritime pine vs the monospecific stands in biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration, fertility, and productivity is highlighted (Figure 45).



Figure 45. Graphical abstract of the whole thesis.

Initially, the objective of this thesis was to analyze the role of the mixed forests of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the provision of two ecosystem services: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration. However, derived from the relationship between them, other two ecosystem services emanate, such as fertility and productivity. Thus, the relationship between those other ecosystem services is also analyzed here: overstory biodiversity-soil carbon sequestration (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018), soil carbon sequestration-soil fertility (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018), understory biodiversity-soil fertility (II) (López-Marcos et al. 2019), soil fertility-overstory productivity (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020a), and overstory productivity-understory biodiversity liodiversity (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b).

Biodiversity conservation

First, it is worth noting here that *Pinus sylvestris* is present in the mixed stands under worse soil water content conditions than in monospecific stands. Probably, in these mixtures, *P. sylvestris* is able to occupy the most favorable microsites according to the water in soil **(II)** (López-Marcos et al. 2019). This is particularly interesting since in the study area the mixtures of both *Pinus* species are located at the rear-edges for Scots pine forests, where ecological conditions (high temperatures and frequent droughts) approach the species tolerance limit and the most drastic effects of climate change are predicted (Matías and Jump 2012). Thus the mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine can be an opportunity to conserve *P. sylvestis* in the study area.

In addition, the mixed stands, allow the regeneration not only of both pine species but also of the Iberian Peninsula endemic oak, *Quercus pyrenaica* (III) (López-Marcos et al. 2020a). This encourages the nurse effect of the conifers on the *Quercus* spp. in the mixed pine stands (Pigott 1990b). This mixed pine forest also promotes the establishment of a greater variety of understory species associated with the *Quercus pyrenaica* forests and sharing niche amplitude (III) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b), contributing to the maintenance of high understory richness in mixed stands under higher water-stress conditions (II) (López-Marcos et al. 2019) and lower light availability (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b). Thus, Scots pine and Maritime pine mixed forests could be considered as a biodiversity conservation strategy in the current climate change scenario (Felton et al. 2010).

On the other hand, hemicryptophytes are pointed out as the only Raunkiær's life-form linked to better soil fertility status **(II)** (López-Marcos et al. 2019) and responsible of the understory richness conservation in mixed stands by improving the goodness of the model fit **(IV)** (López-Marcos et al. 2020a).

Last, in the mixed pine forests, under moderate water-stress conditions, a facilitation effect of chamaetophytes on hemicryptophytes is described **(II)** (Grime 1977; Bertness and Callaway 1994; López-Marcos et al. 2019).

Carbon sequestration

When comparing monospecific and mixed pine forests, different trends in carbon inputs were found at different soil layers. The different soil carbon accumulation trends are a consequence of the different amount and nature of litter deposited in each soil layer since the decomposition of plant tissues in terrestrial ecosystems regulates the transfer of carbon and nutrients to the soil (Wang et al. 2014a,b). At the topsoil (0–10 cm), carbon stock reaches higher values in *P. sylvestris* monospecific stands, lower in *P. pinaster* monospecific stands and intermediate in mixed stands, whereas at the subsoil layers (10–30 cm), it reaches higher values in mixed stands than in monospecific topsoil are related to the more sclerophyllous foliage of *Pinus pinaster* with higher lignin content (Augusto et al. 2015). The presence of more chemically recalcitrant compounds such as lignin could explain the lower decomposition rate of litter (Wang et al. 2016) and in turn the lower carbon input into the soil. Nevertheless, higher carbon accumulation at the subsoil layers (1) (Andivia et al. 2016; López-Marcos et al. 2018).

On the other hand, the higher carbon input from roots in deeper soil layers is related to a greater thickness of the first mineral horizon in mixed stands than monospecific stands (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018). At the same time, this higher fine roots rate is related to the tree diversity (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018); a positive correlation between the tree species diversity, fine root biomass and carbon stock in deeper soil layers have been previously described (Dawud et al. 2016).

The higher accumulation of soil carbon stocks caused by the greater root litter in deeper soil layers is related to the belowground niche complementarity (Dawud et al. 2016). This niche complementarity could be caused (1) by the rooting pattern change, because tree species may behave differently in a mixture compared with their behavior in monospecific stands (I) (Brandtberg et al. 2000; López-Marcos et al. 2018), it would mean that the fine roots reach deeper soil layers in the mixed stands; or (2) by the complementarity use of soil resources (IV) (Seidel et al. 2013; López-Marcos et al. 2020b).

These results encourage the forest management of the mixed stand in the context of adaptation and mitigation to climate change through carbon sequestration or at least soil carbon

preservation (Schleuß et al. 2014), since the subsoil carbon is known to be more effectively stabilized as compared to topsoil or litter layer carbon (Rumpel and Kögel-Knabner 2011). Therefore, potential losses of soil carbon from subsoil induced by warming will lag in time and provide a temporal buffer **(I)** (Schleuß et al. 2014; López-Marcos et al. 2018).

Fertility

The exchangeable cations serve as good indicators of soil fertility because are critical nutrients for both plant and microbial metabolism and the lack of exchangeable cations availability constraints net primary productivity (Wang et al. 2017). Thus, the exchangeable cations are used here as a fertility indicator (I) (II) (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2018; López-Marcos et al. 2019; 2020b).

First, an indirect effect of the admixture on the exchangeable cations and the sum of bases is reported (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018) given that the soil organic matter improves the soil capacity to retain nutrients including exchangeable cations (Beldin et al. 2007). So the effect of tree species composition on the exchangeable cations and on the sum of bases is mediated by their effect on the carbon (Cremer and Prietzel 2017); a positive correlation between carbon and exchangeable cations from 0 to 30 cm depth was found. Thus, the exchangeable cations and the sum of bases describe the same two tendencies found for the carbon storage (I) (López-Marcos et al. 2018): at the topsoil higher values in Scots pine monospecific stands, lower in Maritime pine monospecific stands and intermediate in mixed forest are recorded, and fertility being higher in deeper soil layers when Scots pine and Maritime pine cohabit.

In addition, the greater thickness of the first horizon in the mixed pine forest allows achieving higher nutrient stock rates **(II)** (López-Marcos et al. 2019). The higher thickness of the A horizon in mixed stands in relation to monospecific stands has already reported by Schleuß et al. (2014).

On the other hand, Tilman et al. (1997) have been described as biodiversity increase with nutrient retention. This is related to the positive correlation between the understory richness and Mg⁺²stock found **(II)** (López-Marcos et al. 2019). This is really interesting since magnesium is known to be a critical component in the carbon fixation and transformation processes in the vegetation (Guo et al. 2015), and its deficiency can affect forest decline (Huettl 1992; Zas and Serrada 2003).

In the study area, both greater productivity and overyielding are found in mixed stands, compared to monocultures (IV) (Riofrío et al. 2017b; López-Marcos et al. 2020b), and it is explained by greater soil fertility (II) (Mg⁺²stock; Riofrío et al. 2017a; López-Marcos et al. 2019) and soil niche complementarity (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b).

Furthermore, hemicryptophytes are the only life-form whose cover was positively related to the fertility in the study area, showing a cover increase as carbon and magnesium stocks increase (II) (López-Marcos et al. 2019). This finding is in agreement with the previously accepted idea that hemicryptophytes are indicative of sites with relatively good soil fertility (Mark et al. 2000; Sigcha et al. 2018).

Productivity

An overyielding in the basal area of mixed stands is found and related to the soil water and fertility niche complementarity **(IV)** (López-Marcos et al. 2020b) since the niche partitioning is a driver of the species mixing effect on productivity (Loreau and Hector 2001).

In stands with a supply of resources spatially more heterogeneous (Pretzsch et al. 2016a), as in mixtures, the efficiency in the use of resources increase (Binkley et al. 2004) since each species has an optimal competitive ability where it consumes the resources and a sufficient unconsumed resources leave in regions away from its optimum to be used by other species (Tilman et al. 1997b).

Accordingly, Scots pine prefers wetter and the most fertile positions (Scots pine basal area positively correlated to soil moisture and fertility) while Maritime pine occupies the drier and less fertile places (Maritime pine basal area negatively correlated to soil moisture and fertility) (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b). These results are in agreement with the mesophilic character of Scots pine and xerophytic character of Maritime pine (Bravo-Oviedo and Montero 2008), the Scots pine and Maritime pine segregation along the soil water content gradient (II) (López-Marcos et al. 2019), and the ability of Maritime pine to grow in very poor soils, and under prolonged drought (Alía and Martín 2003a).

However, the overyielding in basal area was only detected at small-scale (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b) since the spatial pattern of the mixture changes at different spatial scales (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014) and this changes the resource-use efficiency and in turn affect the productivity (Pretzsch et al. 2012); the mixture by patches is observed at the stand level, whereas an intensive mixture is observed at small scale (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b).

On the one hand, a greater space use efficiency in mixed stands over the monospecific stand is described (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b): the distances between trees are reduced when both pines cohabit (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b). As a result, more trees fit in the same area when they are mixed (higher density) (IV) (López-Marcos et al. 2020b), thus showing a positive biodiversity-productivity relationship caused by a density increase (Marquard et al. 2009).

The spatial scale-dependence of these results is consistent with the niche complementarity theoretical models that predict greater niche complementarity at smaller spatial scales (Chisholm et al. 2013). Thus, the intimate mixture at a small scale has a larger contact zone between the species, so, mixing effects are more likely to be significant (Bravo-Oviedo et al. 2014). The plant interactions at the neighborhood scale play a fundamental role in regulating biodiversity– productivity relationships (Fichtner et al. 2018).

Conclusions / Conclusiones

Conclusions

- I. The mixture of Scots pine and Maritime pine in the study area shows a competitive advantage in comparison with the respective monospecific stands to the ecosystem services supply. That is: (1) in terms of carbon sequestration through the carbon accumulation in the subsoil layers where is protected from external disturbance; in terms of biodiversity (2) through the understory richness conservation under worse soil water conditions, and (3) through the regeneration of the endemic Iberian Peninsula oak (*Quercus pyrenaica*) and associated understory species; (4) in terms of fertility thanks to the greater thickness of the first mineral horizon that allows to achieve higher nutrient stocks rates; and (5) in terms of the yield at small spatial scale because of the basal area increase as a result of more efficient space use.
- II. The carbon input shows different patterns when comparing between layers of the soil profile due to the different amount and origin of the organic matter deposited at different depths. In the topsoil (0-10 cm), the carbon stock is higher in Scots pine monospecific stands thanks to the amount and nature of the forest floor leaf litter. Thus, a relatively strong tree species identity effect is observed in the forest floor and the topsoil layer. Nevertheless, in the subsoil (10-30 cm) the carbon stock is higher in the mixed pine stands as a result of the greater amount of the fine root litter. These influences of the stand type on carbon of the mineral soil profile are reflected in differences in the exchangeable cations.
- III. The understory (plant species, Raunkiær's life-forms, and tree regeneration) responds to the gradient of the basal area of both *Pinus* species associated with a water-stress gradient (*P. pinaster* tolerates lower soil water content than *P. sylvestris*). The Scots pine monospecific stands, with species characteristic of humid and temperate zones, including *P. sylvestris* regeneration, are dominated by phanerophytes. At the opposite end of the gradient, the Maritime pine monospecific stands, with typical species of well-drained Mediterranean areas, including *Pinus pinaster* regeneration, are dominated by

chamaephytes. In the mixed stands, where *Pinus sylvestris* and *Pinus pinaster* cohabit and hemicryptophytes show the maximum cover, regeneration of the western European endemic species, *Quercus pyrenaica*, is added to the regeneration of both *Pinus* species.

- IV. The mixture of both *Pinus* species also improves soil fertility and maintains similar understory richness to that of monospecific stands of *Pinus sylvestris* but under lower soil water content. Understory species typical of the native Pyrenean oak forests in the Iberian Peninsula, which share with *Quercus pyrenaica* the same regeneration niche, contribute to maintaining high understory richness in such mixed pine forests. Hemicryptophytes are the only understory life-form positively linked to better soil fertility status (defined by the total organic carbon and exchangeable Mg⁺² stocks).
- V. A small-scale overyielding was found in mixed stands related to the more efficient use of the space by the species of the overstory (more intimate *Pinus* species mixture at this level), which in turn is related to soil water and fertility niche complementarity. The small scale overyielding found in mixed stands has no negative effect on the understory richness.

Conclusiones

- I. La mezcla de pino resinero y pino albar en el área de estudio muestra una ventaja competitiva, en comparación con las masas monoespecíficas, en la provisión de servicios ecosistémicos. Esto es: (1) en el secuestro de carbono a través de la mayor acumulación de carbono en las capas del subsuelo donde está protegido de perturbaciones externas; en biodiversidad (2) a través de la conservación de la riqueza del sotobosque en peores condiciones de agua en el suelo, y (3) de la regeneración del robledal endémico de *Quercus pyrenaica* y el establecimiento de especies asociadas del sotobosque; (4) en fertilidad gracias al mayor espesor del primer horizonte que permite alcanzar mayores tasas de reservas de nutrientes; y (5) en la productividad a pequeña escala espacial debido al aumento del área basal como resultado del uso más eficiente del espacio.
- II. El aporte de carbono muestra diferentes tendencias al comparar entre capas del perfil del suelo debido a la diferente cantidad y procedencia de la hojarasca depositada a diferentes profundidades. En la capa superior del suelo (0-10 cm) las reservas de carbono son más altas en los pinares monoespecíficos de pino albar gracias a la cantidad y la naturaleza de la hojarasca depositada en el suelo del bosque. Sin embargo, en el subsuelo (10-30 cm) las reservas de carbono son más altas reservas de carbono son más altas en el pinar mixto como resultado de la mayor cantidad de raíces finas. La influencia de la composición del dosel en el carbono del perfil del suelo mineral se corresponde también en diferencias en los cationes intercambiables.
- III. El sotobosque (especies vegetales, formas de vida de Raunkiær y regeneración de árboles) responde al gradiente de área basal de ambas especies de pinos asociado con un gradiente de disponibilidad de agua en el suelo (*P. pinaster* tolera un menor contenido de agua del suelo que *P. sylvestris*). Las masas monoespecíficas del pino albar, con especies características de zonas húmedas y templadas, incluyendo la regeneración de *P. sylvestris*, están dominados por fanerófitos. En el extremo opuesto del gradiente, las masas monoespecíficas del pino resinero, con especies típicas de áreas mediterráneas bien drenadas, incluida la regeneración *Pinus pinaster*, están dominadas por caméfitos. En las mass mixtas, donde *Pinus sylvestris* y *Pinus pinaster* conviven y los hemicriptófitos muestran la máxima cobertura, la regeneración de la especie endémica de Europa occidental, *Quercus pyrenaica*, se añade a la regeneración de ambas especies de pinos.

- IV. La mezcla de ambas especies de pinos también mejora la fertilidad del suelo y mantiene una riqueza similar a la de las masas monoespecíficas de *Pinus sylvestris* pero bajo menor contenido de agua del suelo. Las especies de sotobosque típicas de los bosques nativos de robles pirenaicos de la Península Ibérica, que comparten con *Quercus pyrenaica* el mismo nicho de regeneración, contribuyen a mantener una alta riqueza de sotobosque en estos bosques mixtos de pinos. Los hemicriptofitos son la única forma de vida de sotobosque positivamente vinculada a un mejor estado de fertilidad del suelo (definido por el carbono orgánico total y los cationes intercambiables de Mg⁺²).
- V. Se encontró un sobrerendimiento a pequeña escala espacial en masas mixtas relacionado con el uso más eficiente del espacio por las especies arbóreas (mezcla más íntima de especies de pinos a este nivel), que a su vez se relaciona con la complementariedad de nicho edáfico (agua del suelo y fertilidad). La sobrerendimiento encontrado a pequeña escala espacial en los bosques mixtos no tiene ningún efecto negativo en la riqueza del sotobosque.

Management recomendations

Following the conclusions drawn from this thesis, it is necessary to issue a management recommendation of the Scots pine and Maritime pine mixed stands in the ecosystem services supply context.

- I. Taking into account the relationships between the analyzed ecosystem services it seems obvious that the management of these ecosystem services cannot be done in isolation. The management of all ecosystem services should be considered in an integrated manner to achieve optimal results.
- **II.** Since the presence of *Pinus sylvestris* in the mixed stand, under higher water-stress conditions, corresponds with its distribution limit, these mixtures are an opportunity to conserve *Pinus sylvestis* in the study area in the new climate change scenery.
- **III.** The Scots pine and Maritime pine mixtures are postulated as a better biodiversity conservation strategy than monospecific stand because of the conservation of the understory richness under worse soil water and light availability conditions. The establishment of typical understory species of the native Pyrenean oak forests, including *Quercus pyrenaica* regeneration, contributes to the high understory richness in mixed stands.
- IV. The management treatments should respect the understory since some Raunkiær's lifeforms, such as hemicryptophytes, are in part responsible for the understory richness in mixed forests.
- VI. The mixed stands can accumulate greater carbon amounts in the subsoil layers encouraging the forest management of the mixed stands in the context of adaptation and mitigation to climate change since potential losses of soil carbon from subsoil induced by warming will lag in time and provide a temporal buffer.
- VII. The more intimate mixture of *Pinus* species in mixed forests is recommended to promote productivity since the soil niche complementarity is detected at the neighborhood scale.

References

- Aguirre N, Sven G, Michael W, Bernd S (2006) Enrichment of *Pinus patula* plantations with native species in southern Ecuador. Lyonia 10 (1):17-29
- Ahmed IU, Smith AR, Jones DL, Godbold DL (2016) Tree species identity influences the vertical distribution of labile and recalcitrant carbon in a temperate deciduous forest soil. For Ecol Manage 359:352–360. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.07.018
- Aizpiru I, Aseginolaza C, Uribe-Echebarría PM, et al. (2007) Claves ilustradas de la flora del País Vasco y territorios limítrofes. Gobierno Vasco. Departamento de Medio Ambiente y de Oedenación del Territorio, Vitoria (Spain)
- Akaike H (1973) Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Brillinger D, Gani J, Hartigan J (eds) Second International Symposium on Information Theory. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest (Hungary), pp 267–281
- Alcántara JM, Garrido JL, Rey PJ (2019) Plant species abundance and phylogeny explain the structure of recruitment networks. New Phytol 223:366–376. doi: 10.1111/nph.15774
- Alday JG, Martínez-Ruiz C, Marrs RH, Bravo F (2010) Influence of harvesting intensity on the floristic composition of natural Mediterranean maritime pine forest. Acta Oecol 36:349–356. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2010.03.001
- Alday JG, Zaldívar P, Torroba-Balmori P, et al (2016) Natural forest expansion on reclaimed coal mines in Northern Spain: the role of native shrubs as suitable microsites. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:13606–13616. doi: 10.1007/s11356-015-5681-2
- Ali A, Yan ER (2017) Functional identity of overstorey tree height and understorey conservative traits drive aboveground biomass in a subtropical forest. Ecol Indic 83:158–168. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.07.054
- Alía R, Martín S (2003) EUFORGEN Technical Guidelines for genetic conservation and use for Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*). In: International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome (Italy), p 6
- Almendros C (2004) Investigaciones básicas sobre el origen y la estructura molecular de las formas estables de materia orgánica relacionadas con el proceso de secuestro de carbono en los suelos. Edafología 11:229–248. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Amaral Franco J (1986) Género *Pinus* L. In: Castroviejo S, Aedo C, Laínz M, et al. (eds) Flora Iberica. Real Jardín Botánico, CSIC, Madrid, pp 168–174
- Andivia E, Rolo V, Jonard M, et al (2016) Tree species identity mediates mechanisms of top soil carbon sequestration in a Norway spruce and European beech mixed forest. Ann For Sci 73:437–447. doi: 10.1007/s13595-015-0536-z
- Anthos (2017) Information System of the plants of Spain. In: Real Jardín Botánico, CSIC Fund. Biodivers. www.anthos.es

- Antos JA (2009) Understory plants in temperate forests. In: Owens JN, Lunday HG (eds) Forests and forests plants. Centre for Forest Biology, University of Victoria, Victoria (Canada)
- Arrieta S, Suárez F (2006) Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) plantations contribute to the regeneration of holly (*Ilex aquifolium* L.) in mediterranean central Spain. Eur J For Res 125:271–279. doi: 10.1007/s10342-006-0121-y
- Assmann E (1970) The principles of forest yield study. Studies in the organic production, structure, increment and yield of forest stands. Oxford, UK
- Aubin I, Messier C, Bouchard A (2008) Can plantations develop understory biological and physical attributes of naturally regenerated forests? Biol Conserv 141:2461–2476. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2008.07.007
- Augusto L, De Schrijver A, Vesterdal L, et al (2015) Influences of evergreen gymnosperm and deciduous angiosperm tree species on the functioning of temperate and boreal forests. Biol Rev 90:444–466. doi: 10.1111/brv.12119
- Avendaño-Yáñez M de la L, Sánchez-Velásquez LR, Meave JA, Pineda-López M del R (2016) Can *Pinus* plantations facilitate reintroduction of endangered cloud forest species? Landsc Ecol Eng 12:99–104. doi: 10.1007/s11355-015-0277-z
- Bakker M., Augusto L, Achat DL (2006) Fine root distribution of trees and understory in mature stands of Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*) on dry and humid sites. Plant Soil 286:37–51. doi: 10.1007/s11104-006-9024-4
- Balvanera P, Pfisterer AB, Buchmann N, et al (2006) Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. Ecol Lett 9:1146–1156. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00963.x
- Barbier S, Gosselin F, Balandier P (2008) Influence of tree species on understory vegetation diversity and mechanisms involved-A critical review for temperate and boreal forests. For Ecol Manage 254:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.038
- Barkman JJ (1992) Canopies and microclimate of tree species mixtures. In: Cannell MGR, Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell (UK), pp 181–187
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw 67. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beddoe R, Costanza R, Farley J, et al (2009) Overcoming systemic roadblocks to sustainability: The evolutionary redesign of worldviews, institutions, and technologies. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:2483–2489
- Beldin SI, Caldwell BA, Sollins P, et al (2007) Cation exchange capacity of density fractions from paired conifer/grassland soils. Biol Fertil Soils 43:837–841. doi: 10.1007/s00374-006-0161y
- Berg B (2000) Litter decomposition and organic matter turnover in northern forest soils. For Ecol Manage 133:13–22. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00294-7
- Bertness MD, Callaway RM (1994) Positive interactions in communities. Tree 9:191–193. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(94)90088-4
- Binkley D, Stape JL, Ryan MG (2004) Thinking about efficiency of resource use in forests. For Ecol Manage 193:5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2004.01.019
- Bogino SM, Bravo F (2014) Carbon stable isotope-climate association in tree rings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* in Mediterranean environments. Bosque 35:175–184. doi: 10.4067/S0717-92002014000200005
- Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (2000) Changes in forest-floor chemistry caused by a birch admixture in Norway spruce stands. For Ecol Manage 130:253–264. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00183-8
- Brassard BW, Chen HYH, Cavard X, et al (2013) Tree species diversity increases fine root productivity through increased soil volume filling. J Ecol 101:210–219. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12023
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Alberdi-Asensio I, Antón C, et al (2013) Mixed forest definition for COST Action FP1206
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Montero G (2008) Descripción de los catacteres culturales de las principales especies forestales. In: Serrada. R, Montero G, Reque JA (eds) Compendio de Selvidultura Aplicada en España. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain), p 1036–1114.
- Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Ammer C, et al (2014) European mixed forests: Definition and research perspectives. For Syst 23:518–533. doi: 10.5424/fs/2014233-06256
- Bravo F, Lizarralde I, Garcia ER, et al (2007) Modeling forest dynamics with an empirical approach to support stand management: The case study of Mediterranean Pinus pinaster in Central Spain. In: M. Palahí, Y. Birot and M. Rois (Eds) Scientific tools and research needs for multifunctional Mediterranean forest ecosystem management. European Forest Institute, pp. 45-55
- Brockerhoff EG, Barbaro L, Castagneyrol B, et al (2017) Forest biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services. Biodivers Conserv 26:3005–3035. doi: 10.1007/s10531-017-1453-2
- Brooker RW, Maestre FT, Callaway RM, et al (2008) Facilitation in plant communities: The past, the present, and the future. J Ecol 96:18–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007.01295.x
- Brown AFH (1982) The effects of tree species, planted pure and in mixtures, on vegetation and soils at Gisburn. In: Annual Report 1981. Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, UK, pp 74–75
- Bruno JF, Stachowicz JJ, Bertness MD (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol Evol 18:119–125. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02)00045-9
- Bueis T, Bravo F, Pando V, Turrión MB (2016) Relationship between environmental parameters and *Pinus sylvestris* L. site index in forest plantations in northern Spain acidic plateau. iForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry 9:394–401. doi: 10.3832/ifor1600-008

- Byth K, Ripley BD (1980) On sampling spatial patterns by distance methods. Biometrics 36:279– 284
- Callaway RM (2007) Positive interactions and interdependence in plant communities. Springer, New York (USA)
- Cardinale BJ, Wright JP, Cadotte MW, et al (2007) Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:18123–18128. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709069104
- Carnevale NJ, Montagnini F (2002) Facilitating regeneration of secondary forests with the use of mixed and pure plantations of indigenous tree species. For Ecol Manage 163:217–227
- Carnus JM, Parrotta J, Brockerhoff E, et al (2006) Planted forests and biodiversity. J For 104:65–77. doi: 10.1093/jof/104.2.65
- Casado MA, Castro I, Ramírez-Sanz L, et al (2004) Herbaceous plant richness and vegetation cover in Mediterranean grasslands and shrublands. Plant Ecol 170:83–91. doi: 10.1023/B:VEGE.0000019021.62054.62
- Castroviejo S, Laínz M, López G, et al (1986-2012) Flora Iberica. Real Jardín Botánico de Madriod - CSIC, Madrid (Spain)
- Cattaneo N (2018) Competencia, productividad y cambios a nivel de copa en bosque mixtos de pinos mediterráneos. Señales a nivel de árbol individual. PhD Dissertation, Universidad de Valladolid (Spain)
- Cattaneo N, Bravo-Oviedo A, Bravo F (2018) Analysis of tree interactions in a mixed Mediterranean pine stand using competition indices. Eur J For Res 137:109–120. doi: 10.1007/s10342-017-1094-8
- Caughlin TT, Ferguson JM, Lichstein JW, et al (2014) The importance of long-distance seed dispersal for the demography and distribution of a canopy tree species. Ecology 95:952–962. doi: 10.1890/13-0580.1
- Cavard X, Bergeron Y, Chen HYH, Paré D (2011) Effect of forest canopy composition on soil nutrients and dynamics of the understorey: Mixed canopies serve neither vascular nor bryophyte strata. J Veg Sci 22:1105–1119. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01311.x
- Chabrerie O, Laval K, Puget P, et al (2003) Relationship between plant and soil microbial communities along a successional gradient in a chalk grassland in north-western France. Appl Soil Ecol 24:43–56. doi: 10.1016/S0929-1393(03)00062-3
- Chapin FS (2003) Effects of plant traits on ecosystem and regional processes: A conceptual framework for predicting the consequences of global change. Ann Bot 91:455–463. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcg041
- Chen Y, Cai X, Zhang Y, et al (2017) Dynamics of understory shrub biomass in six young plantations of southern subtropical China. Forests 8:1–12. doi: 10.3390/f8110419

- Chesson P (2000) Mechanisms of Maintenance of Species Diversity. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 31:343– 366
- Chisholm RA, Muller-Landau HC, Abdul Rahman K, et al (2013) Scale-dependent relationships between tree species richness and ecosystem function in forests. J Ecol 101:1214–1224. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12132
- Clark FE, Paul EA (1970) The microflora of grassland. Adv Agron 22:375–435
- Colwell RK (2009) Biodiversity: Concepts, Patterns and Measurement. In: Simon AL (ed) The Princeton Guide to Ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton (USA), pp 257–263
- Condés S, Sterba H, Aguirre A, et al (2018) Estimation and uncertainty of the mixing effects on Scots Pine-European beech productivity from national forest inventories data. Forests 9:518. doi: 10.3390/f9090518
- Condron LM, Newman RH (1998) Chemical nature of soil organic matter under grassland and recently established forest. Eur J Soil Sci 49:597–603
- Costanza R, de Groot R, Braat L, et al (2017) Twenty years of ecosystem services: How far have we come and how far do we still need to go? Ecosyst Serv 28:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.09.008
- Cremer M, Kern NV, Prietzel J (2016) Soil organic carbon and nitrogen stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. For Ecol Manage 367:30– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.02.020
- Cremer M, Prietzel J (2017) Soil acidity and exchangeable base cation stocks under pure and mixed stands of European beech, Douglas fir and Norway spruce. Plant Soil 415:393–405. doi: 10.1007/s11104-017-3177-1
- Crosby M, MAGILL R, BAUER C (1992) Index of Mosses, 1963-1989. Monographs in Systemmatic Botany from Missouri Botanical Garden 42: 1-646 (see pages 1-11)
- Davidson EA, Belk E, Boone RD (1998) Soil water content and temperature as independent or confounded factors controlling soil respiration in a temperate mixed hardwood forest. Glob Chang Biol 4:217–227. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2486.1998.00128.x
- Dawud SM, Raulund-Rasmussen K, Domisch T, et al (2016) Is tree species diversity or species identity the more important driver of soil carbon stocks, C/N ratio, and pH? Ecosystems 19:645–660. doi: 10.1007/s10021-016-9958-1
- Del Río M, Pretzsch H, Alberdi I, et al (2015) Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. Eur J For Res 1–27. doi: 10.1007/s10342-015-0927-6
- Dirnberger G, Sterba H, Condés S, et al (2017) Species proportions by area in mixtures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). Eur J For Res 136:171–183. doi: 10.1007/s10342-016-1017-0

- Ehrlich PR, Mooney HA (1983) Extinction, substitution, and ecosystem services. Bioscience 33:248–254
- Enoksson B, Angelstam P, Larsson K (1995) Deciduous forest and resident birds: the problem of fragmentation within a coniferous forest landscape. Landsc Ecol 10:267–275
- Ettema CH, Wardle DA (2002) Spatial soil ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 17:177–183. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02496-5
- EUFORGEN (2009) Distribution map of Scots pine (Pinus pinaster Ait.)
- EUFORGEN (2009) Distribution map of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.)
- EuMIXFOR European Network on Mixed Forests. http://www.mixedforests.eu/
- European Commission, EuroStat (2013) Agriculture, forestry and fishery statistics Pocketbooks. Publications Office of the EU, Luxembourg
- European Commission (2010) Green paper on forest protection and information in the EU: Preparing forests for climate change. Bruxeles (Belgium)
- FAO (2011) State of the World's Forests. FAO, Rome, Italy
- Felton A, Lindbladh M, Brunet J, Fritz Ö (2010) Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixedspecies production stands: An assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. For Ecol Manage 260:939–947. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011
- Fichtner A, Härdtle W, Bruelheide H, et al (2018) Neighbourhood interactions drive overyielding in mixed-species tree communities. Nat Commun 9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03529-w
- Finér L, Helmisaari HS, Lõhmus K, et al (2007) Variation in fine root biomass of three European tree species: Beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.), Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.), and Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.). Plant Biosyst 141:394–405. doi: 10.1080/11263500701625897
- Fisher B, Turner RK, Morling P (2009) Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. Ecol Econ 68:643–653. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2008.09.014
- Forest Europe, UNECE, FAO (2011) State of Europe's Forests 2011. Status and Trends in Sustainable Forest Management in Europe
- Forrester DI (2014) The spatial and temporal dynamics of species interactions in mixed-species forests: From pattern to process. For Ecol Manage 312:282–292. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.10.003
- Forrester DI, Albrecht AT (2014) Light absorption and light-use efficiency in mixtures of *Abies alba* and *Picea abies* along a productivity gradient. For Ecol Manage 328:94–102. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.026

- Forrester DI, Ammer C, Annighöfer PJ, et al (2018) Effects of crown architecture and stand structure on light absorption in mixed and monospecific *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests along a productivity and climate gradient through Europe. J Ecol 106:746–760. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12803
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Cowie AL (2005) On the success and failure of mixed-species tree plantations: Lessons learned from a model system of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 209:147–155. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.01.012
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Cowie AL (2006) Carbon allocation in a mixed-species plantation of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 233:275–284. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.018
- Forrester DI, Bauhus J, Khanna PK (2004) Growth dynamics in a mixed-species plantation of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Acacia mearnsii*. For Ecol Manage 193:81–95. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2004.01.024
- Gallardo JF, Santa Regina I, Hernández I (1991) Ciclos biogeoquímicos en ecosistemas forestale: producción versus descomposicón. In: Pineda FD, Casado MA (eds) Diversidad Biológica. Fundación Ramón Areces, pp 269–271
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, et al (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2328
- García-Güemes C, Calama R (2015) La práctica de la selvicultura para la adaptación al cambio climático. In: Herrero A, Zavala MA (eds) Los bosques y la biodiversidad frente al cambio climático: impactos, vulnerabilidad y adaptación en España. MAGRAMA, Madrid (Spain)
- Gartner TB, Cardon ZG (2004) Decomposition dynamics in mixed-species leaf litter. Oikos 104:230–246. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12738.x
- Gil-López J, Segarra-Moragues JG, Désamoré A, et al (2017) Different historical backgrounds determine contrasting phylogeographical patterns in two co-distributed *Erica* species (*Ericaceae*) across the Strait of Gibraltar. Bot J Linn Soc 185:359–375
- Gómez-Aparicio L, Zavala MA, Bonet FJ., Zamora R (2009) Are pine plantations valid tools for restoring Mediterranean forests? An assessment along abiotic and biotic gradients. Ecol Appl 19:2124–2141
- Gómez JM (2003) Spatial patterns in long-distance dispersal of *Quercus ilex* acorns by jays in a heterogeneous landscape. Ecography 26:573–584. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0587.2003.03586.x
- Grace JB (2006) Structural equation modeling and natural systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK)
- Grace JB, Tilman D (2003) Perspectives in plant competition. The Blackburn Press, Caldwell (New Jersey, USA).
- Granda E, Gazol A, Camarero JJ (2018) Functional diversity differently shapes growth resilience to drought for co-existing pine species. J Veg Sci 29:265–275. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12617

- Grilli G, Jonkisz J, Ciolli M, Lesinski J (2016) Mixed forests and ecosystem services: Investigating stakeholders' perceptions in a case study in the Polish Carpathians. For Policy Econ 66:11–17. doi: 10.1016/j.forpol.2016.02.003
- Grilli G, Paletto A, De Meo I (2014) Economic valuation of forest recreation in an alpine valley. Balt For 20:167–175
- Grime JP (1977) Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. Am Nat 111:1169–1194.
- Grime JP (1998) Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: Immediate, filter and founder effects. J Ecol 86:902–910
- Grossman JJ, Cavender-Bares J, Hobbie SE, et al (2017) Species richness and traits predict overyielding in stem growth in an early-successional tree diversity experiment. Ecology 98:2601–2614. doi: 10.1002/ecy.1958
- Guo W, Nazim H, Liang Z, Yang D (2015) Magnesium deficiency in plants: An urgent problem. The Crop Journal 4:83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cj.2015.11.003
- Hector A, Hooper R (2002) Darwin and the First Ecological Experiment. Science 295:639–640
- Herranz-Sanz JM, Martín-Herrero J, Copete-Carreño MA (2008) Caracterización floristica de lo pinares naturales de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en Castilla-La Mancha. INIA-Ministerio de Ecudación y Ciencia, Madrid (Spain)
- Herrero C, Turrión MB, Pando V, Bravo F (2016) Carbon content of forest floor and mineral soil in Mediterranean *Pinus* spp. and Oak stands in acid soils in Northern Spain. For Syst 25. doi: 10.5424/fs/2016252-09149
- Herrero de Aza C (2010) Cuantificación de Carbono en Pinares (*Pinus nigra* Arn., *Pinus pinaster* Ait., *Pinus sylvestris* L.) y Rebollares (*Quercus pyrenaica* Willd.) Mediterráneos. PhD Dissertation, Universidad de Valladolid (Spain)
- Hill MO (1992) Mixtures as habitats for plants (discussion). In: Cannell MGR, Malcolm DC, Robertson PA (eds) The ecology of mixed-species stands of trees. British Ecological Society, Blackwell (UK), pp 301–302
- Hooper DU, Dukes JS (2004) Overyielding among plant functional groups in a long-term experiment. Ecol Lett 7:95–105. doi: 10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00555.x
- Hopkins B (1954) A new method of determining the type of distribution of plant individuals. Ann Bot 18:213–227
- Huettl RF (1992) Mg deficiency a "new" phenomenon in declining forests—symptoms and effects, causes, recuperation. In: Huettl RF, Mueller-Dombois D (eds) Forest decline in the Atlantic and Pacific region. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 97–114
- Huisman J, Olff H, Fresco LFM (1993) A hierarchical set of models for species response analysis. J Veg Sci 4:37–46

IGME (2015) Mapa Geológico de la Península Ibérica, Baleares y Canarias a escala 1M.

- Inoue T, Fukuzawa K, Watanabe T, et al (2017) Spatial pattern of soil nitrogen availability and its relationship to stand structure in a coniferous-broadleaved mixed forest with a dense dwarf bamboo understory in northern Japan. Ecol Res 32:227–241. doi: 10.1007/s11284-017-1434-7
- IPCC (2014) Cambio climático 2014: Informe de síntesis. In: Contribución de los Grupos de trabajo I, II y III al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. Ginebra - Suiza
- IRNASA-CSIC (2012) Mapa de suelos (1:500.000)
- Isermeyer H (1952) Eine einfache Methode sur Bestimmung der Bodenatmung und der Carbonate im Boden. [A simple method to determine soil respiration and carbonates in soil]. Zeitschrift Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkd 56:26–38
- Jactel H, Gritti ES, Drössler L, et al (2018) Positive biodiversity–productivity relationships in forests: Climate matters. Biol Lett 14:12–15. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2017.0747
- Jactel H, Nicoll BC, Branco M, et al (2009) The influences of forest stand management on biotic and abiotic risks of damage. Ann For Sci 66:1–18. doi: 10.1051/forest/2009054
- Jandl R, Lindner M, Vesterdal L, et al (2007) How strongly can forest management influence soil carbon sequestration ? 137:253–268. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2006.09.003
- Jandl R, Rodeghiero M, Martinez C, et al (2014) Current status, uncertainty and future needs in soil organic carbon monitoring. Sci Total Environ 468–469:376–383. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.08.026
- Jansen F, Oksanen J (2013) How to model species responses along ecological gradients Huisman-Olff-Fresco models revisited. J Veg Sci 24:1108–1117. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12050
- Jenkins M, Schaap B (2018) Forest Ecosystem Services Background Analytical Study. United Nations Forum For
- Johnson JB, Omland KS (2004) Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 19:101– 108. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2003.10.013
- Jucker T, Bouriaud O, Avacaritei D, et al (2014) Competition for light and water play contrasting roles in driving diversity-productivity relationships in Iberian forests. J Ecol 102. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12276
- Kelty MJ (2006) The role of species mixtures in plantation forestry. For Ecol Manage 233:195–204. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.011
- King RF, Dromph KM, Bardgett RD (2002) Changes in species evenness of litter have no effect on decomposition processes. Soil Biol Biochem 34:1959–1963. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00204-3

- Knoke T, Ammer C, Stimm B, Mosandl R (2008) Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: A review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur J For Res 127:89–101. doi: 10.1007/s10342-007-0186-2
- Köppen W (1936) Das geographische System der Klimate. In: Köppen W, Geiger R (eds): Handbuch der Klimatologie. Velag von Gebruder Borntraeger. Berlin. pp 7–30
- Korboulewsky N, Perez G, Chauvat M (2016) How tree diversity affects soil fauna diversity: A review. Soil Biol Biochem 94:94–106. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.11.024
- La Notte A, D'Amato D, Mäkinen H, et al (2017) Ecosystem services classification: A systems ecology perspective of the cascade framework. Ecol Indic 74:392–402. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.11.030
- Lal R (2008) Carbon sequestration. Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B Biological Sciences 363:815-30. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2185
- Lambini CK, Nguyen TT, Abildtrup J, et al (2018) Are ecosystem services complementary or competitive? An econometric analysis of cost functions of private forests in Vietnam. Ecol Econ 147:343–352. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.01.029
- Lawesson JE, Oksanen J (2002) Niche characteristics of Danish woody species as derived from coenoclines. J Veg Sci 13:279–290
- Ledo A, Cañellas I, Barbeito I, et al (2014) Species coexistence in a mixed Mediterranean pine forest: Spatio-temporal variability in trade-offs between facilitation and competition. For Ecol Manage 322:89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.02.038
- Liang J, Crowther TW, Picard N, et al (2016) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354:aaf8957. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf8957
- Liu Y, Lei P, Xiang W, et al (2017) Accumulation of soil organic C and N in planted forests fostered by tree species mixture. Biogeosciences 14:3937–3945. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-3937-2017
- Löf M, Ammer C, Coll L, et al (2018) Regeneration patterns in mixed-species stands In: Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, del Río M (eds) Dynamics, silviculture and management of mixed forests. Springer, Cham, pp 103–130 (Chapter 4). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-91953-9
- López-Marcos D, Martínez-Ruiz C, Turrión M-B, et al (2018) Soil carbon stocks and exchangeable cations in monospecific and mixed pine forests. Eur J For Res 137:831–847. doi: 10.1007/s10342-018-1143-y
- López-Marcos D, Turrión M, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2019) Understory response to overstory and soil gradients in mixed versus monospecific Mediterranean pine forests. Eur J For Res 138:939–955. doi: 10.1007/s10342-019-01215-0
- López-Marcos D, Turrión M, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020a) Can mixed pine forests conserve understory richness by improving the establishment of understory species typical of native oak forests ? Ann For Sci (in press)

- López-Marcos D, Turrión M, Bravo F, Martínez-Ruiz C (2020b) Overyielding at a small spatial scale in mixed pine forests as a result of belowground resources complementarity: implicatios for understory richness conservation. Ambio (under revision)
- Loreau M, Hector A (2001) Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature 412:72–76. doi: 10.1038/35083573

Lorenz K, Lal R (2010) Carbon sequestration in forest ecosystems. Springer

- Lu H, Condés S, Goudiaby V, et al (2018) Forest Ecology and Management Species and soil effects on overyielding of tree species mixtures in the Netherlands. For Ecol Manage 409:105–118. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.11.010
- Luo W, Liang J, Cazzolla Gatti R, et al (2019) Parameterization of biodiversity–productivity relationship and its scale dependency using georeferenced tree-level data. J Ecol 107:1106–1119. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.13129
- Madon O, Médail F (1997) The ecological significance of annuals on a Mediterranean grassland (Mt Ventoux, France). Plant Ecol 129:189–199. doi: 10.1023/A:1009759730000
- Madrigal-González J, Ruiz-Benito P, Ratcliffe S, et al (2016) Complementarity effects on tree growth are contingent on tree size and climatic conditions across Europe. Sci Rep 6:1–11. doi: 10.1038/srep32233
- Maestre FT, Callaway RM, Valladares F, Lortie CJ (2009) Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. 199–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01476.x
- MAGRAMA (2012) Infraestructura de datos espaciales. https://sig.mapama.gob.es/geoportal/
- Magurran AE (1988) Ecological diversity and its measurement. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ
- Magurran AE (2004) Measuring biological diversity. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford
- MAPA (1994) Tomo III. In: Métodos oficiales de Análisis. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid (Spain)
- Mark AF, Dickinson KJM, Hofstede RGM (2000) Alpine vegetation, plant distribution, life forms, and environments in a perhumid New Zealand region: oceanic and yropical high mountain affinities. Arctic, Antarct Alp Res 32:240–254. doi: 10.2307/1552522
- Marquard E, Weigelt A, Roscher C, et al (2009) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship due to increased plant density. J Ecol 97:696–704. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01521.x
- Martínez-Ruiz C (2009) La diversidad ecológica : concepto y medición (cambios en los últimos quince años). In: Veintisiete libros y un prólogo abierto para una nueva biología. (Cervantes, E. coord.). ADEBIR Ediciones Crimentales, Logroño (Spain), pp 141–145
- Martínez-Ruiz C, Fernández-Santos B (2005) Natural revegetation on topsoiled mining-spoils according to the exposure. Acta Oecol 28:231–238. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2005.05.001

- Matías L, Jump AS (2012) Interactions between growth, demography and biotic interactions in determining species range limits in a warming world: The case of Pinus sylvestris. For Ecol Manage 282:10–22. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.06.053
- Mátyás C, Ackzell L, Samuel CJA (2004) EUFORGEN Technical Guidelines for genetic conservation and use for Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris). In: International Plant Genetic Resources Institute. Rome (Italy), p 6
- Mcintyre S, Lavorel S, Tremont RM (1995) Plant life-history attributes: their relationship to disturbance response in herbaceous vegetation. J Ecol 83:31–44. doi: 10.2307/22611 48
- MCPFE (2003) Improved pan-European indicators for sustainable forest management as adopted by the MCPFE expert level meeting. In: Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe. Vienna (Austria)
- MEA (2005) Millennium ecosystem assessment. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, DC (USA)
- Mehlich A (1953) Rapid determination of cation and anion exchange properties and pH of soils. J Assoc Off Agric Chem 36:445–457
- Mestre L, Toro-Manríquez M, Soler R, et al (2017) The influence of canopy-layer composition on understory plant diversity in southern temperate forests. For Ecosyst 4:6. doi: 10.1186/s40663-017-0093-z
- Michalet R, Chen SY, An LZ, et al (2015) Communities: Are they groups of hidden interactions? J Veg Sci 26:207–218. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12226
- Montero G, Ruiz-Peinado R, Muñoz M (2005) Producción de biomasa y fijación de CO² por los bosques españoles. Madrid (Spain)
- Montero G, Serrada R (2013) La situación de los bosques y el sector forestal en España. In: Sociedad Española de Ciencias Forestales. (ed) 6º Congreso Forestal Español. Lourizán, Pontevedra (Spain)
- Nafría-García DA, Garrido-del-Pozo N, Álvarez-Arias MV, et al (2013) Atlas agroclimático de Castilla y León, 1st edn. Instituto Tecnológico Agrario, Junta de Castilla y León-Agencia Estatal de Meteorología. http://atlas.itacy l.es
- Ngo Bieng MA, Perot T, de Coligny F, Goreaud F (2013) Spatial pattern of trees influences species productivity in a mature oak-pine mixed forest. Eur J For Res 132:841–850. doi: 10.1007/s10342-013-0716-z
- Nguyen H, Herbohn J, Firn J, Lamb D (2012) Biodiversity-productivity relationships in small-scale mixed-species plantations using native species in Leyte province, Philippines. For Ecol Manage 274:81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.02.022
- Nilsson MC, Wardle DA (2005) Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: Evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Front Ecol Environ 3:421–428. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0421:UVAAFE]2.0.CO;2

- Noos R (1990) Indicators for Monitoring Biodiversity: A Hierarchical Approach. Conserv. Biol. 4:355–364
- Norman J, Annerstedt M, Boman M, Mattsson L (2010) Influence of outdoor recreation on selfrated human health: Comparing three categories of Swedish recreationists. Scand J For Res 25:234–244. doi: 10.1080/02827581.2010.485999
- Oksanen J (2016) Vegan: an introduction to ordination. http://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/vegan/vignettes/introvegan.pdf
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos P, Stevens MHH, Wagner H (2016) Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.3-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Olsen SR, Sommers LE (1982) Phosphorus. In: Page AL, Miller RH, Keeney DR (eds) Methods of soil analysis. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI (USA), pp 403–427
- Olthoff A, Martínez-Ruiz C, Alday JG (2016) Distribution patterns of forest species along an Atlantic-Mediterranean environmental gradient: an approach from forest inventory data. Forestry 89:46–54. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpv031
- Ou G, Ma H, Xu H, Tang J (2015) Understory plant diversity in mixed and pure plantations of *Jatropha curcas* vs. native vegetation in the lower-middle reaches of the Lancang-Meikong river watershed, China. Pakistan J Bot 47:1391–1398
- Pan P, Zhao F, Ning J, et al (2018) Impact of understory vegetation on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamic in aerially seeded *Pinus massoniana* plantations. PLoS One 13:1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191952
- Pan YD, Birdsey RA, Fang JY, et al (2011) A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333:988–994.
- Pardos JA (2010) Los ecosistemas forestales y el secuestro de carbono ante el calentamiento global. INIA, Madrid
- Pigott CD (1990) The influence of evergreen Nurse-crops on the field layer in two woodland. J Appl Ecol 27:448–459
- Pinheiro J, Bates D (2000) Mixed-effects models in S and S-Plus. Springer-Verlag, New York (USA)
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, et al (2018) Package ""nlme." nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R Package Version 3.1-137.
- Piotto D (2008) A meta-analysis comparing tree growth in monocultures and mixed plantations. For Ecol Manage 255:781–786. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.065
- Pretzsch H (2009) Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield: From Measurement to Model. Springer Science & Business Media
- Pretzsch H, Block J, Dieler J, et al (2010) Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Ann For Sci

67:712-712. doi: 10.1051/forest/2010037

- Pretzsch H, del Río M, Schütze G, et al (2016) Mixing of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, And the effect increases with water availability. For Ecol Manage 373:149–166. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.043
- Pretzsch H, Dieler J, Seifert T, Rötzer T (2012) Climate effects on productivity and resource-use efficiency of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* [L.] Karst.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* [L.]) in stands with different spatial mixing patterns. Trees Struct Funct 26:1343–1360. doi: 10.1007/s00468-012-0710-y
- Pretzsch H, Forrester DI, Rötzer T (2015) Representation of species mixing in forest growth models. A review and perspective. Ecol Modell 313:276–292. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2015.06.044
- Pretzsch H, Schütze G (2009) Transgressive overyielding in mixed compared with pure stands of Norway spruce and European beech in Central Europe: Evidence on stand level and explanation on individual tree level. Eur J For Res 128:183–204. doi: 10.1007/s10342-008-0215-9
- Pukkala T (1989) Methods to describe the competition process in a tree stand. Scand J For Res 4:187–202
- R-Core-Team (2015) R Studio: Integrated development environment for R. https://www.r-proje ct.org/
- R Development Core Team (2016) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-proje ct.org/. Accessed 15 Nov 2016
- Rasse DP, Rumpel C, Dignac MF (2005) Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation. Plant Soil 269:341–356. doi: 10.1007/s11104-004-0907-y
- Raunkiær C (1934) The life forms of plants and their bearing on geography. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK
- Reich PB, Frelich LE, Voldseth RA, et al (2012) Understorey diversity in southern boreal forests is regulated by productivity and its indirect impacts on resource availability and heterogeneity. J Ecol 100:539–545. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01922.x

Reineke LH (1933) Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J Agric Res 46:627-638.

- Richards A (2005) Testing ecological theory using the information-theoretic approach: examples and cautionary results. Ecology 86:2805–2814. doi: 10.1890/05-0074
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Bravo F (2017a) Mixing effects on growth efficiency in mixed pine forests. Forestry 90:381–392. doi: 10.1093/forestry/cpw056
- Riofrío J, del Río M, Maguire D, Bravo F (2019) Species mixing effects on height–diameter and basal area increment models for Scots pine and Maritime pine. Forests 10:249. doi: 10.3390/f10030249

- Riofrío J, del Río M, Pretzsch H, Bravo F (2017b) Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For Ecol Manage 405:219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036
- Riofrío J (2018) Mixed stands growth dynamics of Scots pine and Maritime pine : species complementarity relationships and growth effects. PhD Dissectation, University of Valladolid (Spain)
- Rivas-Martínez S (2005) Avances en Geobotánica. Real Academia Nacional de Farmacia, Madrid (Spain)
- Rivas-Martínez S (1987) Memoria del mapa de series de vegetación de España. Serie Técnica, Madrid (Spain)
- Rivas-Martínez S, Díaz TE, Fernández-González F, et al (2002) Vascular plant communities of Spain and Portugal. Addenda to the Syntaxonomical checklist of 2001. Itinera Geobot 15:5–922
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Nanos N, del Rey MC, et al (2011) Small-scale variation of vegetation in a mixed forest understorey is partly controlled by the effect of overstory composition on litter accumulation. J For Res 16:473–483. doi: 10.1007/s10310-010-0237-2
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Pardos JA, Gil L, et al (2008) Light response in seedlings of a temperate (Quercus petraea) and a sub-Mediterranean species (*Quercus pyrenaica*): Contrasting ecological strategies as potential keys to regeneration performance in mixed marginal populations. Plant Ecol 195:273–285. doi: 10.1007/s11258-007-9329-2
- Rodríguez E, Juez L, Guerra B, Bravo F (2007) Análisis de la regeneración natural de *Pinus pinaster* Ait. en los arenales de Almazán-Bayubas (Soria, España). For Syst 16:25–38
- Rojo A, Montero G (1996) El pino silvestre en la Sierra de Guardarrama. Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Madrid (Spain)
- Rosseel Y (2012) lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. J Stat Softw 48:1–36
- Ruano I, Manso R, Fortin M, Bravo F (2015) Extreme climate conditions limit seed availability to successfully attain natural regeneration of *Pinus pinaster* in sandy areas of central Spain. Can J For Res 45:1795–1802. doi: 10.1139/cjfr-2015-0257
- Ruiz-Peinado R (2013) Modelos para la estimación del carbono en la biomasa de los sistemas forestales. Influencia de la selvicultura en los stocks de carbono. PhD Dissertation, Universidad de Valladolid (Spain)
- Ruiz-Peinado R, Bravo-Oviedo A, López-Senespleda E, et al (2017) Forest management and carbon sequestration in the Mediterranean region: A review. For Syst 26:1–25. doi: 10.5424/fs/2017262-11205
- Rumpel C, Kögel-Knabner I (2011) Deep soil organic matter-a key but poorly understood component of terrestrial C cycle. Plant Soil 338:143–158. doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0391-5

- Saetre P, Brandtberg PO, Lundkvist H, Bengtsson J (1999) Soil organisms and carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralisation in Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce Birch stands. Biol Fertil Soils 28:382–388. doi: 10.1007/s003740050508
- Saetre P, Saetre LS, Brandtberg P-O, et al (1997) Ground vegetation composition and heterogeneity in pure Norway spruce and mixed Norway spruce birch stands. Can J For Res 27:2034–2042. doi: 10.1139/x97-177
- Santa-Regina I (2001) Litter fall, decomposition and nutrient release in three semi-arid forests of the Duero basin, Spain. Forestry 74:347–358. doi: 10.1093/forestry/74.4.347
- Scartazza A, Vaccari FP, Bertolini T, et al (2014) Comparing integrated stable isotope and eddy covariance estimates of water-use efficiency on a Mediterranean successional sequence. Oecologia 176:581–594. doi: 10.1007/s00442-014-3027-2
- Schleuß P-M, Heitkamp F, Leuschner C, et al (2014) Higher subsoil carbon storage in species-rich than species-poor temperate forests. Environ Res Lett 9:14007. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/1/014007
- Schmid B, Niklaus P (2017) Biodiversity: complementary canopies. Nat Ecol Evol 1:1–2. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0104
- Schollenberger CJ, Simon RH (1945) Determination of exchange capacity and exchangeable bases in soil - ammonium acetate method. Soil Sci 9:13–24
- Seidel D, Leuschner C, Scherber C, et al (2013) The relationship between tree species richness, canopy space exploration and productivity in a temperate broad-leaf mixed forest. For Ecol Manage 310:366–374. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.08.058
- Serrada R, Montero G, Reque JA (2008) Compendio de selvicultura aplicada en España. Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria-INIA, Madrid (Spain)
- Sigcha F, Pallavicini Y, Camino MJ, Martínez-Ruiz C (2018) Effects of short-term grazing exclusion on vegetation and soil in early succession of a Subhumid Mediterranean reclaimed coal mine. Plant Soil 426:197–209. doi: 10.1007/s11104-018-3629-2
- Smith DM, Larson BC, Kelty MJ, Ashton PNS (1997) The practice of silviculture. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (USA)
- Smith RL, Smith TM (2003) Elements of Ecology, 5th Ed. Benjamin Cummings, San Francisco (USA)
- Smith WG (1913) Raunkiær's "life-forms" and statistical methods. J Ecol 1:16-26
- Soil-Survey-Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12 th. USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, DC (USA)
- Sramek V, Fadrhonsova V (2018) Comparison of nutrient stock in upper organic layer of pure European Beech, Norway Spruce and mixed forest stands of these species. Reports For Res Lesn Vyzk 63:61–72

- Stenger A, Harou P, Navrud S (2009) Valuing environmental goods and services derived from the forests. J For Econ 15:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jfe.2008.03.001
- Sudmeyer R a, Speijers J, Nicholas BD (2004) Root distribution of *Pinus pinaster*, *P. radiata*, *Eucalyptus globulus* and *E. kochii* and associated soil chemistry in agricultural land adjacent to tree lines. Tree Physiol 24:1333–1346. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.12.1333
- Szwagrzyk J (1992) Small-scale spatial patterns of trees in a mixed *Pinus sylvestris-Fagus sylvatica* forest. For Ecol Manage 51:301–315
- Temperli C, Bugmann H., Elkin C (2012) Adaptive management for competing forest. Ecol Appl 2012 22:2065–2077. doi: 10.1890/12-0210.1
- Thurm EA, Pretzsch H (2016) Improved productivity and modified tree morphology of mixed versus pure stands of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) with increasing precipitation and age. Ann For Sci 73:1047–1061. doi: 10.1007/s13595-016-0588-8
- Tilman D, Lehman CL, Thomson KT (1997) Plant diversity and ecosystem productivity: Theoretical considerations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:1857–1861. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.5.1857
- Toïgo M, Vallet P, Perot T, et al (2015) Overyielding in mixed forests decreases with site productivity. 502–512. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12353
- Toumey JW, Korstian CF (1947) Foundations of silviculture upon an ecological basis. John Wiley & Sons, New York (USA)
- Trasobares A, Pukkala T, Miina J (2004) Growth and yield model for uneven-aged mixtures of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus nigra* Arn. in Catalonia, north-east Spain. Ann For Sci 61:9–24. doi: 10.1051/forest
- Tutin TG, Heywood VH, Burges NA, et al (1964-1980) Flora Europaea. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK)
- UICN (2012) Guidelines for Application of IUCN Red List Criteria at Regional and National Levels: Version 4.0
- UNEP (1992) United Nations Environment Programme of the Rio Earth Summit. In: Rio Earth Summit. Rio de Janeiro
- Van de Peer T, Verheyen K, Ponette Q, et al (2018) Overyielding in young tree plantations is driven by local complementarity and selection effects related to shade tolerance. J Ecol 106:1096– 1105. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12839
- Van Delft B, de Waal RW, Kemmers RH, et al (2006) Field guide for the description and classification of humus forms. Wageningen University, Alterra (Nederland)
- Vance E, Brookes P, Jenkinson D (1987) An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass-C. Soil Biol Biochem 19:703–707. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(87)90052-6

- Velasco-Aguirre P (2014) Comprehensive study of *Quercus pyrenaica* willd. forests at Iberian Peninsula: indicator species, bioclimatic, and syntaxonomical characteristic. PhD Dissertation, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Madrid (Spain)
- Vesterdal L, Clarke N, Sigurdsson BD, Gundersen P (2013) Do tree species influence soil carbon stocks in temperate and boreal forests? For Ecol Manage 309:4–18. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.01.017
- Vilà M, Carrillo-Gavilán A, Vayreda J, et al (2013) Disentangling biodiversity and climatic determinants of wood production. PLoS One 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053530
- Vilà M, Vayreda J, Comas L, et al (2007) Species richness and wood production: A positive association in Mediterranean forests. Ecol Lett 10:241–250. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01016.x
- Walkley A (1947) A critical examination of rapid method for determining organic carbon in soils. Soil Sci 63:251–254. doi: 10.1097/00010694-194704000-00001
- Wallace KJ (2007) Classification of ecosystem services: Problems and solutions. Biol Consev 139:235-246. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2007.07.015
- Wang F, Zou B, Li H, Li Z (2014a) The effect of understory removal on microclimate and soil properties in two subtropical lumber plantations. J For Res 19:238–243. doi: 10.1007/s10310-013-0395-0
- Wang J, You Y, Tang Z, et al (2016) A comparison of decomposition dynamics among green tree leaves, partially decomposed tree leaf litter and their mixture in a warm temperate forest ecosystem. J For Res 27:1037–1045. doi: 10.1007/s11676-016-0248-8
- Wang R, Dungait JAJ, Buss HL, et al (2017) Base cations and micronutrients in soil aggregates as affected by enhanced nitrogen and water inputs in a semi-arid steppe grassland. Sci Total Environ 575:564–572. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.018
- Wang W, Zhang X, Tao N, Ao D (2014b) Effects of litter types, microsite and root diameters on litter decomposition in Pinus sylvestris plantations of northern. Plant Soil 677–688. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-1902-y
- Wang X, Zhao J, Wu J, et al (2011) Impacts of understory species removal and/or addition on soil respiration in a mixed forest plantation with native species in southern China. For Ecol Manage 261:1053–1060. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.12.027

Westman WE (1977) How much are nature's services worth? Science 197:960–964

- Yarie J (1978) The role of understory vegetation in the nutrient cycle of forested ecosystems in the mountain. University of British Columbia, Vancouver
- Yu F, Wang D, Yi X, et al (2014) Does animal-mediated seed dispersal facilitate the formation of Pinus armandii-Quercus aliena var. acuteserrata forests ? PLoS ONE 9(2):e89886. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089886

- Zas R, Serrada R (2003) Foliar nutrient status and nutritional relationships of young *Pinus radiata* D. Don plantations in northwest Spain. For Ecol Manage 174:167–176. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00027-0
- Zeller L, Ammer C, Annighöfer P, et al (2017) Forest ecology and management tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. For Ecol Manage 400:363–374. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.018

Supplementary material

Study area description

Location



Figure 46. Location of the triplet 1, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.



Figure 47. Location of the triplet 2, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.

Daphne López Marcos, Febrero 2019



Figure 48. Location of the triplet 3, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.



Figure 49. Location of the triplet 4, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.



Figure 50. Location of the triplet 5, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.



Figure 51 Location of the triplet 6, the three plots within the triplet, and the 10 quadrats for regeneration and vegetation sampling within each plot.

Climate



Figure 52. Climate of the study area according to Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula published by the 'Atlas Agroclimático de Castilla y León-ITACYL-AEMET'.



Figure 53. Mean annual temperature in the study area according to Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula published by the 'Atlas Agroclimático de Castilla y León-ITACYL-AEMET'.

Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration



Figure 54. Mean annual rainfall in the study area according to the Köppen (1936) classification for the Iberian Peninsula published by the 'Atlas Agroclimático de Castilla y León-ITACYL-AEMET'.
Soils



Figure 55. Geological map of the study area according to the classification published by the IGME (2015), (scale 1:1M).



Figure 56. Map of soils in the study area according to IRNASA-CSIC (2012), scale 1/500.000.

Vegetation



Figure 57. Potential vegetation of the study area according to the map of vegetation series of Spain (Rivas-Martínez 1987) scale 1/400.000.

Table 34. Current vegetation. General stand characteristics for monospecific stands of Pinus sylvestris (PS),
monospecific stands of Pinus pinaster (PP) and mixed stands (MM), i.e. N: stems per hectare, G: basal area
per hectare, Ho: dominant height, dq: quadratic mean diameter, Age: normal age.

			N (trees h	a'1)		G (m² ha	r1)		Dq (cm)			Ho (m)		Age (y	ears)
Triplet	Plot	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Total	Scots	Maritime	Scots	Maritime
	£	821.0	806.0	14.0	54.2	50.7	3.6	28.0±1.2	27.8±1.1	56.7±0.0	17.0±0.3	17.1±0.3	16.2±0.0	100	0
1	MM	523.0	241.0	283.0	53.0	19.9	33.1	32.3±1.6	32.3±2.0	40.3±2.2	18.0±0.4	17.5±0.6	18.5±0.3	118	113
	Ы	566.0	57.0	509.0	59.4	1.2	58.2	36.2±1.7	15.8±2.2	38.6±1.3	17.3±0.5	10.8±1.8	18.0±0.3	0	118
	£	509.3	495.1	14.1	49.2	47.0	2.2	34.4±1.1	32.3±1.0	44.7±0.0	19.3±0.3	19.3±0.3	19.9±0.0	151	0
2	MM	693.2	325.4	367.8	58.2	19.2	38.9	31.6±1.2	26.4±1.6	36.4±1.3	16.4±0.4	14.5±0.6	18.1±0.3	117	63
	Ы	806.4	14.1	792.2	67.9	0.1	67.8	32.0±1.2	9.7±0.0	32.4±1.1	16.3±0.3	7.0±0.0	16.5±0.2	0	78
	ß	665.0	651.0	14.0	47.7	45.5	2.3	27.5±1.8	27.2±1.8	45.3±0.0	18.5±0.8	18.4±0.8	24.5±0.0	105	0
en	MM	693.0	495.0	198.0	63.5	33.0	30.5	32.0±1.8	27.3±1.8	43.5±2.4	20.9±0.7	19.8±0.8	23.7±0.5	100	95
	Ы	538.0	0.0	538.0	68.6	0.0	68.6	39.6±1.3	0.0±0.0	39.6±1.3	20.5±0.2	0.0±0.0	20.5±0.2	0	105
	ß	636.6	580.0	56.6	48.9	40.7	8.2	30.4±1.2	29.3±1.0	45.4±5.8	22.1±0.2	22.1±0.2	22.2±1.3	78	0
4	MM	1330.0	764.0	566.0	55.3	23.2	32.1	20.2±1.2	16.6±1.5	25.0±1.6	13.1±0.5	12.3±0.7	14.2±0.6	78	79
	Ы	1429.0	283.0	1146.0	69.4	3.3	66.0	22.6±1.1	9.5±1.8	26.0±0.9	12.4±0.4	7.3±0.9	13.6±0.3	0	80
	S	651.0	651.0	0.0	54.9	54.9	0.0	32.4±1.2	32.4±1.2	0.0±0.0	21.8±0.3	21.8±0.3	0.0±0.0	121	0
5	MM	552.0	354.0	198.0	68.2	45.9	22.3	39.4±0.8	40.3±1.1	37.6±.1.1	24.6±0.3	24.3±0.2	25.0±0.6	109	118
	Ы	722.0	0.0	722.0	70.3	0.0	70.3	34.9±0.9	0.0±.0.0	34.9±0.9	19.5±0.3	0.0±0.3	19.5±0.3	0	115
	£	821.0	778.0	42.0	33.3	30.8	2.6	22.5±0.5	22.2±0.4	27.7±0.3	16.8±0.2	16.6±0.1	19.5±1.0	4	0
9	MM	679.0	396.0	283.0	33.3	13.0	20.2	24.2±0.9	20.2±0.6	29.8±1.1	14.8±0.2	14.0±0.3	15.9±0.2	4	49
	ď	594.2	0.0	594.2	37.5	0.0	37.5	28.2±0.7	0.0±0.0	28.2±0.7	15.6±0.2	0.0±0.0	15.6±0.2	0	49

Plots' description

* Site description: Author, Date; Weather; Soil climate (moisture and temperature soil regime and soil type according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014)); Location (Province, Town, Place, Coordinates according to ETRS 1989 UTM Zone 30N, Altitude, Stepness and Orientation); Soil (Parent material and geological age according to IGME (2015) and Soil type according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014)); and Vegetation (Potential vegetation according to Rivas-Martínez (1987) and Current vegetation according to WMS service of MAPAMA http://wms.mapama.es/sig/Biodiversidad); Overstory description: N (stems per hectare), G (basal area per hectare), DHB (quadratic mean diameter), Ho (dominant height), Age (normal age) and SI (site index) for *Pinus sylvestris* L. according to Rojo and Montero (1999) and for *Pinus sylvestris* trees (Ps) or *Pinus pinaster* trees (Pp). Understory vegetation: cover percentage of Litter, Vascular plants and Bryophytes, and More abundant understory vegetation.

**** Climatic description** (rainfall and mean temperature in different months: J: January; F: February; M: March; A: April; My: May; Jn: June; JI: July; A: August; S: September; O: October; N: November; D: December; X_{rain}: accumulated rainfall; X_{temperature}: anual mean temperature) according to 'Atlas Agroclimático de Castilla y León-ITACYL-AEMET'; **Leaf litter description**: Biomass (total litter biomass); Thickness (thickness of litter biomass); Composition (litter composition according to Van Delft et al. (2006), i.e. Fresh: % of fresh leaf litter; Fragmented :% of fragmented leaf litter and Humidified: % of humidified leaf litter); **Horizons' description**: Colour: wet matrix colour (Value/Chroma); Thickness: thickness of each horizon.

*****Analytic data**: Texture (sand/silt/clay: % of sand, silt and clay determined by the pipette method (MAPA 1994) according to Soil-Survey-Staff (2014); Stones: coarse soil material (> 2 mm); bulk and real density, pH (H₂O) and EC (electrical conductivity) according to (MAPA 1994); Pav (available phosphorus) according to (Olsen and Sommers 1982);TN (total nitrogen) and TOC (total carbon) analyzed with a LECO-CHN 2000 elemental analyzer; oxC (easily oxidizable carbon) according to Walkley (1947); Cmic (microbial biomass using the fumigation-extraction method (Vance et al. 1987); Cmin (mineralizable carbon according to Isermeyer (1952)); CEC (cation exchange capacity according to Mehlich (1953), exchangeable cations (Na⁺, K⁺, Ca⁺⁺ and Mg⁺⁺) by means of extracting with 1N ammonium acetate (pH=7) (Schollenberger and Simon 1945), SB (sum of bases); FC (field capacity); PWP (permanent wilting point) and AW (available water) according to MAPA (1994) and WHC (water holding capacity accorging to López-Marcos et al. (2019)).

******** Map of stems position: in these maps you can inside each plot (PS: big red circles - *Pinus sylvestris* monospecific stands; PP: big yellow circles - *Pinus pinaster* monospecific stands; MM: big blue circles - Mixed stands) see the position of the trees stem (circles of different sizes depending on the diameter of each tree: *Pinus sylvestris* in red and *Pinus pinaster* in yellow), the position of the understory vegetation inventories (1mx1m little black squares) and the position of the small-scale overstory inventories (4m radio black circles).

Triplet 1

Table 35. Pit description of plot PS01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* in triplet 01). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PS01					Trip	let 01		Mc	nospe	ecific s	tand of	[:] Pinus	s sylve	stris	L.
Site description															
Author				Daph	ne Lóp	oez Ma	rcos y	Luis Al	fonso	Ramo	s Calvo				
Date				12/06	5/2016	5									
Weather				Sunn	y / Raii	n in the	e last 2	4 hour	s						
	Moisture reg	gime		Xeric											
Soil climate	Temperatur	e regir	ne	Mesio	2										
	Province	-		Burgo	DS										
	Town			Mam	olar										
	Place			Mata	Blanca	а									
	Coordinates		Х	30T 4	71507	7									
Location	(UTM)		Y	4638	240										
	Altitude		l	1146	m										
	Stepness			6.60%	6										
	Orientation			48.3°											
	Parent mate	rial		Sands	stones	and N	larls								
Soil	Geologic age	2		Meso	zoic										
	Soil type			Typic	Dystro	oxerep	t								
Vegetation	Potential			Luzul	o forst	eri-Qu	erceto	pyrend	aicae S	5.					
vegetation	Current			Pinus	sylves	<i>tris</i> L.									
Overstory description	ption		T			-			T			T		1	
	N (4	IN IN		G	IN IN		DHB			Ho (ma)		Aو	ge	S	1
	(tres na	-) Pn	nlot	m- na - Ps	Pn	plot	(cm) Ps	Pn	nlot	(m) Ps	Pn	(yea Ps	ars) Pn	Ps	Pn
PS01	821 806	14	54.2	50.7	3.6	29.0	28.3	56.7	18.7	18.7	16.2	100	0	20	0
Understory vege	tation														
Cover	(%)					More	abund	lant un	dersto	ory veg	etatior	۱			
Litter	5		Frica	austra	lis. Hv	num	50 <i>0 li</i>	iniperi.	IS OXVO	edrus					
Vascular plants	72	_	and L)escha	mpsia	flexuo	sa sa								
Bryophytes	23	1	<u> </u>												
Plot						Pit so	il profi	e							
			TA						いたち	教授で、		and the second se			

Table 36. Pit description of plot PS01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 01): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic des	scription													
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	٦I	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (mn	n)	64	50	42	72	75	46	27	21	39	80	78	75	684
Temperatur	re (°C)	2.0	3.1	5.9	7.4	11.0	15.7	18.8	18.7	15.1	10.3	5.7	3.0	9.8
Leaf litter de	escription													
Biomass	(Mg ha ⁻¹)	Thic	kness	(cm)		omno	cition ((02)	Fre	esh	Fragme	ented	Hum	ified
18	3.2		0.8			.ompo	SILIOIT	(70)	4	2	31		27	7
Horizons' de	escription													
Horizon	Thickness	cm)	Col	our					Dec	orintic				
HUHZUH	THICKIESS (Cinij	Wet	Dry					Des	scriptic	ות			
Ah	0-10		10YR 2/2	10YR 4/2	Wat Frag Loa Slig and com Hor	er sta gments m. Soil ntly st inter imon izon b	atus: s: few Struct icky a stitial. fine r ounda	slightl fine { ture: m nd mc . No oots a ry: sm	y moi gravell noderate aderate anthr and fe ooth a	st. M y, Sha ite, gra ely pla opic w coa nd gra	lottle: n pe-sphe anular. C astic. Poi activity arse roo adual.	ion-exi rical. S onsiste res: cc appar ts. No	istent. Soil Tex ence: fr ommon rent. F soil c	Rock (ture: iable, fine (oots: rusts.
AB	10-40		7.5YR4/6	10YR6/4	Wat Frag Loa Slig No com smc	er sta gments m. Soil ntly sti anthro nmon poth ar	atus: s: few Struct cky an opic a coarse nd grae	slightl fine { ture: m d plast ctivity e root dual.	y moi gravell nodera tic. Por appar s. No	ist. M y, Sha ite, gra res: co rent. F soil d	lottle: n pe-sphe anular. C mmon, f Roots: fe crusts. F	ion-exi rical. S onsiste ine an ew fin torizoi	istent. Soil Tex ence: fr d inters e roots n bour	Rock kture: iable, stitial. s and ndary:
Bw	40-60+		5YR4/6	7.5YR5/6	Wat Frag Caly Slig No corr	er sta gments 2. Soil 3 ntly sti anthro nmon o	atus: s: few Structu cky an opic a coarse	slightl fine { ure: m d plast ctivity roots.	y moi gravell oderat tic. Por appar No sc	st. M y, Sha te, gra res: co rent. F il crus	lottle: n pe-sphe nular. Co mmon, f Roots: fe ts.	ion-exi rical. S onsiste ine an ew fin	istent. Soil Tex ence: fr d inters e roots	Rock kture: iable, stitial. s and

Analytic da	ta										
Horizons	Text	ure (%)		Sto	nes	D	ensit	y (g cm	า⁻³)	Por	osity
HOLIZOUS	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	%)	Βι	ılk	Re	eal	(*	%)
Ah	50.67	36.11	9.97	2.	25	0.	50	1.	77	72	2.02
AB	35.45	39.36	16.53	24	.61	1.	00	2.	45	59	9.11
Bw	34.42	31.15	22.79	33	.20	1.	30	2.	51	48	3.23
Horizons	pН	E	C	Р	av	Т	N	С	propei	rties (m	g g ⁻¹)
HUHZUHS	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	; kg ⁻¹)	(mg	g g⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.2	15	7.5	7	.0	2.	61	78.2	88.2	0.11	0.99
AB	4.8	12	3.5	2	.7	0.	38	10.7	13.4	-	-
Bw	4.8	12	5.0	3	.5	0.	23	5.9	11.3	-	-
Horizons	Excha	ngeable	cations	s (cmo	+ kg-1)	-					
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	26.2	1.0	0.3	6.1	1.3	8.7					
AB	19.6	0.9	0.2	2.2	0.7	4.0					
Bw	16.5	0.9	0.2	2.7	0.9	4.7			-		
		Water properties									
Horizons	FC	P٧	PWP		W		WHO	2			
	(%)	(9	%)	(9	%)		(g cm	⁻²)			
Ah	41.58	37	.10	4.	48		0.22				
AB	32.12	12	.33	19	.79		4.49				
Bw	19.22	6.	85	12	.37		1.07				

Table 37. Pit description of plot PS01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 01): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 58. Map of stems position in plot PS01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 01)****

Table 38. Pit description of plot PP01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 01). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PP01						1	[riplet	01		Monos	pecefic	c stand	of Piı	nus pina	aster A	Aiton.
Site description																
Author					Dap	hne L	ópez N	1arcos	y Luis	Alfonso	Ramos	s Calvo				
Date					12/	06/20	16									
Weather					Sun	ny / R	ain in t	he las	t 24 ho	ours						
Soil alimata	Moistu	ure regi	me		Xeri	ic										
Soli cimate	Tempe	erature	regim	е	Me	sic										
	Provin	ice			Bur	gos										
	Town				Mar	molar										
	Place				Mat	ta Blar	nca									
	C a s a d		LITA 4)	Х	30T	47128	83									
Location	Coord	inates (UTIVI)	Y	463	8224										
	Altituc	de			115	4 m										
	Stepne	ess			6.20)%										
	Orient	ation			23.4	1°										
	Parent	t mater	ial		San	dstone	es and	Marls								
Soil	Geolog	gic age			Mes	sozoic										
	Soil ty	pe			Тур	ic Dyst	troxere	ept								
Vecetation	Potent	tial			Luzi	ulo for	steri-Q	uerce	to pyre	enaicae	S					
vegetation	Currer	nt			Pinu	ıs pinc	aster Ai	it.								
Overstory descri	ption															
		Ν			G			DHB			Но		A	\ge		~
	(tr	rees ha ⁻	¹)	(r	n² ha	⁻¹)		(cm)			(m)		(ye	ears)	2	5I
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	рр	Ps	Рр
PP01	566	57	509	59.4	1.2	58.2	36.6	16.2	38.1	19.2	10.8	19.2	0	118	0	20
Understory vege	tation															
Cover	(%)						Μ	lore al	oundar	nt unde	story v	egetati	ion			
Litter	2	21														
Vascular plants	6	50		Erica	aust	ralis, F	Hypnun	n spp.	and D	escham	psia fle	xuosa				
Bryophytes	1	9														
Pictures																
Plot							Pit soil	profile	9							
				かれい												

Table 39. Pit description of plot PP01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 01): Climatic data,profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons).**

Climatic de	scription													
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١ſ	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (mr	m)	64	50	42	72	75	46	27	21	39	80	78	75	684
Temperatu	re (°C)	2.0	3.1	5.9	7.4	11.0	15.7	18.8	18.7	15.1	10.3	5.7	3.0	9.8
Leaf litter d	lescription								-		-			
Biomass (Mg ha ⁻¹)	Thic	kness ((cm)			:+:~~ /(Fre	esh	Fragme	ented	Hum	ified
8.6	5		0.5			ompos	nion (;	/0)	35	5.0	29.	0	36	5.0
Horizon de	scription				1									
Horizon	Thickness	s (cm)	Col	our					Desci	ription				
		,	Wet	Dry										
Ah	0-15	5	10YR3/2	10YR5/3	Fragr Loam Slight inters fine boun	er stat ments: n. Soil S tly stic stitial. roots dary: s	us: si few f tructu ky anc No an and fe <u>mooth</u>	ine gra re: mo I slight thropi ew co	moist avelly, derate tly pla c activ arse r gradua	Shape Shape stic. Po vity ap oots. I.	ctie: nor e-spheric ular. Con ores: col parent. No soil	al. So sisten mmor Roots crust	ent. il Tex ce: fri n, fine : com s. Ho	ture: able, and mon rizon
АВ	15-3	0	10YR4/4	10YR6/4	Wate Fragr Loam sticky anthr comr smoo	er stat ments: n. Soil S / and ropic a mon co oth and	us: sl few f tructu plastic activity parse gradu	ightly ine gra re: mo . Pore: / app: roots. ial.	moist avelly, derate s: com arent. No s	Mot Shape , grani nmon, Roots oil cru	ttle: nor e-spheric ular. Con fine and s: few usts. Ho	n-exist al. So sisten d inter fine rizon	ent. il Tex ce: fri rstitial roots bound	Rock ture: able, I. No and dary:
Bw	30-60)+	5YR4/6	5YR5/6	Wate Fragr Clay. very inters roots	er stat ments: Soil St sticky stitial.	us: sl few f tructui and No an ommo	ightly ine gra re: mc very thropi n coars	moist avelly, oderate plastic c activ se roo	. Mot Shape e, bloc c. Por vity ap ts. No	ttle: nor e-spheric ky. Cons es: com parent. soil crust	n-exist al. So sistend imon, Roots ts.	ent. il Tex ce: fri fine : few	Rock ture: able, and fine

Table 40. Pit description of plot PP01 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 01): analytic data of the mineral horizons.***

Analytic dat	ta										
Horizons	Te	xture (%)	Sto	ones	D	ensity	y (g cm	1 ⁻³)	Por (osity %)
	Sand	Silt	Clay		%)	Bu	ılk	Re	eal		
Ah	52.22	34.47	13.47	3.	14	0.	72	1.	92	62	2.45
AB	47.62	36.67	14.06	34	.12	1.	07	2.	29	53	3.47
Bw	14.86	31.32	52.14	38	.09	1.	15	2.	65	56	5.71
Horizona	pН	E	C	P	av	Т	N	С	proper	ties (m	g g ⁻¹)
HUHZUHS	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	kg-1)	(mg	(g ⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.7	13	7.0	3	.1	1.	88	61.9	47.6	0.08	0.96
AB	5.2	10	5.5	2	.8	0.	64	21.6	23.1	-	-
Bw	4.8	13	3.0	1	.7	0.	25	5.4	11.6	-	-
	Exch	angeab	le catio	ns (cm	ol⁺ kg⁻¹)						
Horizons	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	21.3	0.9	0.2	4.9 1.4		7.4					
AB	28.7	0.8	0.2	3.7	1.1	5.8					
Bw	22.2	1.0	0.3	5.0	1.6	7.9		_			
		es									
Horizons	FC	P٧	VP	AW		W	HC				
	(%)	(9	%)	(%)	(g c	:m-²)				
Ah	31.85	17	.98	13	.87	1.	46				
AB	29.34	11	.29	18	.04	1.	90				
Bw	23.83	16	.93	6.	90	0.	98				



Figure 59. Map of stems position in plot PP01 (monospecefic stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 01)****.

Plot MM01					Т	riplet 0	1				Mixed	d stan	d		
Site description	n														
Author				Daphn	ie Lópe	z Marco	os y Lui	s Alfons	so Ram	os Calv	0				
Date				12/06/	/2016										
Weather				Sunny	/ Rain	in the la	nst 24 h	nours							
Soil climate	Moisture r	regime		Xeric											
Soli climate	Temperate	ure regin	ne	Mesic											
	Province			Burgos	S										
	Town			Mamo	lar										
	Place			Mata I	Blanca										
	Coordinat	es	Х	30T 47	'1283										
Location	(UTM)		Y	46382	24										
	Altitude			1154 r	n										
	Stepness			6.20%											
	Orientatio	n		23.4°											
	Parent ma	terial		Sandst	tones a	nd Mar	ls								
Soil	Geologic a	ge		Mesoz	oic										
	Soil type	0		l sigvT	Humixe	rept									
	Potential			Luzulo	forster	ri-Querc	eto pvi	renaica	e S.						
Vegetation	Current			Pinus s	svlvestr	is L. v P	inus pii	naster A	Ait.						
Overstory desc	cription				/	,	,								
	N			G			DHB			Но		A	ge		
Forest	(trees	ha ⁻¹)		(m ² ha ⁻¹	^L)		(cm)			(m)		(ye	ars)	5	ol –
	plot Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	Ps	рр
MM03	523 241	. 283	53.0	19.9	33.1	35.9	32.5	38.6	17.8	18.1	. 18.1	118	113	17	16
Understory ver	getation														
Cover	· (%)		[More	abund	ant und	lerston	veget:	ation				
Litter	42.5	_													
Vascular plants	s 45		Erica	australi	s, Hypn	um spp	. and D	eschan	npsia fl	exuosa					
Bryophytes	13								, ,						
Pictures															
Plot						Pit	: soil pr	ofile							
	v Kours		13 -1. (* * *						1	N.		1	1		

Table 41. Pit description of plot MM01 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet01). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Table 42. Pit description of plot MM01 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet01): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons).**

Climatic c	escription														
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	٦I	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х	
Rainfall (r	nm)	64	50	42	72	75	46	27	21	39	80	78	75	684	
Temperat	ure (°C)	2.0	3.1	5.9	7.4	11.0	15.7	18.8	18.7	15.1	10.3	5.7	3.0	9.8	
Leaf litter	descriptio	n													
Biomass	(Mg ha⁻¹)	Thick	kness (cm)		`	cition	(0/)	Fre	esh	Fragme	ented	Hum	nified	
28	.2		1.7			Jonnpo	SILION	(70)	62	2.0	23.	0	15	5.0	
Horizon d	escription														
Horizon	Thicknos	· (cm)	Col	our					Doco	rintior					
HUHZUH	THICKNESS		Wet	Dry					Desc	πριοι	1				
Ah	0-35	i	10YR3/2	10YR5/3	Wat Frag Loa frial inte fine bou	ter sta gments m. So ble, si erstitial roots ndary:	itus: s s: few il Stru ticky . No a and smoc	slightly fine gr ucture: and p nthrop few co oth and	mois avelly mod plastic. pic acti parse l gradu	t. Mo , Shap erate, Pore vity ap roots. ual.	ttle: nor e-spheric granula es: com oparent. No soil	n-exist cal. So nr. Co mon, Roots crusts	ent. il Tex nsiste fine : com s. Ho	Rock ture: ence: and imon rizon	
Bw	35-75	+	5YR5/8	7.5YR6/6	Wat Frag Loa frial inte and	ter sta gments m. Sc ble, s rstitial comm	atus: s s: few oil Str ticky . No a non co	fine gr fine gr ucture and p nthrop arse ro	mois avelly : mo blastic. bic acti bots. N	t. Mo , Shap derate Pore vity ap lo soil	ttle: nor e-spheric e, block es: comi parent. crusts.	n-exist cal. So y. Co mon, Roots:	ent. il Tex nsiste fine few i	Rock ture: ence: and roots	

Table 43. Pit description of plot MM01	(mixed stand of Pinus sylvestris l	and Pinus pinaster Ait. in triplet
01): analytic data of the mineral horizor	IS.***	

alytic data											
Horizons	Te	exture (%)	Sto	ones	D	ensit	y (g cr	n⁻³)	Por	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	()	%)	Bu	lk	Re	eal	(%	%)
Ah	43.49	46.29	10.73	15	.79	1.1	2	2.	77	59	.60
Bw	24.49	33.37	31.01	34	.80	1.5	52	2.	44	37	.76
Horizons	рН	E	C	Р	av	IT	N	Ср	ropert	ies (m	g g ⁻¹)
HUHZUHS	(H ₂ O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	; kg⁻¹)	(mg	g-1)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	5.3	10	2.5	4	.0	1.6	52	40.3	39.7	0.09	0,94
Bw	4.8	13	0.0	1	6	0.2	28	3.9	10.2	-	-
							_				
Horizons	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ons (c	mol⁺ kg	;⁻¹)					
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca ⁺⁺	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	22.4	0.9	0.3	4.6	1.3	7.0					
Bw	14.6	1.1	0.1	2.2	1.1	4.5					
								-			
			Water p	roper	ties						
Horizons	FC	P\	NP	Α	W	WH	C (g				
	(%)	(%)	(%)	cm	⁻²)				
Ah	31.33	11	.48	19	.85	6.5	55				
Bw	26.81	8.	10	18	.72	2.7	78				



Figure 60. Map of stems position in plot MM01 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 01)****.

Triplet 2

Plot PS02					Triplet 02 Monospecific stand of <i>Pinus</i> sylvestris L.											
Site desci	ription															
Author					Daphr	ne Lópe	ez Mar	cos y l	_uis Al	fonso I	Ramos C	alvo				
Date					11/06	/2016										
Weather					Sunny	/ Rain	in the	last 2	4 hour	S						
	•	Moistu	re regi	ime	Xeric											
Soli clima	te	Tempe	rature	regime	Mesic											
	Provir	ice			Burgo	S										
	Town				Honto	ria del	Pinar									
	Place				Mata	Robled	0									
Location	Coord	inatos (I	1754)	Х	30T 48	39017										
Location	Coord	inates (t))	Y	46366	84										
	Altitud	de			1173 ı	n										
	Stepn	ess			10,009	%										
	Orient	tation			181°											
	Paren	t materia	al		Sands	tones a	and M	arls								
Soil	Geolo	gic age			Mesozoic											
	Soil ty	ре		Typic	Typic dystroxerept											
		Potenti		Luzulo	Luzulo forsteri-Querceto pyrenaicae S.											
Vegeta	tion	Current	t		Pinus sylvestris L.											
Overstory	/ descri	ption														
		N			G DHB Ho Age SI											
	(t	rees ha-1	¹)	(m² ha ⁻¹)	<u> </u>		(cm)			(m)		(yea	ars)		
BSOD	piot	PS	14		47.02	<u>р</u>	25 1	24.0	<u>Рр</u>		20.24	10.0	PS	<u>р</u>	PS	<u>- Рр</u>
Understo		tation	14	49.24	47.02	2.22	55.1	54.0	44.0	20.2	20.24	19.9	151	0	20	0
Condensio	wer (%)		T				More	abund	lantur	dersto		tation				
Litter		56.8	-				wore	abanc		aciste	ny vege					
Vascular	nlants	31.9	-	Pteridi	ım aau	ilinum	Pinus	sulves	tris (se	edling	s/sanlin	as) and	1 Hypr	ums	nn	
Prophyt		11 20	-	1 terran	uni uqu	innunn,	1 mus	Syrves	115 (50	cumg	5/5apin	5 <i>5)</i> and	лтурт	ium s	γpρ.	
Dicturos	5	11.50														
Plot					Dit soil profile											
riot										A The second						

The second

Table 44. Pit description of plot PS02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 02). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Table 45. Pit description of plot PS02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 02): Climatic data,profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic o	description													
Month		J	F	М	А	My	Jn	١٢	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (r	mm)	72	59	49	75	81	48	29	27	40	85	82	80	757
Tempera	ture (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.2	7.6	11.3	15.0	18.1	17.6	14.1	. 9.5	5.0	2.7	9.2
Leaf litter	⁻ descriptior	า												
Biomass	(Mg ha ⁻¹)	Thie	ckness (cm)		omnocit	ion (0/)		Fres	sh	Fragme	nted	F	lumified
2	7.2		2.5			omposi	.1011 (%)		34.0	0	39.0)		27.0
Horizon o	lescription													
			Col	our	Description									
Horizon	Inickness	(cm)	Wet	Dry	Ty Description									
Ah	0-15		10YR3/2	10YR 4/2	Water status: slightly moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments: fe fine gravelly, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structur moderate, granular. Consistence: friable, slightly sticky and slight plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial. No anthropic activi apparent. Roots: common fine roots and few coarse roots. No soil crust Horizon boundary: smooth and gradual									sments: few Structure: and slightly pic activity p soil crusts.
AC	15-35	5	10YR5/4	10YR7/3	 Horizon boundary: smooth and gradual. Water status: slightly moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments: few fine gravelly, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structure: Weal granular. Consistence: very friable, slightly sticky and slightly plastic Pores: common, fine and interstitial. No anthropic activity apparen Roots: few fine roots and common coarse roots. No soil crusts. Horizo boundary: smooth and gradual. 									ments: few ture: Weak, htly plastic. y apparent. sts. Horizon
С	35-65	35-65+ 9 4 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9												

Analytic d	ata											
Horizons	Text	ture (%)		St	ones		Densit	y (g cm ⁻³)	Por	osity	
HOLIZOUS	Sand	Silt	Clay		(%)	Bu	ılk	Re	al	(%	%)	
Ah	75.1	15.4	5.8	7	7.90		1.15		21	47	.89	
AC	78.9	10.2	8.3	11.83		1.23		2.58		52	52.10	
С	77.3	10.0	10.5	8.39		1.18		2.36		50.17		
Harizana	pН	E	с	I	Pav	Т	N	Ср	ropertie	es (mg g	g⁻¹)	
HOLIZOUS	(H₂O)	(dS ı	m⁻¹)	(m	g kg⁻¹)	(mg	(mg g ⁻¹)		TOC oxC Cmic Cmir			
Ah	3.9	173	3.0	4	4.1	2.04		49.06	36.4	0.09	0.93	
AC	4.2	156	5.0		3.4	0.50		8.74	18.9	-	-	
С	4.8	124	4.5	4	4.7	0.	46	8.8	16.0	-	-	
Horizona	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ions (cn	nol+ kg-1)							
HOLIZOUS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca ⁺⁺	Mg ⁺⁺	SB						
Ah	23.2	0.9	0.1	3.2	0.5	4.7						
AC	11.0	0.9	0.1	1.0	0.4	2.3						
С	9.9	0.8	0.1	1.1	0.4	2.4						
			Water	r prope	rties]				
Horizons	FC	PV	VP	/	٩W	W	HC					
	(%)	(୨	%)		(%)	(g c	m⁻²)					
Ah	29.7	9.7	77	19	9.92	3.	17					
AC	17.3	2.4	49	14	4.84	3.	23					
С	15.4	2.7	76	1	2.61	2.	04					

Table 46. Pit description of plot PSO2 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 02): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 61. Map of stems position in plot PS02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 02)****.

Table 47. Pit description of plot PP02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Aiton. in triplet 02). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PP02	1			Triplet 02 Monospecific stand of <i>Pinus</i> pinaster Aiton.											
Site descr	ription														
Author				Daphne Lóp	oez M	arcos y	Luis Al	lfonso R	amos	Calvo					
Date				11/06/2016	5										
Weather				Sunny / Rai	n in tł	ne last 2	4 hou	rs							
		Moisture reg	gime	Xeric											
Soil clima	te	Temperature regime	2	Mesic											
	Provinc	e		Burgos											
	Town			Hontoria de	el Pina	nr									
	Place		_	Mata Roble	do										
Location	Coordir	nates (LITM)	Х	30T 489069)										
LOCATION	COOLUII		Y	4636620,00)										
	Altitude	2		1144 m											
	Stepne	SS		7.00%											
	Orienta	ition		166°											
	Parent	material		Sandstones	and I	Marls									
Soil	Geolog	ic age		Mesozoic											
	Soil typ	e		Typic humi	Typic humixerept										
Vogot	otion	Potential		Luzulo forsteri-Querceto pyrenaicae S.											
vegeta	ation	Current		Pinus pinas	Pinus pinaster Ait.										
Overstory	/ descrip	tion									-		T		
Overstory	/ descrip	N		G	<u> </u>	DHB			Но		Å	vge	<u> </u>	SI	
Overstory	/ descrip (tr	tion N ees ha ⁻¹)	nlot	G (m² ha ⁻¹)	plot	DHB (cm)	Pn	plot	Ho (m)	Pn	A (ye	vge ears)	Pc	SI	
Overstory PP02	v descrip (tr plot 806	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792	plot 67.9	G m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6	Pp 33.	plot 17.94	Ho (m) Ps 7.0	Pp 17.9	А (уе Рs 0	nge ears) Pp 78	Ps	SI Pp 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo	ry vegeta	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation	plot 67.9	G (m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6	Pp 33.	plot 17.94	Ho (m) Ps 7.0	Pp 17.9	А (уе Рs 0	nge ears) Pp 78	Ps 0	SI Pp 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta over (%)	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation	plot 67.9	G (m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6	Pp 33. undant	plot 17.94	Ho (m) Ps 7.0	Pp 17.9 egetati	A (ye Ps 0	nge ears) Pp 78	Ps 0	SI Pp 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo Co Litter	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation 76	plot 67.9	G (m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6	Pp 33. undant	plot 17.94 unders	Ho (m) Ps 7.0	Pp 17.9 egetati	A (ye Ps O on	ears) Pp 78	Ps 0	SI Pp 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo Co Litter Vascular	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta over (%)	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation 76 23	plot 67.9 Cistus	G (m²ha⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7 N	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6 fore abu	Pp 33. undant	plot 17.94 : unders	Ho (m) Ps 7.0 tory v	Pp 17.9 egetati	A (ye Ps 0 on	nge ears) Pp 78 psia fle	Ps 0	SI <u>Pp</u> 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo Co Litter Vascular J Bryophyto	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta over (%) plants es	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation 76 23 1	plot 67.9 Cistus	G (m² ha¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7 N	DHB (cm) 9.6 Iore abu	Pp 33. undant	plot 17.94 : unders	Ho (m) Ps 7.0 tory v	Pp 17.9 regetati	A (ye Ps 0 on	n <mark>ge ears) Pp</mark> 78 psia fle	Ps 0	SI 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo Co Litter Vascular J Bryophyto Pictures	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta over (%) plants es	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation 76 23 1	plot 67.9 Cistus	G (m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7 N	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6 fore abu	Pp 33. undant	plot 17.94 : unders	Ho (m) Ps 7.0 tory v	Pp 17.9 egetati	A (ye Ps 0 on	nge ears) Pp 78 psia fle	Ps 0	SI <u>Pp</u> 20	
Overstory PP02 Understo Co Litter Vascular J Bryophyto Pictures Plot	v descrip (tr plot 806 ry vegeta over (%) plants es	tion N ees ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 14 792 ation 76 23 1	plot 67.9 Cistus	G m ² ha ⁻¹) Ps Pp 0.1 67.8	plot 32.7 N	DHB (cm) Ps 9.6 fore abu	Pp 33. undant s, Callu profile	plot 17.94 : unders una vulg	Ho (m) Ps 7.0 tory v	Pp 17.9 egetati nd Deso	A (ye Ps 0 on	nge ears) Pp 78 psia fle	Ps 0 xuosa	SI Pp 20	

Table 48. Pit description of plot PP02 (monospecific stand of Pinus pinaster Ait. in triplet 02): Climatic data
profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic o	lescription													
Month		М	My	Jn	٦I	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х			
Rainfall (r	nm)	72	59	49	75	81	48	29	27	40	85	82	80	757
Temperat	ure (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.2	7.6	11.3	15.0	18.1	17.0	5 14.1	9.5	5.0	2.7	9.2
Leaf litter	description	า												
Biomass	(Mg ha ⁻¹)	Thic	kness (cm)			-	(0/)		Fresh	Frag	mented	Hu	mified
21	.70		2.50			Lompo	sition	(%)		32.00	19	9.00	4	9.00
Horizon d	escription													
	This is a second second	()	Colo	our					D -					
Horizon	Inickness	5 (CM)	Wet	Dry										
Ah	0-20)	10YR2/1	10YR4/1	Water status: moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragmen many Shape-spherical grave. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structur moderate, granular. Consistence: friable, slightly sticky a slightly plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial. I anthropic activity apparent. Roots: common fine roots and fe coarse roots. No soil crusts. Horizon boundary: smooth a gradual.									ments: ucture: xy and al. No nd few th and
с	20-60)+	10YR2/1	10YR7/4	Wate many weak plast activ roots	er stat y Shapo k, grano ic. Por ity app s. No so	us: m e-sphe ular. C res: co parent. pil crus	oist. N rical g onsiste ommo Roots sts.	Nottl rave ence n, fii s: fe	e: non-e Soil Text friable, ne and i w fine rc	xistent ture: Si slightly ntersti oots an	. Rock and. Soi sticky s tial. No d comr	Fragr Stru and s ant nob	ments: ucture: slightly hropic coarse

Table 49. Pit description of plot PP02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 02): analytic dataof the mineral horizons. ***

Analytic d	ata											
Horizona	ns Texture (%) Stones Density (g cm ⁻³)					Pore	osity					
HONZONS	Sand	Silt	Clay	(%)	В	ulk	Re	eal	(9	%)	
Ah	63.93	16.27	11.37	31	1.84	0.	93	2.	20	57	.73	
С	71.93 10.30 12.96		21	1.66	1.	40	2.	12	33	.83		
												_
Horizona	Ph	С	F	Pav	т	N	Ср	ropert	ies (mg	g g⁻¹)		
HOLIZOUS	(H₂O)	/m)	(mį	g kg⁻¹)	(m	g g ⁻¹)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin		
Ah	4.0 174.0		4.0		1.	66	54.3	60.6	0.07	0.95		
С	4.7 132.0		2	2.3		11	4.7	12.4	-	-		
												-
Horizona	Excha	angeable	cations	s (cmol+ kg-1)								
	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca ⁺⁺ Mg ⁺⁺		SB						
Ah	21.3	0.8	0.2	3.7	0.9	5.6						
С	10.0	1.0	0.1	1.1	0.4	2.5						
							-	_				
		Wa	ater pro	pertie	es							
Horizons	FC	P٧	VP	A	٩W	W	ΉC					
	(%)	(9	6)	(%)	(g c	:m ⁻²)					
Ah	46.93	26	.16	20).77	2.	64					
С	20.22	4.	23	15	5.99	5.	27					
								-				



Figure 62. Map of stems position in plot PP02 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 02)****.

Table 50. Pit description of plot MM02 (mixed stand of Pinus sylvestris L. and Pinus pinaster Ait. in triplet
02). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. st

Plot MM0)2				Triplet 02 Mixed stand											
Site descr	ription															
Author					Daphr	ne Lópe	z Marc	os y Lu	is Alfon	so Ran	nos Calv	VO				
Date					11/06	/2016										
Weather					Sunny	/ Rain	in the la	ast 24 ł	nours							
Soil clima	to	Moistu	re regin	ne	Xeric											
		Tempe	rature r	egime	Mesic											
	Provin	се			Burgo	S										
	Town				Honto	oria del	Pinar									
	Place				Mata	Robled	0									
Location	Coordi	nates (I	ITNA)	Х	30T 4	89042										
Location	coordi	nates (e		Y	46366	646,00										
	Altitud	е			1173 m											
	Stepne	ess			10.00	%										
	Orient	ation			181°											
	Parent	l materi	al		Sandstones and Marls											
Soil	Geolog	gic age			Mesozoic											
	Soil typ	be			Typic	humixe	rept									
Vegeta	tion	Potent	ial		Luzulo	Luzulo forsteri-Querceto pyrenaicae S.										
Vegeta		Curren	t		Pinus pinaster Ait. and Pinus silvestris L.											
Overstory	/ descrip	otion		r												
	(1	N troop ha	-1\		G (m²ha-1	G DHB Ho						Age SI			SI	
	plot	Ps) Pn	plot	Ps) Pn	plot	Ps	Pn	plot	Ps	Pn	Ps	Pn	Ps	Pn
MM02	693	325	367	58.2	19.2	39.0	32.7	27.4	36.7	19.6	15.9	19.6	117	93	20	20
Understo	ry veget	ation														
Co	over (%)	_			_	_	More	abunda	ant und	erstory	vegeta	ition				
Litter		81														
Vascular	plants	19		Pterid	lium aq	uilinum	, Agros	tis cate	ellana a	and Pin	us pina	aster (se	eedlin	gs/sa	apli	ngs)
Bryophyte	es	1														
Pictures																
Plot							Pit s	oil pro	file							

Table 51	. Pit description	of plot MM02	(mixed stand	of Pinus sy	<i>,lvestris</i> L.	and Pinus	<i>pinaster</i> Ait.	in triplet
02): Clim	atic data, profile	e description in	cluding orgar	nic (leaf litte	er) and mi	neral horizo	ons (Horizon	s). **

Climatic d	escription													
Month		J	F	М	А	My	Jn	١٢	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (n	וm)	72	59	49	75	81	48	29	27	40	85	82	80	757
Temperat	ure (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.2	7.6	11.3	15.0	18.1	17.6	14.1	9.5	5.0	2.7	9.2
Leaf litter	description	า												
Biomass	(Mg ha⁻¹)	Thic	kness (d	cm)		Compo	cition (0/1	Fresh	Fra	agmer	nted	Hum	ified
27.	20		2.50			.ompo:	sition (70)	34.00)	39.00)	27.	.00
Horizon d	escription													
Horizon	our	Description												
HONZON	THICKNES	s (cm)	Wet	Dry	Description									
Ah	0-23	3	10YR3/1	10YR5/2	Water status: moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments: few, gravely, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structure: moderate, granular. Consistence: friable, slightly sticky and slightly plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial. No anthropic activity apparent. Roots: common fine roots and few coarse roots. No soil crusts. Horizon boundary: smooth and gradual.									
С	23-60)+	10YR6/6	10YR7/4	Water status: moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments: common, coarse gravely, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structure: weak, coarse granular. Consistence: friable, slightly sticky and plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial No anthropic activity apparent. Roots: few fine roots and common coarse roots. No soil crusts								ents: Sand. able, titial. and	

Analytic d	ata											
Harizona	Te	exture (S	%)	Sto	nes	[Densit	y (g cm ⁻	^{.3})	Po	rosity	
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	%)	Bu	ılk	Re	al	((%)	
Ah	65.86	10.94	12.58	5.	21	1.1	11	2.1	18	48	8.95	1
С	68.68	14.04	14.92	8.	33	1.3	30	2.4	18	4	7.74	
												_
Horizona	рН	E	C	P	av	Т	N	c c	prope	rties (m	g g⁻¹)	
HUHZUHS	(H ₂ O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg kg ⁻¹)		(mg	g ⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin	
Ah	4.0	17	7.5	3.6		1.0)7	41.95	50.5	0.09	0.89	
С	5.2 107.5		2.2		0.0)4	2.85	12.1	-	-		
						_					-	
Horizona	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ons (cr	nol+ kg	⁻¹)						
HOMZONS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca ⁺⁺ Mg ⁺⁺		SB						
Ah	21.6	0.94	0.19	2.79	0.78	4.71						
С	15.8	0.94	0.09	1.27	0.44	2.75						
								_				
			Water	proper	ties							
Horizons	FC PWP AW				W	W	HC	1				
	(%) (%) (%)			%)	(g c	m⁻²)						
Ah	40.25 24.97 15.28			.28	3.	71						
C	18.68 2.58 16.10					5.:	17	J				

Table 52. Pit description of plot MM02 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet02): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 63. Map of stems position of plot MM02 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 02) ****

Triplet 3
Table 53. Pit description of plot PS03 (monospecific stand of Pinus sylvestris L. in triplet 03). Site, overstory
and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. st

Plot PS03						Т	riplet (03		Monos	specific	stand	of Pin	nus sy	lvest	risL.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daph	ne Lo	ópez N	larcos	y Luis	Alfonsc	Ramo	s Calvo)			
Date					11/06	6/201	6									
Weather					Sunn	y / Ra	ain in t	he last	: 24 hc	urs						
Soil clima	to	Moistu	ure r	egime	Xeric											
	le	Tempe	eratu	ire regime	Mesi	С										
	Province				Soria											
	Town				Nava	leno										
	Place				Fuen	te de	l Pardo	C								
Leastion	Coording		- N A)	Х	30T 4	19876	52									
Location	Coordina	ites (UT	171)	Υ	4636	644										
	Altitude				1277	m										
	Stepness	5			15,60)%										
	Orientat	ion			202°											
	Parent m	naterial			Sands	stone	es and	Marls								
Soil	Geologic	age			Mesc	ozoic										
	Soil type				Aquio	: hun	nixerep	ot								
		Potent	tial		Luzul	o for:	steri-Q	uercet	to pyre	naicae	S.					
Veget	ation	Currer	nt		Pinus	sylve	estris L									
Overston	descripti	on				,										
		N			G			DHB	-		Но		Ag	e		
	(tree	es ha ⁻¹)		(m ²	² ha ⁻¹)			(cm)			(m)		(yea	ars)	2	bl
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр
PS03	665	651	14	47.7	45.4	2.3	30.2	29.8	45.3	23.0	22.9	24.5	105	0	23	0
Understo	ry vegetat	ion														
С	over (%)						More a	abund	ant un	derstor	y veget	ation				
Litter		32														
Vascular	olants	68		Erica aus	tralis, E	rica	arbore	a, Des	cham	osia flex	kuosa a	nd Pte	eridiun	n aqı	ıilinu	т
Bryophyte	es	0														
Pictures																
Plot							Pit s	oil pro	ofile							
1		19 19 1				1		1		R. H. R.		NSZ.				
									r.							

Table 54. Pit description of plot PS03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 03): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic d	escription													
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١ſ	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	າm)	79	64	60	84	86	53	31	30	44	97	89	90	801
Temperat	ure (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.1	7.6	11.5	14.8	17.7	17.4	13.9	9.4	5.0	2.6	9.1
Leaf litter	descriptio	n												
Biomass	(Mg ha ⁻¹)	Th	ickness	s (cm)		Compo	cition (9	X)	Fre	sh	Fragme	ented	Hum	nified
18.	40		3.50)		compo	SILIOIT (7	~0)	31.0	00	36.0	00	36	.00
Horizon de	escription													
	Thickne	ess	Co	lour					_					
Horizon	(cm)		Wet	Dry					Desc	riptior	า			
Ah	0-12		10YR2/	10YR4/1	Wat grav moc plas appa crus	er stati rely, Sł lerate, r tic. Por arent. F ts. Hori	us: moi nape-sp granula es: com Roots: r zon bou	st. Mo herical r. Cons imon, f many f undary:	ttle: nc . Soil listence fine and ine roc : smoot	on-exis Textu friab d inter ots and h and	stent. Ro ure: Loa de, slight rstitial. N d few co gradual.	ock Frag im. So ily stick Io anth barse r	gments il Stru y and s ropic a oots. N	: few, acture: alightly activity No soil
AC	12-30)	10YR4/1	10YR6/1	Wat grav moc com Root	er stati rely, Sł lerate, f mon, f ts: few ndary: s	us: moi nape-sp granula fine an fine roc smooth	st. Mo herical r. Cons d inter ots and and gr	ttle: nc . Soil sistence rstitial. few cc adual.	on-exis Textu e: friab No a oarse r	stent. Ro ure: Sar ole, stick anthropic oots. No	ock Frag nd. So y and p c activi o soil cr	gments il Stru blastic. ty app usts. H	: few, acture: Pores: parent. orizon
Cg	30-60	+	10YR6/1	10YR8/1	Wat grav gran com Root	er stati ely, Sha nular. (mon, f ts: few	us: moi ape-sph Consiste Tine an fine roc	st. Mo nerical. ence: N d inter ots and	ttle: nc Soil Te very fr rstitial. many c	on-exis xture: iable, No a coarse	stent. Ro Sand. S sticky anthropic roots. N	ock Frag oil Stru and pl c activi o soil c	gments icture: astic. ty app rusts.	: few, weak, Pores: parent.

Analytic da	ata										
Horizons	Те	exture (%)	Sto (9	nes %)		Den	sity (g cm ^{-:}	3)	Por ('	osity %)
	Sand	Silt	Clay			Bu	lk	R	eal		
Ah	43.93	30.04	18.36	6.	11	0.4	1	1.	64	74	.92
AC	57.71	26.44	12.17	20	.24	1.4	10	2.	50	44	.25
Cg	59.56	20.67	10.63	22	.27	1.5	58	2.	55	37	.76
Horizona	pН	E	C	P	av	IT	V	С	propertie	s (mg g ⁻¹	·)
HOLIZOUS	(H₂O)	(dS	(dS m ⁻¹) 18.1		kg⁻¹)	(mg	g-1)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.35	18	3.1	11	l.7	4.8	34	121.76	118.81	0.55	1.08
AC	4.77	15	5.6	7	.9	0.9)2	29.31	17.45	-	-
Cg	4.7	5	.2	7	.1	0.1	9	5.8	7.5	-	-
Horizons	I	Exchange	able catio	ons (cmo	ol+ kg-1)		ļ				
1101120115	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	36.10	1.15	0.45	12.14	2.57	16.30					
AC	31.28	0.82	0.10	3.03	0.72	4.66					
Cg	10.48	0.9	0.1	1.6	0.5	3.0					
		•	Water	properti	es]			
Horizons	FC	P۷	VP	A	W	Wł	łC				
	(%)	(9	%)	(9	%)	(g cr	n ⁻²)				
Ah	92.20	27	.95	64	.25	2.9	98				
AC	19.79	4.	68	15	.11	3.0)3				
Cg	18.06	2.	02	16	.04	3.9	95				

Table 55. Pit description of plot PS03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 03): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 64. Map of stems position of plot PS03 (mMonospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 03)****

Table 56. Pit description of plot PP03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 03). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

FIULFFUS						Tr	riplet (23		Monos	pecific	stand o	of Pinu	ıs pina	ster A	iton.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Dap	ohne L	.ópez l	Marc	os y L	uis Alfor	iso Ra	mos Cal	vo			
Date					11/	06/20	16									
Weather					Sur	ny / R	lain in	the l	ast 24	hours						
Soil alima	ta	Moistu	re r	egime	Xer	ic										
SOII CIIMa	le	Tempe	ratu	ire regime	Me	sic										
	Province				Sor	ia										
	Town				Nav	valeno)									
	Place				Fue	ente de	el Paro	do								
Lootion	Coordina		N 4)	Х	301	4984	71									
Location	COOLUIUS	ites (01	IVI)	Y	463	86470										
	Altitude				127	77 m										
	Stepness				0.1	9%										
	Orientati	on			200)°										
	Parent m	naterial			Sar	dston	es anc	d Mai	rls							
Soil	Geologic	age			Me	sozoic	2									
	Soil type				Тур	ic hur	nixere	pt								
N/ 1		Potent	ial		Luz	ulo foi	rsteri-	Quer	ceto p	yrenaica	ae S.					
veget	ation	Curren	t		Pin	us pine	aster A	Ait.								
Overstory	description	on														
		N		(G .			DHB			Но		A	ge	¢	31
	(tree	es ha⁻¹)		(m²	ha⁻¹)			(cm)			(m)		(ye	ears)		
	nlot		D													
	piot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр
PP03	538	Ps 0 5	Рр 38	plot 68.6	Ps 0	Рр 68.6	plot 40.3	Ps 0	Рр 40.3	plot 21.8	Ps 0	Рр 21.8	Ps 0	Рр 105	Ps 0	Рр 20
PP03 Understo	538 ry vegetat	Ps 0 5 ion	Рр 38	plot 68.6	Ps 0	Рр 68.6	plot 40.3	Ps 0	Рр 40.3	plot 21.8	Ps 0	Рр 21.8	Ps 0	Рр 105	Ps 0	Рр 20
PP03 Understo Co	538 ry vegetat over (%)	Ps 0 5 ion	Рр ;38	plot 68.6	Ps 0	Pp 68.6	plot 40.3 More	Ps 0 e abu	Pp 40.3 Indant	plot 21.8 unders	Ps 0 tory ve	Pp 21.8 egetation	Ps 0 n	Рр 105	Ps 0	Рр 20
PP03 Understo Cc Litter	538 ry vegetat over (%)	Ps 0 5 ion 86	Рр ;38	plot 68.6 Frica arba	Ps 0	Pp 68.6	plot 40.3 More	Ps 0 e abu	Pp 40.3 Indant	plot 21.8 underst	Ps 0 tory ve	Pp 21.8 egetation	Ps 0 n	Pp 105	Ps 0	Pp 20
PP03 Understo Cc Litter Vascular	538 ry vegetat over (%)	Ps 0 5 ion 86 15	Рр 538	plot 68.6 Erica arbo and Cistu	Ps 0 orea, s lau	Pp 68.6 Erica rifoliu.	plot 40.3 More austro	Ps 0 e abu alis, F	Pp 40.3 Indant	plot 21.8 underst	Ps 0 tory ve (seed	Pp 21.8 egetation lings/sa	Ps 0 n	Pp 105	Ps 0	Pp 20
PP03 Understo Cc Litter Vascular J Bryophyte	538 ry vegetat over (%) olants es	Ps 0 5 ion 86 15 0	Pp 538	plot 68.6 Erica arbo and Cistu	Ps 0 orea, s lau	Pp 68.6 Erica rifoliu.	plot 40.3 More austro	Ps 0 e abu alis, F	Pp 40.3 Indant	plot 21.8 underst	Ps 0 tory ve (seed	Pp 21.8 egetation lings/sa	Ps 0 n	Pp 105	Ps 0	Pp 20
PP03 Understo Cc Litter Vascular J Bryophyte Pictures	538 ry vegetat over (%) olants es	Ps 0 5 ion 86 15 0	838	plot 68.6 Erica arbo and Cistu	Ps 0 orea, s lau	Pp 68.6 Erica rifoliu.	plot 40.3 More austro	Ps 0 e abu alis, F	Pp 40.3 Indant	plot 21.8 : underst pinaster	Ps 0 tory ve (seed	Pp 21.8 egetation lings/sa	Ps 0 n	Pp 105	Ps 0	Pp 20
PP03 Understo Cc Litter Vascular J Bryophyte Pictures Plot	Parent material Sandstones and Marls Geologic age Mesozoic Soil type Typic humixerept stion Potential Luzulo forsteri-Querceto pyrenaicae S. Current Pinus pinaster Ait. description N G DHB Ho (m) Vyears) SI plot Ps Pp plot Ps Pp plot Ps Pp Ps Pp Ps Pp Ps Pp 538 0 538 68.6 0 68.6 40.3 0 40.3 21.8 0 21.8 0 105 0 20 y vegetation ver (%) More abundant understory vegetation Erica arborea, Erica australis, Pinus pinaster (seedlings/saplings), and Cistus laurifolius Pit soil profile Pit soil profile															

Climatic d	escription													
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١ſ	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (n	nm)	79	64	60	84	86	53	31	30	44	97	89	90	801
Temperat	ure (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.1	7.6	11.5	14.8	17.7	17.4	13.9	9.4	5.0	2.6	9.1
Leaf litter	descriptic	n												
Biomass	Mg ha ⁻¹)	Thic	kness (a	cm)		C		~	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
20.	00		3.00			Compos	sition (%)	34	.00	19.	00	47.0	00
Horizon d	rizon description													
Horizon	Thicknes	(ama)	Colo	our					Deseri	ation				
Horizon	Thicknes	s (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	ption				
Ah	Horizon Thickness (cm) Vet Dry Description Ah 0-17										:. Rock nd. Soi and slig c activit No sc	Fragm I Struc ghtly pl y appa pil crus	ents: m ture: v astic. P rent. R ts. Ho	nany, veak, ores: oots: rizon
С	17-5	7+	10YR4/6	10YR6/6	Wate grave granu comm few fi	r status ly, Shap Ilar. Cor non, fin ne root	: moist pe-sphe isistenc e and ir s and fe	. Mottle rical. Se e: friable iterstitia w coars	e: non- oil Text e, slight al. No a se roots	existent ure: Sa ly sticky nthropi . No soi	t. Rock nd. Soi and slig cactivit l crusts	Fragm I Struc ghtly pl y appa	ents: m ture: v astic. P rent. R	nany, veak, ores: oots:

Table 57. Pit description of plot PP03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 03): Climatic data,profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Table 58. Pit description of plot PP03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. In triplet 03): analytic dataof the mineral horizons. ***

Analytic d	ata										
Horizona	Te	xture (%	,)	Sto	nes		Densit	y (g cm⁻	³)	Por	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	6)	Bu	ılk	Re	eal	(%)
Ah	65.53	17.82	7.79	59.	50	1.	66	2.	73	39	.21
С	68.48	15.04	10.26	58.	56	1.4	48	2.	58	42	.86
Horizona	pН	E	С	Pa	av	т	N	Cp	roperti	es (mg	g ⁻¹)
HORIZORIS	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	kg⁻¹)	(mg	g g⁻¹)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	5.04	113	8.5	7.	3	1.4	46	45.53	32.94	0.09	0.95
С	4.80	118.5		7.	7	0.	20	5.53	6.19	-	-
Horizons	Ex	changea	ble cati	ons (cm	ol+ kg-1)						
1101120113	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	19.93	0.85	0.17	3.41	0.83	5.26					
С	10.83	0.82	0.06	0.95	0.35	2.18					
								7			
			Water	propert	ies						
Horizons	FC	PV	VP	A۱	N	Ŵ	HC				
	(%)	(5	<u>%)</u>	(%	6) 	(g c	m²)				
Ah	39.38	29	.02	10.	36	1.	19				
C	11.43	2.	51	8.8	32	1.	78				



Figure 65. Map of stems position in plot PP03 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 03)****.

Table 59. Pit description of plot MM03 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet03). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot MMC)3					Tr	iplet ()3				Mixed	stand	d		
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daphr	ne Lópe	ez Mar	cos y l	uis Alfo	onso R	amos	Calvo				
Date					11/06	/2016										
Weather					Sunny	/ Rain	in the	last 24	4 hours							
		Mois	ture r	regime	Xeric											
Soli clima	te	Tem	perati	ure regime	Mesic											
	Province				Soria											
	Town				Naval	eno										
	Place				Fuent	e del P	ardo									
	C	h /I	1784	Х	30T 49	98440										
Location	Coordina	ites (C	JTIVI)	Υ	46364	36										
	Altitude				1241	m										
	Stepness	;			18.70	%										
	Orientati	ion			200°											
	Parent m	nateria	al		Sands	tones a	nd M	arls								
Soil	Geologic	age			Meso	zoic										
	Soil type				Туріс	humixe	erept									
		Pote	ntial		Luzulo	o forste	ri-Que	rceto p	oyrenai	cae S.						
veget	ation	Curre	ent		Pinus	sylvest	ris L. a	nd Pin	us pina	<i>ster</i> Ai	t.					
Overstory	description	on														
		N			G			DHB			Но		Ae	ge		sı
	(tree	es ha ⁻¹)	(m	² ha ⁻¹)			(cm)			(m)		(yea	ars)		51
	plot	Ps	Pp	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Pp	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Pp	Ps	Pp
MM03	693	495	198	63.5	33.0	30.5	34.1	29.1	44.3	25.0	22.6	24.8	100	95	23	23
Understo	ry vegetat	lion														
CC	over (%)					MC	ore abi	Indant	unders	story v	egetat	ion				
Litter		49														
Vascular	plants	47		Erica austi	ralis, De	eschar	ipsia f	lexuos	a, Hypr	num sp	p. and	Erica	arboi	еа		
Bryophyte	es	5														
Pictures							1.51		<u></u>							
Plot							Pit	soil pro	ofile			2		,		

Table 60. Pit description of plot MM03 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet03): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escription	า												
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١١	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	ım)	79	64	60	84	86	53	31	30	44	97	89	90	801
Temperatu	ure (°C)	1.7	2.5	5.1	7.6	11.5	14.8	17.7	17.4	13.9	9.4	5.0	2.6	9.1
Leaf litter	descriptio	on												
Biomass (I	∕Ig ha⁻¹)	Thic	kness (c	:m)		Compo	sition (0	~	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
18.8	0		2.00			Compo	sition (%)	31	.00	34.	00	35.0	00
Horizon de	Horizon description													
Horizon	Thickno	cc (cm)	Colo	our					Deceri	ntion				
попдоп	ппскпе	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	ption				
Ah	0-1	17	10YR2/2	10YR4/1	Wate grave granu comn many bound	r statu: Iy, Shap Ilar. Cor non, fin fine r dary: sn	s: mois be-sphei hsistenc e and ir roots ai nooth a	t. Mott rical. So e: friabl nterstiti nd few nd grad	ile: nor il Textur e, slight al. No a coarse ual.	re: Sanc ly sticky nthropi roots	nt. Rocl I. Soil St / and slig ic activit . No sc	<pre>K Fragr ructure ghtly pl y appa pil crus</pre>	ments: e: mode astic. Po rent. Ro sts. Ho	few, rate, ores: oots: rizon
С	17-5	54+	10YR5/3	10YR6/3	Wate grave granu Pores Roots	r status ly, Sha ilar. Cor :: comm :: few fii	s: moist pe-sphe nsistenc non, fine ne roots	. Mottl rical. S e: very e and in and ma	e: non- oil Text friable, terstitia any coa	existen ture: Sa slightly al. No a rse root	t. Rock and. Soi sticky a nthropic ts.	Fragm I Struc and slig c activit	ents: m ture: w ghtly pla ty appa	nany, veak, astic. rent.

Analytic d	ata										
Horizona	Te	exture (S	%)	Sto	nes		Densit	y (g cm ⁻	⁻³)	Por	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	6)	Bu	ılk	Re	eal) (9	%)
Ah	52.82	23.47	14.75	15	.02	1.	00	2.	12	52	.72
С	72.39	11.64	11.07	60	.57	1.	80	2.	55	29	.57
	Ph	E	C	Pa	av	Т	N	C	properti	ies (mg	g ⁻¹)
Horizons	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	kg ⁻¹)	(mg	g-1)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.42	4.42 153.0 4.72 130.5			.1	0.3	33	73.67	56.12	0.08	0.70
С	4.72	4.42 153.0 4.72 130.5			.6	0.	20	6.36	4.65	-	-
Horizona	Ex	change	able cat	ions (cr	nol⁺ kg⁻	¹)					
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca ⁺⁺	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	24.18	0.94	0.21	4.18	0.91	6.24					
С	11.87	0.85	0.08	1.14	0.38	2.44					
								_			
			Water	proper	ties						
Horizons	FC	P٧	NP	A	W	W	нс				
	(%)	(9	%)	(9	6)	(g c	m⁻²)				
Ah	32.19	28	.20	3.9	99	0.	58				
C	7.42	1.	89	5.	52	1.	29				

Table 61. Pit description of plot MM03 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet03): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 66. Map of stems position in plot MM03 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 03)****

Triplet 4

Plot PS04						Т	riplet	04		Mono	specific	stand o	f Pin	us sy	lvest	ris L.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daph	ne Là	ópez N	Marcos	y Luis	Alfonso	o Ramos	Calvo				
Date					12/0	3/201	16									
Weather					Sunn	y / Ra	ain in '	the last	t 24 hc	ours						
		Moistu	re regir	ne	Xeric											
Soli clima	te	Temper	rature r	regime	Mesi	С										
	Provinc	ce			Soria											
	Town				Soria	1										
	Place				Pajar	· de la	a moli	nera								
1	Caarali		TN 4)	Х	30T ()5040	90									
Location	Coordi	nates (U	1 1/1)	Y	4637	606										
	Altitud	е			1169	m										
	Stepne	SS			14.00	0%										
	Orienta	ation			255°											
	Parent	materia	l		Sand	stone	es and	Marls								
Soil	Geolog	gic age			Meso	ozoic										
	Soil typ)e			Туріс	: dyst	roxer	ept								
		Potenti	al		Festu	ico he	eterop	hyllae-	-Querc	eto pyr	enaicae	S.				
vegeta	tion	Current			Pinus	s sylve	estris	L.								
Overstory	descrip	tion														
		Ν			G			DHB			Ho		A	ge		SI
	(t	rees ha ⁻¹)	n) (n	1 ² ha ⁻¹)		(cm)		-	(m)		(ye	ars)		51
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр
PS04	634	580	57	48.9	40.7	8.2	31.3	29.9	43.0	22.9	22.6	21.2	78	0	26	0
Understo	ry veget	ation														
Co	over (%)						Мо	re abui	ndant ı	underst	ory vege	etation				
Litter		30		Hypni	<i>ım</i> snr	n Fri	ca arl	horea	Ouerci	is nyrei	naica (si	edling	s/sar	lings)	
Vascular p	plants	50		and Er	rica au	istral.	is		4.0.00		10100 (0		, oa p		,	
Bryophyte	es	20				_	_						_	_	_	_
Pictures																
Plot							Pi	t soil pi	rofile		TOP TANADA STATE	A DESCRIPTION OF THE				
					THE REAL						4					

The second second

Table 62. Pit description of plot PSO4 (monospecific stand of Pinus sylvestris L. in triplet 04). Site, overstory and understory description and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

 Table 63. Pit description of plot PS04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 04): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escriptior	า												
Months		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١٢	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	וm)	80	65	57	85	83	53	31	29	42	90	90	90	833
Temperate	ure (°C)	1.8	2.6	5.1	7.9	11.8	14.7	17.5	17.2	13.8	9.4	5.0	2.6	8.8
Leaf litter	description	on												
Biomass (I	Mg ha⁻¹)	Thick	ness (o	cm)		Compo	sition (24)	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	ified
17.8	30		2.00			compo	sition (:	/0)	44	.00	32.	00	24.	00
Horizon de	escriptior	n												
Horizon	Thickno	cc (cm)	Col	our					Decer	intion				
HONZON	Thickne	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry	1				Desci	iption				
Wet Dry Ah 0-8 Image: Construction of the state of											tle: nc al. Soil T tence: f d interst ots and th and g	n-exist exture friable, titial. N few co gradua	tent. : Loam sticky o anthi oarse ri l.	Rock . Soil and ropic oots.
AB	8-:	30	10YR3/2	10YR6/6	Wat Frag Strue sligh activ root	er sta ments: cture: v tly plas vity app s. No so	tus: s few, gr veak, gr tic. Por parent. pil crust	lightly ravely, S ranular res: con Roots: ts. Hori	moist Shape-s Consi nmon, f comm zon bo	. Mot spheric stence: fine and on fine undary	tle: nc al. Soil T friable, d interst e roots : smootl	on-exist exture slightl itial. N and m h and g	tent. : Loam y sticky o anthi any co gradual	Rock . Soil / and ropic oarse
с	us: slig (8) and ape-sp granul mon, coots: f	ntly mo light ro herical ar. Co fine a few fine	oist. Mo ed dry . Soil nsisten nd int e roots	ottle: 5 (2.5Y 7, Texture ce: fri erstitia and m	-10% 0. /8). Roc e: Loan able, st I. No a any coa	5-1cm k Fragr n. Soil ticky a anthro arse ro	spots. ments: Struc ind pla pic ac ots. No	wet few, ture: astic. tivity o soil						

Analytic d	ata										
Horizons	Te	exture (%)	Sto	ones		Den	sity (g_cr	n-3)	Por (osity %)
	Sand	Silt	Clay	(70)	Bul	k	R	eal		
Ah	55.73	21.41	14.38	9.	04	0.9	8	1	.31	25	.18
AB	47.99	41.27	12.40	25	.68	1.3	7	2	.44	43	.86
С	34.93	34.74	21.77	25	.56	1.4	6	2	.55	42	.66
Horizona	рН	E	C	Р	av	TN	I	C	properties	(mg g ⁻²	¹)
HOLIZOUS	(H₂O)	(dS	m ⁻¹)	(mg	kg ⁻¹)	(mg	g ⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.63	74	1.1	5	.9	1.7	7	46.84	35.88	0.09	0.95
AB	5.37	25	5.0	3	.8	0.6	1	13.00	7.51	-	-
С	4.98	23	3.7	3	.4	0.4	0	4.84	4.27	-	-
Horizona	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ons (cr	nol⁺ kg	⁻¹)					
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K+	Ca ⁺⁺	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	21.43	0.76	0.38	4.61	1.05	6.80					
AB	18.03	0.77	0.14	2.03	0.61	3.54					
С	13.86	0.69	0.16	1.56	0.84	3.26		_			
			Water p	proper	ties						
Horizons	FC	P١	NP	A	W	WH	С				
	(%)	(9	%)	(%)	(g cn	1 ⁻²)				
Ah	46.42	25	.31	21	.11	1.5	1				
AB	23.16	3.	91	19	.25	4.3	1				
С	23.62	8.	51	15	.11	3.2	9				

Table 64. Pit description of plot PS04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 04): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 67. Map of stems position in plot PS04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 04)****.

Table 65. Pit description of plot PP04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 04). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PP04						Trip	olet 04		Monc	specif	ic stand	d of <i>Pi</i>	nus pir	aster ,	Aiton.
Site descr	iption														
Author					Daph	ne Lóp	ez Marc	os y Lu	is Alfor	nso Ra	mos Ca	alvo			
Date					12/03	3/2016	5								
Weather					Sunn	y / Raii	n in the la	ast 24	hours						
	+-	Moistu	ure regi	me	Xeric										
Soli clima	te	Tempe	erature	regime	Mesio	2									
	Provir	nce			Soria										
	Town				Soria										
	Place				Pajar	de la i	molinera								
1	Coord	:	(LITNA)	Х	30T 0	50445	6								
Location	Coord	inates (UTIVI)	Υ	4637	191									
	Altitud	de			1165	m									
	Stepn	ess			0.20%	6									
	Orient	tation			208°										
	Paren	t mater	ial		Sands	stones	and Mar	ls							
Soil	Geolo	gic age			Meso	zoic									
	Soil ty	ре			Туріс	dystro	oxerept								
Manata	4	Potent	tial		Festu	co het	erophylla	e-Que	rceto p	yrena	icae S.				
vegeta	tion	Currer	nt		Pinus	pinast	ter Ait.								
Overstory	descri	ption													
		N	4.		G		DHB			Но		Α	ge	ç	51
	(t	rees ha	¹⁻¹) 	(m ⁴	⁽ ha ⁻¹)		(cm)	Dn	plot	(m) Pc	Dn	(ye	ears)	De	Dn
PP04	1429	783	1146	69.4	23 6	56 24	9 12 3	77 1	15.6	12.3	۲P 15.6	гз 0	80 80	гз 0	гр 16
Understo	rv vege	tation	1140	05.4	5.5	24	.5 12.5	27.1	15.0	12.5	15.0	0		0	10
Co	ver (%)			<u> </u>			More al	oundar	nt unde	erstorv	vegeta	tion			
Litter		39								,					
Vascular	olants	54		Erica a	ustrali	s, Hyp	num spp	. and F	Poligalo	a vulad	ıris				
Bryophyte	es	7				, ,,			5	5					
Pictures		,													
Plot		_	_				Pit soil	profile							
									Contactor						

Table 66. Pit description of plot PP04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 04): Climatic data,profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escriptior	n												
Month		J	F	М	А	My	Jn	JI	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	х
Rainfall (m	ım)	80	65	57	85	83	53	31	29	42	90	90	90	833
Temperatu	ure (°C)	1.8	2.6	5.1	7.9	11.8	14.7	17.5	17.2	13.8	9.4	5.0	2.6	8.8
Leaflitter	descriptio	on												
Biomass (I	Vg ha⁻¹)	Thick	ness (o	cm)		Compo	sition (%)	Fre	esh	Fragm	nented	Humi	ified
20.8	30		2.00			compo.		,0) 	29	.00	28	.00	43.	00
Horizon de	escription	1												
Horizon	Thickne	ss (cm)	Col	our					Desc	rintion				
110112011	THICKIC	33 (cm)	Wet	Dry					Dese	nption				
Ah	Ah0-817Water status: slightly moist. Mottle: no few, gravely, Shape-spherical. Soil Te moderate, granular. Consistence: friat Pores: common, fine and intersti 									tle: non oil Tex : friable terstitia ts and h and g	i-exister ture: Sa e, sticky il. No few co gradual.	nt. Rock and. Soi and slig anthrop parse roo	Fragm I Struc htly pla bic ac bts. No	ents: ture: astic. tivity o soil
AC	8-3	34	10YR3/2	10YR6/6	Wate few, weal Pore appa crust	er statu gravely <, gran s: com arent. Ro ts. Horiz	s: sligh y, Shap ular. C nmon, oots: co zon bou	tly mois be-sphe onsiste fine a ommon undary:	st. Mot rical. S nce: fr and in fine ro smoot	tle: non oil Texi iable, s terstitia ots and h and g	-exister ture: Sa sticky a l. No many o gradual.	nt. Rock and. Soi and sligh anthrop coarse ro	Fragm I Struc ntly pla pic ac pots. No	ents: ture: astic. tivity o soil
C 34-60+ Image: Constraint of the sector of the secto									nt. Rock and. Soi and slig anthrop parse roo	Fragm I Struc htly pla bic ac ots. No	ents: ture: astic. tivity o soil			

Analytic dat	а										
Horizona	T	exture (ˈ	%)	Stor	nes		Densi	ity (g cm	⁻³)	Por	osity
HUHZUHS	Sand	Silt	Clay	(%	5)	Bu	lk	Re	eal	(9	%)
Ah	68.44	24.11	10.72	5.6	52	1.2	21	1.	76	69	.12
AC	60.74	27.45	15.89	9.2	29	1.3	81	2.	74	47	.68
С	57.22	38.02	15.66	12.	75	1.2	20	2.	55	47	.32
Horizons	pН	E	C	Pa	V	TI	١	Ср	ropertie	es (mg	g ⁻¹)
HUHZUHS	(H ₂ O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg l	kg⁻¹)	(mg	g ⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.80	94	1.6	1.	7	4.2	20	49.82	53.74	0.09	0.90
AC	5.15	39	9.3	0.	5	1.9)7	8.43	12.83	-	-
С	5.01	28	3.0	0.	4	1.1	.7	4.33	7.28	-	-
Horizona	E	xchange	eable cat	ions (cm	ol+ kg-1)						
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K+	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	14.12	0.64	0.14	1.98	0.56	3.32					
AC	12.57	0.72	0.12	1.02	0.33	2.19					
С	10.06	0.69	0.07	0.98	0.30	2.05					
			Water	properti	es						
Horizons	FC	P\	PWP		N	W	IC				
	(%)	('	%)	(୨	6)	(g c	m⁻²)				
Ah	23.26	19	.88	3.3	89	0.3	31				
AC	10.98	9.	21	1.7	6	0.5	54				
С	14.69	11	.75	2.9	94	0.4	9				

Table 67. Pit description of plot PP04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 04): analytic dataof the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 68. Map of stems position in plot PP04 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 04)****.

Table 68. Pit description of plot MM04 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet04). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot MM0)4					Tı	riplet ()4			ſ	Mixed	stan	d		
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daph	ne Lóp	pez Ma	arcos y	/ Luis A	Alfonso	o Ramo	os Calv	/0			
Date					12/03	3/2016	6									
Weather					Sunn	y / Rai	n in th	e last	24 hou	urs						
Soil clima	to	Moist	ure re	gime	Xeric											
		Temp	eratur	e regime	Mesio	C										
	Provinc	e			Soria											
	Town				Soria											
	Place				Pajar	de la	moline	era								
Location	Coordir	nates (l	JTM)	Х	30T 0	50459	95									
		`	,	Y	4637	174										
	Altitude	5			1206	m										
	Stepnes	SS			0.09%	6										
	Orienta	ition			155°											
	Parent	materia	al		Sands	stones	and N	/larls								
Soil	Geolog	ic age		Mesc	zoic											
	Soil typ	е		Туріс	dystro	oxerep	t									
Vegeta	ation	Poten	tial		Festu	co het	teroph	yllae-0	Querce	to pyr	enaica	e S.				
Vegett		Curre	nt		Pinus	sylves	stris L.	and P	inus pi	naster	Ait.					
Overstory	descrip	tion								-			-			
		N			G			DHB			Но		A	ge .		SI
	(tro	ees ha	<u>')</u>	(m	1 ² ha ⁻¹)		<u> </u>	(cm)			(m)		(ye	ars)		
	plot	PS	Рр	plot	PS	22.1	plot	PS	26 0	plot	PS	۲p ۱۰۰	PS 70	Рр 70	PS 20	20
Iviivi04	1550	704	500	55.5	25.2	52.1	25	19.7	20.9	19.5	17.9	10.0	70	79	20	20
Understo	ry vegeta	ation						undon	+							
	over (%)	20	-				ore ab	undan	t unde	rstory	vegeta	ation				
		39	-	Erica au	stralis,	Quer	cus py	renaic	a (see	dlings	/saplir	igs),				
vascular	blants	53		Erica ar	borea	and H	ypnum	spp.		0	•	0 //				
Bryophyte	es	8														
Pictures								61								
Plot				the set		P	'it soll	profile	2							
									アント							

Table 69. Pit description of plot MM04 (Mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Aiton. of triplet04): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escription	I												
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١١	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	80	65	57	85	83	53	31	29	42	90	90	90	833
Temperatu	ıre (°C)	1.8	2.6	5.1	7.9	11.8	14.7	17.5	17.2	13.8	9.4	5.0	2.6	8.8
Leaf litter o	descriptio	on												
Biomass (N	∕Ig ha⁻¹)	Thic	kness (d	:m)		Compo	sition (%	3	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
18.8	0		1.50			compo:	SILION (7	<i>)</i>	31	.00	34.	00	35.0	00
Horizon de	scription													
Horizon	Thickno	aa (am)	Colo	our					Deseri	otion				
Horizon	тпіскпе	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	ption				
Ah	0-2	20	10YR4/1	10YR6/2	Wate many mode Pores Roots bound	r status , grave erate, gr : comm : many dary: sn	: slightl ly, Shap ranular. Ion, fine fine roo nooth al	y moist be-sphe Consis e and in bts and nd grad	:. Mottle rical. So tence: f terstitia few coa ual.	e: non- bil Text friable, Il. No ar arse roc	existent ure: Sa sticky a nthropic ots. No s	t. Rock nd. So and slig c activit soil cru	Fragm il Struc thtly pla ty appa sts. Ho	ents: ture: astic. rent. rizon
С	C 20-50 8/53X,OT 9/94XOT					r status gravely, ilar. Cor : comm :: few fi dary: w	: slightl Shape-s nsistenc non, fine ne roots ravy and	y moist spherica e: very e and in s and m l abrupt	:. Mottle II. Soil Te friable, terstitia any coa : (lithic c	e: non- exture: slightly Il. No ar arse roc contact)	existent Sand. So sticky a hthropio hts. No s	t. Rock oil Stru and slig c activit soil cru	Fragm cture: v ghtly pla ty appa sts. Ho	ents: veak, astic. rent. rizon

Analytic da	ita										
Horizona	Te	exture (9	%)	Sto	ones		Densit	y (g cm⁻	³)	Pore	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	%)	Bu	ılk	Re	eal	(9	%)
Ah	76.96	14.32	5.35	15	.12	0.	88	2.	25	60	.92
С	71.44	13.95	10.64	35	.15	1.	33	2.	54	47	.70
lleninene	рН	E	С	Р	av	т	N	Ср	ropertie	es (mg j	g ⁻¹)
Horizons	(H ₂ O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	(mg kg ⁻¹)		; g ⁻¹)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	5.16	38	8.6	3	.9	1.	39	23.41	15.12	0.08	0.70
С	5.20	24	.7	3	.3	0.	74	5.63	4.46	-	-
Horizons	Ex	changea	ble cat	ions (c	mol⁺ kg	⁻¹)					
1101120115	CEC	Na ⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	18.74	0.80	0.20	1.35	0.36	2.71					
С	16.31	0.76	0.06	0.86	0.30	1.98					
			Water	prope	rties						
Horizons	FC	PV	VP	A	W	W	HC				
	(%)	(9	%)	(9	%)	(g c	m⁻²)				
Ah	12.10	7.	74	4.	36	0.	65				
С	8.91	4.	75	4.	16	1.	07				

Table 70. Pit description of plot MM04 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet04): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 69 Map of stems position in plot MM04 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 04)****.

Triplet 5

Plot PS05						Tr	iplet (05		Monc	specif	ic stan	d of P	inus s	vlvest	ris L.
Site descr	ription															
Author					Daph	ne L	ópez N	Marcos	s y Lu	uis Alfo	nso Ra	amos C	alvo			
Date					12/0	3/20	16									
Weather					Sunn	y / R	ain in	the las	t 24	hours						
Soil clima	to	Moist	ure reg	gime	Xeric											
		Tempe	erature	e regime	Mesi	С										
	Provin	се			Soria											
	Town				Soria											
	Place			1	Mojo	on Pa	rdo									
Location	Coord	inates (UTM)	Х	30T ()503	658									
			,	Y	4631	296										
	Altituc	le			1145	m										
	Stepne	ess			0.019	%										
	Orient	ation			250°											
	Parent	: materi	ial		Sand	stone	es and	Marls								
Soil	Geolo	gic age			Meso											
	Soil ty	pe			Туріс	: hun	nixere	pt								
Vegeta	tion	Poten	tial		Festu	ico h	eterop	ohyllae	-Que	erceto j	oyrena	iicae S.				
-		Currer	nt	_	Pinus	s sylv	estris	L.								
Overstory	/ descrij	otion		r	6	_			_						1	
	(tr	n ees ha ⁻	1)	(m ²	² ha ⁻¹)			(cm)			но (m)		(ve	ge ars)	9	SI
	plot	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Pp	Ps	Рр		
PS05	651	651	0	54.9	54.9	0	32.8	32.8	0	23	23	0	121	0	23	0
Understo	ry vege	tation														
Co	ver (%)						More	abund	lant	unders	tory ve	egetati	on			
Litter		60														
Vascular	plants	18		Hypnun	1 spp.,	Erico	a aust	ralis a	nd Pi	inus syl	vestri	s (seed	llings/	saplin	gs)	
Bryophyte	es	24														
Pictures																
Plot							Pit	soil pr	ofile							

Table 71. Pit description of plot PS05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 05). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Table 72. Pit description of plot PS05 (Monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. of triplet 05): Climatic data,profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral (Horizons) horizons. **

Climatic de	escription	I												
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	٦I	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	78	64	56	84	84	53	31	31	42	92	89	89	810
Temperatu	ure (°C)	1.5	2.5	4.8	7.7	11.5	14.	17.1	17.1	13.5	9.1	5.1	2.4	8.7
Leaf litter of	descriptio	n												
Biomass (N	∕Ig ha⁻¹)	Thic	kness (o	:m)		Compo	tion (2)	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
21.0	00		1.50			compos	SHOT (2	<i>'</i> 0)	51	.00	29.	00	19.0	00
Horizon de	escription													
Horizon	Thickno	ss (sm)	Colo	our					Deceri	ntion				
HUNZON	THICKNE	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Desch	ption				
Ah	0-15 UCC UCC UCC UCC UCC UCC UCC UCC UCC UC				wate grave mode Pores Roots boun	er status ely, Sha erate, gr s: comm s: many dary: sm	: very v ape-sph anular on, fine fine ro nooth a	wet. Mic nerical. . Consis e and in ots and nd grad	Soil T Soil T tence: 1 terstitia few coa ual.	friable, l. No ar	Ent. Roo Loam sticky a hthropic ots. No s	ck Frag . Soil and slig cactivit soil cru	ments: Struc htly pla y appa sts. Ho	tew, ture: astic. rent. rizon
AB	15-	40	10YR5/3	10YR6/3	Wate grave grant fine a roots smoo	er status ely, Shap ular. Con and inte and co oth and g	: very v pe-sphe isistenc rstitial. mmon gradual	wet. Mc erical. So re: very f No ant coarse	ottle: nc oil Text friable, s hropic a roots. N	on-existe ure: Lo sticky ar activity No soil	ent. Roo am. Soi nd plasti appare crusts.	ck Frag il Struc ic. Pore nt. Roo Horizor	ments: ture: v s: com ts: few bound	few, veak, mon, fine dary:
с	40-6	50+	10YR5/8	10YR7/4	Wate grave granu fine a roots	er status ely, Shap ular. Con and inte and ma	: very v be-sphe isistenc rstitial. ny coa	vet. Mot erical. So ce: very f No ant rse root:	tle: nor bil Text friable, s hropic a s. No sc	n-exister ure: sar sticky ar activity vil crusts	nt. Rock ndy. Soi nd plasti apparei 5.	Fragm il Struc ic. Pore nt. Roo	ents: m ture: w s: com ts: few	nany, veak, mon, r fine

Analytic da	ita										
Llorinono	Te	exture (%)	Sto	nes		Densit	y (g cm ⁻	³)	Por	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	("	%)	Bu	ılk	Re	eal	(9	%)
Ah	55.18	21.38	13.36	2.	68	0.	61	1.	52	59	.80
AB	53.21	23.32	11.99	11	.68	1.	11	2.	40	53	.61
С	49.16	26.32	16.34	16	.09	1.	29	2.	54	49	.23
	pН	E	C	P	av	Т	N	Ср	ropertie	es (mg	g ⁻¹)
Horizons	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	kg-1)	(mg	g ⁻¹)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.05	10	2.1	7	7.4		23	84.60	72.00	0.39	0.79
AB	4.75	35	5.2	3	3.9		66	13.19	10.09	-	-
С	5.3	20).4	3	3.1		61	4.12	2.67	-	-
	Ex	changal	ole catio	ns (cm	nol⁺ kg∹	¹)					
Horizons	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	18.46	0.82	0.33	4.44	0.82	6.41					
AB	12.93	0.69	0.48	1.01	0.32	2.49					
С	10.06	0.77	0.14	1.31	0.42	2.64					
			Water	propei	ties						
Horizons	FC	P۱	VP	Α	W	W	HC				
	(%)	('	%)	("	%)	(g c	m⁻²)				
Ah	46.57	26	.86	19	.71	1.	76				
AB	23.93	4.	92	19	.00	4.	68				
С	21.24	3.	74	17	.50	1.3	89				

Table 73. Pit description of plot PS05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 05): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 70. Map of stems position in plot PS05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 05)****.

Table 74. Pit description of plot PP05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 05). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PP05						Τι	riplet (05		Monos	pecifi	c stand	of Pin	us pina	ister A	Aiton.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Da	phne L	ópez	Marc	cos y L	uis Alfo	nso Ra	mos Ca	lvo			
Date					12	/03/20)16									
Weather					Su	nny / R	lain in	the	last 24	l hours						
Coil elimo	-	Moist	ure reg	gime	Xe	ric										
Soli clima	te	Temp	erature	e regime	Me	esic										
	Provin	се			So	ria										
	Town				So	ria										
	Place				Mo	ojon Pa	ardo									
Location	Coord	inator	(1 ITNA)	Х	30	T 0503	674									
Location	Coord	inates (UTIVI)	Y	46	31248										
	Altituc	le			11	45 m										
	Stepne	ess			0.0)1%										
	Orient	ation			25	0°										
	Parent	t mater	ial		Sai	ndston	es and	d Ma	rls							
Soil	Geologic age Soil type					esozoic	2									
	Soil ty		Ту	pic hur	nixere	pt										
	etation Potential Current					stuco h	etero	ohyll	ae-Qu	erceto p	oyrena	icae S.				
vegeta	Current					ius pin	aster A	Ait.								
Overstory	descrip	otion														
		N	1.		G	1.		DHB			Но		Ā	ge		SI
	(tr	rees ha	· <u>+</u>)	(m [.]	⁴ ha ⁻	<u>')</u>		(cm)			(m)		(ye	ears)	_	
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	PS	Рр
PP05	722	0	722	70.3	0	70.3	35.2	0	35.2	21.4	0	21.4	0	115	0	20
Understo	ry veget	tation														
LO.	ver (%)						MO	re ac	undar	nt under	story	/egetati	on			
Litter		44		<i>-</i> ·												
Vascular p	blants	54		Erica al	istra	ilis, Arc	ctosta	phille	os uva	<i>-ursi</i> an	d Hyp	<i>num</i> sp	р.			
Bryophyte	es	3														
Pictures							Dit	soil	profilo							
FIOL	10 10 11	1 1 1	1 Mar 1				Pit	SOII	prome							
				and the second second							e.		アトラン			

Table 75. Pit description of plot PP05 (monospecific stand of Pinus pinaster Ait. in triplet 05): Climatic data
profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	scription	I												
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	II	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	78	64	56	84	84	53	31	31	42	92	89	89	810
Temperatu	ıre (°C)	1.5	2.5	4.8	7.7	11.5	14.3	17.1	17.1	13.5	9.1	5.1	2.4	8.7
Leaf litter o	descriptio	on												
Biomass (N	∕Ig ha ⁻¹)	Thic	kness (c	:m)		Compo	cition (%	()	Fre	esh	Fragm	agmented Hum 28.00 43.		fied
14.5	0	1.50 Composition (%) 29.00				.00	28.	00	43.0	00				
Horizon de	scription				T									
Horizon	Thickne	ss (cm)	Colo	our					Descri	otion				
110112011	THICKIE	33 (CIII)	Wet	Dry					Descri					
Ah	0-2	20	10YR2/1	10YR5/1	Wate few, Struc plasti appar Horiz	r status coarse ture: mo c. Pore rent. Ro on bour	s slightl gravel oderate s: comr ots: ma ndary: s	y moist ly, Sha , granul non, fir ny fine i mooth a	:. Motth pe-sphe ar. Cons ne and roots an and grad	e: non- erical. sistence intersti id few c dual.	existent Soil Te : friable tial. No oarse ro	t. Rock exture: e, sticky anthro pots. No	Fragm Sand. and sli opic ac o soil cr	ents: Soil ghtly tivity rusts.
AC	10YR6/2	Wate many mode Pores Roots Horiz	Water status: slightly moist. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments: many, gravely, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soil Structure: moderate, granular. Consistence: friable, sticky and slightly plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial. No anthropic activity apparent. Roots: few fine roots and common coarse roots. No soil crusts. Horizon boundary: smooth and gradual.											
с	C 30-52+										Fragm I Struc astic. P rent. R	ents: ture: ores: oots:		

Analytic data												
Horizons	Te	Stones			Densit	y (g cm ⁻	³)	Porosity				
101120113	Sand	Silt	Clay	(%)		Bulk		Real		(%)		
Ah	64.80	15.80	10.58	12	.01	0.	86	2.15		60.17		
AC	58.63	24.48	11.47	52	52.86		22	2.	45	50.25		
С	61.46	22.72	8.48	65.63		1.17		2.35		50.07		
Horizons	pН	I EC		Pav		TN		Ср	ropertie	es (mg g ⁻¹)		
HOLIZOUS	(H₂O)	(dS m ⁻¹)		(mg kg ⁻¹)		(mg	g g ⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin	
Ah	4.45	41	.0	5.8		1.35		54.38	39.67	0.14	0.85	
AC	4.91	24	l.7	3.9		0.	50	9.76	8.54	-	-	
С	4.41	25	5.0	3.4		0.	51	13.29	10.01	-	-	
	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ons (cr	nol⁺ kg	-1)		-				
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB						
Ah	14.58	0.75	0.15	2.75	0.70	4.35						
AC	10.06	0.70	0.30	0.81	0.30	2.11						
С	4.73	0.70	0.25	0.76	0.27	1.98						
			Water	prope	rties]				
Horizons	FC	P۷	VP	A	W	W	HC					
	(%)	(୨	6)	("	%)	(g c	m ⁻²)					
Ah	27.70	11.	.50	16	.20	2.	44					
AC	15.47	5.9	95	9.	52	0.	55					
С	13.44	4.	12	9.32		0.75						

Table 76. Pit description of plot PP05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 05): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 71. Map of stems position in plot PP05 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 05)****.

Plot MM)5					Т	riplet ()5				Mixe	d star	id		
Site desci	ription															
Author					Daph	ne Lój	pez Ma	arcos y	' Luis A	lfons	o Ramo	os Calv	0			
Date						3/201	6									
Weather					Sunn	y / Rai	in in th	e last	24 hou	ırs						
	. .	Moist	ure reg	gime	Xeric											
Soli clima	te	Tempe	erature	e regime	Mesic											
	Provir	nce			Soria											
	Town				Soria											
	Place					Mojon Pardo										
Lesstian	Casua		(11784)	Х	30 T S	50358	1									
Location	Coord	inates (UTIVI)	Υ	4631	237										SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI SI S
	Altitud	de			1159	m									SI Ps F 23 2	
	Stepn	ess			0.04%	6										
	Orient	tation			100.4°											
	Paren	t mater	ial		Sands	stones	s and N	/larls								
Soil	Geolo	gic age	Meso	zoic												
	Soil ty	pe			Typic dystroxerept											
Potential		tial	Festuco heterophyllae-Querceto pyrenaicae S.													
vegeta	uon	Currer	nt		Pinus	sylves	s <i>tris</i> L.	and Pi	inus pi	nastei	Ait.					
Overstory	/ descri	ption														
		Ν			G		DHB				Но	Age			SI	
	(t	rees ha	-1)	(m	1 ² ha ⁻¹)			(cm)			(m)		(years)		_	
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	PS	Рр	PS	Рр
MM05	552	354	198	68.2	45.9	22.3	39.7	40.6	37.9	24.3	24.3	25.8	109	118	23	23
Understo	ry vege	tation	1	I												
Со	ver (%)	1				Ν	More a	bunda	nt und	lersto	y vege	tation				
Litter		66														
Vascular	plants	12		Hypnun	lypnun spp., Aira cariophilea and Potentilla montana											
Bryophyt	es	23														
Pictures						1-		<u></u>								
Plot						Pi	it soil p	orofile								
								The second second								

Table 77. Pit description of plot MM05 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet

 05). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Table 78. Pit description of plot MM05 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet

 05): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	scription													
Month		J	F	М	А	My	Jn	IL	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	78	64	56	84	84	53	31	31	42	92	89	89	810
Temperatu	re (°C)	1.5	1.5 2.5 4.8		7.7	7.7 11.5 14.3 17.1				13.5	9.1	5.1	2.4	8.7
Leaf litter o	lescriptio	n												
Biomass(N	⁄lg ha⁻¹)	n J F 78 64 1.5 2.5 on Thickness 1.50 n ess (cm) Ca We -12 -12 -12 -12 -12 -12 -12 -12		cm)	Composition (9/)			Fre	Fresh		Fragmented		ified	
10.5	0	1.50				compo	SILION (70)	26	.00	32	.00	42.	00
Horizon de	scription													
Horizon	Thickno	ss (cm)	m) Colour Description											
попдоп	THICKIE	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Desci	ιρτισπ				
Ah	0-1	12	10YR2/1	10YR4/1	Wate man Strue sligh activ No s	er stati y, gra cture: i tly plas vity app oil crus	us: verv vely, modera tic. Por parent. ots. Hor	y wet. Shape- ate, gra res: con Roots: izon bo	Mottle spheric anular. nmon, many oundar	: non-e cal. Sc Consis fine and fine roo /: smoo	vistent vil Tex tence: d inters ots and oth and	. Rock ture: I friable, titial. N few cc gradua	Fragm Loam. sticky o anth oarse r II.	ents: Soil and ropic oots.
AC	12-	24	10YR4/4	10YR6/3	Wate man Strue sligh activ root	er statu y, gra cture: v tly plas vity app s. No so	us: verv vely, veak, g tic. Por parent. pil crus	y wet. Shape- ranular res: con Roots ts. Hori	Mottle spherio Consi nmon, few f izon bo	: non-e cal. So stence: fine and fine ro undary	existent oil Tex friable dinters ots and v: smoo	. Rock ture: , slightl [:] titial. N d comn th and ;	Fragm Sand. y sticky o anth non co gradua	ents: Soil and ropic arse I.
С	24-5	50+	10YR4/6	10YR6/6	Water status: very wet. Mottle: non-existent. Rock Fragments many, gravely, Shape-spherical. Soil Texture: Sand. Soi Structure: weak, granular. Consistence: friable, slightly sticky and slightly plastic. Pores: common, fine and interstitial. No anthropic activity apparent. Roots: few fine roots and manny coarse roots No soil crusts.									ents: Soil and ropic oots.

Analytic dat	а											
Uorizono	T	exture (%)	Stones		I	Densi	ity (g cm	1 ⁻³)	Porosity		
HORIZONS	Sand	Silt Clay		(%)		Bulk		Real		(%)		
Ah	51.44	23.51	18.24	11.70		0.71		2.	20	67.86		
AC	47.09	22.49 16.60		15.27		1.24		2.	57	51.94		
С	45.03	21.81	17.52	17.88		1.44		2.	31	37	.68	
Horizona	pH EC		Pav		TN		Ср	ropertie	es (mg g ⁻¹)			
HOLIZOUS	(H ₂ O))) (dS m ⁻¹)		(mg kg ⁻¹)		(mg g ⁻¹)		TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin	
Ah	4.38	158.0		5.4		1.78		55.88	34.69	0.11	0.76	
AC	4.47	152.5		5.0		0.80		19.57	4.75	-	-	
С	4.5	149.0		6.1		0.24		4.08	4.10	-	-	
Havinana	Exchangeable ca			tions (cm)							
Horizons	CEC	Na ⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB						
Ah	14.74	0.75	0.19	3.26	0.66	4.86						
AC	10.03	0.82	0.14	1.39	0.42	2.77						
С	7.04	0.73	0.21	1.21	0.44	2.59						
			Water	properti	es]				
Horizons	FC	P۱	NP	A۷	V	WH	łC	1				
	(%)	('	%)	(%)		(g ci	m⁻²)					
Ah	44.73	7.	83	36.90		2.7	' 6					
AC	23.86	4.	27	19.59		2.46						
С	13.13	4.61		8.52		2.6	52					

Table 79. Pit description of plot MM05 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 05): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 72. Map of stems position in plot MM05 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 05)****

Triplet 6
Plot PS06						Т	riplet	06		Monc	specifi	c stand	l of <i>Pi</i>	nus sy	lvest	ris L.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daph	nne Lo	ópez N	larcos	y Luis	Alfons	o Ramo	os Calvo	0			
Date					12/0	3/20:	16									
Weather					Sunn	iy / Rá	ain in t	he las	t 24 hc	ours						
	••	Moistu	ure reg	gime	Xeric											
Soli clima	le	Tempe	erature	e regime	Mesi	С										
	Provin	се			Soria	1										
	Town				Cabr	ejas o	del Pin	ar								
	Place				Cuev	a de	Matar	ubias								
Looption	Coord	inatas (1 ITN A)	Х	30T (05048	376									
Location	Coord	inates (UTIVI)	Υ	4626	851										
	Altituc	le			1093	m										
	Stepne	ess			2.009	%										
	Orient	ation			306°											
	Parent	materi	ial		Sand	stone	es and	Marls								
Soil	Geolog	gic age			Meso	ozoic										
	Soil ty	pe			Туріс	c dyst	roxere	ept								
Vegete	tion	Potent	tial		Junip	ereta	o hemi.	sphaei	rico-th	urifera	e S.					
vegeta	uon	Currer	nt		Pinus	s sylve	<i>estris</i> l	-•								
Overstory	descrip	otion														
		N	4.		G			DHB			Но		A	ge		SI
	(tr	rees ha	<u>-</u>	(m	<u>4 ha-1)</u>		<u> </u>	(cm)			(m)		(ye	ars)		
	plot	PS	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	PS	Рр	PS	Рр	PS	Рр
PS06	821	//8	42	33.3	30.8	2.6	22.7	22.4	27.7	18.5	17.8	19.5	44	0	26	0
Understo	ry veget	tation	1	1						1.						
Co	ver (%)						More	e abun	dant u	nderst	ory veg	etation	1			
Litter		59						,								
Vascular j	olants	31		Pinus sy	lvestr	is (se	edling	s/sapli	ngs) a	nd Cist	us laur	ifolius.				
Bryophyte	es	1														
Pictures								•	<u></u>							
Plot	2014 C		Star \$26/3		36.7		Pit	soil pr	ofile							
					3											

Table 80. Pit description of plot PS06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 06). Site, overstory and understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Table 81. Pit description of plot PS06 (monospecific stand of Pinus sylvestris L. in triplet 06): Climatic data
profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic des	cription													
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	IL	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (mm	n)	75	62	53	80	82	50	30	30	41	89	84	85	786
Temperatur	re (°C)	1.9	2.9	5.5	8.0	11.8	15.2	18.1	17.9	14.3	9.8	5.3	2.8	9.4
Leaf litter de	escriptior	า												
Biomass (N	⁄lg ha⁻¹)	Thio	ckness (cm)		Compo	cition (9/	·\	Fre	esh	Fragm	nented	Humi	fied
28.3	0		4.00			Compo	sition (%)	30	.00	34	.00	36.0	00
Horizon des	cription													
			Col	our					D					
Horizon	Inickne	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	ption				
Ah	0-2	28	10YR6/3	10YR7/2	Wate Fragr Soil S slight anthr coars gradu	er stat ments: Structu cly pla ropic a se root ual.	tus: sli few, g re: wea stic. P ctivity ts. No	ghtly ravely, ak, gran ores: appare soil cru	moist. Shape nular. (commo ent. Ro usts. H	Mott e-spher Consist on, fin ots: m orizon	le: nc ical. So ence: f e anc any fir bounc	on-exis pil Tex friable, d inte ne roo lary: s	tent. ture: S sticky rstitial. ts and mooth	Rock and. and No few and
с	28-6	55+	10YR5/6	10YR4/1	Wate Fragr Soil S and anthi coars	er stat ments: Structur slightly ropic a se roots	tus: sli few, g re: wea plastic ctivity s. No sc	ghtly ravely, ak, grar c. Pore appare oil crust	moist. Shape nular. (s: com ent. Ro	Mott e-spher Consiste imon, ots: fe	le: nc ical. So ence: v fine ar w fine	on-exis oil Tex very fri nd inte roots	tent. ture: S able, s erstitial and n	Rock and. ticky . No nany

Analytic data											
Herizona	Г	「exture (%)	Stor	nes		Densit	ty (g cm ⁻	⁻³)	Por	osity
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(%	5)	Βι	ılk	Re	eal	(9	%)
Ah	80.64	8.56	8.36	13.0	03	1.	13	2.	41	53	.20
С	73.57	12.20	11.16	5.5	3	1.	39	2.	46	43	.63
		-						-			
Horizons	рН		EC	Pa	v	т	N	Cp	oropertie	es (mg į	g ⁻¹)
HUHZUHS	(H₂O)	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	kg⁻¹)	(mg	g-1)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.45	2	8.5	4.:	2	0.	56	18.03	19.03	0.05	0.82
С	4.60	1	5.9	3.4	4	0.4	45	6.06	5.33	-	-
Horizons		Exchan	geable cat	ions (cmo	l⁺ kg⁻¹)						
TIONZONS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg++	SB					
Ah	22.6	0.9	0.1	2.4	0.5	3.8					
С	16.3	0.8	0.1	1.5	0.4	2.8					
			Wate	r propertie	es						
Horizons	FC	P	WP	AV	V	W	HC				
٨Ь	(%)	6	(%) 45	(%	<u>)</u> 6	(g c	m ⁻ 2)				
All C	15.01	0 2	.45 06	6.5 6.1	1	2 1	55 76				
C	9.16	5	.00	0.1	. 1	1.	/0				

Table 82. Pit description of plot PS06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 06): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 73. Map of stems position of plot PS06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. in triplet 06)****.

Table 83. Pit description of plot PP06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 06). Site, overstoryand understory description, and pictures of the plot and the pit soil profile. *

Plot PP06						Tr	iplet 0	6		Monos	pecific	stand of	Pinus	pinas	ter Al	iton.
Site descr	iption															
Author					Dapł	nne Lóp	oez Ma	rcos	y Luis A	Alfonso R	amos (Calvo				
Date					12/0	3/2016	5									
Weather					Sunr	ny / Rai	n in the	e last	24 hou	urs						
	• -	Moistu	re regi	me	Xerio	2										
Soli clima	te	Tempe	rature	regime	Mes	ic										
	Provin	ice			Soria	3										
	Town				Cabr	ejas de	el Pinar									
	Place				Cuev	/a de N	latarub	oias								
1	Caand	inataa (l		Х	30T	505260)									
Location	Coord	inates (t	JTIVI)	Y	4627	7130										
	Altitud	de			1116	5 m										
	Stepn	ess			12.0	0%										
	Orient	ation			222°											
	Paren	t materi	al		Sanc	lstones	and M	larls								
Soil	Geolo	gic age			Mes	ozoic										
	Soil ty	ре			Турі	c dystro	oxerept	t								
		Potenti	ial		Junip	pereto l	hemisp	haer	ico-thu	riferae S.						
Vegeta	tion	Curren	t		Pinu	s pinas	<i>ter</i> Ait.									
Overstory	descri	ption														
		Ν			G			DHB			Но		A	ge	, ,	:1
	(t	rees ha ⁻	¹)	(r	n² ha⁻¹	¹)		(cm)			(m)		(yea	ars)		'1
	plot	Ps	Рр	plot	Ps	Рр	nlot	Dc	Pp	nlot	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр	Ps	Рр
PP06							piot	13		piec				-		
	594	0	594	37.5	0	37.5	28.4	0	28.4	16.9	0	16.9	0	49	0	23
Understo	ry vege	0 tation	594	37.5	0	37.5	28.4	0	28.4	16.9	0	16.9	0	49	0	23
Understo Co	ry vege ver (%)	0 tation	594	37.5	0	37.5	28.4 Mor	0 re ab	28.4 undant	16.9 understo	0 ory veg	16.9 etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter	ry vege ver (%)	0 tation 56	594	37.5 Callun	0 a vula	37.5 aris Piu	28.4 Mor	0 re ab	28.4 undant	16.9 understo	0 ory veg	16.9 etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p	ver (%)	0 tation 56 42	594	37.5 Callune Arctos	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii	28.4 Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 re ab	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understo lings/sap tralis	0 ory veg	16.9 retation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte	yver (%) olants	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pin los uva	Mor 28.4 Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 re ab	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understo lings/sap	0 ory veg	16.9 etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures	ry vege ver (%) plants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii	28.4 Mor nus pin -ursi ar	o re ab aster nd Er	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understo lings/sap	0 ory veg	16.9 etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	ry vege vver (%) plants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctos	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii	28.4 Mor hus pin -ursi ar	o re ab aste nd Er Pit so	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus pil pofil	understo lings/sap tralis	0 pry veg	16.9 etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	sy vege vver (%) plants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callune Arctosi	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pin los uva	Mor nus pin -ursi ar	o re ab astend Er Pit so	28.4 undant r (seed <i>ica aus</i> bil pofil	understo lings/sap tralis e	0 ory veg	16.9 retation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	ry vege wer (%) plants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii los uva	Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 astend Er Pit so	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understa lings/sap tralis	0 pry veg llings),	16.9 eetation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	olants	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pin los uva	Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 re ab aste. nd Er	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understa lings/sap tralis	0 ory veg ilings),	16.9 retation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	syd ry vege wer (%) plants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii los uva	Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 aste nd Er Pit sc	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understa lings/sap tralis	0 pry veg llings),	etation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	olants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callund Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pii los uva	Mor nus pin -ursi ar	0 re ab aste nd Er Pit so	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understa lings/sap tralis	0 ory veg llings),	16.9 retation	0	49	0	23
Understo Co Litter Vascular p Bryophyte Pictures Plot	sya ry vege wer (%) blants es	0 tation 56 42 2	594	37.5 Callune Arctost	0 a vulg taphili	37.5 aris, Pin los uva	28.4 Mor hus pin -ursi ar	0 astend Er	28.4 undant r (seed ica aus	understa lings/sap tralis	0 ory veg llings),	16.9 retation	0	49	0	23

Table 84. Pit description of plot PP06 (monospecific stand of Pinus pinaster Ait. in triplet 06): Climatic data,
profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escription													
Month		J	F	М	А	My	Jn	١L	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	75	62	53	80	82	50	30	30	41	89	84	85	786
Temperatu	ure (°C)	1.9	2.9	5.5	8.0	11.8	15.2	18.1	17.9	14.3	9.8	5.3	2.8	9.4
Leaflitter	descriptic	n												
Biomass (Vg ha⁻¹)	Thick	kness (cm)		Compo	sition (%	4	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
6.2	0		2.00			compo	SILION (7)	49	.00	25.	00	26.0	00
Horizon de	escription													
Horizon	Thickney	aa (ama)	Col	our					Deseri	ation				
Horizon	Thicknes	ss (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	Juon				
Ah	0-1	2	10YR4/1	10YR6/2	Wate few, g granu comn few f	r status gravely, Ilar. Cor non, fin- fine roo dary: sn	:: slightl Shape-s Isistence e and ir Dts and Nooth a	y moist spherica e: friabl iterstitia many nd grad	:. Mottle al. Soil Te e, slight al. No a coarse ual.	e: non- exture: ly sticky nthropi roots.	existent Sand. So and slig c activit No sc	:. Rock oil Strug ghtly pl y appa oil crus	Fragm cture: w astic. Po rent. Ro sts. Ho	ents: veak, ores: oots: rizon
С	12-5	60+	10YR6/4	10YR7/3	Wate few, g granu Pores Roots	r status gravely, ilar. Cor :: comm :: few fii	: slightl Shape-s nsistenc Ion, fine ne roots	y moist pherica e: very e and in s and m	:. Mottle al. Soil Te friable, terstitia any coa	e: non- exture: slightly Il. No ar rse roo	existent Sand. So sticky a nthropic ts. No so	:. Rock oil Strue and slig c activit oil crus	Fragme cture: w ghtly pla ty appa ts.	ents: veak, astic. rent.

Table 85. Pit description of plot PP06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 06): analytic dataof the mineral horizons. ***

Analytic da	ta										
Horizons	Te	xture (9	%)	Sto	ones		Density	/ (g cm ⁻³)	Por	osity
HUHZUHS	Sand	Silt	Clay	(9	%)	В	ılk	Re	al	(9	%)
Ah	85.29	8.91	4.98	6.	44	1.	21	2.6	53	53	.89
С	84.45	8.28	6.13	9.	07	1.	41	2.6	55	46	.78
11		E	C	Р	av	Т	N	Ср	roperti	ies (mg	g ⁻¹)
Horizons	рн	(dS	m⁻¹)	(mg	; kg ⁻¹)	(mg	g g ⁻¹)	тос	oxC	Cmic	Cmin
Ah	4.90	12	9.0	4	.1	0.	33	11.10	4.38	0.05	0.83
С	5.16	11	1.0	1.6		0.25		3.21	3.52	-	-
Horizons	Exc	hangea	ble cati	ons (c	mol+ kg	g⁻¹)					
HUHZUHS	CEC	Na⁺	K⁺	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB					
Ah	13.4	0.9	0.1	1.8	0.5	3.2					
С	16.0	0.8	0.1	1.1	0.4	2.4					
								_			
			Water	prope	rties						
Horizons	FC	P\	NP	A	W	W	НС	1			
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(g c	m⁻²)				
Ah	24.71	1.	18	23	.53	3.	20				
С	18.69	1.	03	17	.66	8.	60				



Figure 74. Map of stems position in plot PP06 (monospecific stand of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 06)****.

Table 86	Pit description of plot MM06 (mixed	stand of Pinus sylvestris L	. and <i>Pinus pinaster</i> Ait. in triplet
06). Site <i>,</i>	overstory and understory description	, and pictures of the plot a	nd the pit soil profile. *

Plot MM0)6					Tr	iplet 0	6				Mixec	stan	d		
Site descr	iption															
Author					Daphr	ne Lópe	ez Mar	cos y	Luis Al	fonso	Ram	os Cal	vo			
Date					12/03	/2016										
Weather					Sunny	/ Rain	in the	last 2	4 hou	rs						
Soil clima	te	Moist	ure reg	jime	Xeric											
		Tempe	erature	e regime	Mesic											
	Provin	се			Soria											
	Town				Cabre	jas del	Pinar									
	Place				Cueva	i de Ma	atarub	ias								
Location	Coord	inatos (11784)	Х	30T 50	05084										
Location	Coord	mates (UTIVI)	Υ	46270)42										
	Altituc	le			1119 ı	m										
	Stepne	ess			11.00	%										
	Orient	ation			184°											
	Parent	mater	ial		Sands	tones a	and Ma	arls								
Soil	Geolog	gic age			Mesoz	zoic										
	Soil ty	pe			Typic	dystro	kerept	(Soil 1	Faxono	omy, 2	015)					
Magata	tion	Potent	tial		Junipe	ereto h	emispł	naeric	o-thur	iferae	S					
vegeta	tion	Currer	nt		Pinus .	sylvest	ris L. a	nd Pir	nus pin	aster	Ait.					
Overstory	descrip	otion														
		N			G			DHB			Но		Age	е		
	(tr	rees ha ⁻	¹)	(r	n ² ha ⁻¹)			(cm)			(m)		,	,	S	51
	plot	Ps	Pp	plot	Ps	Pp	plot	Ps	Pp	plot	Ps	Рр	(yea Ps	rs) Pp	Ps	Pp
MM06	679	396	283	33.3	13	20.2	25	20.5	30.2	16.1	15	16.1	44	49	23	23
Understo	rv veget	tation														
Co	ver (%)					Mor	e abur	ndant	under	story v	eget	ation				
Litter	. ,	34								•	<u> </u>					
Vascular ı	olants	59		Arctosto	nphillos	uva-u	rsi. Eri	ca aus	stralis	and Co	allun	a vula	aris			
Bryophyte	es	2					,					5				
Pictures																
Plot			_			F	it soil	profile	2	_		_	_			
5			and the second		2						100 200					
					12					+	40	-				
			1 I									The f				
				A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A									and the second			
		an in								-						
		a . Proute									and a second	No.	10			
	A shad		· · · · ·										-			
										and the second			X			
				-	1						-					
		- Little								H	in the	1	BC]			

Table 87. Pit description of plot MM06 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet06): Climatic data, profile description including organic (leaf litter) and mineral horizons (Horizons). **

Climatic de	escription	า												
Month		J	F	М	Α	My	Jn	١٢	Ag	S	0	Ν	D	Х
Rainfall (m	m)	75	62	53	80	82	50	30	30	41	89	84	85	786
Temperatu	ıre (°C)	1.9	2.9	5.5	8.0	11.8	15.2	18.1	17.9	14.3	9.8	5.3	2.8	9.4
Leaf litter	descriptio	on												
Biomass (N	∕lg ha⁻¹)	Thick	ness (cm)		C	-:+: (0	0	Fre	esh	Fragm	ented	Humi	fied
17.6	0		2.00			Compo	sition (%	D)	50	.00	19.	00	31.0	00
Horizon de	scriptior	ı												
Havinan	Thisland		Col	our					Decer	- 4 :				
Horizon	піскле	ess (cm)	Wet	Dry					Descri	ption				
Ah	0-	30	10YR3/1	10YR6/1	Wate few, g granu comn comn boun	r status gravely, Ilar. Cor non, fin non fine dary: sn	:: slightl Shape-s nsistenc e and ir e roots nooth a	y moist spherica e: friabl nterstitia and fe nd grad	:. Mottl al. Soil T e, slight al. No a w coars ual.	e: non- exture: ly sticky nthropi se root	existent Sand. So and slip c activit s. No s	:. Rock oil Strue ghtly pl y appa oil crue	Fragm cture: v astic. P rent. R sts. Ho	ents: veak, ores: oots: rizon
с	30-	70+	10YR5/6	10YR8/3	Wate few, g granu Pores Roots	r status gravely, ilar. Cor s: comm s: few fii	:: slightl Shape-s nsistenc ion, fine ne roots	y moist spherica e: very e and in s and co	. Mottl al. Soil To friable, terstitia mmon	e: non- exture: slightly Il. No ar coarse r	existent Sand. So sticky nthropic roots. N	:. Rock oil Strue and slig c activit o soil c	Fragm cture: v ghtly pla ty appa rusts.	ents: veak, astic. rent.

Analytic da	ta											
Llorizona	Te	xture (%	5)	Sto	ones		Density	′ (g cm∹	³)	Por	osity	
Horizons	Sand	Silt	Clay	(%)	В	ulk	Re	eal	(%	%)	
Ah	71.72	14.15	9.30	47	' .93	1.	10	2.	23	50	.50	
С	78.05	14.14	5.25	11	.88	1.	49	2.	63	43	.19	
Llevinene	pН	EC	2	Р	av	Т	N	Сp	oroperti	es (mg g⁻¹)		
Horizons	(H₂O)	(dS r	n⁻¹)	(mg	g kg-1)	(mg	; g⁻¹)	TOC	oxC	Cmic	Cmin	
Ah	4.6	145	i.5	7.5		55	.46	42.7	42.7	0.06	0.91	
С	5.0	119	0.0	0.5		4.	39	2.6	3.4	-	-	
Horizons	Exc	hangeal	ole cati	ions (c	:mol⁺ kį	g ⁻¹)						
1101120113	CEC	Na⁺	K+	Ca++	Mg ⁺⁺	SB						
Ah	17.4	0.9	0.2	3.9	0.8	5.8						
С	10.5	0.9	0.1	1.1	0.4	2.5						
								1				
	Water properties											
Horizons	FC	PW	/P	A	W W	W (a.a	HC					
۸h	(70) //1 Q2	(% 5.2	<u>9</u> 90	36	70) 5 7 2	(B C	<u>111 -)</u> 22					
C AII	14.06	0.0	.0	13		о. 5	17					
	14.00	0.5		15		5.	11					

Table 88. Pit description of plot MM06 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet06): analytic data of the mineral horizons. ***



Figure 75. Map of stems position in plot MM06 (mixed stand of *Pinus sylvestris* L. and *Pinus pinaster* Ait. in triplet 06)****.

List of Acronyms

Acronym	Description
	Overstory
%PP	Percentage of Maritime pine basal area
%PS	Percentage of Scots pine basal area
Age	Normal age (years)
dg	Quadratic mean diameter (cm)
DHB	Diameter at breast height (cm)
G	Basal area per hectare (m² ha⁻¹)
GPP	Maritime pine basal area per hectare (m ² ha ⁻¹)
GPS	Scots pine basal area per hectare (m ² ha ⁻¹)
Но	Dominant height (m)
ipD	Distances from a random point to the nearest tree as Hopkin's (1954)
iiD	Distances from such a tree to its nearest neighbor as Hopkin's (1954).
MM	Mixture plot of Scots and Maritime pine
Ν	Density (stems per hectare; trees ha ⁻¹)
PP	Maritime pine monospecific plots
рр	Pinus pinaster Ait. stems
PS	Scots pine monospecific plots
ps	Pinus sylvestris L. stems
SI	Site index for Pinus sylvestris L. according to Rojo and Montero (1996) and
	for Pinus pinaster Ait. according to Bravo et al. (2007) related at age 100
	for total plot
	Understory
Agca	Agrostis castellana Boiss. & Reut.
Aica	Aira caryophyllea L.
Armo	Arenaria montana L.
Aruv	Arctostaphylos uva-ursi (L.) Spreng.
Asal	Asphodelus albus Mill.
Cavu	Calluna vulgaris (L.) Hull
Cila	Cistus laurifolius L.
Cover	Percentage of plant cover (%)

Acr	٥n	/m
AU	υΠ	/ 1 1 1

Description Overstory CR Critically endangered species according to UICN (2012) Defl Deschampsia flexuosa (L.) Trin. EN Endangered species according to UICN (2012) Erica arborea L. Erar Erica australis L. Erau Galium saxatile L. Gasa Gero Geranium robertianum L. Hyra Hypochoeris radicata L. Hysp *Hypnum* spp. llaq *Ilex aquifolium* L. Juco Juncus conglomeratus L. Juox Juniperus oxycedrus L. Lesp Leucobrium sp. Loco Lotus corniculatus L. Mepa Melampyrum pratense L. Pipi *Pinus pinaster* Ait. (seedlings/saplings) Pisy Pinus sylvestris L. (seedlings/saplings) Pomo Potentilla montana Brot. Povu Polygala vulgaris L. Ptaq Pteridium aquilinum (L.) Kuhn Qufa Quercus faginea Lam. (seedlings/saplings) Quercus pyrenaica Willd. (seedlings/saplings) Qupy S Richness (Colwell 2009) Sanguisorba minor Scop. Sami Sima Simethis mattiazzii (Vand.) Sacc. Species of special interest according the regional o national laws Spl Vamy Vaccinium myrtillus L. Vimo Viola montcaunica Pau VU Vulnerable species according to UICN (2012)

%clay	Soil clay content according to USDA criteria determined by the pipette
	method (MAPA 1994)
%CR	Percentage of coarse roots
%EFHi	Percentage of earth fraction of each horizon
%FR	Percentage of fine roots
%sand	Soil sand content according to USDA criteria determined by the pipette
	method (MAPA 1994)
%silt	Soil silt contents according to USDA criteria determined by the pipette
	method (MAPA 1994)
AW	Available water according to MAPA (1994)
bD	Soil bulk density (g cm ⁻³)
bD _{ні}	Bulk density of each horizon
B _{FF}	Forest floor biomass (Mg ha ⁻¹)
B_{FgL}	Biomass of partially decomposed litter or fragmented fraction (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
B _{FsL}	Biomass of almost undecomposed litter or fresh fraction (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
B _{HmL}	Biomass of mostly decomposed organic matter or humified fraction (Mg
	ha ⁻¹)
С	Carbon
Cstock _{0-10cm}	Total organic carbon stock in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); Mg ha $^{-1}$
Cstock _{0-40cm}	Total organic carbon stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-40cm depth);
	Mg ha ⁻¹
Cstock _{10-20cm}	Total organic carbon stock in the 10-20 cm depth mineral soil (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
Cstock _{20-30cm}	Total organic carbon stock in the 20-30 cm depth mineral soil (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
Cstock _{30-40cm}	Total organic carbon stock in the 30-40 cm depth mineral soil (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
Cstock _{FF}	Total organic carbon stock of the Forest floor (Mg ha ⁻¹)
$Cstock_{FgL}$	Total organic carbon stock of the partially decomposed litter or fragmented
	fraction (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Cstock _{FsL}	Total organic carbon stock of the almost undecomposed litter or fresh
	fraction (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Cstock _{HmL}	Total organic carbon stock of the mostly decomposed organic matter or
	humified fraction (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Cstocksoil	Total organic carbon stock of the mineral soil (Mg ha ⁻¹)

Ca ⁺²	Exchangeable calcium according to Schollenberger and Simon (1945);
	cmol _c kg ⁻¹
Ca ⁺² 0-10cm	Exchangeable calcium in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); cmol_c kg^{-1}
Ca ⁺² 10-20cm	Exchangeable calcium in the 10-20 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Ca ⁺² 20-30cm	Exchangeable calcium in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Ca ⁺² 30-40cm	Exchangeable calcium in the 30-40 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Ca ⁺² stock	Exchangeable calcium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
Ca ⁺² stock _{Hi}	Exchangeable calcium stock of each horizon (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
CEC	Cation exchange capacity according to Mehlich (1953); ${ m cmol}_{ m c}{ m kg}^{-1}$
Cmic	Microbial biomass using the fumigation-extraction method according
	Vance et al. (1987); mg g ⁻¹
Cmin	Mineralizable carbon according to Isermeyer (1952); mg g $^{-1}$
CN	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen ratio
CNFF	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen ratio in the forest floor
CN_{FgL}	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen ratio of the almost undecomposed
	litter or fresh fraction
CN_{FgL}	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen ratio of the partially decomposed
	litter or fragmented fraction
CN _{HmL}	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen ratio of the mostly decomposed
	organic matter or humified fraction
Cstock	Total organic carbon stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm depth);
	Mg ha ⁻¹
Cstock _{Hi}	Total organic carbon stock of each horizon (Mg ha-1)
EC	Electrical conductivity according to MAPA (1994); dS/m
EF	Soil earth fraction (<2mm); %
FC	Field capacity (water remaining in a soil after it has been thoroughly
	saturated for two days and allowed to drain freely); %
FF	Forest floor
FgL	Partially decomposed litter or fragmented fraction according to Van Delft
	et al. (2006)
FsL	Almost undecomposed litter or fresh fraction according to Van Delft et al.
	(2006)

HmL	Mostly decomposed organic matter or humified fraction according to Van
	Delft et al. (2006)
K⁺	Exchangeable potassium according to Schollenberger and Simon (1945);
	cmol _c kg ⁻¹
K ⁺ 0-10cm	Exchangeable potassium in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$
K ⁺ 10-20cm	Exchangeable potassium in the 10-20 cm mineral soil lyer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
K ⁺ 20-30cm	Exchangeable potassium in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
K 30-40cm	Exchangeable potassium in the 30-40 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
K⁺stock	Exchangeable potassium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
K⁺stock _{Hi}	Exchangeable potassium stock of each horizon (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Mg ⁺²	Exchangeable magnesium according to Schollenberger and Simon (1945);
	cmol _c kg ⁻¹
Mg ⁺² 0-10cm	Exchangeable magnesium in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$
Mg ⁺² 10-20cm	Exchangeable magnesium in the 10-20 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Mg ⁺² 20-30cm	Exchangeable magnesium in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Mg ⁺² 30-40cm	Exchangeable magnesium in the 30-40 cm mineral soil lyer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Mg ⁺² stock	Exchangeable magnesium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
Mg ⁺² stock _{Hi}	Exchangeable magnesium stock of each horizon (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Na⁺	Exchangeable sodium according to Schollenberger and Simon (1945);
	cmol _c kg ⁻¹
Na ⁺ _{0-10cm}	Exchangeable sodium in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); ${\sf cmol}_{\sf c}{\sf kg}^{-1}$
Na ⁺ 10-20cm	Exchangeable sodium in the 10-20 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Na ⁺ _{20-30cm}	Exchangeable sodium in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
Na ⁺ 30-40cm	Exchangeable sodium in the 30-40 cm mineral soil layer (cmol _c kg^{-1})
Na+ stock	Exchangeable sodium stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
Na⁺stock _{Hi}	Exchangeable sodium stock of each horizon (Mg ha $^{-1}$)
Nstock	Total nitrogen stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm depth);
	Mg ha ⁻¹
Nstock _{Hi}	Total nitrogen stock of each horizon(Mg ha ⁻¹)
oxC	Easily oxidizable carbon according to Walkley (1947)
охС _{ні}	Easily oxidizable carbon of each horizon (Mg ha ⁻¹)

oxCstock	Easily oxidizable carbon stockin the whole mineral soil profile (0-50cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
avP	Available phosphorus according to Olsen and Sommers (1982); ppm
Pavstock	Available phosphorus stock in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50 cm
	depth); Mg ha ⁻¹
Pavstock _{Hi}	Available phosphorus stock of each horizon (Mg ha ⁻¹)
pH (H₂O)	pH according to MAPA (1994)
PWP	Permanenten wilting point (soil water content retained at 1500 kPa using
	Eijkelkamp pF Equipment); %
SB	Sum of bases (sum of the Ca^+2, Mg^+2, K^+ and Na^+ concentrations); cmol_c kg^{-1}
SB _{0-10cm}	Sum of bases in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); ${\sf cmol}_{\sf c}{\sf kg}^{-1}$
SB _{10-20cm}	Sum of bases in the 10-20 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
SB _{20-30cm}	Sum of bases in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
SB _{30-40cm}	Sum of bases in the 30-40 cm mineral soil layer (cmol $_{ m c}$ kg $^{-1}$)
SOC	Soil organic carbon
Stones	Coarse soil material (>2mm); %
Thi	Thickness of each horizon (cm)
TN	Total nitrogen analyzed by dry combustion using a LECO CHN-2000
	elemental analyzer(mg g $^{-1}$)
TOC	Total organic carbon by dry combustion using a LECO CHN-2000 elemental
	analyzer (mg g ⁻¹)
TOC _{0-10cm}	Total organic carbon in the topsoil (0-10 cm depth); mg g $^{-1}$
TOC _{10-20cm}	Total organic carbon in the 10-20 cm mineral soil layer (mg g $^{-1}$)
TOC _{20-30cm}	Total organic carbon in the 20-30 cm mineral soil layer (mg g $^{-1}$)
TOC _{30-0cm}	Total organic carbon in the 30-40 cm mineral soil layer (mg g $^{-1}$)
WHC	Water holding capacity in the whole mineral soil profile (0-50 cm); g water
	cm ⁻²
WHC _{Hi}	Water holding capacity of each horizon (g water cm ⁻²)

Ecosystem services of mixed stands of Scots pine and Maritime pine: biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration

Data analysis	
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion (Akaike 1973)
DCA	Detrended Correspondence Analysis (Oksanen 2016)
HOF models	Huisman–Olff–Fresco models (Huisman et al. 1993)
LMM	Linear Mixed Models (Pinheiro and Bates 2000)
RDA	Redundancy analysis (Oksanen 2016)
REML	Restricted Maximum Likelihood method (Richards 2005)
SEMs	Structural Equation Models (Rosseel 2012)
Others	
IGME	Instituto Geológico y Minero de España
Cfb	Temperate without dry season and warm summer climate
Csb	Temperate with dry summer climate
iuFOR	Sustainable Forest Research Management Institute
m a.s.l	Metres abovethe sea level
UVa	University of Valladolid

"mais je fais ma part"